GA-A23028 UC-420

# A DECADE OF DIII–D RESEARCH

FINAL REPORT TO THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

for the period of work OCTOBER 1, 1989 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 1998

> by PROJECT STAFF

DATE PUBLISHED: MARCH 1999

GA-A23028 UC-420

# A DECADE OF DIII–D RESEARCH

# FINAL REPORT TO THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

for the period of work OCTOBER 1, 1989 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 1998

> by PROJECT STAFF

Work prepared under Department of Energy Contract Nos. DE-AC03-89ER51114 W-7405-ENG-48 and DE-AC05-96OR22464

GENERAL ATOMICS PROJECTS 3466, 3467, 3470, 3472, 3473, 3939, 3940, 3969, 3990 DATE PUBLISHED: MARCH 1999

### DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from the Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831 Prices available from (615) 576-8401, FTS 626-8401.

Available to the public from the National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Rd. Springfield, VA 22161

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1–1
	1.1. History and Accomplishments of the DIII–D Program	1–1
	1.1.1. Origin of the Program	1–3
	1.1.2. DIII-D Scientific Accomplishments	1–3
	1.1.3. DIII-D Scientific Progress and Accomplishments	1–6
	1.1.4. DIII-D Operations and Facility Improvements	1–10
	1.1.5. Transition to a National Program	1–12
2.	FUSION SCIENCE	2–1
	2.1. 1998 Status of DIII-D Advanced Tokamak Research	2–1
	2.1.1. Results from the DIII–D Scientific Research Program	2–1
	2.1.2. Progress Towards Sustainment of Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D	2–19
	2.2. Confinement and Transport	2–29
	2.2.1. Behavior of Electron and Ion Transport in Discharges with an Internal Transport Barrier in the DIII–D Tokamak	2–29
	2.2.2. Comprehensive Energy Transport Scalings Derived from DIII-D Similarity Experiments	2–39
	2.2.3. Comparison of L-H Transition Measurements with Physics Models	2–43
	2.2.4. RI-mode Investigations in the DIII-D Tokamak with Neon and Argon Induced Badiating Mantles	2_10
	2.3 Stability and Disruption Physics	2 -53
	2.3.1 Observation and Control of Resistive Wall Modes	2-53
	2.3.2 Effects of Plasma Shape and Profiles on Edge Stability in DIII-D	2_59
	2.3.3 Disruption Mitigation Studies in DIIL-D	2_67
	2.4 Divertors and Edge Physics	2_79
	2.4.1 Badiative Divertor and SOL Experiments in Open and Baffled Divertors on DIII–D	2_79
	2.4.2 Physics of the Detached Badiative Divertor Begime in DIII–D	2-89
	2.4.3 Impurity Control Studies Using SQL Flow in DIII-D	2_99
	2.4.4 Plasma Flow in the DIII–D Divertor	2-105
	2.4.5 Investigation of Density Limit Processes in DIII–D	2-109
	2.5. Wave Particle Interaction Physics	2–113
	2.5.1. Current Profile Modification with Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in the DIII–D Tokamak	2–113
	2.5.2. Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in ELMing H–mode Plasmas in DIII–D	2–121
3.	THE DIII-D NATIONAL FUSION FACILITY - STATUS AND UPGRADES	3–1
	3.1. Overview of Current Capabilities	3–1
	3.2. Tokamak Operations	3–5
	3.3. Neutral Beam Heating Systems	3–9
	3.4. RF Systems	3–9

	3.5. Computer System	3–10
	3.6. Diagnostic Systems	3–12
	3.7. Community Outreach	3–12
4.	MAJOR UPGRADE PROJECTS IN THE PAST 10 YEARS	4–1
	4.1. Neutron Shielding	4–1
	4.1.1. Introduction	4–1
	4.1.2. Design Description	4–1
	4.1.3. Fixed Roof	4–4
	4.1.4. Translating Roof	4–5
	4.1.5. Side Walls	4–5
	4.2. Divertor Upgrades	4–5
	4.2.1. Introduction	4–5
	4.2.2. Advanced Divertor Program Design	4–6
	4.2.3. Radiative Divertor Program	4–7
	4.3. 6 MW ICRF	4–8
	4.3.1. Introduction	4–8
	4.3.2. Transmitter	4–8
	4.3.3. Transmission Line	4–10
	4.3.4. Antennas	4–11
	4.4. 3 MW, 110 GHz ECH System	4–12
	4.4.1. Introduction	4–12
	4.4.2. RF System Overview	4–12
5.	SUPPORT SERVICES	5–1
	5.1. Quality Assurance	5–1
	5.2. Planning	5–2
	5.3. Environment Safety and Health	5–3
	5.3.1. Fusion and DIII-D Safety	5–3
	5.3.2. Inspections	5–4
	5.3.3. Training	5–4
	5.3.4. Other Activities	5–5
6.	DIII-D COLLABORATIVE PROGRAMS	6–1
	6.1. DIII-D Collaborative Program Overview	6–1
	6.2. Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory	6–1
	6.3. Oak Ridge National Laboratory	6–2
	6.4. Sandia National Laboratory	6–3
	6.5. Princeton Plasma Physics Laboratory	6–3
	6.6. University of California, Los Angeles	6–5
	6.7. University of California, San Diego	6–6
	6.8. University of California, Irvine	6–6
	6.9. University of Texas	6–7
	6.10. Columbia University	6–8

	6.11.	University of Wisconsin	6–8
	6.12.	University of Maryland	6–9
	6.13.	International Collaborations	6–9
7.	PUBI	LICATIONS FY98–FY89	7–1
	7.1.	FY98	7–1
	7.2.	FY97	7–19
	7.3.	FY96	7–35
	7.4.	FY95	7–51
	7.5.	FY94	7–69
	7.6.	FY93	7–84
	7.7.	FY92	7–94
	7.8.	FY91	7–110
	7.9.	FY90	7–118
	7.10.	FY89	7–127
APP	ENDI)	(A—THEORY	<b>A</b> –1
APP	ENDI)	( B — JCT SECONDEES	B–1
APP	ENDI	C — USER SERVICE CENTER	C–1
APP	ENDI)	( D — ITER DIAGNOSTICS	D–1
APP	ENDI	( E — HYBRID TUNER	E–1

## LIST OF FIGURES

4 4	Tan year abrandlagy of DIII. D plaama physical advances and facility improvements	1 0
1-1.	ren-year chronology of Dhi-D plasma physics advances and lachity improvements	1-2
1–2.	Scientific progress: DIII–D fusion performance has doubled every two years	1–5
2.1.1–1.	Plot of the $\beta_N$ H product versus normalized discharge duration for DIII–D shots	2–2
2.1.1–2.	Time evolution of a high performance DIII–D discharge	2–2
2.1.1–3.	Time histories and radial profiles of two recent DIII–D shots emphasizing long pulse	
	high performance	2–3
2.1.1–4.	Long pulse, L-mode edge discharge 94777 run at 1.9 T toroidal field	2–4
2.1.1–5.	The measured beta value for discharges similar to those in Fig. 2.1.1-2	2–4
2.1.1–6.	Profile of current density driven by ECCD	2–5
2.1.1–7.	Perturbed electron temperature, $\delta$ T $_{e}$ (eV), at $\rho$ =0.3 and $\rho$ =0.1	2–6
2.1.1–8.	Reductions in density fluctuations with neon impurity injection	2–7
2.1.1–9.	H-mode energy confinement enhancement factor relative to ITER98 ELMy H-mode scaling	2–8
2.1.1–10.	Plot of the measured pressure gradient and inferred edge current density	2–9
2.1.1–11.	Effect of Ar gas puffing on edge second stability access in discharge 95011	2–10
2.1.1–12.	Time history of discharges with and without pro-active control of the RWM	2–12
2.1.1–13.	In attached plasmas, classical parallel conduction accounts for nearly all the divertor heat flux	2–13

2.1.1–14.	Modelling of a partially detached plasma shows Mach 0.4 flow in the bulk of the divertor plasma	2–14
2.1.2–1.	Time evolution of q <sub>min</sub> >1.5 discharge with high performance from 3.5–4 s	2–20
2.1.2–2.	Time evolution of $\beta_N$ and $P_{NBI}$ for a $q_{min}$ ~2 discharge with NTM activity	2–21
2.1.2–3.	Time evolution of discharge 96686 with $\beta_N$ ~3.8 and H <sub>98v</sub> ~2	2–22
2.1.2–4.	Time evolution of 95983	2–22
2.1.2–5.	Confinement enhancement, H <sub>98v</sub> , improves with period between ELMs	2–23
2.1.2–6.	Profiles for 95983 at 2.25 s	2–24
2.1.2–7.	Kinetic EFIT equilibrium profiles for 95983 at 2.25 s	2–25
2.1.2–8.	Contours of constant B-dot mode amplitude for n=1 and n=2 modes	2–26
2.1.2–9.	The beta limit for discharges discussed in Section 2.1.2 exceed the NTM limit	2–26
2.2.1–1.	Waveforms and profiles of a typical discharge with an internal transport barrier	2–30
2.2.1–2.	Evolution of a discharge with a developing ITB during the preheating phase	2–31
2.2.1–3.	The electron temperature rise during an ITB growth event is confined to inside the ITB	2–31
2.2.1–4.	Electron temperature for a discharge which does not exhibit a correlation between ITB	
	growth events and integer q <sub>min</sub>	2–32
2.2.1–5.	A low current, low power discharge forms and maintains an ITB until the neutral	
	beams are turned off	2–32
2.2.1–6.	Application of ECH, heating only electrons near the resonance at $\rho$ = 0, interrupts the	
	formation of an internal transport barrier	2–33
2.2.1–7.	Comparison of diffusivities with and without EH	2–33
2.2.1–8.	Microturbulence growth rates from GKS code compared to E×B shearing rates	2–34
2.2.1–9.	BES measurements of low-k fluctuations in discharges with and without EH	2–34
2.2.1–10.	FIR scattering detects a small signal at cm <sup>-1</sup> during the ECH pulse	2–35
2.2.2–1.	Radial profiles of safety factor and magnetic shear for H–mode discharges	2–39
2.2.2–2.	Ratio of effective thermal diffusivities for H–mode discharges with fixed magnetic shear	2–40
2.2.3–1.	Toroidal field scaling of the H-mode power threshold when accounting for sawteeth power	2–43
2.2.3–2.	Edge and divertor parameters for forward and reverse B at 1 MW and reverse B at 5 MW	2–44
2.2.3–3.	The dependence of P <sub>SEP</sub> / $\bar{n}$ versus (v <sub>CX</sub> ) <sub>M</sub> / $\mu_{neo}$ for the r/a=0.95 surface	2–45
2.2.3–4.	Operational space diagram evaluated 2 cm inside the separatrix	2–46
2.2.3–5.	Operational space diagram for critical parameters of Ref. 8	2–46
2.2.3–6.	Operational space diagram for critical parameters of Ref. 9	2–46
2.2.4–1.	Temporal evolution of a high density radiating mantle discharge	2–49
2.2.4–2.	Normalized confinement as a function of normalized density	2–50
2.2.4–3.	Toroidal plasma rotation from C+6 CER	2–50
2.2.4–4.	Edge electron pedestal pressure derived from fits to the H–mode edge pressure profile measured by Thomson scattering	2–50
2.2.4–5.	A comparison of confinement with impurity puffing to ELMing H–mode discharges from the DIII–D ITER database discharges	2–51
2.3.1–1.	Time evolution of a wall stabilized DIII-D discharge	2–53
2.3.1–2.	Electron temperature profiles from electron cyclotron emission before and during the growth of a resistive wall mode	2–54
2.3.1–3.	Three discharges with varying amounts of magnetic braking	2–54
2.3.1–4.	Comparison of a discharge with a static n=1 perturbation applied to oppose the resistive wall mode and a discharge without the perturbation	2-56

2.3.2–1.	Time evolution of DIII–D H–mode discharge 87099	2–	
2.3.2–2.	Magnetic precursors and radial electron temperature profiles before and after an		
0000	edge instability for a double-full divertor discharge		
2.3.2-3.	Fauilibrium flux surface and radial profile of prossure gradient		
2.3.2-4.	Equilibrium flux surface and radial profile of pressure gradient		
2.3.2–5.	Collisionless bootstrap current multiplier $C_{boot} = (J/J_{BS})/edge required to gain$	2	
0006	Comparison of diverter D _ signals for three DIII D discharges	2-	
2.3.2-0.	Comparison of ideal ballooping stability diverter $D_{\alpha}$ signals and edge electron temperatures	2-	
2.3.2-1.	for a high squareness and a moderate squareness discharge $\dots$	2–	
2.3.2–8.	Comparison of the ideal ballooning stability boundary for three simulated equilibria	2-	
2.3.3–1.	Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with a neon pellet (88826) versus an unmitigated VDE (88810)	2-	
2.3.3–2.	Energy balance accounting of the energy input to the disruption versus the energy lost during the disruption	2–	
2.3.3–3.	Halo current versus vertical instability growth rate with fixed current decay rate as		
-	experimentally measured and predicted by a model	2–	
2.3.3–4.	Comparison of two VDE discharges with a ratio of $\gamma_7/\gamma_0 < 1$ and $\gamma_7/\gamma_0 > 1$	2-	
2.3.3–5.	Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with an argon pellet versus an unmitigated VDE	2-	
2.3.3–6.	Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with a neon pellet versus an unmitigated VDE	2-	
2.3.3–7.	<ul> <li>-7. Time evolution of the electron temperature and ion temperature during a neon pellet ablation as calculated from KPRAD code at normalized radii</li> </ul>		
2.3.3–8.	Time evolution of plasma current, argon pellet ablation light, central soft x-ray radiation, hard x-ray scintillator outside vessel, and RF ECE emission	2-	
2.3.3–9.	Massive helium gas puff phenomenology	2-	
2.3.3–10.	Horizontaria (96764) with an unmitigated VDE (96759)		
2.3.3–11.	Comparison of VDE discharge mitigated by a massive helium gas puff with an unmitigated VDE	2-	
2.3.3–12.	Energy balance accounting of the energy input to the disruption	2-	
2.3.3–13.	Comparison of a massive helium gas puff injection and an argon pellet injection	2-	
2.4.1–1.	The array of diagnostics in the lower divertor in DIII–D	2-	
2.4.1–2.	<ul> <li>A representative PDD discharge showing heat flux reduction, H–mode confinement, and controlled core density</li> </ul>		
2.4.1–3.	The ion density and net force on C4+ ions from UEDGE	2-	
2.4.1–4.	<ul> <li>4. Comparisons of measurements of primary ion flow from the Mach probe and C+ velocity from spectroscopy with calculations from the UEDGE code for an El Ming H-mode</li> </ul>		
2.4.1–5.	<ol> <li>We are observing new physics at the separatrix between the outer SOL and the private flux region</li> </ol>		
2.4.1–6.	The gross and net erosion from the DiMES probe compared with the REDEP code in attached plasma operation	2-	
2.4.1–7.	Carefully matched plasmas were used for comparison of open and baffled divertor configurations	2-	
2.4.1–8.	The pump exhaust to the upper cryopump as a function of SN and DN plasmas	2-	
2.4.2–1.	Schematic diagram for the one dimensional model of PDD conditions in the outer divertor leg of DIII–D		
2.4.2–2.	Time history of a typical LSN discharge with a PDD phase beginning at 2350 ms	- 2-	
-		-	

vii

2.4.2–3.	Profiles of the <i>difference</i> between the 2D profiles during the PDD phase and the profiles during the pre-puff phase	2–92
2.4.2–4.	Reconstructions of divertor plasma parameters from divertor Thomson scattering data	
	in the pre-injection phase and in the PDD phase	2–93
2.4.2–5.	Reconstructions of TTV $D_{\alpha}$ data in a poloidal plane in the pre-injection phase and the PDD phase	2–94
2.4.2–6.	Flow velocities of C <sup>+</sup> ions	2–95
2.4.3–1.	Temporal evolution of the input power and line-averaged electron density	2–101
2.4.3–2.	Two-dimensional radiation profile inferred from bolometry data and the heat flux profile	2–101
2.4.3–3.	Measured Z <sub>eff</sub> versus the predicted scaling	2–102
2.4.4–1.	The plasma and divertor geometry and the probe paths	2–106
2.4.4–2.	The 2-D calculations of Mach number obtained by UEDGE	2–107
2.4.4–3.	Plasma potential profile plotted versus normalized flux $\psi_{\text{n}}$	2–107
2.4.5–1.	Scaling of critical separatrix density and temperature at detachment onset as a function	
	of the loss power to the outer divertor	2–110
2.4.5–2.	Demonstration discharge with density $\geq$ 1.5× Greenwald scaling and H–mode confinement	2–112
2.5.1–1.	Time histories of the internal inductance $\ell_i$ , the central safety factor q(0), and the poloidal flux	
	at the magnetic axis $\Psi(0)$ for discharges with ECCD and without	2–114
2.5.1–2.	I ime histories of central electron temperature	2–114
2.5.1–3.	Measurements of the current density due to the ECCD	2–116
2.5.1–4.	Comparison of experimental and theoretical current drive efficiency normalized to temperature	2–117
2.5.1–5.	Variation of normalized efficiency with poloidal angle at fixed $\rho$	2–118
2.5.2–1.	Time histories of the power reflection coefficient seen by 285 system's transmitter and photodiode signal in ELMing H–mode discharge	2–122
2.5.2–2.	Coupling resistance for all three antenna arrays in the outer gap scan	2–123
2.5.2–3.	FW-driven current in the outer gap scan	2–124
3–1.	The DIII-D tokamak facility spans a half city block	3–2
3–2.	The heart of the facility is the DIII–D tokamak with its many support systems, utilities and diagnostics	3–3
3–3.	DIII-D capabilities allow a wide range of research and technology issues to be addressed	3–6
3–4.	The entire DIII–D first wall is graphite	3–6
3-5.	The carbon first wall and divertor targets protect the vacuum vessel and limit high-Z impurities	3–7
3–6.	Quarterly boundary radiation levels show the site is maintained well below the	
	40 mrem operating limit	3–8
3–7.	An extensive array of computer systems operates the tokamak and collects and analyzes the data	3–11
4–1.	Overall shielding geometry of DIII-D	4–2
4–2.	Roof design	4–3
4–3.	Advanced divertor hardware in outer lower corner of DIII–D vacuum vessel	4–6
4–4.	The planned completion of the radiative divertor installation includes the lower baffle and the private flux baffles	4–6
4–5	Schematic for one of the 2 MW 30–120 MHz fast wave current drive systems	4_9
4-6	Block diagram of the rf transmitter amplifier stages	4_9
4-7	Lavout of DIII–D showing the location of the F1 and two F2 antennas, the rf nick up probes	10
	and the reflectometer horns	4–11

4–8.	ECH system layout showing the routing of the transmission line and the location of the	
	major transmission line components	4–13

## LIST OF TABLES

1–1.	An assessment of progress on the 1994 advanced tokamak research goals	1–4
1–2.	Comparison of ten-year plan and actual GA funding levels and operations weeks	1–10
1–3.	Facility improvements implemented in FY94–98	1–11
1–4.	New diagnostics installed since 1993	1–11
2.4.3–1.	Measured enrichment and compression for various flow levels and impurities	2–99
3–1.	Major events in the history of the DIII-D facility — 1989 through 1998	3–4
3–2.	Power to plasma of auxiliary heating systems (June 1998)	3–9
3–3.	ICH heating system capability	3–10
3–4.	Diagnostic systems installed on DIII-D	3–13
4–1.	Basic specifications of the neutron shielding	4–4
4–2.	Specification of the ABB type VU 62 B transmitter	4–10
4–3.	Gyrotron performance parameters	4–12
5–1.	Inspections for the DIII-D tokamak	5–4

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

During the ten-year DIII–D tokamak operating period of 1989 through 1998, major scientific advances and discoveries were made and facility upgrades and improvements were implemented. Each year, annual reports as well as journal and international conference proceedings document the year-by-year advances (summarized in Section 7). This final contract report, provides a summary of these historical accomplishments. Section 2 encapsulates the 1998 status of DIII–D Fusion Science research. Section 3 summarizes the DIII–D facility operations. Section 4 describes the major upgrades to the DIII–D facility during this period.

During the ten-year period, DIII–D has grown from predominantly a General Atomics program to a national center for fusion science with participants from over 50 collaborating institutions and 300 users who spend more than one week annually at DIII–D to carry out experiments or data analysis. In varying degrees, these collaborators participate in formulating the research program directions. The major collaborating institution programs are described in Section 6.

## 1.1. HISTORY AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS OF THE DIII-D PROGRAM

The DIII–D tokamak program at GA has made many major scientific contributions to the worldwide fusion effort. The DIII–D Program pioneered plasma shaping and profile control as a means of improving performance, leading to second stable high beta core plasmas in DIII–D. Confinement has improved, particularly in discharges with optimized magnetic shear, with the energy confinement time reaching four times that of the standard ITER–89P scaling. Pioneering programs in electron cyclotron and fast wave heating and current drive have made progress in developing and demonstrating the understanding necessary to sustain the conditions of optimized shear. New and effective divertor geometries were devised, leading to the divertor configurations widely used today and projected for future fusion devices. The program continues to advance on a broad front, with major contributions in transport, stability, divertor physics, and in RF heating and current drive. The hallmark of the DIII–D Research Program is the integration of these science research topics into a program aimed at optimization of the AT. A ten-year chronology of DIII–D physics advances and facility improvements is shown in Fig. 1–1.

Plasma Physics Advances		Facility Improvements
H–mode Plasma 6.8% beta 2.5 MA Divertor	1988	Glow clean between shots Install IBW antenna
8% beta 13 keV ion temperature 2.6 MA plasma	+ 1989	Neutron shield complete n = 1 coil installed 19.6 MW NBI achieved
9.3% beta 3 MA double-null divertor 10.3 s H–mode	+	
NCS discovered 17 keV ion temperature electron beat ninch	1990	MSE operational
VH–mode discovered 11% beta	1991	1 MW FWCD operational Bias ring operational Boronization completed 1.6 MW ICH achieved
FWCD demonstrated $\tau_{\rm E}$ = 0.42 s	+ 1992	110 GHz into plasma 8 Laser Thomson operating
ECCD demonstrated Density control with divertor pump	+	Divertor pumping operating DiMES
High triangularity studies $\tau_{H_{P}}$ / $\tau_{F}$ ~10 to 15	1993	
12.5% beta 21 keV ion temperature Improved confinement NCS	+	32-channel ECE operational
eta  au = 1.7% s Understanding VH–mode Measured j(r) profile routinely	1994	Operating C–coil Pellet injector installed 0.5 MW. 110 GHz ECH
BES data Record neutron rate $2.4 \times 10^{16} \text{ s}^{-1}$ QDD = $1.5 \times 10^{-3}$ $1.5 \times \text{Greenwald}$	1995 	Fast stroke divertor Langmuir probe 8-channel MSE 6 MW fast wave ICRF installed
10 keV electron temp. with ECH	1996	Divertor Thomson Data
Understanding divertor heat flow	+	1 MW, 110 GHz gyrotron Lithium pellet injected
MHD mode wall stabilization Recombining divertor Divertor flow	1997	Upper cryopump and baffle Remote operation from LLNL 32-channel MSE
Transport studies 5 s Transport barriers Off axis ECH current drive	1998	Two 110 GHz gyrotrons RWM saddle loops

Fig. 1–1. Ten-year chronology of DIII–D plasma physics advances and facility improvements.

### 1.1.1. ORIGIN OF THE PROGRAM

The GA Tokamak Program has a history of creative concept development. The program began in 1968 with the Doublet I device, the first tokamak with a highly noncircular cross section, using solid copper walls to shape the plasma. Experiments on this device showed the doublet configuration to be magnetically and dynamically stable. These successes led in 1971 to the larger Doublet II device, also with solid copper walls. This device was reconfigured in 1974 to use external coils to replace the copper walls. The new device was named Doublet IIA, and it pioneered the use of external coils to shape a wide range of highly noncircular plasmas.

The success of these experiments led to construction of the Doublet III device with its first plasma on February 25, 1978. In the first years of operation, it was the largest operating tokamak in the world and attained the highest current levels recorded at that time (2.2 MA). Experiments with a range of plasma configurations demonstrated the importance of elongation and shape control. Dee-shaped plasmas proved easiest to form and were projected to reach beta values adequate for viable power plants. Diverted dee-shaped plasmas were also effective in achieving reduced impurity levels and enhanced confinement.

These successes led to the reconstruction of the Doublet III tokamak into a large dee-shaped cross section capable of a wide range of plasma shapes and divertor configurations. The device was renamed DIII–D in 1986. DIII–D rapidly reached currents of 3 MA and achieved superior levels of confinement and beta. Understanding of plasma stability, transport, divertor and current drive physics was developed.

The DIII–D Program has contributed outstanding results in most major areas of tokamak physics including: confinement, stability, boundary physics and technology, rf heating and current drive, and tokamak operations. This progress is typified by the evolution of the fusion triple product  $n\tau T$ . Over the last ten years, the performance has doubled every two years, reaching  $7 \times 10^{20}$  keV-s m<sup>-3</sup>. In the following sections, we summarize the scientific progress relative to our previous five-year plan.

### 1.1.2. DIII-D SCIENTIFIC ACCOMPLISHMENTS

**The First Five-Year Plan: 1989–1993.** The 1989–1993 research plan encompassed four major tasks: (1) beta limit research, (2) confinement physics research, (3) rf heating research, and (4) current drive research. These tasks built on existing GA capabilities and available and future facility capabilities. Together, the four tasks contributed toward achieving the ultimate goal of the 1989–1993 research: the demonstration of high beta tokamak plasma with good confinement and completely noninductive current drive.

A central element of stability research was to establish the understanding of beta limits in noncircular plasmas. The stability boundaries were studied and mapped out and extended from previous 4.8% to 12.5% beta. These very favorable findings resulted in major changes in the European and Japanese research tokamaks as well in the design of future devices such as CIT, BPX, and ITER.

Confinement physics research concentrated on improvement by control of edge plasma conditions. Through vacuum wall improvements and conditioning as well as divertor modifications, the confinement quality was doubled through H–mode edge transport barrier and then doubled again through a VH–mode core transport barrier. These confinement improvements are shown to be related to plasma E×B flow shear which theorists were able to show would destroy and/or stabilize turbulent eddies causing energy transport.

During the first five-year period, rf heating research was constrained by the availability of higher power rf systems due to a vendor's technical development difficulties as well as programmatic budgetary constraints. These difficulties have subsequently been over come and this program element is now proceeding well. With the limited rf power levels available, the physics of heating and current drive were investigated and benchmarked with theoretical models.

Active particle control was initiated using a divertor pump and divertor diagnostic instruments are continually improved. A major collaborative advanced divertor program was initiated between GA, LLNL, ORNL, SNL, UCLA, and UCSD. Particle control was demonstrated, divertor plate heat flux was demonstrated, and extensive comparisons between measurements and modeling was initiated. This research formed the basis for several world tokamak divertor modifications.

**The Second Five-Year Period: 1994–1998.** The 1994 DIII–D Scientific Program was organized under two themes: AT and Divertor Development and Research Programs which were connected through an ultimate theme: Integrated AT Research.

**AT Research.** The 1994 AT Program Plan had three major research goals: "(1) to develop physics understanding of the formation and sustainment of AT configurations; (2) to establish experimental validation of the physics of active rf current drive and efficiency optimization; and (3) to combine these two to provide a demonstration of optimized, long-pulse AT operation with simultaneous improved confinement, enhanced stability, and fully noninductive current drive at high beta." These 1994 program goals were proposed to be accomplished through a number of studies to accomplish the objectives outlined in Table 1–1. Excellent progress was accomplished on all these objectives, except for the long pulse studies requiring the future high power microwaves upgrade system. As characteristic of research, results of these studies opened unexpected new opportunities and deeper scientific questions to be investigated in the future. Overall, the scientific progress was more or less as envisioned while the ITER support was more than envisioned in 1994.

TABLE 1–1
AN ASSESSMENT OF PROGRESS ON THE 1994 ADVANCED TOKAMAK RESEARCH GOALS
[A check ( $\checkmark$ ) indicates progress as anticipated, a minus (–) indicates less progress
than anticipated, and a plus (+) indicates more progress than anticipated]

	Goal	Progress
٠	Develop understanding of Advanced Tokamak regimes	$\checkmark$
•	Validate noninductive current drive (bootstrap utilized, fastwave to 0.3 MA, electron cyclotron by 1998)	$\checkmark$
•	Actively control, optimize, and demonstrate Advanced Tokamak regimes — Short pulse — Long pulse	✓ _
٠	Stability and transport theory/experimental interaction	$\checkmark$
•	Disruption studies	$\checkmark$
٠	Rotation effects with C-coil	$\checkmark$
•	Develop advanced (digital) plasma control	$\checkmark$
٠	Provide ITER physics simulation	+

A measure of integrated performance is the fusion triple product;  $n_i \tau_E T_i$ . This product is composed of the central fusion fuel ion density, the global energy confinement time and the central fusion fuel ion temperature. Over the past five years, the DIII–D fusion triple product has increased four fold. This progress over the history of the DIII–D facility, shown in Fig. 1–2, is comparable to that of rapidly advancing activities such as the semiconductor computer industry. In the next five-year period, we do not intend extensive dedicated campaigns to push the triple product higher since these are very hot ion conditions. Instead, future research will concentrate on plasma regimes with near equal ion and electron temperature as characteristic of future fusion power plants.

A second measure of integrated fusion performance is by direct measurement of the fusion power produced normalized to the required plasma heating power. In the past five years, significant progress has been made through strongly shaped double-null plasmas, NCS plasma current profile, and broad plasma pressure profile. In this way, 28 kW of D–D fusion output power was produced in DIII–D with 18 MW of neutral beam input power. The D–D fusion gain was QD–D = 0.0015. For an optimum D–T fuel mixture, this is equivalent to a D–T fusion gain of  $Q_{DT}^{equiv} = 0.3$ . Compared to five years ago, this is an increase of a factor four.



Fig. 1–2. Scientific progress: DIII–D fusion performance has doubled every two years.

### 1.1.3. DIII-D SCIENTIFIC PROGRESS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS

**1.1.3.1. Plasma Stability and High-Beta Physics.** The DIII–D Program has made remarkable progress in understanding the nature of the  $\beta$  limit in tokamaks and in achieving higher values of the plasma  $\beta$ . Understanding of the stability of elongated discharges has led to operation with double-null discharges with high values of I/aB and the achievement of  $\beta = 13\%$ . The associated development of detailed theoretical understanding, demonstrates that  $\beta$  values needed for power plant operation are credible and achievable. Accurate equilibrium calculations have demonstrated that regions of the plasma reach into the second-stable region. Understanding the role of the current profile in establishing  $\beta$  limits has led to the recognition that the limiting  $\beta$  value could be raised with properly optimized plasma profiles.

At high values of beta, self-driven neoclassical bootstrap currents become a significant contribution to the overall plasma current. This is beneficial for obtaining steady state discharges, but it can also lead to MHD instability. This coupling between the self-driven current and the plasma pressure, which establishes the stability limits, is referred to as neoclassical MHD. If finite size island structures form, the plasma pressure gradients flatten within the islands which causes the bootstrap current to weaken and the island to expand. This process has been shown to establish beta limits in plasmas in DIII–D and other tokamaks. Recent DIII–D experiments have compared this instability to theoretical models, and means of stabilizing the modes using localized currents driven by electron cyclotron current drive are being developed.

Important progress also has been made in understanding locked modes. These occur when rotating magnetic modes lock (to a stationary, local magnetic field asymmetry), often leading to a disruption. Locked modes lead to limitation of the operating space. Particularly, they restrict operation with the low-density target plasmas that are crucial for obtaining efficient rf current drive and VH–mode confinement. Experimentally, it has been shown that an external perturbation can be added to the tokamak field configuration to minimize intrinsic local asymmetries and, thus, substantially increase the operating space.

**1.1.3.2. Plasma Confinement Physics.** Early operation of the DIII–D device led to the routine attainment of the high confinement regime, the H–mode. DIII–D H–mode results show a strong increase in energy confinement  $\tau_E$  with plasma current, consistent with worldwide tokamak results. DIII–D has made significant contributions toward understanding the physics of the transition from L–mode to H–mode. Improvements made in the DIII–D charge exchange recombination spectroscopy system provided important data on the change in the edge radial electric field across the transition. By measuring edge poloidal and toroidal rotation, temperature, and density of various plasma ions, our experimental data showed that the radial electric field changes just before the start of the transition, and that density fluctuations change right at the start of the transition in a localized layer where the radial electric field also changed. This is also the region where gradients of plasma density and temperature steepen after the transition indicating a decrease in local transport. Theory predicts that the increased shear in the E×B drift velocity leads to this transport reduction. A similar effect explains the VH–mode, with a broader region of E×B shear extending further into the plasma.

In the last several years, further confinement improvement has been obtained in the core of DIII–D plasmas by optimizing the magnetic and E×B shear. The initial signs of the improvement were the creation of obvious core transport barriers in discharges where manipulation of the current density profile had resulted in suppression of sawteeth. Core barriers have been formed in discharges with both positive and negative magnetic shear. The key factor in all these plasmas appears to be the same E×B decorrelation of

turbulence that is operational in the plasma edge in H–mode and VH–mode. By optimizing the plasma pressure profile with suitably timed L-to-H transitions, we have created plasmas where the whole discharge has low transport. For example, ion thermal diffusivity at or below the standard neoclassical level has been attained across the whole plasma. Such plasmas have a DIII–D record triple product  $n\tau T = 7 \times 10^{20}$  m<sup>-3</sup> s keV. These discharges demonstrate that control of plasma current and pressure profiles can lead to significant confinement improvement over standard H–mode.

As part of the work on confinement improvement, a significant amount of work has been done on basic studies of local transport. These include assessment of local transport coefficients through power balance and perturbative approaches and comparison of coefficients for dimensionally similar discharges and off-axis heating experiments where the possible existence of a heat pinch term is indicated in experiments using either ECH or NBI. One of the key problems in thermal transport analysis is separation of the electron and ion thermal transport. The individual values are rendered uncertain by the uncertainty in the electron-ion power transfer term, which can depend on the difference of large numbers. The ability to separately heat the ions (with NBI) and the electron (with fast wave and ECH) has allowed us to reduce this uncertainty in discharges with combined heating because plasma can be made in which the uncertain power transfer term is actually a small component of the heat input to either species.

As part of the transport work, we have been actively involved in the ITER process, providing a significant amount of data to the ITER global confinement database. This has been combined with the data from tokamaks world wide to furnish means of predicting the confinement values in ITER. In addition, we have been one of the major players in the area of confinement investigations using nondimensional scaling. Indeed, it is probably only because of the careful nondimensional transport work done on DIII–D that this technique has been recognized as a reliable means of transport investigation. Because of DIII–D flexible shaping capabilities, we can match the plasma shape of other, less flexible machines, thus providing data for key tests of this technique.

In the past two years, so-called theory-based models of local transport have emerged, which have had some success in matching experimentally measured profiles from various machines. DIII–D experimentalist and theorists are actively involved in this work and DIII–D profile data makes up a significant part of the ITER profile database, which is being used to test these various theories. We are working with the whole transport community in testing and attempting to improve these models.

**1.1.3.3.** Boundary Physics and Technology. DIII–D work in boundary physics and technology has concentrated on understanding and developing the divertor configuration, including the demonstration of long pulse discharges. Divertor configurations similar to those developed on DIII–D have become prototypical for next-generation tokamaks and stellarators, including ITER. Research on DIII–D has led to the development of the lower advanced divertor configuration and the upper high-triangularity divertor presently operational in DIII–D. Important work also has been done on vessel wall conditioning and the transport of impurities from the plasma edge.

Early studies of the heat loads to divertor targets led to the recognition that these loads can be strongly peaked and that the heat distribution can depend on the confinement mode (ohmic, L-mode, H-mode). These studies also quantified the differences between single-null and double-null discharges, and showed that the heat loads in double-null discharges could be maintained as essentially up/down symmetric. It was then demonstrated that the heat loads could be managed by sweeping the location of the divertor strike point across the target plate.

Results from DIII–D also show that by injection of gas at the plasma boundary, both peak and overall heat load to the divertor target plates can be reduced to one-fifth of the original value. Puffing of deuterium gas reduces the peak heat flux to the divertor tiles and at the same time  $-Z_{eff}$  is constant or slightly reduced. These results show that in DIII–D, gas puffing is a promising method of reducing heat load to the divertor. These results are an encouraging proof of principle of the radiative recombining divertor concept.

The desire to better optimize and control the divertor configuration and, in particular, demonstrate density control in divertor H–mode plasmas led to the conception and implementation of the advanced divertor configuration in conjunction with a team of collaborators from GA, LLNL, ORNL, SNL, and UCSD. This involved the installation of a cryogenic pump and a biasable ring near the divertor X–point to pump neutrals and to allow an electric field to be applied to the plasma in the divertor region. The application of a bias voltage to the ring electrode was shown to result in a further increase in the divertor pumping. An extensive set of diagnostics was added to the lower divertor including bolometric tomography, spectroscopy, and a divertor Thomson Scattering System. These new diagnostics showed that the divertor was cold, 1 to 2 eV indicating that plasma radiation, recombination, and convective power flow are dominant processes in the radiative divertor region.

Successive improvements in the wall condition of the DIII–D device have led to remarkable improvements in both confinement and impurity level. The DIII–D vacuum vessel was constructed with the capability to bake to nearly 400°C for the purposes of decontaminating the graphite vessel wall in preparation for plasma discharges. Boronization, the *in situ* coating of the vessel walls with a thin layer of boron, has resulted in a substantial improvement in discharge operation, especially with high current, high energy plasmas. Discharges of 3 MA achieved a plasma energy of 3.6 MJ,  $\langle \beta \rangle = 5.1\%$  at full toroidal field, thus fulfilling a long-standing DIII–D program goal of reaching high  $\beta$  at full plasma parameters. Boronization resulted in the discovery of the VH–mode, a confinement regime substantially improved from those previously achieved with confinement.

The poloidal location of the advanced divertor is optimized for pumping low-triangularity single- or double-null divertors. As noted above, many of the AT scenarios involve high triangularity plasma shapes. We recently installed the first phase of a high triangularity double-null divertor configuration consisting of an upper baffle and cryopump for density control in high-triangularity plasma shapes. This hardware is currently operational, and we have demonstrated density control in high-triangularity upper single-null plasmas.

**1.1.3.4. RF Heating and Current Drive Physics.** DIII–D RF heating and current drive research has investigated the use of electron cyclotron waves and fast waves in the ion cyclotron range of frequencies to heat electrons and to drive plasma currents. ECH has the advantage of easy coupling of the power to the plasma with simple antenna structures and localized deposition of the power in the plasma. Initial ECH experiments on DIII–D utilized a frequency of 60 GHz — the fundamental frequency at the maximum field of DIII–D. This system, while effective at localized heating of the plasma, was limited by the fact that coupling is cut off above relatively modest densities and that the unit size available for the power generation system (200 kW each) is small for high power experiments. Recently, two 1 MW sources at

110 GHz have been installed for heating at the second harmonic in order to address both of these issues. This system, has steerable mirrors to direct the power deposition at any minor radius along the resonance.

Experiments on DIII–D at 60 GHz have used all of the principal modes of ECH, including outside launch of the ordinary mode (O–mode) at the fundamental frequency, outside launch of the extraordinary mode (X–mode) at the fundamental and second harmonic, and inside launch of the fundamental X–mode. Propagation limits and absorption are well predicted by theory models. Central electron temperatures of 10 keV have been achieved with ECH. ECH provides the capability to increase the electron temperature closer to the ion temperature as will be the case eventually in burning plasmas. In addition to bulk heating, ECH has potential applications affecting confinement and stability. In DIII–D experiments, application of ECH has been shown to generate the H–mode of improved confinement, which is widely regarded as a test of the ability of a technique to heat without introducing significant levels of impurities; heating near the q = 1 surface has suppressed sawteeth; and applying ECH with the resonance near the edge in H–mode discharges with substantial neutral beam heating has stabilized the Edge Localized Modes, leading to improved energy confinement.

The ECH System is a key tool in performing critical experiments required for understanding and optimizing the tokamak concept. ECH is a unique heating technology in that the energy is coupled to the electrons in a localized spatial region of the plasma. This makes ECH a unique tool for studying transport through application of localized heat. In contrast to the predictions of standard techniques used to model energy transport in the tokamak, a series of careful experiments utilizing these capabilities revealed an anomalous inward flow of electron heat. Discovery of this heat pinch has stimulated new theoretical activity in the community which will hopefully be the key to unlock the puzzle of electron thermal transport.

ECCD experiments have been carried out at 110 GHz. Extensive data analysis and modeling showed that about 170 kA of current was driven by 1 MW of power and that this is consistent with predictions.

Fast waves are also useful for electron heating and current drive. The fast waves are launched from the low field side of the plasma with a toroidal velocity which is close to the thermal speed of the electrons. This results in moderately strong electron Landau damping and transit time magnetic pumping which heats the electrons and drives current. Fast wave heating heats the high temperature center of the plasma preferentially. Good fast wave absorption requires high electron temperature and, thus, the Fast Wave Program is symbiotically linked to the ECH Program to achieve effective central heating and current drive. Strong central heating in discharges heated by neutral injection has also been observed. Pick-up loops on the vessel walls and reflectometer measurements are used to study wave propagation and absorption.

More recently, FWCD has been shown to be an effective method of electron heating and driving plasma current in the plasma core. The FWCD Program on DIII–D is a collaborative effort between GA and ORNL, which has provided a proof-of-principle demonstration of FWCD for application to DIII–D and other tokamaks. To avoid competing absorption mechanisms, such as absorption at ion cyclotron harmonics, we seek to maximize the single-pass absorption by first heating the electrons with ECH or neutral beam power.

FWCD experiments have led to record current drive by this means, about 290 kA. The magnitude of the driven current and its radial profile are in good agreement with theory. FWCD has been applied to discharges with NCS, where it has been effective at modifying the current profile and prolonging the duration

of the negative shear phase. FWCD thus is a valuable tool, along with ECCD and NBCD, for controlling the shape of the current profile.

### 1.1.4. DIII-D OPERATIONS AND FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS

The DIII-D Research Program requires safe and reliable operation of the tokamak in new plasma configurations, refurbishing and improving the tokamak facility, and meeting the needs of expanding numbers of collaborators.

**1.1.4.1.** Operations. During the past ten-year period, scientific progress was paced largely by funding availability. As seen in Table 1–2, funding was generally below the plan. In order to maintain an appropriate operation level in the face of the facility fixed costs, it was necessary to defer upgrades, refurbishments, and normal procurement to the 1999 five-year period.

COMPARISON OF TEN-YEAR PLAN AND ACTUAL GA FUNDING LEVELS AND OPERATIONS WEEKS										
	FY89	FY90	FY91	FY92	FY93	FY94	FY95	FY96	FY97	FY98
Planned GA Funding (\$M)	31.5	39.5	48.0	52.3	38.1	40.7	38.3	38.6	42.3	49.1
Actual GA Funding (\$M)	32.3	32.1	31.0	32.0	36.5	38.2	39.0	34.0	30.7	37.5
Weeks Operation	27	17	20	14	16	11	19	16	9	18

TABLE 1-2

1.1.4.2. Tokamak Facility Improvements. In addition to the major upgrades described in Section 3.2.3.2, the 1994 DIII-D Five-Year Plan envisioned implementation of a number of facility improvements listed in Table 1–3. Although the computer capability was increased, the improvements were inadequate to handle the unanticipated large increase in data, so aggressive effort was undertaken in FY98.

1.1.4.3. New Diagnostics. New plasma diagnostics are needed to carry out the Research Program. Twentythree new diagnostic instruments were installed in the past five years (see Table 1-4).

1.1.4.4. Data Acquisition and Analysis. In 1994, we anticipated that the data collected per shot would increase from 70 to 120 MBytes of data collected in 1998. Already in 1997, up to 220 MBytes is being collected on each shot (280 MBytes in early 1999). This larger amount of collected data is a result of increased sophistication of GA and collaborator diagnostic instruments, number of channels, and data collection rate. This increase in collected data has overloaded the computer and data retrieval systems. While the data acquisition and analysis computer systems have been somewhat improved, they are presently significantly under powered. Efforts are on-going to close this gap over the next few years with both new hardware and new data analysis software tools.

# TABLE 1–3 FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS IMPLEMENTED IN FY94–98

Real time computer plasma control system (GA) C-coil for magnetic error field correction (GA) Pellet fueling (ORNL) Operation of experiments from remote site (LLNL) Increased computer capability (GA)

### TABLE 1–4 New Diagnostics Installed Since 1993

### **Current profile diagnostics**

Motional Stark effect edge upgrade (LLNL)

X-ray spectrometer radial array (Russia) — one channel operational Additional magnetic probes (GA)

#### **Fluctuation diagnostics**

Beam emission spectroscopy (edge and central) (U. Wis./GA) Improved microwave reflectometry, scattering (UCLA) Phase contrast imaging (MIT)

#### Core plasma diagnostics

Charge exchange recombination upgrade (GA) Superheterodyne electron cyclotron emission (ORNL/U. Texas) Direct  $E_r$  MSE (LLNL)

2D BES T<sub>e</sub> Fluctuation (U. Wisc.) Disruption Tile Current Arrays (GA)

#### Toroidal and poloidal asymmetries

Infrared and visible TV cameras (LLNL)

Upper divertor Langmuir probes and pressure gauges (GA, ORNL, SNL)

### Divertor impurity transport and radiation

Multichannel divertor spectroscopy upgrade (GA) Fast impurity gas injector (impurity pellet) (ORNL) Normal incidence spectrometer (GA)

Divertor SPRED (LLNL)

EUV Spectroscopy (LLNL)

High Res. Bolometer (GA)

Flow Measurement (SNL)

### **Basic scrapeoff layer parameters**

Reciprocating divertor probe (SNL/UCLA) Divertor reflectometer (UCLA) Divertor Thomson scattering (LLNL/GA)

### **1.1.5. TRANSITION TO A NATIONAL PROGRAM**

During the past ten-year period, DIII–D has become a true National Program. Already in 1993, DIII–D operated with national and international participation from 30 institutions. Now there are 50 institutions collaborating and now two-thirds of the DIII–D research physicists are from institutions other than GA. Approximately, 300 scientific users spend more than a week at the DIII–D National Facility.

DIII–D has a Program Advisory Committee which meets regularly, and an Executive Committee composed of leaders of the major collaborating institutions. The program has unified technical and budget DOE quarterly reporting and reviews. Collaborators have chaired the 1996 and 1997 Research Planning Committees and collaborators now act in line management and project management roles. Needless to say, collaborators also lead experiment campaigns, are experiment session leaders, and represent the program at a wide range of meetings and other scientific forums. DIII–D has become even more of a national facility than was envisioned five years ago. This was due to a combination of a desire by the earlier collaborating institutions and due to a shrinkage in the number of other tokamak facilities as a result of the decline in fusion funding in FY96.

## 2. FUSION SCIENCE

## 2.1. 1998 STATUS OF DIII-D ADVANCED TOKAMAK RESEARCH

### 2.1.1. RESULTS FROM THE DIII-D SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH PROGRAM<sup>1</sup>

The DIII–D research program is aimed at developing the scientific basis for advanced modes of operation which can enhance the commercial attractiveness of the tokamak as an energy producing system. Features that improve the attractiveness of the tokamak as a fusion power plant include: high power density (which demands high  $\beta = 2 \mu_0 \langle P \rangle / B^2$ ), high ignition margin (high energy confinement time  $\tau_E$ ), and steady state operation with low recirculating power (high bootstrap fraction), as well as adequate divertor heat removal, particle and impurity control. This set of requirements emphasizes that the approach to improved performance must be an integrated approach, optimizing the plasma from the core, through the plasma edge and into the divertor. Research results from DIII–D reported here include results from all these areas.

In the area of core physics research, we have demonstrated improved plasma performance and increased duration of the high performance phase in both H–mode and L–mode plasmas. Moving towards an eventual goal of fully non-inductive current drive, we have made the first tokamak demonstration of off-axis electron cyclotron current drive. It exhibits higher off-axis efficiency than previously expected theoretically. In edge physics research, we have established the role of the self-consistently generated edge bootstrap current in stabilizing ballooning modes and allowing edge second regime access. Edge pressure gradients more than a factor of two above the ballooning limit without bootstrap current have been experimentally measured. This has improved our understanding of the edge pedestal and ELMs, which affect both core and divertor performance. In addition, a physics model of the density limit has been tested on DIII–D which reproduces density limit results on present machines and scales favorably to larger devices. In the area of heat and particle control in the divertor, we have established a new understanding of convection and recombination in radiative divertor plasmas. Finally, we have enhanced the divertor radiation by plasma flows and impurity enrichment.

**Progress Towards Integrated, Steady-State, Improved Performance Plasmas.** In order to establish their future relevance for fusion, improved performance scenarios must demonstrate a path towards ultimate steady-state operation. This requires demonstrating that improved confinement plasmas can be sustained for long pulses at high beta values as well as developing the tools (e.g. current drive) which will be needed for steady state operation. DIII–D has carried out experiments in both these areas since the last IAEA.

Figure 2.1.1–1 demonstrates our recent progress in moving towards steady state improved performance discharges. In this figure, we measure our approach to steady state with  $\tau_{duration}/\tau_E$ , the duration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Taylor, T.S., K.H. Burrell, D.R. Baker, et al., "Results From the DIII–D Scientific Research Program," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23007 (1998).

of the high confinement phase divided by the energy confinement time. We measure advanced tokamak performance through the product of normalized beta,  $\beta_N = \beta (aB_T/I_p)$ , and the confinement enhancement factor H relative to the ITER confinement scaling law. For H–mode, we will use H<sub>98y</sub>, which is defined relative to the most recent scaling for thermal energy confinement time in ELMing H–mode [1]. As can be seen in Fig. 2.1.1–1, significant progress has been made in DIII–D in the past two years in advancing both quantities. The points describing recent shots are above and to the right of our earlier results, which is the direction of our advanced tokamak goal.

An example of such an improved performance discharge is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–2 [2]. Lines indicating the  $\beta_N$  and  $H_{98y}$  values required for ITER and the ARIES-RS reactor study are also shown, indicating that this discharge exceeds the ARIES-RS requirements on the  $\beta_N$   $H_{98y}$  product. A  $\beta_N$   $H_{98y}$  product exceeding 6 is sustained for 1 s (5  $\tau_E$ ). The high performance phase of the shot in Fig. 2.1.1–2 was terminated at about 3 s by the initiation of a neoclassical tearing mode, probably triggered by an ELM.

Two approaches have been taken to improve plasma performance and duration as is illustrated in Fig. 2.1.1–3. Both utilize the technique of an early neutral beam injection during the current ramp that was developed over the past several years in producing core transport barriers in DIII–D [3,4], JET [5], JT60-U [6],and TFTR [7,8]. However, one approach [2] is more aggressive in pushing high power to reach high  $\beta_N$  while the second has emphasized more the long pulse aspects. Neither shot shows the rapid, localized change in temperature gradient characteristic of a strong, localized core transport barrier; however, transport analysis indicates improvement in ion thermal diffusivity over most of the discharge relative to standard ELMing H–mode [2].

Core ion transport barriers have been run for even longer durations in low current, L-mode edge discharges, as is shown in Fig. 2.1.1-4. These shots were specifically optimized for the full 5 second neutral



Fig. 2.1.1–1. Plot of the  $\beta_N$  H product versus normalized discharge duration for DIII–D shots from the time of the 1996 IAEA meeting (triangles) and more recent shots (squares). The shaded region shows our progress. All these discharges are H–modes; accordingly, the confinement enhancement factor H<sub>98y</sub> relative to the H–mode scaling is used.



Fig. 2.1.1–2. Time evolution of a high performance DIII–D discharge. The 1 s duration is comparable to the current profile relaxation time scale. Some parameters of interest during the high performance phase are:  $\beta \sim 4.5\%$ ,  $n_e/n_{Gr} \sim 0.5$ ,  $q(0) \sim 1, q_{95}$  = 4.4,  $\tau_{th} \sim .21$  s, and  $f_{bs} \sim 50\%$ , where  $n_{Gr}$  is the Greenwald density and  $f_{bs}$  is the bootstrap fraction.



Fig. 2.1.1–3. Time histories and radial profiles of two recent DIII–D shots emphasizing long pulse high performance. Shot 95983 reached  $\beta_N H_{98y}$  about 7 for 3  $\tau_E$  while 96202 achieved  $\beta_N H_{98y}$  around 3 for 25  $\tau_E$ . (The corresponding  $\beta_N$  H products using the ITER89P L–mode scaling are 10 and 5, respectively.) The high performance phase of shot 96202 was terminated only when the neutral beam power was turned down while that of 95983 degraded due to the onset of neoclassical tearing modes. Shot 95983 was at 2.1 T toroidal field and had a line averaged density  $5.4 \times 10^{19}$  m<sup>-3</sup> during the high performance phase while shot 96202 was at 1.9 T toroidal field and had a line averaged density of  $2.7 \times 10^{19}$  m<sup>-3</sup>.

beam duration by running at low current and a relatively low density of  $2 \times 10^{19}$  m<sup>-3</sup>. This discharge is an existence proof that it is possible to create an ion transport barrier which can last indefinitely.

A key feature in sustaining the good performance in the discharges in Figs. 2.1.1–3 and 2.1.1–4 is the absence of sawteeth. Detailed analysis of the current diffusion in these shots shows that this result is somewhat surprising, since neutral beam current drive alone should be enough to drive q(0) well below one. However, fast-particle driven MHD modes apparently broaden the neutral beam current drive profile, preventing this drop in q(0). In the discharges in Fig. 2.1.1–3, we observe fishbone oscillations while in the shot in Fig. 2.1.1–4, there are Alfvén eigenmodes present. Both of these modes are driven by fast particles and can redistribute these particles outward in radius.

Two major hurdles must be overcome in order to extend the discharges shown in Fig. 2.1.1–3 to higher performance and longer duration. First, as is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–3 (a), the performance in shot 95983 is degraded after 2.7 seconds by the onset of neoclassical tearing modes. This problem with neoclassical tearing modes is a common feature of many high performance discharges [2]. These modes are



Fig. 2.1.1–4. Long pulse, L–mode edge discharge 94777 run at 1.9 T toroidal field. As is shown by the ion temperature time history, the core ion transport barrier lasts about 4.5 seconds in this shot, limited only by the duration of the neutral beam pulse. The major radius of the ion temperature measurements is listed at the top of the temperature figure. By the end of the beam pulse, even the q profile had essentially reached steady state, monotonic shape with q(0) = 1.6.

metastable, requiring a finite-size magnetic island to trigger instability. Finite-sized, seed islands can be triggered transiently, for example, by other MHD instabilities in the plasma, (e.g. sawteeth, ELMs or fishbones). As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–5, the absence of sawteeth in shots like those in Fig. 2.1.1–3 removes one of the possible sources of seed islands for the

neoclassical tearing mode and thus allows operation at a higher beta value.

The second hurdle is overcoming the effects of current diffusion so that q(0) remains above one, preventing destruction of the core transport barriers by sawteeth and removing this trigger of neoclassical tearing modes. Although sawteeth were not present in the shots in Figs. 2.1.1–3 and 2.1.1–4, the MHD oscillations which we believe broadened the beam driven current are undesirable from a performance standpoint. The measured fusion neutron rate in the shot in Fig. 2.1.1–4, for example, was about 1/3 of the value predicted assuming all the fast ions deposited near the axis slowed down where they were born. As is discussed presently, the electron cyclotron heating (ECH) systems now coming on line on DIII-D should allow us to confront both these hurdles through electron cyclotron current drive to both broaden the current profile and shrink the seed island.



Fig. 2.1.1–5. The measured beta value for discharges similar to those in Fig. 2.1.1–2 (squares) significantly exceeds the neoclassical tearing mode limit established for sawtoothing discharges. The horizontal axis is the scaling value established in Ref. [9] while the line through the circular points is the best fit to the data for sawtoothing discharges. These neoclassical tearing modes are a mix of m/n = 3/2 and 2/1 cases.

Because of the need for current profile control for advanced tokamak operation, investigation of electron cyclotron current drive (ECCD) is a key portion of the DIII–D research. In the past year, we have demonstrated off-axis ECCD on DIII–D for the first time in any tokamak [10]. Electron cyclotron wave power at 110 GHz, which is resonant near the second harmonic of the electron cyclotron resonance, can be steered over a range of minor radii by tilting the launching mirror in the poloidal direction. The waves are given a toroidal velocity component so they interact with electrons traveling in a preferred toroidal direction, generating toroidal current. Analysis was carried out using motional Stark effect measurements of the internal magnetic field, allowing the local driven current density to be determined [11]. A 4-point vertical scan of the deposition location was made, covering the range of 0.1 to 0.5 in normalized minor radius  $\rho$ . Figure 2.1.1–6(a) shows the profile of ECCD which is driven at a  $\rho = 0.5$  by 1 MW of electron cyclotron power. The integrated net current driven is 35 kA. The gross behavior of the plasma—the evolution of the internal inductance, the time duration before the entry of the q=1 surface into the plasma as

signified by the start of sawteeth - is consistent with the effects expected from the measured current drive for the different locations of the power deposition. The magnitude of the driven current exceeds the value calculated by linear (TORAY) or quasilinear (CQL3D) codes. As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1-6(b), the theoretically predicted fall off in normalized efficiency with minor radius is not observed; the normalized efficiency at  $\rho = 0.1$  and  $\rho = 0.5$  are about the same. This result suggests that trapping of the heated electrons is much weaker than theoretically expected under the experimental conditions. These results strongly support the use of higher power ECCD as a means of sustaining current profiles with the optimized magnetic shear needed for advanced tokamak plasmas.

**Progress in Understanding and Controlling Core Transport.** In order to extend the improved performance results from present machines to future devices with confidence, we must finally develop a predictive understanding of tokamak transport. In addition, improved performance scenarios, especially in self-heated burning plasmas, will require development of new tools to control transport. Over the past two years, we have made progress in both understanding and control.

Over the past several years, fusion theorists have developed several new models of plasma transport [12-15]. Averaged over a large database of shots, each of these models do about equally well in



Fig. 2.1.1–6. (a) Profile of current density driven by ECCD for a case with power deposition at about half of the minor radius. (b) Normalized efficiency for ECCD as a function of the minor radius coordinate  $\rho$ . The current drive efficiency  $\eta$  has been normalized by the local electron temperature to remove the theoretically expected temperature dependence. The experimental results are compared to the linear TORAY calculations and show little decrease in normalized efficiency with  $\rho$ , contrary to theoretical expectations.

predicting quasi-steady-state, equilibrium plasma profiles even though each model has a different mix of fundamental physics. Accordingly, to distinguish between models, some other test is needed.

Simulations have shown that perturbative transport experiments can provide a more critical test of transport models than equilibrium transport analysis. A perturbation source that deposits heat locally into the plasma particle species under study is preferred. Experiments have been performed on DIII–D using modulated ECH as the spatially localized perturbative heat source with the resonance absorption layer off

axis. The electron and ion temperature responses are measured and the amplitude and phase of the perturbations (Fig. 2.1.1–7) and the equilibrium temperature profiles are compared to predictions from several transport models [16].

The results with off-axis heating indicate the electron and ion responses to the ECH perturbation are out of phase with each other at the plasma core and at the resonance layer. In general, the IFS-PPPL [12] and GLF23 [13] models predict reasonably well the ion response while the GLF23 and IIF [14] models do a reasonable job with the electron response. The GLF23 model includes the effects of both electron temperature gradient (ETG) and ion temperature gradient (ITG) driven turbulence as well as trapped particle modes, which may be why it fits the best overall. The GLF23 model fits the data best for the case with the ECH localized at  $\rho = 0.3$ ; the comparisons for other heating locations were somewhat worse [16]. None of the models showed good agreement with both the ion



Fig. 2.1.1–7. Perturbed electron temperature,  $\delta$  T<sub>e</sub> (eV), at  $\rho$ =0.3 and  $\rho$ =0.1 for measured data (solid, black lines), and simulated data from the IFS/PPPL model (solid gray lines) and IIF model (dashed gray lines). The ECH resonance location is at about  $\rho$ =0.3.

and electron perturbative responses and the equilibrium profiles although the equilibrium profile fit of the GLF23 model was improved by including the effects of the measured, average E×B shear [16].

Although the creation of ion thermal and angular momentum transport barriers has been connected with E×B shear stabilization of turbulence both theoretically and experimentally [17–19], the physics governing the electron channel is much less well understood. Electron thermal transport barriers are much more difficult to form in DIII–D than ion barriers and seem to require much greater magnetic shear [20]. Electron heating with either ECH or fast waves has been used to probe the physics of core transport barriers [21,22]. For reasons that are not completely clear, central electron heating during the end of the core ion barrier formation phase tends to weaken the ion barrier, resulting in some reduction in core ion temperature and core ion rotation. This effect occurs only within the core barrier region with the ion profiles outside this region remaining unchanged by the additional electron heating. Both ion and electron thermal diffusivities increase after the application of the electron heating, with the electron diffusivity rising

almost an order of magnitude [21]. The changes in the ion channel in these discharges are consistent with change in the E×B shearing rate relative to the low k turbulence growth rates [21]. The decreased ion rotation gives a decreased E×B shear while the growth rate changes little. However, the physics of the electron channel in these plasmas remains unexplained [21]. New FIR scattering measurements of short wavelength turbulence at  $k = 12 \text{ cm}^{-1}$  have shown measurable turbulence whose onset is correlated with the start of the electron heating, which suggests high k turbulence may be affecting electron transport. Detailed stability calculations, however, have not yet identified an associated unstable mode [21].

A connection between confinement improvement and observed and calculated turbulence reduction has also been established in discharges run with neon or argon injection to reproduce the TEXTOR RImode plasmas [23,24]. As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–8, injection of neon results in dramatic reduction in density fluctuations observed by beam emission spectroscopy around  $\rho = 0.8$ . As the fluctuations gradually decrease, confinement improves. Furthermore, calculations of gyrokinetic stability similar to those done in [18,25] demonstrate that adding neon to the plasma reduces the linear growth rate at all wavenumbers, consistent with the observed confinement improvement. As indicated in Fig. 2.1.1–8, the turbulence at smaller wavenumbers should already be stabilized by E×B shear effects. Similar effects have been seen with argon injection. In these shots, transport analysis demonstrates an improvement in both electron and ion thermal transport which correlates with the reduction in observed density fluctuations. An important feature of these discharges, relevant to the edge stability issues discussed in the next section, is the reduction in edge pressure gradient and edge bootstrap current in H–mode plasmas with neon or argon impurity



Fig. 2.1.1–8. Reductions in density fluctuations with neon impurity injection,(a), have been observed in L–mode discharges and may contribute to improved confinement,(b). For these L–mode discharges, the confinement enhancement factor is compared to ITER89P L–mode scaling. Gyro-kinetic stability code calculations for a similar discharge show that neon impurities in the mantle region,  $\rho$ ~0.8, can reduce drift wave growth rates, (c), leading to stabilization of high k ETG modes. E×B shear is also large enough to affect the lower k turbulence associated with ITG modes.

injection. In spite of the edge pressure pedestal reduction, energy confinement remains the same or improves in these plasmas.

Edge Plasma Confinement and Stability. Another factor in obtaining steady-state improved performance discharges is control of edge transport and stability. The confinement physics and MHD stability of the H-mode edge pedestal affect both core plasma and divertor performance. The pedestal height influences overall plasma confinement, as is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–9. In addition, edge stability affects ELM frequency and amplitude, which have a major impact both on core transport barriers and on the divertor. Furthermore, impurity radiation in this edge region is a possible cause of the density limit. Finally, the interaction of the core plasma with the wall can have a major effect on the global MHD beta limits. Accordingly, understanding and controlling the physics of this edge region is a key issue for any future plasma which employs H-mode. In the past two years, DIII-D has demonstrated a strong connection between the pedestal height and core confinement and has demonstrated that the edge pressure gradients are not limited by the ballooning instability. In addition, we have shown that a model based on edge impurity radiation leads to a density limit very similar to the Greenwald prediction in present devices which scales much more favorably with machine size than previously anticipated. Finally, investigation of the physics of resistive wall modes has achieved  $\beta$  values up to 1.4 times the limit with no wall stabilization, has extended the duration of the wall stabilized period by a factor of three, and has produced a successful first attempt at active stabi-

lization of the mode.

Both theoretical expectations [26,27] and the DIII-D results shown in Fig. 2.1.1–9 [28] indicate a connection between the edge pressure pedestal height and the overall energy confinement. This connection is much deeper than the trivial one provided by the edge setting the boundary condition for the plasma core, since a boundary condition effect with no other influence would simply produce a linear relationship between the pedestal pressure and the total stored energy which is not seen experimentally. In the absence of any other constraint, one would naturally want to optimize plasma performance by pushing the edge pedestal pressure to its maximum possible value to improve the energy confinement. Unfortunately, the pedestal pressure is limited by the onset of ELMs. In addition, optimizing plasma shape for the highest possible pressure pedestal usually results in large energy loss per ELM. As



Fig. 2.1.1–9. H–mode energy confinement enhancement factor relative to ITER98 ELMy H–mode scaling increases with increasing H–mode pedestal pressure averaged over ELMs. The increase is approximately  $P_{PED}^{2/3}$ . This plot includes both Ohmic, L–mode and H–mode phases of a series of shots run in the ITER shape, which has a vertical elongation of 1.75, average triangularity of 0.24 and inverse aspect ratio of 0.34.

has been discussed in the ITER context [29], such large energy loss would be difficult to design for in a large device. Accordingly, control of the edge is needed to obtain the best possible core performance while not adversely affecting the divertor.

Because the ELM physics influences both core confinement and divertor performance, we have undertaken a systematic study of edge plasma stability. Although there has been considerable speculation that the edge pressure gradient just before an ELM is limited by high-n ballooning, detailed measurements on DIII–D have shown that the pressure gradient exceeds this limit by at least a factor of two [28]. As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–10, we have determined that including the self-consistent edge bootstrap current in the ballooning stability calculation makes a major difference in the stability conclusions [30]. The

bootstrap current, driven by the large edge pressure gradient, opens up a ballooning second stable region at the plasma edge. Accordingly, the edge pressure is not limited by high-n ballooning but rather by other, lower n MHD modes which are probably driven unstable by the large pressure and current gradients that ballooning stability allows [31].

The highest performance DIII-D VH-mode and negative central shear H-mode discharges are limited by MHD stability at the edge of the plasma; the peak performance is usually terminated in these discharges by low to medium n ideal instabilities at the edge having the characteristics of a large ELM but which normally result in a loss of the transport barrier [32,33]. Recent analysis has demonstrated that the interaction of low n ideal kink and high n ballooning stability plays a crucial role in the attainment and sustainment of high performance. High n ideal ballooning second stability access permits



Fig. 2.1.1–10. Plot of the measured pressure gradient and inferred edge current density for a DIII–D discharge similar to those in Fig. 2.1.1–9: plasma current 1.5 MA, toroidal field 1.9 T,  $q_{95}$  = 3.4, inverse aspect ratio 0.36, vertical elongation 1.76, and average triangularity 0.28. The edge current density has been inferred from equilibrium reconstruction including MSE measurements and is compared with a transport calculation including a collisional bootstrap current model. The pressure gradients that would be unstable to high-n ballooning mode are shown. Note that the edge pressure gradient is not limited by ballooning modes and the experimental value greatly exceeds the ballooning limit that would be calculated by ignoring the bootstrap current, which is shown by the dashed line.

the buildup of the edge pressure gradient. This allows high peak performance but ultimately results in destabilization of the more dangerous low n global edge instabilities which are manifested as the large ELMs that terminate the high performance. Conversely, closing the second stable access at the edge generally limits the pressure gradient and bootstrap current to values well below the low and intermediate n kink

limits. This results in lower peak performance with smaller amplitude ELMs which also allow longer discharge duration.

A clear route to long-pulse high-performance operation is, therefore, to control the edge conditions to eliminate second stable access, and to raise the first regime ballooning limit just below the low and intermediate n kink limits. One method for achieving this is through the cross section shape, which can be systematically varied using the DIII–D control system. Calculations have shown that the equilibrium squareness is a useful tool for controlling the edge ballooning stability through its effect on the field line connection length [31,34]. (As its name suggests, high positive squareness discharges have almost square shapes.) Large positive squareness, or low, or negative squareness, can restrict second stability access. This has been exploited in recent experiments in DIII–D [35] in which the ELM frequency is increased

and the amplitude reduced at large squareness [31]. Motivated by these results, recent calculations show that higher order local perturbations of the outboard shape, which greatly increase the field line connection length there, can also eliminate second stability access near the plasma edge, with little effect on the favorable low n kink stability properties of D-shaped plasmas [31]. This will be pursued in future experiments.

A second avenue for achieving control of the edge ballooning stability is to increase the edge collisionality to reduce the edge bootstrap current; lower edge current density hinders second stability access. Higher edge collisionality is achieved in DIII-D experiments by increasing the edge radiation by puffing deuterium and argon. In these experiments, the ELM frequency is typically reduced by roughly half and often the ELM magnitude is reduced as well. Figure 2.1.1–11 shows the time history of discharge 95011, in which argon was injected at 2 seconds. In this case, the ELM frequency was reduced by a factor greater than 2 with a small reduction in the ELM amplitude. The confinement is slightly improved by the change in ELM behavior. Figure 2.1.1-11(c) shows the calculated bootstrap current before and after the gas puff. The edge bootstrap current has been reduced and the peak is moved inward. This is reflected in the calculated ballooning stability in Fig. 2.1.1-11(b); the reduced edge bootstrap current has closed off the second stability access in this discharge.



Fig. 2.1.1–11. Effect of Ar gas puffing on edge second stability access in discharge 95011. (a) Time history showing confinement enhancement  $H_{98Y}$  and  $D_2$  and Ar injection (b) ballooning stability before and after injection of Ar and (c) computed bootstrap current density over the outer 20% of the plasma normalized flux.

A tokamak density limit scaling of the form  $n_e \propto I_p/a^2$  has been reported by several authors [36,37] where  $I_p$  is the plasma current and a is the minor radius. However, extrapolation of this scaling to reactors can be misleading because the underlying physical processes have not been determined. We have conducted a series of experiments on DIII–D to determine the density-limiting processes in tokamaks [38,39]. Using the understanding gained through these experiments, we have succeeded in obtaining high confinement plasmas at densities well beyond the limit of the Hugill-Greenwald scaling [39,40]. A key result of these studies is that the n=0, m=1 MARFE condensation instability criterion [41] is in quantitative agreement with high resolution edge measurements on DIII–D [42]. Additionally, we have shown that the MARFE instability condition combined with ITER89P confinement scaling yields an edge density limit scaling of the form:

$$n_{e}^{crit} \propto \frac{I_{p}^{0.96}}{a^{1.9}} \xi^{-0.11} P_{heat}^{0.43} R^{0.17} B_{T}^{0.04} \left[\kappa^{2} (1+\kappa^{2})\right]^{-0.22}$$

where  $\xi_i$  is the impurity concentration and  $\kappa$  is the plasma elongation. Except for a moderate power dependence this scaling is remarkably similar to the Hugill-Greenwald scaling. The insensitivity to all plasma parameters except I<sub>p</sub> and minor radius a derives from the fact that the MARFE density threshold for low Z impurities (e.g. oxygen or carbon) for an electron temperature range of 10–100 eV increases with the fourth power of T<sub>e</sub>. Accordingly, a MARFE nearly always occurs at the same boundary temperature (~20 eV). Therefore, the trade off between density and temperature in the stored energy determines the density scaling. Thus, we conclude that future devices with high edge temperatures can access densities well above the nominal Hugill-Greenwald limit.

Turning now to the physics of wall stabilization, we have developed a double current ramp technique to reliably and reproducibly make plasmas where the  $\beta_N$  values achieved indicate that wall stabilization of MHD modes is important [43]. In addition, improved diagnostics have allowed us to make a direct identification of the resistive wall mode (RWM) mode structure in the plasma interior using ECE spectroscopy. Using these shots, we have achieved a new physics understanding of wall stabilization. We have produced rotating, wall stabilized discharges with the ratio of  $\beta_N$  to the no wall  $\beta_N$  limit  $E_w$  up to  $E_w = 1.4\pm0.05$ . For example, in shot 92544,  $E_w$  exceeds unity for 200 ms,which is >30  $\tau_W$ . The time constant  $\tau_W$  is the n =1 time constant of the wall (about 5.8 ms in this shot) and is a measure of the penetration time of the potentially unstable mode through the resistive vessel wall. Similar results with  $E_w$  well above unity have been obtained in a number of discharges run under similar conditions.

In all wall stabilized discharges, the plasma toroidal rotation is observed to slow down, which ultimately leads to destabilization of the resistive wall mode (RWM) when the plasma angular rotation speed  $\Omega_{plasma}$  falls below some critical frequency  $\Omega_c$ . The critical rotation speed  $\Omega_c$  is robustly reproducible from shot to shot but is strongly dependent on plasma conditions, notably  $\beta_N$ . Investigation of the reasons for this decrease in  $\Omega_{plasma}$  have determined a clear correlation between its onset and  $\beta_N$  exceeding  $\beta_N^{no wall}$ . However, there is no correlation of the slowing with fast particle driven MHD modes (TAE modes) or low n MHD activity during the slowing down period [44].

Active means of avoiding the RWM are being pursued by controlling either the plasma rotation or the RWM directly. As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–12, preliminary results from open loop RWM control experiments have demonstrated that the RWM is suppressed by the application of an appropriate correction field using an external coil set located far outside the plasma. A series of discharges with reproducible RWM onset were run, but one discharge used an n = 1(C-coil) perturbation which was proactively programmed to turn on at the time of the RWM onset with a phase opposing the mode (Fig. 2.1.1-12). As observed from plasma rotation and  $T_e$  profiles near q = 3, the RWM started to grow but was suppressed and the plasma recovered when the opposing field was applied. The n=1 radial field soaking through the vacuum vessel wall was measured by a saddle loop array. As is shown in Fig. 2.1.1–12, this field grows without bound in the reference shot without the external n=1 field but remains at a low level with the external field applied, indicating that control was achieved. New experiments in DIII-D with new active feedback power supplies are planned next year to pursue this further.

**Divertor Physics.** The key issues in the divertor area are adequate heat removal and simultaneous control of particles and impurities. The major research focus has



Fig. 2.1.1–12. Time history of discharges with (96633) and without (96625) pro-active control of the RWM (a)  $\beta_N$  (b) current in the C-coil (c) perturbed radial field measured on the saddle loops (d) ECE measurement of the electron temperature at R = 2.1 M. (e) plasma rotation at the q=3 surface. Note that the perturbed radial field grows without bound in the case with constant C-coil current but is stabilized by stepping up the C-coil current with the proper toroidal phase.

been on the radiative divertor with additional impurities to enhance the radiation. The challenge here is to maintain sufficient impurity density in the divertor to promote the needed radiation while simultaneously keeping the impurities from overwhelming the core plasma.

Through experiments on DIII–D [45-48] we have demonstrated the efficacy of using induced scrapeoff-layer (SOL) flows to preferentially enrich impurities in the divertor plasma. These SOL flows are produced through simultaneous deuterium gas injection at the midplane and divertor exhaust using cryopumping. Using this SOL flow, an improvement in enrichment (defined as the ratio of impurity fraction in the divertor to that in the plasma core) has been observed for all impurities in trace-level experiments (i.e., impurity level is non-perturbative), with the degree of improvement increasing with impurity atomic number. In the case of argon, exhaust gas enrichment using a modest SOL flow is as high as 17. Using this induced SOL flow technique and argon injection, radiative plasmas have been produced that combine high radiation losses ( $P_{rad}/P_{input} > 70\%$ ), low core fuel dilution ( $Z_{eff} < 1.9$ ), and good core confinement ( $\tau_E \geq \tau_{E,ITER98Hv}$ ).

Besides the improvement in impurity enrichment, application of this technique causes several advantageous changes in the plasma [49]. First, at a high flow level, the SOL broadens and its density increases to  $1.5 \times 10^{19}$  m<sup>-3</sup> while the electron temperature remains approximately 10 eV. Such profiles provide excellent screening of impurities emanating from the vessel wall and an excellent environment for impurity radiation. Second, the ELM amplitude is reduced by approximately a factor of two relative to standard ELMing H-mode conditions. This reduction is accompanied by a proportional increase in the ELM frequency such that the time-integrated energy carried out by the ELMs is approximately the same, but the instantaneous perturbation on the edge and divertor plasma induced by each ELM is much smaller. Modeling has also shown that the ELM dynamics are important in the obtainable impurity enrichment with higher frequency ELMs leading to improved enrichment. These changes are accomplished without significant impact on the core energy confinement.

At the previous IAEA, we reported that parallel thermal conduction based on measured divertor density and temperature profiles in detached plasmas is too small to account for the divertor heat flux and postulated that in the cold divertor zone the dominant transport process is convection along the field lines [38]. A one dimensional interpretive model of the detached divertor plasma [49] has been developed for further understanding of the experimental observations. The model calculates the parallel heat flux in the divertor plasma by integrating plasma radia-

tion, obtained from an inversion of the bolometer data, from the target to a point in the divertor plasma and using the target heat flux, measured by an IR camera, as the boundary condition. The difference between this heat flux and the conduction heat flux, obtained from the measured T<sub>e</sub> profile, yields the convective component of the heat flux. It is found that in attached plasmas, as shown in Fig. 2.1.1-13(a), the conduction component accounts for nearly all the heat flux. In contrast, in the detached case, the conduction channel is insignificant compared to the total heat flux [Fig. 2.1.1–13(b)] and convection at approximately the sound speed is required to account for most of the heat flux [Fig. 2.1.1-13(c)]. Furthermore, it is



Fig. 2.1.1–13. (a) In attached plasmas, classical parallel conduction accounts for nearly all the divertor heat flux. (b) In the partially detached state the conduction channel is insignificant compared to the total heat flux. (c) Parallel flow Mach number near 1 can account for the balance of the heat flux.



Fig. 2.1.1–14. (a) Modelling of a partially detached plasma shows Mach 0.4 flow in the bulk of the divertor plasma and copious volume recombination near the target plate. (b)  $D_{\alpha}/D_{\beta}$  line ratio indicate recombination after detachment. (c) Flow speed of the order of 1/4 sound speed is measured by spectroscopy.

concluded that the observed intense radiation near the target plate must be due to volume recombination since the electron temperature measured by Thomson scattering is too low for excitation radiation.

These experimental results are supported by UEDGE modeling [50] which shows a broad regions of Mach ~ 0.4 and copious volume recombination near the target plate in detached plasmas [Fig. 2.1.1-14(a)]. Recent measurements confirm these experimental interpretations and UEDGE results. Visible and UV line ratio measurements [51,52] show direct evidence of volume recombination [Fig. 2.1.1-14(b)]. Plasma

parallel flow speeds at or near the sound speed are also observed by spectroscopy [Fig. 2.1.1–14(c)] [51] as well as a Mach probe [53]. From Langmuir probe potential measurement [53], we also deduce poloidal  $E_r \times B_T$  flows. The flow direction depends on the direction of the toroidal field and heat and particle flux associated with it is estimated to contribute significantly to particle exchange between the two divertor strike points and could explain the field-dependent divertor in-out asymmetry.

We have recently installed a divertor baffle and cryopump [54] at the upper divertor whose shape is matched for particle control in high triangularity plasmas ( $\delta \sim 0.7$ ). This installation, combined with the more open pumped lower divertor allows a direct comparison of the effects of geometry on divertor and core plasma performance. A comparison of open/closed divertor operation was carried out with carefully matched plasmas. The cryopumps in each divertor were turned off for this comparison. We observed that the line-average density was very similar in the two cases, but the midplane  $D_{\alpha}$  was reduced in the closed divertor. The density profile was less steep near the separatrix for the closed case, and the temperature responded to keep the electron pressure roughly constant. Transport modeling [54] indicates that the core ionization source was reduced by a factor of about 2.6 in the closed case. No changes in energy confinement during ELMing H–mode operation were observed, but the line average density at which partial detachment occurred was decreased by 20% for the closed case. With the upper cryopump turned on, we achieved active density control with  $n_e/n_{Gr} = 0.27$ , which is similar to the 0.22 achieved with the lower pump. This establishes an important particle control tool for high triangularity plasma operation in DIII–D. In 1999, we will install a third divertor cryopump for the purpose of pumping the inner strike point in the upper divertor [54]. In addition, a structure in the private flux region which protects the inner
pump will serve also as a baffle to reduce the recycling by an additional factor of 2 and isolate the two strike points.

**Conclusions.** Research on DIII–D over the two years since the last IAEA meeting has made significant progress in the core, edge and divertor areas. We have demonstrated integrated, high performance ELMing H–mode plasmas with  $\beta_N H_{98v} \sim 6$  for 5  $\tau_E$  (~1 s).

In the core physics area, we have

- Shown that core transport barriers can be sustained for the length of the neutral beam pulse (5 s) with no sign of degradation.
- Demonstrated off-axis electron cyclotron current drive with an efficiency well above theoretical expectations.
- Made critical tests of physics-based transport models.
- Produced evidence for passive and active wall stabilization of MHD modes.

In the edge physics area, we have

- Demonstrated the role of edge bootstrap current in edge second stability regime access.
- Developed and tested a physics model of the density limit which agrees with Hugill-Greenwald limit and which scales quite favorably to larger, hotter machines.

In the divertor physics area, we have

- Achieved a new understanding of convection and recombination in radiative divertor plasmas.
- Produced enhanced divertor radiation with scrape off layer plasma flows and impurity enrichment.

This scientific progress sets the stage for future DIII–D research. On a three year time scale, with 6 MW of ECH power, we are aiming at an integrated demonstration of advanced tokamak operation sustained for five seconds. In the nearer term, our experiments will emphasize expanding the spatial extent of internal transport barriers, regulating edge bootstrap currents, stabilizing neoclassical tearing modes, feedback stabilizing high-beta resistive wall modes, and developing the basis for radiative divertors in both single and double null configurations.

### **References for Section 2.1.1**

- [1] ITER Physics Basis Document, Nuclear Fusion (to be published). JET report JET-P(98)-17.
- [2] RICE, B.W., et al. "Progress Towards Sustainment of Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22999 (1998).
- [3] STRAIT, E.J., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **75**, 4421 (1995).
- [4] RICE, B.W., Phys. Plasmas **3**, 1983 (1996).
- [5] SÖLDNER, F.X., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion **39**, B353 (1997).
- [6] KOIDE, Y., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1623 (1997).
- [7] LEVINTON, F.M., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett **75**, 4417 (1995).

- [8] SYNAKOWSKI, E.J., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, (1997).
- [9] LA HAYE, R.J., et al., Plasma Phys. and Contr. Nucl. Fusion Research 1996 (IAEA, Vienna, 1997), Vol. 1, p. 747.
- [10] LUCE, T.C., et al., "Current Profile Modification with Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in the DIII-D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA-A23002 (1998).
- [11] FOREST, C.B., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett **73**, 2244 (1994).
- [12] KOTSCHENREUTHER, M., et al., Phys. Plasmas 2, 2381 (1995).
- [13] WALTZ, R.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 2482 (1997).
- [14] ITOH, S.I., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 1200 (1994).
- [15] KINSEY, J.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas **3**, 3344 (1996).
- [16] DeBOO, J.C., et al., "Experimental Tests of Transport Models Using Modulated ECH," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22982 (1998).
- [17] BURRELL, K.H., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1499 (1997).
- [18] STAEBLER, G.M., et al., presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion.
- [19] SYNAKOWSKI, E.J., et al., presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion.
- [20] BURRELL, K.H., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion 40, 1585 (1998).
- [21] GREENFIELD, C.M., et al., "Behavior of Electron and Ion Transport in Discharges with an Internal Transport Barrier in the DIII-D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA-A22990 (1998).
- [22] RETTIG, C.L., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 1727 (1998).
- [23] MESSIAEN, A.M., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1690 (1997).
- [24] JACKSON, G.L., et al., "Enhanced Confinement Discharges in DIII–D with Neon and Argon Induced Radiation," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22875 (1998).
- [25] STAEBLER, G.M., et al., "Improved High-Mode with Neon Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22674 (1997).
- [26] KOTSCHENREUTER, M., et al., Plasma Phys. and Contr. Nucl. Fusion Research 1996 (IAEA, Vienna, 1997) Vol. 2, p. 371.
- [27] WALTZ, R.E., et al., Plasma Phys. and Contr. Nucl. Fusion Research 1996 (IAEA, Vienna, 1997) Vol. 2, p. 385.
- [28] OSBORNE, T.H., et al., "H-mode Pedestal Characteristics in ITER Shape Discharges in DIII-D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA-A22882 (1998).

- [29] LEONARD, A.W., et al., "The Impact of ELMs on the ITER Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22860 (1998).
- [30] GRANETZ, R., et al., presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.
- [31] LAO, L.L., et al., "Effects of Plasma Shape and Profiles on Edge Stability in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22993 (1998).
- [32] STRAIT, E.J., et al., Contr. Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 20th Euro. Conf. on Contr. Fusion and Plasma Physics, Lisbon 1993) (European Physical Society, Petit Lancy, 1994) Vol. 1, p. 211.
- [33] STRAIT, E.J., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1783, (1997).
- [34] TURNBULL, A.D., et al., "Improved MHD Stability Through Optimization of Higher Order Moments in Cross Section Shape of Tokamaks," submitted to Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA-A22943 (1998).
- [35] FERRON, J.R., et al., "Modification of Tokamak Edge Instability Character Through Control of Ballooning Mode Second Stability Regime Accessibility," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22974 (to be printed).
- [36] HUGILL, J., et al., Heating in Toroidal Plasmas (Proc. 2nd Joint Varenna-Grenoble Int. Symp., Como, 1980), Vol. 2, CEC, Brussels (1980) p. 775.
- [37] GREENWALD, M., et. al., Nucl. Fusion 2, 2199 (1988).
- [38] MAHDAVI, M.A., et al., Plasma Phys. and Contr. Nucl.Fusion Research 1996 (IAEA, Vienna, 1997), Vol 1, p. 397.
- [39] MAINGI, R., et al., "Investigation of Density Limit Processes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published as General Atomics Report GA–A23000.
- [40] MAINGI, R., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1752 (1997).
- [41] DRAKE, J.F., Phys. Fluids **30**, 8 (1987).
- [42] MAHDAVI, M.A., et al., Contr. Fusion and Plasma Phys. (Proc. 24th Euro. Conf. on Contr. Fusion and Plasma Physics, Berchtesgaden, 1997) (EPS Petit Lancy, 1997) Vol. 3, P. 1113.
- [43] GAROFALO, A.M., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 814 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [44] GAROFALO, A., et al., "Direct Observation of the Resistive Wall Mode in a Tokamak and Its Interaction with Plasma Rotation," submitted to Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA-A22985 (1998).
- [45] SCHAFFER, M.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion 8, 1000 (1995).
- [46] SCHAFFER, M.J., et al., J. Nucl Mater. 241–243, 585 (1997).
- [47] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Enrichment Studies With Induced Scrape-Off-Layer Flow on DIII–D," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22698 (1998).
- [48] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Enrichment and Radiative Enhancement Using Induced SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22874 (1998).
- [49] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4769 (1997).

- [50] PORTER, G.D., et al., Phys. Plasmas 3, 1967 (1997).
- [51] ISLER, R.C., et al., "Spectroscopic Measurements of Impurity Temperatures and Parallel Ion Flows in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22852 (1998).
- [52] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., "Physics of the Detached Radiative Divertor Regime in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Physical Society Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29– July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22909 (to be printed).
- [53] BOEDO, J.A., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 822 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [54] ALLEN, S.L., et al., "Studies of High- (Baffled) and Low- (Open) Pumped Divertor Operation on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22878 (1998).

### 2.1.2. PROGRESS TOWARDS SUSTAINMENT OF ADVANCED TOKAMAK MODES IN DIII-D<sup>2</sup>

Advanced Tokamak (AT) operating modes have been successful in improving the fusion performance of many existing tokamaks, as evidenced by the record D-D fusion reactivity achieved in DIII–D [1], JET [2], and JT-60U [3]. Through optimization of the plasma shape and radial profiles, AT modes lead to improved confinement and  $\beta$ , and higher bootstrap fraction relative to standard ELMy H–mode. Improvements are observed in many different AT regimes such as VH–mode, negative central shear (NCS) with an internal transport barrier (ITB), supershots, high  $\beta_p$ , and high  $\ell_i$ . To date, however, the duration of peak performance in all of these modes is limited to a few energy confinement times ( $\tau_E$ ), generally as a consequence of evolving pressure or current profiles and eventual MHD instability. Before AT modes can be seriously considered as an operating mode for a future fusion reactor, present experiments must sustain AT performance in a controlled manner for longer pulse lengths. In this paper, we review results of recent experiments on DIII–D directed towards this goal.

The primary focus is on improving the performance and pulse length of discharges with an ELMy edge. The ELMy H–mode is inherently steady state, with the edge p' and impurity concentration regulated by the repetitive ELM events. The ELMy H–mode regime has been studied extensively on most tokamaks and the confinement results have been compiled into a database by the ITER confinement database working group. The most recent scaling for the thermal energy confinement time is given by  $\tau_{th}^{98y} = 0.03561_p^{0.97} R^{1.93} (a/R)^{0.23} n_{19}^{0.41} B^{0.08} M^{0.2} \kappa^{0.67} P^{-0.63}$  [4]. This scaling was generated from mostly sawtoothing ELMy H–modes with monotonic q profiles and q<sub>0</sub>~1.

The most serious limitation on  $\beta$  in long-pulse ITER-like discharges appears to be the neoclassical tearing modes (NTM) [5,6]. NTM modes are classically stable tearing modes ( $\Delta^{<}$ 0) that are driven unstable by a helically perturbed bootstrap current. The NTM mode requires a seed island to exceed a minimum threshold island width; this seed island can be provided by a sawtooth crash or other MHD perturbation. Depending on the density (or collisionality v\*), NTMs limit  $\beta_N$  to the range  $\beta_N \sim 1.7-2.5$ .

Our goal is to sustain higher  $\beta$  and confinement time relative to the ITER benchmark to achieve a more compact reactor concept with a high bootstrap fraction. The normalized quantity  $\beta_N H_{98y}$  serves as a useful figure-of-merit for performance, where  $H_{98y} = \tau_{th}/\tau_{th}^{98y}$ . At the 1996 IAEA conference, DIII–D reported on non-sawtoothing discharges (#89756, #89795) with  $H_{98y} \sim 1.4$  ( $H_{89p} \sim 2.4$ ) and  $\beta_N \sim 2.9$  sustained for up to 2 s in lower single null with triangularity of  $\delta = 0.3$  [7]. These discharges utilized 1.2 MW of beam power during the  $I_p$  ramp to suppress sawteeth and cryopumping to maintain low density. Fishbone (m/n=1/1) bursts were observed throughout the high performance phase and appear to play a role in regulating the on-axis current to maintain  $q_0 \sim 1$  thus avoiding sawteeth. Due to the absence of a sawtooth triggered seed island, the value of  $\beta_N$  achieved was almost a factor of 2 above the predicted NTM limit at the operational density (collisionality) However, fishbones can also provide a seed island for the NTM, limiting both the reproducibility of this regime and attempts to further increase  $\beta_N$ .

Here we present recent results from two campaigns designed to improve these earlier results. First, techniques to produce and sustain  $q_{min}$ >1.5 in ELMy H–mode are explored. The motivation for this work is to eliminate fishbones and eliminate the 3/2 surface (and possibly the 2/1 surface) so that the NTM  $\beta_N$  limit can be increased. This work is also motivated by the possibility of obtaining a sustained internal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, J.R. Ferron, et al., "Progress Towards Sustainment of Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22999 (1998).

transport barrier (ITB) to further improve the confinement of ELMy H–modes. Second, we report on discharges obtained with a new shape and startup technique that yielded very high confinement (H<sub>98y</sub> ~2) and beta ( $\beta_N$ ~4) during infrequent ELMs with monotonic q profiles. These discharges reached performance levels comparable to ELM-free modes such as VH–mode and sustained this level up to 1 s.

**ELMy Discharges with q\_{min}>1.5.** Current profiles with negative central shear and  $q_{min}>1.5$  are routinely obtained by heating with  $P_{NBI}\sim5$  MW during the current ramp with an L-mode edge. However, the development of ITBs in these plasmas results in pressure peaking that is difficult to control and often leads to disruption. Also, because of the cold L-mode edge, the current profile and  $q_{min}$  evolve more quickly making sustainment difficult. To avoid these problems, a new startup technique has been developed using H-mode during the current ramp as shown in Fig. 2.1.2–1(a). A brief flat spot in the current ramp at 400 ms, coupled with the biasing of the plasma shape toward lower null point in the ion  $\nabla B$  drift direction, leads to a reproducible H-mode transition. By controlling the I<sub>p</sub> ramp rate and the density, values of  $\ell_i$  as low as 0.5 can be obtained, although for  $\ell_i < 0$ , edge stability problems can lead to locked-modes during the I<sub>p</sub> ramp. The best results are obtained with a slower I<sub>p</sub> ramp and  $\ell_i \sim 0.7$  as shown in Fig. 2.1.2–1(a).

The high performance phase extends from 3.4–4 s where  $\beta_N H_{98y}$ ~4.2 is sustained for 0.5 s. The high power phase is relatively short in this discharge due to the long formation phase and the termination of  $P_{NBI}$ . Similar discharges sustained somewhat reduced  $\beta_N H_{98y}$ ~3.8 for 1.5 s, but these all suffered from continuous NTM activity. Discharge 93144 in Fig. 2.1.2–1 is free from any significant MHD mode. The



Fig. 2.1.2–1. (a) Time evolution of  $q_{min}$ >1.5 discharge (93144) with high performance from 3.5–4 s. (b) Profiles of  $n_e$  and q and (c)  $T_e$  and  $T_i$  at 3.7 s. (B<sub>T</sub>=2.1 T, high triangularity shape with  $\delta$ =0.77,  $\kappa$ =1.85; H<sub>89p</sub>=2.5 at 3.7 s)

profiles of q, n<sub>e</sub>, T<sub>e</sub>, and T<sub>i</sub> at 3.7 s are shown in Fig. 2.1.2–1(b) and 2.1.2–1(c). The density profile is more peaked than standard ELMy H–mode, but comparable to the other improved performance discharges such as those discussed in the introduction with a monotonic q profile. The T<sub>i</sub> and T<sub>e</sub> profiles show a somewhat steeper gradient at  $\rho$ ~0.5 than is observed in monotonic q profile discharges, indicating a weak ITB. However, the ITB is much weaker here than in low density L–mode edge NCS discharges at comparable power. We note that the line average density in H–mode is ~2 times that in L–mode edge NCS discharges, and with this density level we would not expect to observe strong ITBs with an L–mode edge either. The shear reversal [Fig. 2.1.2–1(b)] is weaker in these ELMy H–mode discharges compared with L–mode edge NCS discharges with an ITB. It could be argued that the ITB only forms with strong NCS, but there is evidence on DIII–D that ITBs can form at low density even with monotonic q profiles [8]. Rather, it appears that strong ITBs reinforce the hollow current profile through the off-axis bootstrap current, thus leading to stronger shear reversal.

Although sawteeth and fishbones are not present in the NCS discharges, NTMs continue to be the limiting instability as illustrated by the growth of a resistive m/n=5/2 mode in discharge 93149 shown in Fig. 2.1.2-2. This discharge is similar to 93144 in Fig. 2.1.2-1 except that  $P_{NBI}$  is increased to ~ 12 MW. For NTM modes, we expect the mode amplitude to scale with  $\beta_N^2$ , which roughly holds as shown in Fig. 2.1.2-2(b). The classical tearing stability parameter  $\Delta'$  was calculated to be negative for this discharge indicating that it should be stable to the classical mode. Although the NTM is not catastrophic in this case, it does result in a saturation of  $\beta_N$ . Despite the increased  $P_{NBI}$ ,  $\beta_N$  is actually slightly less in 93149 compared with 93144 which has no MHD mode. Note that the mode already exists at a low level in Fig. 2.1.2–2 prior to the step up in  $P_{NBI}$  at 2.8 s. For this series of discharges the fast magnetics data on DIII–D was set to cover the high power



Fig. 2.1.2–2. (a) Time evolution of  $\beta_N$  and  $\mathsf{P}_{NBI}$  for a  $\mathsf{q}_{min}{\sim}2$  discharge with NTM activity. (b) Fluctuation amplitude scales with  $\beta_N^2$  as expected for NTMs.

phase only (t >2.35 s), so it is not clear what initiates the low level mode present at 2.4s. One speculation is that the mode begins as  $q_{min}$  passes through q=5/2 at ~ 2 s, then grows later when  $P_{NBI}$  is increased.

**High-Performance Regime with Infrequent ELMs.** A new regime has been developed in DIII–D where performance equivalent to ELM-free modes such as VH–mode is sustained through many low frequency ELMs. As shown in Fig. 2.1.2–3,  $\beta_N \sim 3.8$ ,  $H_{98y} \sim 2$ , and  $\beta_N H_{98y} > 6$  are sustained for 1 s. Lines indicating the  $\beta_N$  and  $H_{98y}$  values required for ITER-EDA and the ARIES-RS reactor study are also shown, indicating that this discharge exceeds the ARIES-RS requirements for the  $\beta_N H_{98y}$  product. The q profile is monotonic with  $q_0 \sim 1$  and 1/1 fishbones (but no sawteeth) are present throughout the high performance phase. Some parameters of interest during the high performance phase are:  $\beta_t \sim 4.5\%$ ,  $n_e/n_{Gr} \sim 0.5$ ,  $q_{95}=4.4$ ,

 $\tau_{th} \sim 0.21$  s and  $f_{bs} \sim 50\%$ , where  $n_{Gr}$  is the Greenwald density and  $f_{bs}$  is the bootstrap fraction. The high performance phase is terminated at  $\sim 3$  s by the initiation of a m/n=2/1 NTM. Although difficult to judge from Fig. 2.1.2–3, when the NTM begins, the ELM frequency increases to a level more typical of ELMing H–modes at these operational parameters.

Determining the key elements for accessing this regime is still under investigation, but several operational characteristics can be identified. The initiation of a discharge similar to that shown in Fig. 2.1.2-3 is shown in Fig. 2.1.2-4. This discharge reaches slightly higher values of  $\beta_N$  and  $H_{98v}$  compared with Fig. 2.1.2–3, but the duration is shorter  $\sim 0.7$  s. The discharge begins with a fast  $I_p$  ramp of ~10 MA/s to 1 MA, followed by a slow ramp rate to the final current of 1.6 MA. Beam power of 5 MW is injected at 0.1 s, leading to an extremely hollow J profile ( $\ell_i \sim 0.3$ ) with  $\rho_{\text{amin}}$ ~1 at 0.2 s. MHD modes due to the unstable skin current profile cause the current to penetrate rapidly leading to a weak NCS profile at 0.5 s. By the time the beams step up to full power (all cocurrent beam injection), the q profile has evolved to be monotonic with  $q_0 \sim 1$ ,  $l_i \sim 1.1$ , and fishbones are present.

An important feature of these discharges is the plasma shape (see bottom of Fig. 2.1.2–4). A high triangularity ( $\delta$ =0.77,  $\kappa$ =1.85) single null shape with the X-point at the top of the vessel is utilized. The ion VB drift direction is down which raises the H–mode transition power threshold significantly. With this shape it takes 0.5 s at P<sub>NBI</sub>=9.5 MW before the H–mode transition occurs. This long L–mode phase allows an ITB to form prior to the H–mode transition (H<sub>98y</sub> ~ 1 in L–mode at 2 s) which enhances the performance after the H–mode transition is made. This technique has been used previously to maximize the fusion power in DIII–D [1], but in those cases the double null shape was symmetrized after the



Fig. 2.1.2–3. Time evolution of discharge 96686 with  $\beta_N \sim$  3.8 and  $H_{98y}\sim$ 2 ( $H_{89p}\sim$ 3.2) sustained for 1 s during infrequent ELMs. Dashed lines indicate the ITER-EDA design and ARIES-RS reactor study requirements for  $\beta_N$  and  $H_{98y}$ .



Fig. 2.1.2–4. Time evolution of 95983, illustrating the formation phase and q profile evolution.  $\beta_N$ ~3.9 is sustained during infrequent ELMs from 2.2–2.7 s.

H-mode transition and high performance extended through the ELM-free phase only. In these discharges, the shape remains single null with the X-point at the top and close to the wall throughout the discharge.

The exact importance of the startup and plasma shape is not clear. Since the target q profile is simply monotonic with  $q_0 \sim 1$ , we believe that the early fast  $I_p$  ramp and early beam power should not be critical. However, we have been unable to reproduce this regime without a startup similar to that used in Fig. 2.1.2–4. The shape probably plays a more important role, since edge stability is sensitively dependent on edge parameters such as p',  $J_{95}$  and collisionality. Also, the close proximity of the X–point to the wall results in higher than usual recycling.

The infrequent ELMs also appear to play a significant role in achieving sustained high confinement. In Fig. 2.1.2–5, the time between ELMs ( $\tau_{ELM}$ ) is plotted versus the H<sub>98v</sub> at the time of the ELM for several discharges. For  $\tau_{\rm FLM}$  < 20 ms, confinement is close to standard ELMy H-modes with H<sub>98v</sub>~1 (this represents the later part of these discharges after beta collapses). As  $\tau_{ELM}$  increases to ~100 ms, confinement similar to VH-mode [9] levels is obtained. The energy loss per ELM can be quite large in this regime, ranging from 2%-5% of the plasma stored energy. With the long period between ELMs, however, the stored energy quickly recovers after the ELM. Infrequent ELMs are necessary but not sufficient to achieve the higher performance. For example, low power ELMy discharges often have infrequent ELMs but the confinement is not significantly improved.



Fig. 2.1.2–5. Confinement enhancement,  $H_{98y}$ , improves with period between ELMs. Shaded region indicates typical confinement range for VH–modes on DIII–D.

Another factor in these discharges is that the toroidal rotation and the resulting radial electric field and E×B shear are sustained through the infrequent ELMs. For discharge 95983 in Fig. 2.1.2–4,  $v_{\phi}(0)$ ~320 km/s and E<sub>r</sub>( $\rho$ ~0.5) ~120 kV/m are sustained from 2.2 to 2.7 s.

Profiles for discharge 95983 (Fig. 2.1.2–4) at 2250 ms, just before the first ELM, are shown in Figs. 2.1.2–6(a–e). For comparison, the profiles of a VH–mode with the same beam power and plasma current are also plotted for a time slice just before the first ELM. In the case of the VH–mode, plasma performance returns to standard ELMing H–mode after the 1st ELM. One clear difference between the two regimes is the peaking of density in 95983 compared with the VH–mode which shows a hollow density profile typical of VH–modes. The high edge density in VH–mode is correlated with the high edge  $Z_{eff}$  seen in Fig. 2.1.2–6(b). Compared with the VH–mode, discharge 95983 has somewhat higher  $Z_{eff}$  in the core (due to startup conditions) but a lower  $Z_{eff}$  at the edge. After the first few ELMs the edge  $Z_{eff}$  in 95983 is reduced to < 3.



Fig. 2.1.2–6. (a–e) Profiles for 95983 at 2.25 s, just before the first ELM (solid curves and plus symbols) and VH–mode profiles (83710 at 2.75 s) just before the first ELM (dashed curves and sold circles). (f)  $\chi$  profiles for 95983 during ELMs (2.4–2.6 s) calculated from TRANSP.

Transport analysis has been performed using the TRANSP code for discharge 95983. In Fig. 2.1.2–6(f), the experimental diffusivities  $\chi_i$  and  $\chi_e$  are plotted along with the neoclassical calculation for  $\chi_i$  during the ELMing phase. For this figure, the  $\chi$ 's are averaged over 200 ms during the ELMing phase to smooth over the ELM fluctuations. The reduction in  $\chi_i$  relative to a standard ELMing H–mode is about 2–3, while  $\chi_e$  is reduced a more modest amount. Note that there is no indication of an abrupt internal transport barrier,  $\chi_i$  is simply reduced uniformly across the plasma. Although not plotted here, during the ELM-free phase of 95983,  $\chi_i$  is equal to the neoclassical  $\chi_i$  (within error bars) over most of the plasma radius as seen in other high performance discharges [1].

**Edge Stability Analysis.** The discharges shown in figs. 3 and 4 do not collapse at the first elm as do vh–modes [10], for example. Early speculation on why these elms are more benign focused on the possibility that the edge p' was reduced. However, as seen in Fig. 2.1.2–6, although the density gradient is substantially reduced compared with VH–mode, the temperatures are higher, so that the final edge pressure gradient and pedestal height are actually higher in 95983 than the VH–mode. Profiles of q, p, and  $\langle J_{\parallel} \rangle$  from a kinetic efit prior to the first ELM at 2.25 s are shown in Fig. 2.1.2–7. The EFIT equilibrium reconstruction utilizes external magnetic measurements, MSE data–including  $E_r$  corrections–and pressure profiles including the calculated fast ion contribution. The q profile shows a large flat region with q~1 while the current density shows a large edge current peak due to the edge p' and the resulting bootstrap current. Calculations of the bootstrap current density is shown in Fig. 2.1.2–7(c). The location and amplitude of the measured bootstrap peak is in good agreement with this calculation. Note that the overall current at the edge is somewhat reduced because the edge surface voltage is actually negative during the ELM-free phase leading up to this time. Ballooning and Mercier stability have been calculated with the results plotted in Fig. 2.1.2–7(d). The reduction in edge shear due to the edge bootstrap current opens up 2nd stability access at  $\rho$ ~0.95 which allows the high edge pressure gradient. This result is typical of most ELM-free,



Fig. 2.1.2–7. (a--c) Kinetic EFIT equilibrium profiles for 95983 at 2.25 s. The dashed line in (c) represents the calculated bootstrap current density for the profiles shown in Fig. 6. (d) Ballooning/Mercier stability diagram at 2.25 s. The solid curve is the experimental value of  $dp/d\psi$ .

high triangularity plasmas on DIII–D. The core is Mercier unstable due to low value of q inside  $\rho$ ~0.35 and the large pressure gradient in this region. We note that recent theoretical work on the stabilizing effects of fast ions may modify the Mercier criterion in this region [11].

GATO calculations of ideal n=1–4 stability has also been performed for this timeslice. In general, GATO predicts that this regime is marginally stable to n≥1 edge "peeling" modes, although depending on the exact details of how the input equilibria is prepared, GATO can also find these modes to be unstable. The important point, however, is that experimentally there seems to be no coupling between the edge mode and a more destructive global mode. The reasons for this are not known, but we suspect that unique features of the shape and edge current profile may be playing a role. Despite the large current spike observed at  $\rho$ ~0.95 in Fig. 2.1.2–7(c), the average current from 0.75 <  $\rho$  <1 is not so high at this time because the surface loop voltage is slightly negative.

**Neoclassical Tearing Modes.** All of the discharges produced to date that achieve high performance  $(\beta_N > 3.5)$  during ELMs revert to a standard H-mode with a soft beta collapse accompanied by MHD activity that has the characteristic signature of the NTM. These characteristics are that (1)  $\Delta' < 0$  indicating modes are classically stable; (2) a seed island threshold width must be exceeded before the mode can grow; (3) the mode amplitude saturates at a level that can be predicted by NTM theory and is  $\propto \beta_N^2$ . Since none of these discharges have sawteeth, the seed island must be generated by another mechanism. In many cases fishbone bursts provide the seed island, although there are also cases where the NTM trigger is not so clear. For discharge 95983 in Fig. 2.1.2–4, the NTM clearly starts to grow after a fishbone burst as shown in Fig. 2.1.2–8. Here contours of constant mode amplitude are plotted for n=1 (dark



Fig. 2.1.2–8. Contours of constant B-dot mode amplitude for n=1 (dark shade) and n=2 (light shade) modes. A continuous 3/2 mode is triggered by a fishbone burst at 2730 ms.

shade) and n=2 (light shade) modes. In addition to the 1/1 fishbone bursts and the associated second harmonic, one can observe the coupled 3/2 mode at ~38 kHz. The first few 3/2 bursts die away, but at 2730 ms the 3/2 mode becomes continuous and begins to grow. The 3/2 mode number has been confirmed by analyzing the poloidal magnetic probe array and by comparing the 3/2 mode frequency with the fluid rotation velocity at the q=3/2 surface. Both the seed island width and the saturation amplitude have been estimated from Mirnov signals for this discharge and agree with predictions from NTM theory.

While NTM modes appear to limit  $\beta_N$  in many of the high performance ELMy H–mode discharges discussed in this paper, the  $\beta_N$  limit is significantly higher than the limit in sawtoothing ITER-like dis-

charges. In Fig. 2.1.2–9, the critical  $\beta_N$  for onset of NTMs is plotted versus a function of density (or collisionality v\*) as determined by La Haye, *et al.* for sawtoothing ITER-like discharges [12]. The  $\beta_N$  limit for the high performance ELMing H–mode discharges discussed in this paper are also plotted and range from 50% to 100% higher than the sawtoothing limit. Despite this success in raising the NTM  $\beta$  limit, the NTM modes limit our ability to further increase  $\beta$  and, since the time at which the seed island triggers the mode varies considerably from shot to shot, the reproducibility of these discharges is poor. Techniques to calculate and produce profiles that are more robustly

stable to these modes is an important next step.

**Discussion.** Over the past two years, improved performance has been achieved in a variety of ELMy H-mode discharges in DIII–D. With normal-frequency ELMs (50–100 Hz),  $H_{98y}$ ~1.4 ( $H_{89p}$ ~2.5) and  $\beta_N$ ~2.9 has been sustained for ~ 1.5–2 s (10–15  $\tau_E$ ) in discharges with both monotonic ( $q_0$ ~1) and NCS q profiles. The absence of sawteeth in these discharges plays an important role in accessing higher confinement and  $\beta$  relative to the ITER benchmark. In the NCS discharges, sawteeth are simply eliminated by raising  $q_{min}$  well above unity. In the monotonic q profile discharges, fishbones appear to play a role in maintaining  $q_0$  at, or slightly above, unity, thus preventing sawteeth. Since there is no obvious reconnection of flux during fishbones, the mechanism for sustaining  $q_0$ ~1 is not clear.

By removing the core sawtooth instability, more peaked density and temperature profiles and larger core



Fig. 2.1.2–9. The beta limit for discharges discussed in Section 2.1.2 (squares) exceed the NTM limit established for sawtoothing discharges (circles and line) by a factor of ~2.

rotation (E×B shear) are observed, enabling a  $\sim$ 40% increase in global confinement compared with the ITER98y scaling. Although core confinement is improved in these discharges, the sharp localized ITBs seen in L–mode edge NCS discharges are not observed here.

Regarding stability, the absence of sawtooth induced seed islands allows  $\beta_N$  values up to 2 times the previously established neoclassical tearing mode limit. In spite of this, NTMs triggered by other MHD events (fishbones, ELMs) remain a limitation to both the reproducibility of long-pulse discharges and further attempts to increase  $\beta_N$ .

A new regime characterized by infrequent ELMs ( $\leq 10$  Hz) has produced performance comparable to VH–mode, but sustained for longer pulse lengths. The best of these discharges produced H<sub>98y</sub>~2 (H<sub>89p</sub>~3.2) and  $\beta_N$ ~3.8 for 1 s ( $\sim 5\tau_E$ ). Again, here the q profile is monotonic with q<sub>0</sub>~1 and there are fishbones but no sawteeth. Ion thermal diffusivity is reduced over most of the discharge to ~2–3 times neoclassical. Although the ELMs are not small in this regime (2%–5% energy loss per ELM), they are benign in the sense that no global MHD mode that could cause a core  $\beta$  collapse is triggered. The long period between ELMs allows the stored energy and toroidal rotation time to recover, giving confinement properties that are closer to ELM-free regimes than ELMy regimes. The pulse length of most of these discharges is ultimately limited by the triggering of resistive NTMs rather than ideal MHD modes that terminate typical VH–modes.

The reasons for the improved stability are still being investigated, but we can identify several features that may be important. First, the upper single null high-triangularity shape has a high H–mode power threshold that results in a long enhanced L–mode phase. Upon the H–mode transition, high performance is obtained rapidly, before the current density in the edge region can fully develop. Although a large bootstrap peak at  $\rho$ ~0.95 is observed, the average current density in the region  $0.8 < \rho < 1.0$  is not so large and this is beneficial for stability to edge peeling modes. Also, the X–point is located close to the wall in these discharges which results in larger recycling near the X–point. This may have a subtle effect on details of the edge profiles and gradients.

Future plans include making use of the upcoming high-power electron cyclotron current drive (ECCD) system on DIII–D. By driving current off-axis, we will be able to achieve improved control over the q profile and can sustain the q profile for longer pulse lengths. The ECCD system will also be used for experiments on stabilizing NTMs, which are a significant limitation in long-pulse discharges.

#### **References for Section 2.1.2**

- [1] LAZARUS, E.A., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, 2714 (1996).
- [2] KOIDE, Y., et al., Phys. Plasma 4, 1623 (1997).
- [3] SOLDNER, F.X., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion 39, B353 (1997).
- [4] ITER Physics Basis Document, to be published in Nuclear Fusion. JET report JET-P(98)17.
- [5] CHANG, Z., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 4663 (1995).
- [6] LA HAYE, R.J. and SAUTER, O., Nucl. Fusion **38**, 987 (1998).
- [7] CHAN, V.S., et al., in Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research 1996 (Proc. 16th Int. Conf. Montreal, 1996), Vol. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1997) p. 95.

- [8] RICE, B.W., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 826 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [9] JACKSON, G.L., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 3098 (1991).
- [10] FERRON, J.R., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 21st EPS Conf. Montpellier, 1994) Vol 18B, Part I, European Physical Society, Geneva, (1994) p. 86.
- [11] PORCELLI, F., AND ROSENBLUTH, M.N., Plasma Phys. and Contr. Fusion 40, 481 (1994).
- [12] LA HAYE, R.J., et al., in Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research 1996 (Proc. 16th Int. Conf. Montreal, 1996), Vol. 1, IAEA, Vienna (1997) p. 747.

# 2.2. CONFINEMENT AND TRANSPORT

# 2.2.1. BEHAVIOR OF ELECTRON AND ION TRANSPORT IN DISCHARGES WITH AN INTERNAL TRANSPORT BARRIER IN THE DIII-D TOKAMAK<sup>3</sup>

Recent experiments on the DIII–D tokamak have been performed to further elucidate the conditions of and underlying physics behind the formation of internal transport barriers (ITB), or regions of reduced transport. Discharges with ITBs, produced by application of neutral beam preheating to low density discharges during the initial current ramp, were previously employed as the target for the highest fusion performance achieved in DIII–D [1,2]. In these plasmas, increased heating power was applied later in the discharge to expand the ITB and combine it with an H–mode edge to produce a state where neoclassical ion thermal transport was achieved throughout the entire volume.

The ITB often forms in the early phase of neutral beam heated discharges in DIII–D with negative central magnetic shear (NCS), in a region localized near the magnetic axis. The ITB region continues to develop and expand during the low-power "preheating" phase. In this paper, we will discuss the early evolution of this discharge, during the phase where the transport barrier forms and expands. The ITB expansion phase is characterized by ITB growth events superimposed on the steady evolution of the discharge. Although this behavior is consistent with theory, a puzzling feature is that in some discharges, these events correlate with low-order rational values of the safety factor q, but in others do not. This implies that there might be two different processes involved; one where the events are triggered by magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) instabilities, and another where the events are related to the behavior of microturbulence.

Another feature of the ITB discharges previously noted is that although ion thermal transport is reduced, in many cases to neoclassical levels, the behavior of the electron thermal transport often remains anomalous. Recent experiments have utilized rf electron heating to probe the underlying physics behind the electron thermal transport. The hypothesis on which these experiments were based is that electron thermal transport may be controlled by electron temperature gradient (ETG) turbulence. Although there are indications that this might be the case, other, not yet fully identified processes appear to be at work as well. Several possibilities are discussed in this paper.

### **Transport Barrier Formation and Development**

**Initiation of the Internal Transport Barrier.** ITBs are often formed in discharges in DIII–D during the early, "preheating" phase of a discharge (Fig. 2.2.1–1). During this phase, low to moderate (2.5–5 MW) neutral beam power is applied to a plasma with negative central magnetic shear  $\frac{1}{2} = r/q \frac{\partial q}{\partial r} < 0$ . The transport barrier forms in the core of the discharge even with this low level of power, but does not expand outward until and unless the power is increased. The requirement of sufficient power to form the ITB implies the existence of a power threshold. In DIII–D, this threshold is approximately 2.5 MW in full-field discharges ( $B_T = 2.1$  T).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Greenfield, C.M., C.L. Rettig, G.M. Staebler, et al., "Behavior of Electron and Ion Transport in Discharges with an Internal Transport Barrier in the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22990 (1998).



Fig. 2.2.1–1. Waveforms and profiles of a typical discharge with an internal transport barrier. Shot 92389,  $I_P = 1.5$  MA,  $B_T = -2.1$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 2.5-6.5$  MW.

These observations are in agreement with theory [3], which predicts that such transport barriers can be formed when the  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shearing rate exceeds the calculated growth rates of drift wave turbulence [4]. For this stabilization mechanism to be effective, however, the drift wave turbulence must first become the leading driver of transport. Negative central magnetic shear is important here, as it, along with finite Shafranov shift of the magnetic axis, stabilize MHD instabilities which might otherwise dominate transport in this region. Also, the elevated central q values prevent the onset of sawtooth instabilities that would otherwise limit core performance.

The first consequence of the preheating is that it increases the core electron temperature and conductivity, and therefore the current diffusion time. This results in the aforementioned favorable current density profile, which is peaked off-axis. Without the early heating, the current profile would rapidly evolve to become peaked on-axis. The heating does not prevent the current profile from becoming monotonic, rather it only delays this condition. These discharges, therefore, are inherently transient. Future experiments in DIII–D will address this by applying noninductive, local current drive to maintain the current profile, either on-axis in the direction opposed to the plasma current, or off-axis in the parallel direction. This may be done using counter-injected neutral beams, electron cyclotron current drive or fast wave current drive.

The second effect, once the discharge has evolved to a state where MHD is not a leading driver of transport, is to increase the pressure and rotation gradients to generate the large  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear necessary to suppress microturbulence and therefore locally reduce transport.

**Expansion of the Internal Transport Barrier.** Once the ITB is formed, the reduced transport allows the pressure and rotation gradients to further increase, thereby generating more  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear and further reduced transport. If the applied power is at or slightly above the threshold value, the barrier is formed, but remains stationary at  $\rho \approx 0.3$ . At higher power levels, typically 5 MW or above, the plasma enters a feedback loop where transport,  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear and fluctuations evolve toward a state of very low transport. In this condition, the ITB expands outwards to encompass a larger portion of the plasma volume (Fig. 2.2.1–1). The previously reported [1,2] discharges in which the ion thermal transport was reduced to

neoclassical levels throughout the entire plasma were the most extreme example of this phenomenon and requires an H–mode edge. In typical discharges in DIII–D with an L–mode edge, however, the transport barrier does not expand past  $\rho \approx 0.5$ .

The barrier expansion phase of the discharge is characterized by an evolution that is anything but quiescent. During this development, stepwise growth events are observed in the otherwise steadily evolving ion temperature profile, as well as transient local decreases (Fig. 2.2.1–2). The steps often correlate with similar events observed in the plasma rotation and electron temperature. Also, consistent with predictions of numerical modeling of the discharge dynamics [5], transient reductions in fluctuation amplitudes are observed at the same time as the steps (Fig. 2.2.1–2). Measurements of the local



Fig. 2.2.1–2. Evolution of a discharge with a developing ITB during the preheating phase (0.3–1.37s). Shots 89939–89949 (composite),  $I_P = 1.6 \text{ MA}$ ,  $B_T = -2.1 \text{ T}$ ,  $P_{\text{NBI}} = 5 - 8 \text{ MW}$ . The gray bars denote transport barrier growth events.

change in electron temperature across one such event (Fig. 2.2.1–3) reveal the existence of a strong transport barrier, in this case at  $\rho \approx 0.4$ . The temperature increase is confined within the transport barrier, while the profiles outside this region are relatively unaffected.

One consideration in evaluating the data is the possibility that the "bursting" behavior is due to local or global MHD instabilities which are momentarily triggered as the safety factor q passes through low-

order rational values. Although it is certainly true that the current profile is evolving during this phase, and that the minimum safety factor  $q_{\min}$  does periodically pass through integer values, the transport events noted from the kinetic profiles and fluctuation measurements do not usually appear to correlate with integer q values (Fig. 2.2.1-4). We have reasonable confidence in this assertion for these discharges. Even a systematic error in the q profile would not bring the transport events into line with integer q crossings. Also, since the current profile is rather flat in the vicinity of the transport barrier, it is difficult to determine the exact time when integer q



Fig. 2.2.1–3. The electron temperature rise during an ITB growth event is confined to inside the ITB, indicating that the ITB actually behaves as a local barrier. Shot 94100,  $I_P = 1.0$  MA,  $B_T = -2.0$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 4$  MW.



Fig. 2.2.1–4. Electron temperature (ECE) for a discharge which does not exhibit a correlation between ITB growth events and integer  $q_{min}$  (89939,  $I_P = 1.6$  MA,  $B_T = -2.1$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 5 - 8$  MW) and one which does (94100,  $I_P = 1.0$  MA,  $B_T = -2.0$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 4 - 8$  MW).



Fig. 2.2.1–5. A low current, low power discharge forms and maintains an ITB until the neutral beams are turned off. The temperature and density profiles are ready after2.5 s, with the q-profile reaching a near-stationary state for the last 1.0 s. Shot 94777,  $I_P = 0.6$  MA,  $B_T = -1.9$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 4$  MW.

crossings occur. However, at least at some of the transport events, the local and minimum q values are both far enough from an integer value to make the MHD arguments implausible for this case.

There are, however, counter-examples exhibiting transport events that appear to contradict the above reasoning. In these discharges, integer q values are well correlated with the ITB growth events (Fig. 2.2.1–4). The reason why we observe such similar behaviors differing in their temporal correlation with integer q values in similar discharges is not well understood, and is currently under investigation. The two sets of discharge evolutions also both lead to the same state, where the ion thermal transport is reduced to neoclassical levels at and inside the ITB.

Anomalous Electron Thermal Transport. In most plasmas, the electron diffusivity  $\chi_e$  remains anomalously high even when a transport barrier is established for ions. In the discharge shown in Fig. 2.2.1–5, for example, the ion thermal transport has decreased to neoclassical levels throughout the plasma, but transport in the electron channel remains anomalously high. In some discharges with strongly reversed central magnetic shear, the electron diffusivity is reduced as well (Fig. 2.2.1–5). Whether strongly reversed magnetic shear is a necessary and/or sufficient condition for electron ITB formation is not currently known.

We have identified a reproducible tool to *increase* transport in the electron channel. Applying central electron heating to a discharge with an ion transport barrier can have a large deleterious impact on transport in the electron channel. Experiments have been done in DIII–D using both electron cyclotron (ECH) and fast wave (FW) power to heat electrons in target discharges established as detailed in Section 2. The central electron temperature increases upon application of additional electron heating (Fig. 2.2.1–6), but far less than would be expected under conditions of constant electron diffusivities. In fact, transport analysis performed using the TRANSP [7] code indicates that the core electron diffusivity increases by a full order of magnitude on the application of this electron heating. Perhaps equally intriguing is the fact that



Fig. 2.2.1–6. Application of ECH, heating only electrons near the resonance at  $\rho = 0$ , interrupts the formation of an internal transport barrier. Shots 96010 (no EH) and 96015 (1.1 MW ECH 1.1–1.6 s). I<sub>P</sub> = 1.6 MA, B<sub>T</sub> = -2.0 T, P<sub>NBI</sub> = 4.3–5.7 MW.

application of 1.1 MW of (ECH) electron heating to the discharge of Fig. 2.2.1–6 actually results in 20%–40% reductions to the central ion temperature and impurity rotation, and associated large increases to the ion thermal and angular momentum diffusivities.

This appears not to be a direct consequence of the heating method. The results are very similar for both the FW and ECH cases, each of which exhibits increased diffusivities in the electron, ion and angular momentum channels (Fig. 2.2.1–7). We con-

centrate here on the ECH discharge, since we have more confidence in the power deposition calculations used in the TRANSP analysis. The statements made here, however, could just as easily be made with regard to the FW heated discharges [8].

The transport behavior appears consistent with the hypothesis of  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear suppression of turbulence leading to ITB formation. The discharge heated only with neutral beams exhibits a ion ITB in this region (Fig. 2.2.1–7). Examination of the  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shearing rate profile in this discharge (Fig. 2.2.1–8) indicates two maxima, with turbulence suppression most likely in the vicinities of  $\rho \approx 0.2$  and  $\rho \approx 0.6$ . In the discharge with additional electron heating (EH), the shearing rate is sharply decreased and has collapsed to a single maxima (Fig. 2.2.1–8). This is reflected in the ion temperature profile as a reduction in the normalized ion temperature gradient  $a/L_{Ti}$  at  $0.2 \le \rho \le 0.6$ (Fig. 2.2.1–7).



Fig. 2.2.1–7. Comparison of diffusivities with and without EH. The normalized temperature gradients  $a/L_{Ti}$  and  $a/L_{Te}$  also indicate a reduced ITB with EH. Shots 96010 (no EH) and 96015 (1.1 MW ECH 1.1–1.6 s). I<sub>P</sub> = 1.6 MA, B<sub>T</sub> = -2.0 T, P<sub>NBI</sub> = 4.3–5.7 MW.



Fig. 2.2.1–8. Microturbulence growth rates from GKS code compared to E×B shearing rates. Shots 96010 (no ECH) and 96015 (1.1 MW ECH 1.1–1.6s ).  $I_P = 1.6$  MA,  $B_T = -2.0$  T,  $P_{NBI} = 4.3$ –5.7 MW.

Calculations of microturbulence stability have been made using a linear gyrokinetic stability (GKS) code [9] which has been extended to non-circular, finite aspect ratio equilibria [10] with fully electromagnetic dynamics [11]. The calculated maximum growth rate of long-wavelength microturbulence is shown in Fig. 2.2.1–8. The  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shearing rate is either equaled or exceeded at  $\rho \approx 0.4$  and  $\rho \approx 0.7$ . Although the growth rates do not substantially increase with the application of EH, the shearing rate is reduced in the same region, indicating the loss of the ITB.

Beam emission spectroscopy (BES) measurements [12] of low-k fluctuation have been made in these discharges (Fig. 2.2.1–9). Consistent with the calculated shearing and growth rates, these observations indicate

reduced fluctuations encompassing the transport barrier at  $\rho \approx 0.5$ –0.6, and no reduction in the region where the shearing rate is matched or exceeded by the growth rate. Unfortunately, BES data in the region where the barrier was eliminated with EH was not obtained, but we would expect to have seen higher levels of turbulence indicated in this region.

A slight increase in the normalized electron temperature gradient  $a/L_{Te}$  is seen in the same region with application of EH (Fig. 2.2.1–7). As previously stated, calculation of the growth rate spectrum at  $\rho \approx$ 



Fig. 2.2.1–9. BES measurements of low-k ( $\leq$ 2 0 cm<sup>-1</sup>) fluctuations in discharges with and without EH. Data from the ECH discharge appears similar, but was not obtained in the region where we expect the biggest difference. Shots 96010 (no EH) and 96015 (1.1 MW ECH 1.1–1.6 s). I<sub>P</sub> = 1.6 MA, B<sub>T</sub> = -2.0 T, P<sub>NBI</sub> = 4.3–5.7 MW.

0.6 indicates that the low-k (1–5 cm<sup>-1</sup>) turbulence growth rates should be suppressed by  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear without ECH, and should become visible with ECH. An additional feature (Fig. 2.2.1–8) appearing in the ECH discharge at high-k (> 20 cm<sup>-1</sup>) may indicate destabilization of electron temperature gradient (ETG) modes. It is believed that the ETG turbulence may be responsible for limiting  $a/L_{Te}$  in this case, but DIII–D has no diagnostics capable of observing such short-wavelength activity.

There appears to be a fundamental difference between the physics controlling transport around  $\rho \approx 0.5-0.6$  and that at smaller radii. Dramatic reductions are seen in the both the electron and ion temperature gradients of both discharges for  $\rho \le 0.2$  (Fig. 2.2.1–7). Application of ECH extends the strong electron temperature gradient region inward to  $\rho \approx 0.1$ , and appears to have no impact on the ion temperature gradient. Throughout the region near the magnetic axis, however, no drift wave turbulence is predicted unstable for either discharge, yet the temperature gradients are clearly limited by some other physical process. One clue to the controlling process may be the appearance of high-*k* (12 cm<sup>-1</sup>) fluctuations in far-infrared (FIR) coherent scattering measurements [13] from the discharge with ECH (Fig. 2.2.1–10) at  $\rho \approx 0.1$ . These fluctuations, at small but measurable amplitude, rotate in the electron diamagnetic direction. At the same time in similar discharges, no signal was detected at either 6 or 9 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

We have identified two candidates for at least some of the physics involved in this process. Both prospects are believed to preferentially impact transport in the electron channel. First, the BALLOO code [14] indicates instability to the resistive interchange mode in a small region centered at  $\rho \approx 0.2$  in the ECH discharge (Fig. 2.2.1–8). How this mode should be manifested in the plasma is not known, but it might be consistent with the high-*k* fluctuation measurement. A second prospect is the appearance of a collisionless microtearing mode as proposed in Ref. [15]. The potential for these modes to be present in and have an impact on these discharges is currently being evaluated. In general, they are believed capable of appearance at short wavelengths, and may be

highly localized in *k*-space. This could be consistent with FIR scattering measurements at short wave-lengths.

In these experiments, electron heating was applied during the preheating phase, prior to the increase in neutral beam power that triggers an ITB growth phase. ECH or FW electron heating appears to limit development of the ITB during the highbeam-power phase of the discharge. The resulting state is one where the temperature gradients in the vicinity of the ITB are reduced compared to the no-EH case. The reduced gradients result in reduced temperatures at smaller radii and increased diffusivities, despite the fact that locally, the normalized temperature gradients may be the same. The important physics, then, is the destabilization of low-, and perhaps high-*k* turbulence at the ITB location. How this occurs as a direct consequence of the central electron



Fig. 2.2.1–10. FIR scattering detects a small signal at  $cm^{-1}$  during the ECH pulse (1.1 MW ECH 1.1–1.6 s). I<sub>P</sub> = 1.6 MA, B<sub>T</sub> = –2.0 T, P<sub>NBI</sub> = 4.3–5.7 MW.

heating is uncertain. In addition, we see that another not yet positively identified process is at work nearer to the magnetic axis. This process may affect both the discharge with and that without additional electron heating. Investigation of this region will continue.

**Summary.** Internal transport barriers are routinely produced in DIII–D by applying moderate levels of neutral beam power to low density plasmas during the current ramp. The resulting elevated central electron temperature and the associated high conductivity of the core produce a current profile that is peaked off-axis, and exhibits negative central magnetic shear. This magnetic configuration is favorable for the elimination of MHD instabilities from the core, thereby allowing the formation of an ITB.

When the ITB forms, a feedback loop involving the steep pressure and rotation gradients leads to increased  $\vec{E} \times \vec{B}$  shear, which leads in turn to reduced turbulence and transport and back to the gradients again. The final state is a region of very low transport that can encompass a large portion of the plasma. The evolution leading to this state, however, is highly dynamic, exhibiting transport events that have in some, but not all, cases been associated with the safety factor profile crossing through integer values. The transport events are associated with transient reductions in turbulence and highly localized transport barrier behavior that moves outward with the "steps."

Although our understanding of thermal transport in the ion channel has improved considerably, we have not yet come to the same level of understanding of the electron channel. In experiments where we probed the transport response to electron heating, both the ion and electron channels were impacted. This is partially due to a failure of the ITB to completely develop during the high power phase of the discharge. Both long- and short-wavelength turbulence are predicted to have been destabilized in the region where the ITB would have continued to develop in the ECH discharge. Without more complete measurements of fluctuations in the plasma, we cannot be certain that such turbulence actually appears in the experiment. The impact on the temperature profiles, however, appears consistent with the modeling. Other processes impacting transport closer to the magnetic axis have not yet been positively identified. Both experimental and modeling efforts to understand these effects will continue in the future.

**Acknowledgements.** M. Kotschenreuther of the University of Texas and W. Dorland of the University of Maryland contributed valuable insight in their discussions with one of the authors (G.M.S.).

### **References for Section 2.2.1**

- [1] SCHISSEL, D.P., Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 463 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997).
- [2] GREENFIELD, C.M., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1596 (1997).
- [3] WALTZ, R.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 1, 2229 (1994).
- [4] BURRELL, K.H., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1499 (1997).
- [5] NEWMAN, D.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 938 (1998).
- [6] HEIDBRINK, W.W., "What is the 'Beta-Induced Alfvén Eigenmode'," submitted to Phys. Plasmas (1998).
- [7] HAWRYLUK, R.J., in Proc. of the Course in Physics Close to Thermonuclear Conditions, Varenna, 1979 (Commission of the European Communities, Brussels, 1980).

- [8] STAEBLER, G.M., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 2006 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [9] KOTSCHENREUTHER, M., Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 37, 1432 (1992).
- [10] MILLER, R.L., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 973 (1998).
- [11] WALTZ, R.E., DORLAND, W., private communication (1998).
- [12] McKEE, G.R., et al., "The Beam Emission Spectroscopy Diagnostic on the DIII–D Tokamak," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 70, 913 (1999).
- [13] PHILIPONA, T., et al., Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 3007 (1990).
- [14] MILLER, R.L., et al., private communication (1998).
- [15] KOTSCHENREUTHER, M., et al., presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion.

# 2.2.2. COMPREHENSIVE ENERGY TRANSPORT SCALINGS DERIVED FROM DIII-D SIMILARITY EXPERIMENTS<sup>4</sup>

Significant progress has been made recently towards predicting and understanding heat transport in L-mode and H-mode plasmas on DIII-D using the related methods of similarity and scale invariance. In these experiments, the dependences of transport on the relative gyroradius ( $\rho_* \sim T^{1/2}/aB$ ), ), plasma beta ( $\beta \sim nT/B^2$ ), normalized collision frequency ( $\nu \sim na/T^2$ ), and safety factor ( $q \sim aB_T/RB_p$ ) are measured one at a time while keeping the other dimensionless parameters fixed (including those related to plasma shape and  $T_e/T_i$ ). Experimentally determining the transport scalings in this way helps to distinguish between various proposed instability mechanisms of turbulent transport and permits a comprehensive energy confinement scaling relation to be developed that is founded in the principles of plasma physics. In addition, the  $T_e/T_i$  dependence of transport is being studied to test an important predicted scaling of theory-based transport models.

**H-Mode Plasmas.** The scalings of heat transport with  $\rho_*$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\nu$ , and q have been measured on DIII-D for H-mode plasmas. The results provide a strong experimental constraint on theoretical models of turbulent transport. Gyroradius scaling experiments in low q discharges have shown gyro-Bohm-like scaling for both the heat [1] and particle [2] transport,  $B_{\tau E} \propto \rho_*^{-3.15\pm0.2}$ . This scaling is consistent with the majority of anomalous transport theories that assume that the radial wavelength (or radial correlation length) of the turbulence scales with the Larmor radius. Other H-mode experiments have found energy confinement



Fig. 2.2.2–1. Radial profiles of (a) safety factor, and (b) magnetic shear for H–mode discharges. The dotted line in (a) represents the 1.0 MA profile scaled to 1.4 MA.

to have only a very weak beta dependence,  $B_{\tau E} \propto \beta^{0.03\pm0.11}$ , which favors theories of anomalous transport for which E×B transport is dominant over magnetic flutter transport [3]. The measured collisionality scaling falls between those of the collisionless ion temperature gradient (ITG) and collisionless trapped electron modes and that of the resistive ballooning mode [4],  $B_{\tau E} \propto \nu \angle 0.42\pm0.03$ . The  $\nu$  scaling of the dissipative trapped electron and dissipative trapped ion modes was not observed.

Recent experiments on DIII–D have found a strong safety factor scaling of heat transport at all radii for H–mode plasmas [5]. In the first experiment, the safety factor was varied by a factor of 1.4 at fixed magnetic shear (see Fig. 2.2.2–1) while the other dimensionless parameters such as  $\rho_*$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\nu$ , and  $T_e/T_i$  were kept constant. The confinement time was found to scale like  $\tau_E \propto q^{-2.42\pm0.32}$  for this case. A local transport analysis also found a strong safety factor dependence of the effective thermal diffusivity, as shown in Fig. 2.2.2–2, the magnitude of which agreed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, F.W. Baity, et al., "Comprehensive Energy Transport Scalings Derived From DIII–D Similarity Experiments," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22992 (1998).



Fig. 2.2.2–2. Ratio of effective thermal diffusivities for H–mode discharges with fixed magnetic shear. The lined shading indicates the standard deviation of the random error.

with the scaling of the global confinement time. This transport scaling is close to the expected scaling of the resistive ballooning mode and is near to the upper limit of the scalings for the toroidal ITG mode and the collisionless trapped electron mode. In the second experiment, the safety factor and magnetic shear were both varied such that  $q_{95}$  was scanned at fixed  $q_0$ . A weaker confinement scaling was measured for this case,  $\tau_{\rm E} \propto q_{95}^{-1.43\pm0.23}$ ; this weaker scaling was attributed to the smaller variation in the volumeaveraged q profiles rather than the change in the magnetic shear [5].

The combined  $\rho_*$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\nu$ , and qscalings of heat transport for H-mode plasmas on DIII-D repro-

duce the physical parameter dependences of empirical scalings derived from global confinement databases, with the possible exception of weaker power degradation. Converting a confinement scaling relation from dimensionless variables to physical (dimensional) variables is a straightforward algebraic manipulation. Assuming a power law form for the scaling relation, the dimensionless parameter scalings for low q H–mode plasmas on DIII–D can be summarized as

$$\tau_{\rm E} \propto B^{-1} \rho_{*}^{-3.15 \pm 0.2} \beta^{0.03 \pm 0.11} \nu^{-0.42 \pm 0.03} q_{95}^{-1.43 \pm 0.23}$$
  

$$\propto I^{1.43 \pm 0.23} B^{0.66 \pm 0.38} n^{-0.39 \pm 0.11} T^{-0.70 \pm 0.16} L^{1.30 \pm 0.31}$$
  

$$\propto I^{0.84 \pm 0.16} B^{0.39 \pm 0.20} n^{0.18 \pm 0.07} P^{-0.41 \pm 0.06} L^{2.00 \pm 0.24} , \qquad (1)$$

where L represents the physical size scaling (*i.e.*, *a*, R, etc.) needed to make the scaling relation dimensionally correct. Thus, it can be seen that the dimensionless parameter scaling approach yields a definitive prediction for the size scaling of confinement from single machine experiments. For comparison, the confinement time derived from a dataset of H–mode plasmas on DIII–D and JET is [6,7]

$$\tau \propto I^{0.9} B^{0.3} n^{0.2} P^{-0.5} L^{1.5}$$
 (2)

Comparing Eqs. (1) and (2) finds that the physical parameter scalings derived from DIII–D similarity experiments agree with those derived from a regression analysis of multi-machine confinement databases

to the  $2\sigma$  level. Another interesting comparison can be made using a confinement scaling for ELM-free H–mode plasmas that is nearly dimensionally correct [8],

$$\tau_{\rm ITER-93H} = 0.036 \ \mathrm{I}^{1.06} \ \mathrm{B}^{0.32} \ n_{19}^{0.17} \ \mathrm{P}^{-0.67} \ \mathrm{R}^{1.9} \ a^{-0.11} \ \mathrm{A}^{0.41} \ \mathrm{\kappa}^{0.66} \ . \tag{3}$$

A comparison of Eqs. (1) and (3) finds that the B, n, and size scalings agree to within 1 $\sigma$ , while the difference in the *I* scalings is only a little larger. The main discrepancy is in the power scaling, where the DIII–D experiments find a weaker power degradation than ITER-93H (owing partially to the weaker beta scaling), leading to a more optimistic projection for H–mode confinement on larger machines [9].

**L-Mode Plasmas.** The dependences of heat transport with  $\rho_*$ ,  $\beta$ , and v also have been measured for L-mode plasmas on DIII–D. The  $\rho_*$  scalings of the electron and ion heat transport were measured separately [10], with the electron diffusivity scaling gyro-Bohm-like,  $\chi_e \propto \chi_B \rho_*^{1.1\pm0.3}$ , and the ion diffusivity scaling worse than Bohm-like,  $\chi_i \propto \chi_B \rho_*^{-0.5\pm0.3}$ . Here,  $\chi_B = T/eB$  is the Bohm diffusion coefficient. The scaling of the global confinement time could vary from gyro-Bohm-like to Bohm-like depending upon whether the electrons or ions dominated the heat transport. The beta scaling of energy confinement was close to zero,  $\beta \tau_E \propto \beta^{-0.05\pm0.10}$ , with the electron and ion thermal diffusivities having the same scaling to within the experimental errors [3]. The scaling of energy confinement with collisionality in the banana regime was also close to zero,  $\beta \tau_E \propto v^{-0.02\pm0.03}$ , with the electron and ion heat transport again having the same scaling to within the experimental uncertainties [4].

By combining the  $\rho_*$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\nu$  scalings, the power degradation and density scaling of energy confinement can be uniquely determined for L-mode plasmas. However, this calculation is complicated by the fact that the  $\rho_*$  scalings of the electron and ion thermal diffusivities are not the same. If we limit ourselves to the typical case of approximately equal electron and ion heat conduction, then the global confinement exhibits Bohm-like scaling, and the scaling of the energy confinement time in physical parameters is

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{\rm E} &\propto {\rm B}^{-1} \ \rho_*^{-2} \ \beta^{-0.05 \pm 0.10} \ \nu^{0.02 \pm 0.03} \\ &\propto n^0 \ {\rm T}^{-1.1} \\ &\propto n^{0.5} \ {\rm P}^{-0.5} \ . \end{aligned} \tag{4}$$

The B and I dependences of  $\tau_E$  cannot be determined until the safety factor scaling of transport is measured for L-mode plasmas. Comparing Eq. (4) with the commonly used ITER-89P L-mode scaling relation [11],

$$\tau_{\text{ITER-89P}} = 0.048 \text{ I}^{0.85} \text{ R}^{1.2} a^{0.3} n_{20}^{0.1} \text{ B}^{0.2} \text{ A}^{0.5} \kappa^{0.5} \text{ P}^{-0.5} , \qquad (5)$$

one sees that the power degradation factors are the same but Eq. (5) has a weaker density scaling than what was measured on DIII–D.

 $T_e/T_i$  Dependence of Transport. In order to further differentiate between various theory-based transport models, the scaling of transport with  $T_e/T_i$  is also being studied. Experiments in L-mode plasmas with internal transport barriers (ITB) on DIII-D have shown that intense electron heating, using either fast waves or electron cyclotron heating, in a beam heated plasma with  $T_i \gg T_e$  increases the electron and ion thermal diffusivities and slows the plasma rotation [12]. Further experiments on DIII-D have studied

the  $T_e/T_i$  dependence of heat transport in ELMing H-mode plasmas without ITBs and with  $T_e \sim T_i$ . In these experiments, increasing the ratio of  $T_e/T_i$  at fixed beta resulted in an increase in both the electron and ion heat transport as well as the particle transport. This result, combined with related H-mode experiments that varied  $T_e$  at fixed  $T_i$ , and *vice versa*, can be summarized as tE  $\langle T_i \rangle^2 / \langle T_e \rangle^2$ . This strong scaling may be limited to the conditions near those measured. In addition, since the toroidal rotation also decreased with increasing  $T_e/T_i$ , some of the transport change may be only indirectly related to  $T_e/T_i$  owing to the small decrease in  $\omega_{E\times B}$  with electron heating.

### **References for Section 2.2.2**

- [1] PETTY, C.C., et al., Phys. Plasmas 2, 2342 (1995).
- [2] WADE, M.R., LUCE, T.C., PETTY, C.C., Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 419 (1997).
- [3] PETTY, C.C., et al., Nucl. Fusion **38**, 1183 (1998).
- [4] PETTY, C.C., LUCE, T.C., "Scaling of Heat Transport with Collisionality," submitted to Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA–A22853 (1998).
- [5] PETTY, C.C., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 1695 (1998).
- [6] SCHISSEL, D.P., et al., Nucl. Fusion **31**, 73 (1991).
- [7] SCHISSEL, D.P., et al., Nucl. Fusion **34**, 1401 (1994).
- [8] KAYE, S.M., et al., in Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research 1994 (Proc. 15th Int. Conf. Seville, 1994), Vol. 2, IAEA, Vienna (1995) 525.
- [9] PETTY, C.C., LUCE, T.C., Nucl. Fusion **37**, 1 (1997).
- [10] PETTY, C.C., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 1763 (1995).
- [11] YUSHMANOV, P.N., et al., Nucl. Fusion 30, 1999 (1990).
- [12] GREENFIELD, C.M., et al., "Behavior of Electron and Ion Transport in Discharges with an Internal Transport Barrier in the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22990 (1998).

## 2.2.3. COMPARISON OF L-H TRANSITION MEASUREMENTS WITH PHYSICS MODELS<sup>5</sup>

Global scaling of the H–mode power threshold ( $P_{TH}$ ) and local conditions at the edge of the plasma just before an L-H transition have been studied in the DIII–D tokamak. Besides the usual dependence on density and toroidal field, at least three other effects have been found to have a significant influence on  $P_{TH}$ . These include: the effect of a sawtooth crash, which can trigger an L-H transition; the direction and magnitude of the ion  $\nabla B$  drift relative to the X–point location, which can change  $P_{TH}$  by factors of 2 to 3; and the effect of neutrals, which may have more subtle and counter-intuitive effects on  $P_{TH}$ . In our analysis,  $P_{TH}$  is defined as the power flowing across the separatrix,  $P_{SEP}$ . Each of these effects has been studied experimentally and compared with physics models or numerical calculations. In addition, parameters measured at the plasma edge just before an L-H transition have been analyzed and compared to theories of the L-H transition. Operational space of L– and H–mode is given in terms of dimensionless edge parameters. It is found that the edge pressure gradient may be more important than the magnitude of the edge temperature.

**Sawteetch Effects.** Over half of the L-H transitions in the DIII–D transition database are triggered by sawteeth. The sawtooth crash provides an additional transient power flow to the edge of the plasma where the L-H transition takes place. This power flow depends on the inversion radius of the sawtooth, the stored energy, and the dissipation of the power as it flows to the plasma edge. In an experiment in which the sawteeth were suppressed by neutral beam heating during the early current ramp phase of the dis-

charge,  $P_{TH}$  increased from 3 MW in the sawtooth triggered case to 5 MW when the sawteeth were suppressed, (reverse B case in Fig. 2.2.3–1). Including the additional power flow to the plasma edge due to sawteeth [1] in the calculation of the power flowing across the separatrix,  $P_{SEP}$ , we find the toroidal field dependence of  $P_{TH}$  is weakened. Thus edge power flow due to sawteeth may significantly influence the observed  $P_{TH}$  scaling.

 $\nabla$ **B** Drift Effects. The direction of the ion  $\nabla$ B drift relative to the X–point location has a dramatic influence on the magnitude of P<sub>TH</sub>. Hinton [2] and later Hinton and Staebler [3] have attributed this effect to neoclassical crossfield fluxes of both heat and particles driven by poloidal temperature gradients on the open field lines in the scrape-off-layer (SOL). The magnitude of these fluxes scale like ~(n/r)(T/B)(∂T/∂ϑ), where r is the minor radius, T the temperature, and ϑ the poloidal angle. The flux surface average of these cross-field fluxes



Fig. 2.2.3–1. Toroidal field scaling of the H–mode power threshold when accounting for sawteeth power. Open symbols indicate L–H transitions triggered by a sawtooth crash, closed symbols indicate threshold power when additional sawteeth power is taken into account, crosses indicate transitions not triggered by sawteeth. Forward B data < 3 MW, reverse B data > 3 MW.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Carlstrom, T.N., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Comparison of L–H Transition Measurements with Physics Models," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22989 (1998).

is zero unless asymmetries such as the gradient of B and/or the poloidal temperature gradient lead to a net flux. In its simplest form, these fluxes influence  $P_{TH}$  by either adding to or subtracting from the power flow to the edge of the plasma. A 1D analysis of heat conduction in the SOL suggests that these crossfield fluxes can be a significant fraction of the input power [4]. It was proposed that some of the observed scaling of  $P_{TH}$  is due to the variation of the magnitude of these fluxes and may not be intrinsic to the scaling of the physics of the L–H transition itself. For instance, the increase of  $P_{TH}$  at low density may be due to the reduction of the  $\nabla B$  effect as the sheath limit for parallel heat conduction is reached and the poloidal temperature gradient is reduced. Many qualitative features of this model are in agreement with observations of  $P_{TH}$  scaling, such as the existence of a density threshold, the importance of the X–point position, and the increase of  $P_{TH}$  in double-null configurations.

In order to further test these ideas, a series of experiments was carried out in which plasmas with identical operational parameters except for the direction of the toroidal field were compared. In these discharges, the neutral beam power was modulated at a low level (12.5%, 0.3 MW) in order to keep the plasma in L-mode in the forward B case ( $\nabla$ B drift toward the X-point). This resulted in power levels far below P<sub>TH</sub> in the reverse B case where P<sub>TH</sub> ~5 MW. Motivated by the idea that edge parameters control the L-H transition, we compare the edge n<sub>e</sub>, T<sub>e</sub>, T<sub>i</sub>, and  $\nabla$ P<sub>e</sub> profiles evaluated at the pedestal of the density profile determined by a hyperbolic tangent fit [5] in Fig. 2.2.3–2. There is almost no difference in the value of these parameters between the two directions of the toroidal field, even though one discharge is very near the L-H transition and the other is very far away in terms of power. Also shown in Fig. 2.2.3–2,

are the edge parameters for the reverse B case, when the power level is just below the threshold, (5 MW). Although the edge density remains the same, (the line average density was held constant), the edge temperatures and pressure gradients are much greater than the forward B case.

Preliminary analysis of the divertor conditions show that significant differences between these discharges appear near the X-point region. The electron density just below the X-point measured by Thomson scattering in the forward B case is 4-5 times greater than the reverse B case, as shown in Fig. 2.2.3–2. The cause of this high-density region and its influence on the L-H transition is under investigation. It may be evidence of the ion  $\nabla B$  drift carrying heat and particles across the X-point into the private flux region, or it may be the result of E×B flows in the divertor. If neutral penetration into the core plasma raises P<sub>TH</sub> as discussed in the next section, then this high-density region may reduce P<sub>TH</sub> in the forward B case by preventing neutrals from reaching the X-point region of the core plasma.

Several theories of the L-H transition consider the edge pressure gradient as a key parameter for the transition (Section 5). As shown in Fig. 2.2.3–2, the forward



Fig. 2.2.3–2. Edge and divertor parameters for forward (solid) and reverse B (dashed) at 1 MW and reverse B at 5 MW (light dashed).

B edge electron pressure gradient is slightly higher than the reverse B case at 1 MW. This may be evidence for cross-field fluxes in the SOL playing a role in determining the edge pressure gradient. However, calculations of the cross-field fluxes described above, based on measured SOL and divertor temperatures and densities, result in powers of only a few tens of kilowatts. These fluxes are considered to be too small to contribute significantly to the overall power balance. However, it is still possible that these fluxes affect the edge plasma, especially near the X–point, and influence the L-H transition threshold.

**Neutrals.** The effect of neutrals on the L-H transition has been studied in a series of experiments where a heavy gas puff was used to ramp up the density and a divertor cryopump was used to ramp down the density during an L-H transition. Extensive transport and neutral modeling of the plasma edge region using B2.5 and DEGAS indicates that during heavy gas puffing, the SOL density increases and shields the region just inside the separatrix from neutrals [6]. This reduces the neutrals in this region and lowers  $P_{TH}$ . When the cryopump is used, the neutral penetration is greater and  $P_{TH}$  increases. There is a good correlation between  $P_{SEP}/\bar{n}$  and the ratio of the maximum charge exchange damping rate ( $v_{cx}$ )<sub>M</sub> to the neoclassical damping rate ( $\mu_{neo}$ ) of the poloidal flow when evaluated for average radii in the range 0.9 < r/a < 0.95 as shown in Fig. 2.2.3–3 [6]. Good correlation is also found with the poloidally averaged neutral decay length. Further experiments and inter-machine comparisons are needed to identify the proper dimensionless parameter for the effect of neutrals on the power threshold.

**Local Edge Parameters.** A technique of fitting a hyperbolic tangent to the edge profiles themselves has eliminated the scatter caused by the flux surface reconstruction [7] and has improved the localization of the plasma edge [5]. With this technique, we have determined that the position of the maximum edge density gradient remains relatively constant across the L-H transition, and is therefore, a good location to evaluate the local edge conditions relevant to the formation of the edge transport barrier in H–mode. However, in order to facilitate comparisons with other devices, we have evaluated edge parameters 2 cm inside the separatrix. We find this location roughly corresponds to the edge density pedestal determined from the hyperbolic tangent fit. An operational space diagram of  $T_e$  and  $n_e$  evaluated 2 cm inside the separatrix is shown in Fig. 2.2.3–4. Although there is a trend for pre-transition data (LH) to be at higher



Fig. 2.2.3–3. The dependence of  $P_{SEP}/\overline{n}$  versus  $(v_{CX})_M/\mu_{neo}$  for the r/a =0.95 surface (taken from Fig. 18, Ref. [6]).

temperatures, these data are not well separated from the normal L-mode data. Therefore, these parameters do not clearly resolve the L-H transition operating space. For comparison, a fit to the L-H data on ASDEX-Upgrade is also shown. The DIII-D data generally fall a factor of 2 below the ASDEX-Upgrade data, indicating that the edge temperature alone is not a critical parameter for the L-H transition. Collisionality of the edge plasma varies in the range of 5–50, and often increases slightly after the L-H transition as the edge density rises. Collisionality alone is therefore, not likely to be a key parameter.

The improved localization of the edge parameters now permits more detailed comparisons with L-H transition theories. In a model based



Fig. 2.2.3–4. Operational space diagram evaluated 2 cm inside the separatrix. A fit to LH data from ASDEX-Upgrade is shown for comparison.

on 3D simulations of edge turbulence by Rogers and Drake [8], the threshold condition is parameterized in terms of  $\alpha_{MHD}$  and  $\alpha_{DIAM}$ , both of which contain edge gradients. Figure 2.2.3–5 shows that  $\alpha_{MHD}$  may provide a better separation of the L–mode and pre-transition data than edge  $n_e$  and  $T_e$  in Fig. 2.2.3–4, indicating it may be important for the L-H transition. Due to the lack of separation of the data with  $\alpha_{DIAM}$ , the importance of this parameter is not clear. Quantitative comparisons will require improvements in the model to include realistic geometry.

In another model of the L-H transition based on the stabilization of Alfvén drift waves by O. Pogutse *et al.* [9], the threshold condition is parameterized by a normalized beta and collision frequency such that  $\beta_n > \beta_{crit} = 1 + \nu_n^{2/3}$ . Figure 2.2.3–6 shows data evaluated at the maximum edge density gradient on the  $\beta_n - \nu_n$  plane. The value of  $\beta_n$  has about the right magnitude but no clear distinction exists

between points just before the L-H transition and points that remain L-mode or Ohmic. H-mode points, taken just after the L-H transition, are well above the threshold condition in both these models. Therefore, comparison of the edge gradients between L- and H-mode is not particularly useful in distinguishing among these models.



Fig. 2.2.3–5. Operational space diagram for critical parameters of Ref. 8.



Fig. 2.2.3–6. Operational space diagram for critical parameters of Ref. 9.

### **References for Section 2.2.3**

- [1] CARLSTROM, T.N., BURRELL, K.H., GROEBNER, R.J., Plasma Phys, Control. Fusion 40, 669 (1998).
- [2] HINTON, F.L., Nucl. Fusion **25**, 1457 (1985).
- [3] HINTON, F.L., STAEBLER, G.M., Nucl. Fusion 29, 405 (1989).
- [4] CARLSTROM, T.N., *et al.* Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1089 (European Physical Society, 1997).
- [5] GROEBNER, R.J., CARLSTROM, T.N., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion, 40, 673 (1998).
- [6] CARRERAS, B.A., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 2623(1998).
- [7] CARLSTROM, T.N., GROEBNER, R.J., Phys. Plasma 3, 1867 (1996).
- [8] ROGERS, B.N., DRAKE, J.F., ZEILER, A., presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; Paper IAEA-CN-69/THP2/01.
- [9] POGUTSE, O. et al., "The Alfvén drift-wave instability and the scaling of the edge temperature at the L-H transition," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1041 (European Physical Society, 1997).

### 2.2.4. RI-MODE INVESTIGATIONS IN THE DIII-D TOKAMAK WITH NEON AND ARGON INDUCED RADIATING MANTLES<sup>6</sup>

The RI-mode regime, with high radiating power fractions from 0.5 to 0.9, energy confinement enhancements,  $H_{89P}$ , over ITER89-P L-mode scaling greater than 1.6, and operation at or above the Greenwald density limit ( $n_{GW}$ ) is an attractive operating scenario for future fusion burning plasma devices. The TEXTOR tokamak has demonstrated this scenario in a limiter device with steady state conditions,  $\Delta t_{RI-mode}/\tau_E > 100$  [1]. Studies have been initiated on the DIII–D tokamak with the goals of: (a) extending these results to a larger non circular machine (providing size and shape scaling), (b) investigating the underlying physical mechanisms of RI-mode with a complementary diagnostic set to that on TEXTOR, and (c) using non-intrinsic impurities, e.g. neon and argon, to obtain high performance diverted discharges, ( $\beta_N H_{89P} > 6$ ) in support of the DIII–D advanced tokamak (AT) program, where  $\beta_N = \beta_T/(I_p/aB_T)$  and  $\beta_T$ ,  $I_p$ , a, and  $B_T$  are toroidal beta (in %), plasma current (MA), minor radius (m), and toroidal magnetic field (T) respectively. We define  $P_{radLCFS}$  as the radiated power inside the LCFS and note that nearly all of this radiation occurs in the mantle region 0.6 <  $\rho$  < 1.0, i.e.,  $P_{mantle} \approx P_{radLCFS}$ . Three types of DIII–D discharges where mantle radiation plays a significant role are discussed in this paper: (i) ELMing H–mode "puff and pump," (ii) limiter L–mode, and (iii) high performance.

The first type of discharge with a high fraction of mantle radiation is obtained by puffing deuterium above the midplane into a lower single null shape, where the outer strike point is positioned at the entrance to the DIII-D toroidally continuous cryopump. With argon injection into the divertor region, this technique, termed "Puff and pump" [2], produced ELMing H-mode discharges and under certain conditions there was a significant fraction of radiated power from within the LCFS at high normalized densities,  $n_e/n_{GW} \ll 0.95$  as shown in Fig. 2.2.4–1. In this discharge, there is a marked increase in the rate of density rise and an increase in the fraction of radiation beginning at 3000 ms, although external parameters are constant, e.g. gas flow,  $I_p$ ,  $B_T$ ,  $q_{95}$ ,  $P_{NB}$ , and discharge shape. Both density and confinement continue to increase until the argon puff is terminated at 4000 ms. Energy confinement shown in Fig. 2.2.4–1, f<sub>H93</sub>, has been normalized to the ITER H93 ELM free confinement scaling relation. Coincident with the decrease in confinement and density, an increase in MHD activity is observed which generally coincides with the end of the density increase in the radiating mantle phase of argon "puff and pump" discharges and in most cases occurs



Fig. 2.2.4–1. Temporal evolution of a high density radiating mantle discharge. An increase in the rate of density rise begins at t  $\approx$  3000 ms. Argon is injected from 2000 to 4000 ms ( $I_p$ =1.35 MA,  $B_t$  = 2.1 T,  $P_{NB}$  = 6.4–7.3 MW).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, M. Murakami, et al., "RI-mode Investigations in the DIII-D Tokamak with Neon and Argon Induced Radiating Mantles," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 810 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA-A22911 (1998).



Fig. 2.2.4–2. Normalized confinement as a function of normalized density for the 3 types of discharges: "puff and pump" temporal behavior (#95020), IWL L-mode (points from several discharges), and high performance H-mode (#96568). Solid lines are times during impurity puffing, dashed are before or after, and dots indicate times of significant MHD. The TEXTOR RI-mode scaling relation is also displayed.

before the termination of the argon puff. This increase in MHD is most likely associated with the onset of the m/n=3/2 neoclassical tearing mode [3], and further experiments are planned to examine this in more detail.

The temporal behavior of confinement as a function of normalized density is shown in Fig. 2.2.4–2 for #95020 (same as Fig. 2.2.4–1). Similar response has also been observed in TEXTOR [1], although confinement in these ELMing H–mode divertor DIII–D discharges is substantially above the TEXTOR limiter RI–mode scaling,  $\tau_{\rm E} = \tau_{93\rm H} \cdot n_{\rm e}/n_{\rm GW}$  at the same normalized density, plotted in Fig. 2.2.4–2. After the increase in MHD fluctuations, shown in Fig. 2.2.4–2, the normalized confinement enhancement markedly decreases.

The increase in the rate of density rise in these puff and pump discharges is usually accompanied by increased toroidal rotation, shown in Fig. 2.2.4–3. This radiation increase is similar to the spin-up first observed

in VH–mode discharges [4], although the absolute magnitude is lower in these radiating mantle discharges. The MHD activity increases at the time the toroidal velocity begins decreasing, t  $\approx$  3700 ms.

The puff and pump discharges described here exhibit a heat flux reduction of more than a factor of 2 to the divertor tiles when compared to similar discharges with no impurity radiation. We also note that these ELMing H–mode discharges were not detached. However there is a reduction of the edge pedestal electron pressure as the fraction of mantle radiation increases, shown in Fig. 2.2.4–4.



Fig. 2.2.4–3. Toroidal plasma rotation from C<sup>+6</sup> CER. Discharge conditions are similar to Fig. 1. A "spin up" begins at t=2900 ms. Rotation begins to decrease at approximately the time that MHD activity (also shown) increases, t  $\approx$  3700–3800 ms.



Fig. 2.2.4–4. Edge electron pedestal pressure derived from fits to the H–mode edge pressure profile [8] measured by Thomson scattering. All points are from puff and pump discharges during the time argon was injected. The solid line is a least squares second order polynomial fit to the data.

A Decade of DIII–D Research

Normalized confinement compares favorably with discharges without neon or argon radiation, shown in Fig. 2.2.4-5, where radiating mantle discharges are compared with a subset of the DIII-D ELMing H-mode ITER database with similar parameters ( $I_p = 1.2-1.4 \text{ MA}, B_T > 1.65 \text{ T}, P_{NB} >$ 3 MW). The addition of non-intrinsic impurities allows an extension to higher density and confinement generally higher than the comparative ITER database discharges. Some of the discharges with neon injection shown in Fig. 2.2.4-5 had transient VH-mode and ELM free phases which generally exhibit higher confinement. The argon puff and pump series were either stationary ELMing H-mode, similar to those in the DIII-D ITER database, or slowly evolving ELMing H-mode, such as in Fig. 2.2.4–1.



Fig. 2.2.4–5. A comparison of confinement with impurity puffing to ELMing H–mode discharges from the DIII–D ITER database discharges.

The second type of DIII-D discharge with a radiating mantle is inner wall limited L-mode. Neon was injected (above the midplane) into L-mode inner wall limited (IWL) discharges ( $I_p = 1.2-1.4$  MA,  $B_T = 1.7-2.1T$ ,  $q_{95} = 2.8-3.8$ ,  $P_{NB} = 6-9$  MW). Due to technical constraints, operation on the DIII-D outer bumper poloidal limiters is severely limited so the TEXTOR configuration could not be reproduced exactly (TEXTOR RI-mode discharges are limited on the ALTII pumped limiter located below the outer midplane). Nevertheless, this series of DIII-D discharges had features similar to the TEXTOR RI-mode [5]. To date, MARFing has limited the maximum density achieved in DIII-D L-mode IWL discharges to  $n_e/n_{GW} \leq 0.75$  which is the lower normalized density range observed by TEXTOR. This is probably a consequence of the differences in the limiting surfaces between the two machines. As shown in Fig. 2.2.4–2, confinement at the same normalized density is higher than the TEXTOR scaling relation plotted in Fig. 2.2.4–2. We also note that long duration L-mode IWL discharges without MARFing have not yet been demonstrated in DIII-D.

The third type of discharge where mantle radiation can be important is high performance H– and VH–mode discharges. Impurity seeding has been used to obtain high performance discharges with  $\beta_N H > 10$  for 0.55 s and  $\beta_N H > 6$  for 1.6 s (#96568). In the latter case, operation at the DIII–D empirical stability limit [6],  $\beta_N \approx 4\ell_i$  was maintained for 1.4 s, where  $\ell_i$  is the normalized internal plasma inductance. Neon injection has also allowed VH–mode at the highest target density ever achieved,  $6 \times 10^{19}$  (#93450), nearly a factor of 2 higher than the normal target density for the L to H transition and VH–mode confinement [5].

Mantle radiation in these high performance discharges is substantially lower than the discharges described previously. For example, in the two discharges mentioned above, the fraction of mantle radiation was  $\leq 0.25$ . However, this is still substantially higher than standard VH–mode discharges, where  $P_{mantle}/P_{in} < 0.1$ . Although  $Z_{eff}(0)$  is low in these discharges, <2, higher impurity concentrations are observed in the mantle region. This increase in  $Z_{eff}$  can provide a stabilizing effect for electron temperature gradient (ETG) modes, allowing increases in particle and energy confinement. Such suppression has been observed in some DIII–D discharges with neon puffing [7].

In conclusion, non-intrinsic impurities have been used in DIII–D to simultaneously obtain good confinement ( $\tau_E/\tau_{ITER-93H} > 1$ ), high density ( $n_e/n_{GW} > 0.8$ ), significant mantle radiation ( $P_{rad}/P_{in} > 0.4$ ), and reductions in peak heat flux to the walls of more than a factor of 2. L–mode limiter discharges have been obtained under similar conditions, but at lower normalized density. In addition, discharges with  $\beta_N H$  of greater than 6 have been observed with impurity radiation. We have focused in this paper on the role of impurities inside the separatrix flux surface. Radiating divertor discharges have also been achieved in DIII–D and have been reported elsewhere [2].

The role of increased toroidal rotation in the argon puff and pump experiments can contribute to enhanced confinement, similar to the VH–mode. The increased rotation has also been observed in some DIII–D L–mode IWL discharges such as those discussed in this paper. Whether this "spinup" is a fundamental characteristic of the TEXTOR RI–mode and radiating mantle DIII–D discharges is currently under investigation. The plasma rotation may also be important in maintaining a low central  $Z_{eff}$ . For example, impurity concentrations in the argon puff and pump experiments were sufficiently low that  $Z_{eff} \leq 2$  during the phase of increasing density. However the onset of the m/n=3/2 MHD activity and a decrease in rotation shown in Fig. 2.2.4–3 is accompanied by a rapid increase in  $Z_{eff}$ .

Future work will focus upon obtaining stationary radiating mantle discharges, identifying the underlying physical mechanisms, and determining the feasibility and advantages of employing radiating mantle operation in future fusion burning plasma devices such as ITER.

#### **References for Section 2.2.4**

- ONGENA, J., et al. Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29– July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [2] WADE, M.R., et. al., "Impurity Enrichment and Radiative Enhancement Using Induced SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22874 (1998).
- [3] La HAYE, R.J. et. al., Proc. of 16th Int Conf on Fus Energy IAEA Montreal 7-11 October 1996, Vol. 1, p. 747, Vienna 1997.
- [4] JACKSON, G.L., et. al, Phys. Fluids B 4, 2181 (1992).
- [5] JACKSON, G.L., et al. "Enhanced Confinement Discharges in DIII–D with Neon and Argon Induced Radiation," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22875 (1998).
- [6] STRAIT, E.J., Phys. Plasmas 1, 1415 (1994).
- [7] STAEBLER, G.M., et al., "Improved High-Mode with Neon Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22674 (1997).
- [8] GROEBNER, R.J., and T.H. Osborne, Phys. Plasmas 5, 1800 (1998).
## 2.3. STABILITY AND DISRUPTION PHYSICS

## 2.3.1. OBSERVATION AND CONTROL OF RESISTIVE WALL MODES<sup>7</sup>

Stabilization of low-n kink modes by a conducting wall is crucial for high beta, steady state "advanced tokamak" scenarios. Operation at high beta allows a more compact and economical fusion plasma with a large fraction of bootstrap current. Good alignment of the bootstrap current with the equilibrium current density profile, important for minimizing the requirements on external current drive systems, is achieved with broad current density profiles and broad pressure profiles. Such broad profiles have a low beta limit in the absence of a wall, but strong coupling to a nearby conducting wall can improve the stability limit by as much as a factor of 2 or 3 [1-3].

Two approaches to achieving long-time scale stabilization with a real, finite conductivity wall are being considered: plasma rotation and active feedback control. Ideal MHD theory predicts that for a plasma which would be stabilized by an ideal wall, non-zero wall resistivity leads to an unstable "resistive wall mode" with a growth time on the order of the wall's magnetic field penetration time  $\tau_w$  and a real frequency  $\omega \sim \tau_w^{-1}$ , and which is not stabilized by sub-Alfvenic plasma rotation. However, more detailed theories show that the addition of dissipation in the plasma allows stabilization by sub-sonic plasma rota-

tion [4,5]. Furthermore, external kink modes can drive islands in a resistive plasma, allowing stabilization by plasma rotation frequencies as low as  $\Omega \sim \tau_{\rm w}^{-1}$  [6,7].

DIII-D experiments [8,9] confirm many of the important qualitative features of these more recent theories. In discharges with broad current density profiles, beta values reach up to 1.4 times the ideal n=1 kink mode limit calculated without a wall, but remain within the stable range calculated with an ideal wall at the position of the DIII-D vacuum vessel. Beta greater than the no-wall limit has been sustained for up to 200 ms, much longer than the wall penetration time  $\tau_w \leq 6$  ms, which indicates that the resistive wall mode has been stabilized [Fig. 2.3.1-1(a)]. As the rotation slows, these plasmas are typically terminated by an m=3, n=1 mode which has a growth time of 2-8 ms and a real frequency  $\omega \sim \tau_{\rm w}^{-1}$ , as expected for a resis-



Fig. 2.3.1–1. Time evolution of a wall-stabilized DIII–D discharge (92544). (a) Normalized beta, bN=b(aB/I) and neutral beam power. (b) Plasma rotation frequency from charge exchange recombination spectroscopy at two radial locations, and the Br amplitude of the non-rotating n=1 mode from the saddle loop array.

tive wall mode. The mode typically begins to grow as the plasma rotation at the q=3 surface decreases below 1-2 kHz, consistent with a loss of rotational stabilization [Fig. 2.3.1–1(b)].

In many cases, temperature profiles measured with electron cyclotron emission show an ideal-like mode structure, without islands (Fig. 2.3.1–2), as expected for an ideal kink mode which has lost its wall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Strait, E.J., A.M. Garofalo, M.E. Austin, et al., "Observation and Control of Resistive Wall Modes," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22994 (1998).

stabilization. The broad displacement of the  $T_e$  profile in Fig. 2.3.1–2 is consistent with a global kink mode structure, and the radial displacement of ~1 cm in the outer part of the profile is consistent with the measured mode amplitude of ~50 G at the wall. By itself, a single  $T_e$  profile measurement cannot conclusively rule out the existence of an island. However, in this and other discharges, the outer portion of the  $T_e$  profile rises or falls consistent with an ideal MHD mode structure, given the toroidal phase inferred from magnetic measurements. The temperature perturbation profile agrees well with predictions by the GATO stability code. The growth of a stationary mode in the presence of significant plasma rotation also indicates the absence of islands. (In some cases, electron cyclotron emission and beam emission spectroscopy measurements do show evidence of stationary island formation, but at beta below the ideal no-wall limit.)

**Rotational Stabilization.** Plasma rotation is one possible means for long time-scale stabilization by a resistive wall. Vacuum field measurements show that the DIII–D vacuum vessel wall penetration time for an imposed n=1 radial magnetic field can be approximated by a 2-pole response with time constants of 7 ms and 1–3 ms. This agrees well with calculations using the SPARK 3D electromagnetic code which show that the time constant for the lowest n=1 eigenmode of the DIII–D vacuum vessel is about 5.8 ms, followed by about 3 ms for the next eigenmodes. Stabilization for longer times in the experiment indicates that plasma rotation is important.

The existence of a critical rotation frequency for stabilization is clearly demonstrated by a series of reproducible discharges in which the rotation rate was modified through magnetic braking by an applied magnetic error field. As the magnetic braking field was increased [Fig. 2.3.1-3(a)], the plasma rotation decelerated more rapidly, and the onset of the resistive wall mode occurred earlier, corresponding to a fixed value of the rotation [Fig. 2.3.1-3(b)].

The experimental data allow us to distinguish at least qualitatively between predicted mechanisms for stabilization. The observed critical rotation frequency  $\Omega = 2\pi f \sim 10^4 \text{ s}^{-1}$  at the q=3 surface disagrees with



Fig. 2.3.1–2. Electron temperature profiles from electron cyclotron emission before (broken line) and during (solid line) the growth of a resistive wall mode (96519). Magnetic data indicates that the maximum inward displacement at the plasma edge is near the toroidal location of the ECE diagnostic.



Fig. 2.3.1–3. Three discharges with varying amounts of magnetic braking (96514, 96518, 96515). (a) C–coil current applying an n=1 magnetic perturbation. (b) Plasma rotation frequency at the q=3 surface. The onset time of the resistive wall mode in each discharge is shown by a vertical line. The inferred critical rotation frequency is shown as a horizontal shaded band.

the predictions  $\Omega \sim \tau_w^{-1} \leq 3 \times 10^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$  of theories which include driven islands, and  $\Omega \sim \tau_A^{-1} > 10^6 \text{ s}^{-1}$  of ideal MHD theory. The agreement is somewhat better with predictions  $\Omega \sim 0.05 \tau_A^{-1} \sim 10^5 \text{ s}^{-1}$  of theories where the ideal mode is stabilized by dissipation which occurs through coupling to sound waves. The observed critical rotation speed is typically at least 10% of the ion acoustic speed, and thus may be consistent with coupling to sound waves.

We speculate that the much more rapid central rotation of  $\Omega \sim 1-2 \times 10^5$  s<sup>-1</sup> could also contribute to stabilization. Sound wave coupling and dissipation occur at resonant surfaces, and strong shaping and toroidicity couple poloidal modes so that all integer q surfaces are important in this global *n*=1 instability. To date, the discharges which significantly exceed the no-wall beta limit have  $q_{min} < 2$ , placing the q=2 surface in a region of strong rotation (Fig. 2.3.1–1, for example). Discharges with  $q_{min} > 2$  and hence no q=2 surface tend to have a resistive wall mode onset at lower beta and larger rotation, indicating that rotational stabilization is less effective. The discharges in Fig. 2.3.1–3, for example, have  $q_{min} \approx 2.3$  and develop an RWM at  $\beta_N \sim 2.2$  with a rotation frequency greater than 6 kHz.

The plasma rotation is observed to gradually slow in discharges which exceed the no-wall limit, eventually leading to loss of rotational stabilization as in Fig. 2.3.1–1. Comparison of timing in several discharges shows that this slowing does not correlate with the presence of rotating MHD activity, the Hmode transition, or the onset of ELMs. Possible explanations include electromagnetic drag due to a resistive wall mode saturated at small amplitude or drag due to the continuum resonances of a stable resistive wall mode [3]. Further experimental and theoretical work is needed to determine whether this represents an inherent problem for rotational stabilization.

Active Control. The slow growth and rotation of the resistive wall mode should permit active feedback stabilization by non-axisymmetric coils outside the vacuum vessel, without the need for plasma rotation. Active suppression of resistive wall modes may also help to maintain rotation. Several approaches have been proposed, including the "smart shell" [10,11] where the feedback control is designed to maintain a net zero change in radial magnetic field at the resistive wall, and the "fake rotating shell" [12] in which a phase shift applied to the response mimics the effect of a rotating wall. These schemes will be tested in active control experiments which are planned for DIII–D, initially using the existing error field coil (C–coil). A set of six midplane saddle loops for mode detection have recently been installed, matched in geometry to the six toroidal segments of the C–coil.

A preliminary experiment in open-loop control has been performed, with encouraging results for feedback control experiments. A series of discharges was established having a resistive wall mode at a reproducible onset time and spatial phase. Then the C-coil was programmed to produce a static n=1 magnetic perturbation with a spatial phase opposing the mode, beginning at the anticipated onset time. (The lack of bipolar power supplies required this n=1 perturbation to be superimposed on a constant n=3 bias field; other experiments established that this n=3 field has no detectable effect on plasma stability.) As seen in Fig. 2.3.1–4, in the stabilized discharge the electron temperature, beta, and plasma rotation hesitate at the anticipated onset time, then continue at constant or increasing values. In contrast, these parameters decrease rapidly in the comparison shot without the stabilizing n=1 field. These results suggest that the resistive wall mode was stabilized by the opposing n=1 field. Although complicated by the rapid-ly changing applied fields, analysis of the saddle loop data indicates that the instability was delayed by at least 20 ms.



Fig. 2.3.1–4. Comparison of a discharge with a static n=1 perturbation applied to oppose the resistive wall mode (gray, upper curves, discharge 96633) and a discharge without the perturbation (solid, lower curves, discharge 96625). (a) Electron temperature near the q=3 surface. (b) Normalized beta. (c) C-coil current. (The non-zero dc level represents an n=3 bias field.) (d) Plasma rotation frequency at the q=3 surface.

Closed-loop feedback experiments in the near future will be aimed at comparing control algorithms and demonstrating improved stability. New bipolar power supplies to be procured in 1999 and 2000 will increase the power available for feedback stabilization. Numerical modeling with the VALEN 3D electromagnetic code [13] indicates that feedback stabilization using the existing 6-segment C-coil can produce a measurable (~20%) increase in beta over the no-wall limit. Modeling also shows that an extension of the C-coil with additional segments above and below the midplane can double the margin over the nowall stability limit by allowing better coupling to the helical mode structure. Experimental validation of the models with the existing midplane coil set will provide support for the design of the extended coil set.

**Summary.** DIII–D experiments have shown that a resistive wall can stabilize a rotating plasma at beta values well above the ideal no-wall limit, for durations much longer than the resistive wall penetration time for n=1 magnetic fields. The predicted resistive wall mode has been observed as the plasma rotation decreases below a critical value of a few kHz, and the ideal structure of the mode has been confirmed. The critical rotation frequency for stabilization may be consistent with theories which include dissipation by coupling to sound waves to provide stabilization in the absence of islands. Long-duration sustainment of wall-stabilized plasmas has been hindered by a

slowing of rotation as beta exceeds the no-wall limit. We conjecture that the slowing may result from drag caused by a small-amplitude resistive wall mode or by continuum resonances of the stabilized resistive wall mode. Modeling predicts that feedback stabilization using non-axisymmetric coils can provide a significant increase over the no-wall beta limit. In a preliminary open-loop experiment, the onset of the resistive wall mode was postponed for several wall penetration times, an encouraging result for closed-loop feedback experiments.

#### **References for Section 2.3.1**

- [1] MANICKAM, J., et al., Phys. Plasmas 1, 1601 (1994).
- [2] TAYLOR, T.S., et al., Plasma Phys. Contr. Fusion **36**, B229 (1994).
- [3] TURNBULL, A.D., et al., Proc. 17th Int. Fusion Energy Conf. (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997) Vol. II, p. 509.
- [4] BONDESON, A., and WARD, D.J., Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 2709 (1994); WARD, D.J., and BONDES-ON, A., Phys. Plasmas 2, 1570 (1995).

- [5] CHU, M.S., et al., Phys. Plasmas 2, 2236 (1995).
- [6] FINN, J.M., Phys. Plasmas 2, 198 (1995).
- [7] BOOZER, A.H., Phys. Plasmas 2, 4521 (1995); Phys. Plasmas 3, 4620 (1996).
- [8] TAYLOR, T.S., et al., Phys. Plasmas 2, 2390 (1995).
- [9] GAROFALO, A.M., et al., "Resistive Wall Mode in a Tokamak and Its Interaction with Plasma Rotation," submitted to Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22985 (1999).
- [10] BISHOP, C.M., Plasma Phys. Contr. Fusion 31, 1179 (1989).
- [11] JENSEN, T.H. and FITZPATRICK, R., Phys. Plasmas 4, 2997 (1997).
- [12] FITZPATRICK, R. and JENSEN, T.H., Phys. Plasmas 3, 2641 (1996).
- [13] BIALEK, J., et al., Bull Am. Phys. Soc. 43 (1998), Division of Plasma Physics Conf., Abstract K6Q-29; BOOZER, A.M., Phys. Plasmas 5, 3350 (1998).

## 2.3.2. EFFECTS OF PLASMA SHAPE AND PROFILES ON EDGE STABILITY IN DIII-D<sup>8</sup>

One of the major goals of advanced tokamak research is to develop plasma configurations with good confinement and improved stability at high  $\beta$ . In DIII–D, high performance discharges with a high confinement edge and various plasma shapes and current profiles have been produced. All these discharges exhibit enhanced confinement in the plasma edge region, leading to a large edge pressure gradient P' and bootstrap current density  $J_{BS}$ . These edge conditions typically drive edge instabilities which terminate the discharge high performance phase, often accompanied by a permanent loss of the discharge internal transport barrier. An improved understanding of these edge instabilities is essential to optimize and sustain the discharge performance. Furthermore, the performance of future tokamak devices such as ITER is sensitive to the magnitude of the edge pressure pedestal, which is limited by edge instabilities. An improved understanding of the edge provide a more accurate prediction of the performance of future tokamak devices.

Edge instabilities often appear as cycles of edge localized mode (ELM) [1,2] with varying amplitude and frequency depending on the edge conditions, the power loss from the core, and the plasma shape. The effect of ELMs on the discharge performance varies with the ELM amplitude and frequency. An ELM of large amplitude can substantially degrade the plasma performance and result in large energy flux to the divertor. One of the major issues facing advanced tokamak research is the control of edge P' and  $J_{BS}$ which drive these instabilities. In this paper, the results of recent experimental and theoretical studies concerning the effects of plasma shape and current and pressure profiles on edge instabilities in DIII–D are presented. Here, we explore the use of plasma shape as a means to control the edge P' and  $J_{BS}$ , as well as a means to improve our understanding of these instabilities. Since these instabilities are sensitive to details of edge P' and  $J_{BS}$ , most of the studies make use of the recently upgraded 35-channel Motional Stark Effect (MSE) current profile diagnostic [3] and recent improvements to our equilibrium and stability analysis tools to allow a more definite comparison with theory.

In DIII–D discharges with moderate squareness, prior to the first giant type I ELM, magnetic oscillations with toroidal mode number  $n \approx 2-9$  and a fast growth time  $\gamma^{-1} = 20-150 \,\mu\text{s}$  are often observed. Ideal stability calculations using simulated and experimental equilibria are in general consistent with various observed features of these instabilities. High n ballooning stability results show that the edge region of these discharges is in the second ballooning stability regime, and that the edge P' substantially exceeds the first ballooning stability limit [4]. Low n stability results show that discharges with large edge P' and current density J are more unstable to n > 1 modes [5–7]. These results indicate that edge instabilities may be the outcome of a complex interaction among the high n ballooning modes, the low nkink/ballooning/peeling modes and the edge P' and J. The results also suggest that the large edge P' and J may be controlled by reducing the ballooning second stability access in the edge, thereby providing a means to control edge instabilities. Indeed, calculations and experimental results show that ELM amplitude and frequency can be varied by controlling access to the ballooning second stability regime at the edge through variation of the squareness of the discharge shape [8-10]. Motivated by these results from the squareness experiments, recent calculations show that a high order local perturbation of the plasma shape in the outboard bad curvature region can also reduce and eliminate second ballooning stability access in the plasma edge region. Since the perturbation is local, these configurations tend to retain many of the favorable low *n* stability property of Dee-shaped plasmas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, R.L. Miller, et al., "Effects of Plasma Shape and Profiles on Edge Stability in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22993 (1998).

In Section 2, the general features of edge instabilities are introduced together with a discussion of magnetic fluctuations. The role of edge P' and current density J on high n ballooning and moderate n kink/ballooning/ peeling modes is discussed in Section 3. This is followed by a discussion of the effects of plasma shaping on ELMs in Section 4. A discussion and a summary is given in Section 5.

Edge Instabilities and Magnetic Fluctuations. The performance of DIII–D discharges with a high confinement edge is typically limited by edge instabilities. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2–1, where the time evolution of an H–mode discharge is shown. This discharge carries a plasma current I<sub>P</sub> of 1.9 MA and has a vacuum toroidal magnetic field B<sub>T</sub> of 2.1 T at the vacuum vessel center. To produce a negative central magnetic shear, up to 14.5 MW of neutral beam power P<sub>B</sub> is injected into the plasma during the current ramp up phase. The discharge makes a transition into the H–mode phase at 1.58 s, as can be seen by the rapid increase in the edge electron temperature T<sub>e</sub> near  $\rho \approx 0.9$  shown in Fig. 2.3.2–1(b). The normalized toroidal beta  $\beta_N$  increases to 2.5 and remains at that value as P<sub>B</sub> is reduced from 14.5 MW to 12.1 MW. At 1.876 s, a giant type I ELM occurs as shown by the spikes in the divertor D<sub> $\alpha$ </sub> radiation and the outboard mid-plane Mirnov signal given in Figs. 2.3.2–1(b) and 2.3.2–1(c), respectively. The giant ELM causes a rapid drop of the edge T<sub>e</sub> and a decrease in the global  $\beta_N$ . As subsequent ELMs occur , the edge T<sub>e</sub> and  $\beta_N$  continue to decrease. The magnetic oscillation which initiates the giant type I ELM has a toroidal mode number  $n \approx 5$  and a fast growth time  $\gamma^{-1} \approx 150 \ \mu s$ .



Fig. 2.3.2–1. Time evolution of DIII–D H–mode discharge 87099. (a) Plasma current and injected neutral beam power; (b) edge electron temperature near  $\rho \approx 0.9$  and divertor  $D_{\alpha}$  radiation; (c) normalized toroidal beta and Mirnov oscillation in the outboard midplane region.

These type I ELMs and edge instabilities have been observed in DIII–D H– and VH–mode discharges with various poloidal cross sections including single- and double-null divertors, Dee and crescent shapes. Prior to the first giant type I ELM, magnetic oscillations with toroidal mode number  $n \approx 2-9$  are often observed. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2–2. All these discharges have broad pressure profiles and moderate amount of squareness in the plasma shape. The magnetic precursors are localized poloidally in the bad curvature region as well as toroidally with a fast growth time  $\gamma^{-1}=20-150 \ \mu s$  [5,11]. They usually rotate in the electron diamagnetic drift direction, which is consistent with a location near the plasma edge where the  $E \times B$  drift is dominated by the diamagnetic drift associated with the large edge P'. They have been observed in discharges with various current profiles and over a wide range of  $\beta_N = 2.0-5.0$ . The attainable beta values decrease with the fraction of plasma current contained in the edge region [7] and are consistent



Fig. 2.3.2–2. Magnetic precursors and radial electron temperature profiles before (dashed) and after (solid) an edge instability for (a) a double-null divertor discharge, (b) a crescent-shaped discharge, and (c) a lower single-null divertor discharge.

with the previously observed operational beta limit of  $\beta_N \approx 4 \ell_i$  [12,13]. As shown in Figs. 2.3.2–2(a–c), the instabilities can have global effects, ranging from a slight decrease of edge T<sub>e</sub> with a saturation of  $\beta_N$ , to a drop of T<sub>e</sub> across the entire plasma with a decrease in  $\beta_N$ . The transport barriers observed in VH–mode and negative central magnetic shear discharges are usually destroyed. These moderate to low *n* edge instabilities have many features similar to the outer modes observed in the hot-ion H–mode in JET [14]. However, the outer modes observed in JET generally have n = 1, whereas in DIII–D modes with n = 2–9 are observed. After this first giant ELM, the discharge usually evolves into a quasi-stationary phase at similar or lower  $\beta_N$  values. The low to moderate n = 2–9 magnetic perturbations are rarely observed during this phase. Modes with n > 9 are difficult to resolve with the existing DIII–D magnetic probes, which suggests that these later ELMs may be driven by edge instabilities with significantly higher *n*.

Localized reflectometer measurements of density fluctuations at the outboard mid-plane show that the magnetic precursors coincide with, or in some cases are preceded by, bursts of increased density perturbation localized to the plasma edge. In cases where a radial propagation can be discerned, the perturbation initiates in the high pressure gradient edge region, and propagates outward into the scrape-off layer.

Role of P' and J in High *n* Ballooning and Moderate *n* Modes. High *n* ballooning stability analyses show that prior to the onset of the edge instabilities the discharges often have access to the second ballooning stability regime in the outer edge region and the edge P' substantially exceeds the first ballooning stability limit. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2–3 for a double-null and a lower single-null divertor discharge. The equilibria used in the stability analysis are fully reconstructed from equilibrium analysis using external magnetic data, MSE data, kinetic profile data, and the EFIT code [15]. Stability to the high *n* ballooning modes is evaluated using the BALOO code [16], which now employs a local equilibrium representation [17]. As shown in Figs. 2.3.2–3(a) and 3(b), the double-null divertor discharge, which has



Fig. 2.3.2–3. Ideal ballooning stability of two DIII–D H–mode discharges 87099 at 1750 ms and 95953 at 2056 ms showing the edge regions have second ballooning stability access.

magnetic precursor prior to the first giant ELM [Fig. 2.3.2–2(a)], has a much larger edge P' and a much wider edge second ballooning regime access than the lower single-null divertor discharge which has a  $n \approx$  9 magnetic precursor [Fig. 2.3.2–2(c)]. Access to the second ballooning stability regime in the outer edge is necessary to allow buildup of a large edge P' often observed in the DIII–D H– and VH–mode discharges. The radial extent of the region with second ballooning stability access depends on the plasma shape and the edge J. An increase in the edge J<sub>BS</sub> due to an increase in the edge P' will lead to a further opening of the second ballooning stability zone, in turn allowing a further increase in the edge P' and J<sub>BS</sub>. Similar results on ballooning stability have also been reported in Ref. 18. The effects of the plasma shaping on the ballooning stability will be discussed in the next section.

Results of low *n* stability analyses using simulated and experimental equilibria are consistent with various observed features of the experiments and show that equilibria with broad pressure profiles and large edge P' and J are more unstable to modes with n > 1. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2–4 for a



Fig. 2.3.2–4. (a) Equilibrium flux surface and radial profile of pressure gradient used in the low *n* stability analysis, (b) variation of external radial width of unstable modes with the width of the large edge P' region, (c) radial structure of a *n*=3 unstable mode.

sequence of simulated equilibria based on the experimental discharge shown in Fig. 2.3.2–1 but with a simpler pressure gradient profile that has the shape of a step function [Fig. 2.3.2–4(a)]. The stability to the ideal n = 1–3 modes is evaluated using the GATO code [19] with a conducting wall at the surrounding vacuum vessel. As the radial width of the large edge P' region  $\delta \Psi_{P'}$  is increased, the n = 3 modes become unstable first. These unstable modes are kink/ballooning modes with a large peeling component. With a further increase in  $\delta \Psi_{P'}$ , the *n* = 2 modes then become unstable. As shown in Fig. 2.3.2–4(c), the radial structure of the unstable modes exhibits a large peeling component in the edge. As expected, the external radial width of the unstable modes  $\delta \Psi_{mode}$  increases with  $\delta \Psi_{P'}$ . The *n* = 1 modes are stable in all cases. These low *n* =2,3 modes are driven by both the edge P' and J [5,6].

Effects of Plasma Shaping on ELMs. The effects of plasma shaping on edge instabilities and ELMs are considered in this section. Theoretical calculations suggest that second ballooning stability access in the

outer edge region is reduced at low and high squareness [8]. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2–5, where the edge current density (normalized to the collisionless bootstrap current at the edge) required to gain second stability access in the plasma edge as a function of the squareness of the plasma shape is shown. With  $C_{boot} =$  $(J/J_{BS})|_{edge} = 1$  the current density needed to gain access is the bootstrap current density based on the collisionless model [20], with  $C_{boot} = 0$  no current density is required. As shown in Fig. 2.3.2-5, at low and high squareness C<sub>boot</sub> becomes greater than 1 suggesting that second ballooning stability access is more difficult at these squareness values. The calculations are done using self-consistent pressure and bootstrap current density profiles. This reduction of second ballooning stability access is due to the increased weighting of the magnetic field lines in the outboard bad curvature region at high or low squareness.



Fig. 2.3.2–5. Collisionless bootstrap current multiplier  $C_{boot} = (J/J_{BS})/edge$  required to gain second stability access in the plasma edge region varies with the squareness of the plasma shape,  $R(\theta) = R_0 + a \cos[\theta + \sin^{-1} (\delta \sin \theta)]$ ,  $Z(\theta) = \kappa a \sin[\theta + \delta_2 \sin 2\theta]$ .

Consistent with the results from the theoretical calculations, experimental results show that ELM amplitude and frequency can be varied by controlling access to the second ballooning stability regime at the edge through variation of the squareness of the discharge shape [9]. This is illustrated in Figs. 2.3.2–6 and 2.3.2–7 where the ELM frequency and amplitude as indicated by the divertor  $D_{\alpha}$  radiation frequency and the change in edge  $T_e$  at various values of the squareness of the plasma shape are compared. As shown in Fig. 2.3.2–6, the plasma shape is rectangle-like at high squareness and triangle-like at low squareness. At low and high squareness the ELM frequency is strongly increased. The effects of the ELMs on the edge  $T_e$  are compared in Fig. 2.3.2–7. At high squareness, the ELM amplitudes are strongly reduced and there is no detectable change in the edge  $T_e$ . The ELM behavior at low squareness (not shown) is similar. The ballooning stability boundary of the high squareness discharge is also compared to



Fig. 2.3.2–6. Comparison of divertor  $D_{\alpha}$  signals for three DIII–D discharges with (a) moderate squareness, (b) low squareness, and (c) high squareness.



Fig. 2.3.2–7. Comparison of ideal ballooning stability, divertor  $D_{\alpha}$  signals, and edge electron temperatures for a high squareness and a moderate squareness discharge. Arrows show time of stability calculations.

that of the moderate squareness discharge in Fig. 2.3.2–7. At high squareness, access to the ballooning second stability regime is eliminated.

The results from the squareness experiments show that edge instabilities can be controlled by limiting the edge P' and J through elimination of the second ballooning stability access in the edge region. Motivated by these results, calculations have been carried out to evaluate the effects of a local perturbation of the plasma shape on the outboard bad curvature region on the ballooning stability. The results show that such a high order local perturbation of the plasma shape can also reduce and eliminate second ballooning stability access in the edge region. This is illustrated in Fig. 2.3.2-8. As the perturbation in the outboard region is increased, the second ballooning stability access is reduced and then eliminated. Since the perturbation is local, many of the favorable low *n* stability properties of Dee-shaped plasmas are also retained. Thus, localized shape perturbations may provide a means of obtaining plasmas with good overall  $\beta$  stability but with small benign ELMs. New experiments are being proposed in DIII-D to test the idea.



Fig. 2.3.2–8. Comparison of the ideal ballooning stability boundary for three simulated equilibria with (a) no perturbation of the plasma shape in the outboard bad curvature region, (b) moderate perturbation, and (c) large perturbation.

**Discussion and Summary.** As shown in the previous sections, the performance of DIII–D H– and VH–mode discharges are limited by edge instabilities driven by the large edge P' and J. Low to moderate n = 2-9 magnetic precursors are often observed prior to the first giant type I ELM. Ideal stability analyses suggest that discharges with large edge P' and J are more unstable to n > 1 modes as observed experimentally and that second ballooning stability access enhances the instabilities by facilitating the development of large edge P' and J. The observed edge instabilities cannot be explained by a simple picture of instability to the high *n* ideal ballooning modes. Rather, the experimental and theoretical results suggest that they may be the outcome of a complex interaction among the high *n* ballooning modes, the intermediate to low *n* kink/ballooning/peeling modes, the edge P', and the edge J. The results from the squareness experiments show that plasma shaping can provide an useful means to control edge instabilities.

#### **References for Section 2.3.2**

- [1] ZOHM, H., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion 38, 105 (1996).
- [2] CONNOR, J.W., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion 40, 531 (1998).
- [3] RICE, B.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 2694 (1997).
- [4] OSBORNE, T.H., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 24<sup>th</sup> European Conf., Berchesgaden, 1997), Vol. 21A, Part III, EPS (1997) p. 1101.
- [5] STRAIT, E.J., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 20<sup>th</sup> European Conf., Lisbon, 1993), Vol. 17C, Part I, EPS (1993) p. 211.
- [6] FERRON, J.R., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 21<sup>st</sup> European Conf., Monpellier, 1994), Vol. 18B, Part I, EPS (1994) p. 86
- [7] LAO, L.L., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 24<sup>th</sup> European Conf., Berchesgaden, 1997), Vol. 21A, Part III, EPS (1997) p. 1117.
- [8] MILLER, R.L., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion 40, 753 (1998).
- [9] FERRON, J.R., et al., "Modification of Tokamak Edge Instability Character Through Control of Ballooning Mode Second Stability Regime Accessibility," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22974 (to be printed).
- [10] TURNBULL, A.D., et al., "Improved MHD Stability through Optimization of Higher Order Moments in Cross-Section Shape of Tokamaks," submitted to Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA-A22943 (1998).
- [11] STRAIT, E.J., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1783 (1997).
- [12] TAYLOR, T.S., et al., in Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research (Proc. 13<sup>th</sup> International Conf., Washington, D.C., 1990), IAEA, Vienna, 1991, Vol. 1, p. 177.
- [13] STRAIT, E.J., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 18<sup>th</sup> European Conf., Berlin, 1991), Vol. 15C, Part II, EPS (1991) p. 105.
- [14] HENDER, T.C., et al., in Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (Proc. 24<sup>th</sup> European Conf., Berchesgaden, 1997), Vol. 21A, Part I, EPS (1997) p. 29.
- [15] LAO, L.L., et al., Nucl. Fusion **30**, 1035 (1990).
- [16] MILLER, R.L., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1062 (1997).
- [17] BISHOP, C.M., et al., Nucl. Fusion 24, 1579 (1984).
- [18] HUBBARD, A.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 1744 (1998).
- [19] BERNARD, L.C., et al., Comput. Phys. Commun. 24, 377 (1981).
- [20] HIRSHMAN, S.P., Phys. Fluids **31**, 3150 (1988).

## 2.3.3. DISRUPTION MITIGATION STUDIES IN DIII-D<sup>9</sup>

During a tokamak disruption, the rapid and complete loss of the thermal and magnetic energy result in high thermal and electromagnetic loads on the vessel and internal components and sometimes generate intense high energy runaway electron beams [1–4]. Critical to the tokamak concept along with the operation of future devices, is the development of techniques to terminate the discharge safely and mitigate the destructive effects of disruptions. A disruption in the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (ITER) [5] could result in the rapid loss of 1 GJ of energy leading to damage and reduced lifetime of the first wall of the vessel [5]. Research on the DIII–D [6] tokamak and elsewhere has shown that some of these disruption phenomena are highly nonaxisymmetric, giving rise to local thermal and electromagnetic loads that are much higher than the average [1,7–14]. In a series of dedicated disruption experiments described here, further data have been obtained on the thermal loads to the first wall, the structure and amplitude of the halo currents, and runaway electrons. Major disruptions and vertical displacement events (VDEs) have been investigated and techniques to mitigate the disruptions while minimizing runaway electron production have also been evaluated.

The results presented here extend the work previously reported [7–10,15–16]. The paper is organized as follows: the disruption phenomenology is discussed in Section II, the halo current data and modeling results are reported in Section III, the results of mitigation experiments on DIII–D are reported in Section IV, and the summary and conclusions are presented in Section V.

**Disruption Phenomenology.** Disruption experiments on DIII–D were performed in deuterium discharges, typically lower single-null divertors with plasma current  $I_p = 1-1.5$  MA, toroidal field B = 1.8-2.1 T, major radius R = 1.7 m, minor radius 0.6 m, and elongation 1.2–1.8. Deuterium neutral beam heating was generally used.

Disruptions, including the experiments performed here, can generally be divided into one of two basic categories: major disruptions and VDEs that lead to a disruption. These two types differ in the sequence of disruption events. In a major disruption, the plasma first becomes unstable due to reaching an operational limit, such as a density limit or beta limit, that leads to the growth of a large magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) mode. The large MHD causes a loss of nested confinement surfaces. The thermal energy is rapidly lost (thermal quench) and the current profile flattens causing a drop in the plasma inductance and a corresponding spike up in the current. Finally, the high resistivity of the cold plasma results in a rapid decay of the plasma current (current quench). Frequently, as a consequence of the change in the current profile, the plasma energy, and the plasma radial position, the vertical position in a major disruption is lost after the thermal quench. In a VDE, the results are similar but the sequence is different. The first event is a loss of the vertical position, and the plasma moves vertically with the cross section and edge safety factor, q, decreasing as the plasma scrapes off against the first wall. The plasma then disrupts: the thermal quench occurs (typically, there is no current spike) followed by the current quench. Most of the experiments reported here were performed using VDEs because of the ability to reproducibly trigger the disruption to occur at a time where the diagnostics are optimized. Disruption effects evaluated include the current decay rate, the halo current, the halo current toroidal asymmetry, the power radiated, and the heat flux to the first wall. The two major effects investigated and mitigated in these experiments are the halo currents and the heat flux.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Taylor, P.L., "Disruption Mitigation Studies in DIII–D," presented at 40th Annual Meeting American Physical Society, Division of Plasma Physics, November 16–20, 1998, New Orleans, Louisiana, to be published in Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA–A23019 (1999).

Halo currents are currents generated during the disruption that flow along open field lines surrounding the plasma, in what is known as the "halo" region, and return poloidally through the vessel [1,9–10]. Large forces on the vessel components can result when these poloidal halo currents interact with the toroidal field. Note that the toroidal halo currents do not contribute to forces on the vessel since they do not flow in the vessel wall. A number of experiments have also observed significant toroidal asymmetries [7,11–12] in the halo currents that can result in concentrated local forces larger than the average. The halo current measured on DIII–D for a typical triggered VDE [Fig. 2.3.3–1(b)] reaches ~20% of the predisruption plasma current [7]. The halo current is toroidally asymmetric and the degree of asymmetry is quantified in terms of the toroidal peaking factor (TPF) which is defined as the ratio of the peak of the toroidal current distribution to the toroidally averaged value. The time dependence of the TPF is also shown in Fig. 2.3.3–1 for two halo current monitoring arrays in the divertor floor at different major radii. Note that at the time of peak halo current, the TPF is reduced. Results from a number of DIII–D experiments show that at the time of peak halo current, TPFs approaching 3 are seen and halo currents range up to 35% of the initial plasma current.

The second disruption effect of interest is the heat flux. Detailed measurements of the heat flux to the divertor floor in DIII–D and the energy flow across a closed surface surrounding the plasma have been previously reported [8,15–16]. The stored thermal energy is lost during the thermal quench via radiation

and conduction while the stored magnetic energy is lost during the current quench largely by radiation. For three disruptions, a VDE, a high beta disruption, and a disruption due to a large injection of argon gas an energy balance can account for the total energy loss during the disruption to within 15%. The energy input to the disruption (Fig. 2.3.3-2) includes the initial stored thermal energy and magnetic energy along with the energy added during the disruption by auxiliary neutral beam heating. The energy out includes the energy lost via radiation and conduction during the disruption and the residual magnetic energy at the final analysis time. Note that the initial energy stored in the magnetic field flows into the plasma during the current quench and is lost as radiation.

**Disruption Modeling.** The phenomenology of the axisymmetric component of the halo current, both its origin and evolution, is now well understood. The halo current time evolution in DIII–D disruptions have been accurately modeled with the DINA code [17], a time-dependent, 1.5-dimensional (1.5-D),



Fig. 2.3.3–1. Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with a neon pellet [(a) discharge 88826] versus an unmitigated VDE [(b) discharge 88810]. Time evolution of plasma current, pellet light, stored thermal energy calculated from equilibrium fitting code, the total poloidal halo current and TPF of the halo current measured by divertor floor toroidal arrays at major radius R = 1.08 m, 1.20 m (dotted).

axisymmetric, resistive MHD and transport plasma simulation code. A simple analytic model, however, can be used to describe and explain the halo currents [18]. This model simulates the plasma and halo interaction via a simple circuit equation:

$$L_h \frac{dI_h^{\text{tor}}}{dt} + R_h I_h^{\text{tor}} = -M_{hp} \frac{dI_p^{\text{core}}}{dt} - \frac{1}{q_h} \frac{d\phi_h}{dt}$$

where  $I_h^{tor}$  is the toroidal halo current (current on open field lines);  $I_p^{core}$  the core plasma current (current contained within the last closed flux surface);  $\phi_h$  the toroidal flux linked by the halo current;  $L_h$ ,  $R_h$ , and  $q_h$  are the effective inductance, resistance, and safety factor of the halo region; and  $M_{hp}$  the mutual inductance between the core and halo plas-

mas. The toroidal currents in the halo are induced by the decay of the toroidal core plasma current and by changes in the enclosed toroidal flux (i.e., changes in the plasma geometry). The model shows that the transfer of toroidal current from the core to the halo depends on the characteristics of the halo and core plasmas during the disruption. The toroidal halo current is approximately proportional to the ratio of the core current decay rate to the halo current decay rate which is, in turn, proportional to the ratio of the core-to-halo resistivities (lower temperature halos have lower halo currents). The model also shows that in VDEs, the vertical instability is a factor with the halo current proportional to the ratio of the vertical instability growth rate to the core current decay rate  $(\gamma_z/\gamma_p)$ . While the current decay drives toroidal halo current, a poloidal cur-



Fig. 2.3.3–2. Energy balance accounting of the energy input to the disruption (IN), which includes initial stored thermal energy, initial magnetic energy, and energy input during the disruption from auxiliary heating, versus the energy lost during the disruption (OUT) which includes radiation and conduction losses and the residual magnetic energy at the final analysis time. Results for three types of disruptions: VDE, high beta, and argon gas puff.

rent is also produced since in the halo region the plasma is force free ( $\nabla p = J \times B \sim 0$ ) and the current flows along the open field lines. From the force-free constraint, a simple relation between the poloidal and toroidal halo currents can be derived showing they are proportional and related by the q of the field lines  $(I_h^{pol} = I_h^{tor}/q)$  [18]. An experimental scan of the vertical instability growth rate  $\gamma_z$  was performed by varying the plasma beta and elongation. The poloidal halo current increases with  $\gamma_z$  and the model predictions are in good agreement with both the experimental measurements of the peak halo current (Fig. 2.3.3–3) and with the time history measurement of the halo current in DIII–D VDEs [8,18]. The relation  $(I_h^{pol} = I_h^{tor}/q)$  shows that high poloidal halo currents can arise when the edge q is low. To understand this evolution of the poloidal halo current, we examine VDE discharges in two regimes,  $\gamma_z/\gamma_p < 1$  and  $\gamma_z/\gamma_p > 1$  (Fig. 2.3.3–4). When  $\gamma_z$  is large [Fig. 2.3.3–4(b)], the cross section decreases faster than the core current decay causing the edge safety factor q (q ~  $a^2/I_p$ , *a* the plasma minor radius) to decrease and thus the poloidal halo current to be larger. As we shall see, reduction of the poloidal halo currents results



Fig. 2.3.3–3. Halo current versus vertical instability growth rate with fixed current decay rate as experimentally measured and predicted by a model.



Fig. 2.3.3–4. Comparison of two VDE discharges with a ratio of  $\gamma_z/\gamma_p < 1$  [(a) discharge 90204] and  $\gamma_z/\gamma_p > 1$  [(b) discharge 90219]. Time evolution of vertical position, total toroidal current, core toroidal current (dashed), halo toroidal current (dotted), edge safety factor q, and total poloidal halo current.

from keeping q large so that the poloidal halo current is reduced.

**Disruption Mitigation Results.** The deleterious effects of disruptions, i.e., large halo currents and heat fluxes along with large toroidal asymmetries, require methods to reduce these effects. Experiments on DIII-D that have successfully mitigated disruptions include injection of impurity "killer" pellets of neon and argon and injection of a massive gas puff of helium. Solid pellets of neon and argon with sizes of 1.7, 2.8, and 4 mm were injected with a typical velocity of 500 m/s using a pneumatic injector [19] and penetrated to a normalized radius  $\rho = r/a$  (r the minor radius) between  $0.2 < \rho < 0.5$ . The massive gas puff of helium was accomplished using a fast acting valve developed for the DIII-D pellet injector propellant [20]. The valve mounted 0.5 m from the plasma edge somewhat above the midplane connects a 300 ml reservoir filled to 1000 psi with helium directly to the tokamak. A 10-ms wide gas burst is produced with an average flow rate of  $4 \times 10^5$  Tl/s compared to a typical discharge gas fueling rate of ~70 T-l/s; a total of ~3400 T-l of helium is injected.

The pellet injection phenomenology was described previously along with initial mitigation results [8]. Experiments with neon pellets, argon pellets, or massive helium gas puff reduce the force on the vessel by up to 50% [21]. The mitigation of a VDE by injection of a neon impurity pellet is compared in Fig. 2.3.3-1 to a similar discharge without a pellet. The pellet ablates in  $\sim 0.7$  ms and most of the stored thermal energy is lost during the pellet ablation time. There is a reduction of the poloidal halo current and TPF. Similar behavior is seen in experiments with argon pellets (Fig. 2.3.3-5). Argon, because of its higher Z, is a better radiator and as expected, this results in a faster cooling with lower halo currents. The MHD for both the pelleted and nonpelleted shot locks and a large n = 1 mode appears ( $\delta B/B_T \sim 1\%$ ).

However, the mode growth with the pellet is much more rapid and occurs early in the pellet ablation. Almost all the stored energy is again lost during the pellet ablation time. The pellet reduces the heat flux to the divertor by ~40% and increases the power radiated. The halo current is reduced but for this disruption case, the halo current asymmetry at the time of peak halo current is already relatively low and there is little reduction in the TPF. The experiments with neon and argon pellets have successfully reduced both the halo currents and TPFs and examination of the time history of the signals shows both have been reduced throughout the entire disruption phase.

The mitigation of the axisymmetric poloidal halo current by the pellet is explained by applying the model presented previously to the time evolution of the plasma as shown in Fig. 2.3.3–6 (same neon discharges as in Fig. 2.3.3–1). The pellet injection at 1.718 s occurs before the plasma has moved far off axis, when the cross section is still large, and it triggers the thermal quench within 1 ms followed by the current quench. Although the total current decay with the pellet is slower, the core current decay is faster (1.719 to 1.722 s) than the nonpellet VDE (1.730 to 1.735). The larger minor radius *a* and



Fig. 2.3.3–5. Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with an argon pellet [(a) discharge 90206] versus an unmitigated VDE [(b) discharge 90205]. Time evolution of plasma current, pellet light, poloidal magnetic fluctuation, stored thermal energy (W) calculated from equilibrium fitting code, energy radiated (R) in the time interval represented by each step, the integrated heat to the divertor floor (H), the total poloidal halo current, and the TPF. Note the increased scale for the radiated energy (R) for the unmitigated VDE.

the smaller core plasma current both combine to keep the edge safety factor  $q (q \sim a^2/I_p)$  higher. Thus in the pellet case, although its toroidal halo current is similar to the nonpellet case, the poloidal halo current is reduced.

The rapid and almost complete loss of the stored thermal energy during the pellet ablation occurs even though the pellet is fully ablated before penetrating to the core of the plasma. For the argon pellet injection (Fig. 2.3.3–5), 0. 6 ms after the pellet injection when the ablation of the pellet is complete, the pellet has only penetrated to  $\rho \sim 0.4$  and the stored energy is reduced by 93%. We hypothesize that this energy quench of the plasma inside  $\rho = 0.4$  results from an anomalous rapid transport of the pellet material into the plasma core ahead of the pellet which then causes sufficient impurity radiation to dissipate the plasma's thermal energy [22]. This increased dissipation reduces the heat flux to the divertor. Figure 2.3.3–5 shows a 40% reduction of the integrated heat flux to the divertor.

The results of the impurity pellet injection mitigation experiments have been modeled by a timedependent 1–D code (KPRAD) that includes pellet ablation and impurity radiation [23]. The code calculates the radiation and energy balance during the pellet ablation on each flux surface assuming no radial



Fig. 2.3.3–6. Comparison of a VDE discharge mitigated with a neon pellet [(a) discharge 88826] versus an unmitigated VDE [(b) discharge 88810]. Time evolution of vertical position, soft x-ray, total toroidal current, core toroidal current (dashed), halo toroidal current (dotted), edge safety factor q, and total poloidal halo current measured (solid) and calculated (dotted). The dotted vertical line in (a) marks the pellet injection time.



Fig. 2.3.3–7. Time evolution of the electron temperature (solid) and ion temperature (dotted) during a neon pellet ablation as calculated from the KPRAD code at normalized radii of r/a = 0.5 (for discharge 88806) and r/a = 0.3 (dash-dot). Experimental measurements of the electron temperature (from Thomson scattering) before and after the pellet injection at r/a = 0.3 (circle w cross) and r/a = 0.5 (square). Also shown is a KPRAD code calculation of the electron temperature evolution if the pellet material was argon instead of neon (dashed).

conduction. The time evolution of the electron and ion temperature and the electron density are among

the output results of the code. Figure 2.3.3–7 shows the calculated temperature for a neon pellet discharge. Both the ion and electron temperature decrease in less than 0.1 ms, at  $\rho = 0.5$ . This very rapid cooling is due to the large amount of deposited neon impurity ions (~half the initial electron density). They radiate sufficiently in the lower charge states ( $Z_{neon} < +8$ ) that the electron temperature drops fast enough to halt further ionization of the neon to the less radiative higher charge states [23]. A simulation of the cooling due to this neon pellet with the TSC code, [24] a 2–D time-dependent axisymmetric MHD code, agreed with the KPRAD result when TSC assumed no change in the thermal diffusivity and no radial redistribution of the ablated pellet material. The experimentally measured electron temperatures at  $\rho =$ 0.5 agree with the KPRAD code prediction, but the code does not predict the measured collapse of the central temperature ( $\rho < 0.4$ ) (Fig. 2.3.3–7).

However, the central temperature collapse can be explained by anomalous penetration of the pellet impurity material into the core. Evidence of this anomalous transport includes an increase in the core density within 1 ms of the pellet injection and spectroscopic measurements of pellet material impurity radiation originating in the core. Both the level of the magnetic fluctuations ( $\delta B/B_T \sim 1\%$  in Fig. 2.3.3–5) and their early appearance in the pellet ablation indicate that MHD may be the cause of this anomalous radial transport [22].

Although the impurity pellet successfully mitigates the halo current, TPF, and heat flux it frequently has the undesirable effect of generating runaway electrons. Runaway electrons are evident in bursts or continuous hard x-rays, nonthermal electron cyclotron emission (ECE), and a plateau in the current decay

due to current carried by the runaway electrons (Fig. 2.3.3–8). Signatures from runaway electrons have been observed on all the argon pellet discharges, many of the neon pellet discharges, but none of the nonpellet comparison discharges. The production of runaway electrons cannot be explained by the classical Dreicer runaway mechanism where electrons with energies above a critical energy runaway due to lack of collisions [25-27]. Calculations using the KPRAD code show that the ratio of the critical energy (E<sub>crit</sub>) for runaway generation to the thermal energy  $(T_e)$  of the bulk plasma drops from  $\sim$ 2000 to  $\sim$ 100 during the pellet injection. This results in an insignificant runaway current («1 A/m<sup>2</sup>). The failure of the classical Dreicer runaway electron generation mechanism was also confirmed in a DINA simulation of a discharge with a clear runaway current plateau (Fig. 2.3.3-8). No runaway current was generated in the DINA simulation which included a runaway current model of "Dreicer" acceleration along with a collisional avalanche mechanism [28-29] term to amplify any Dreicer runaway seed current.

Two modifications of the standard Dreicer process can provide the observed runaways. Large temperature and pressure gradients across the pellet ablation region can lead to instabilities and, as part of that mixing process, hot electrons from the core can be dumped into the cold, thermally collapsed plasma. These electrons will have a ratio of  $E_{crit}/T_e \sim 1$  and will run away. The second modified runaway mechanism is due to the rapid cooling caused by the pellet. KPRAD calculations of the cooling rates (for the discharge in Fig. 2.3.3–7), as a



Fig. 2.3.3–8. Time evolution of plasma current, argon pellet ablation light, central soft x-ray radiation, hard x-ray scintillator outside vessel, and RF ECE emission (suffers from density cutoff later in time) for discharge 95180. Evidence of runaway electrons seen after pellet at 1.719 to 1.726 s (times marked by vertical dotted lines).

function of the electron energy, indicate that the cooling time of ~0.03 ms for the bulk electrons is too rapid for the electrons in the tail of the energy distribution function to participate due to the finite collisional coupling times. Test particle calculations with KPRAD show that electrons with energies of 12 times the initial thermal temperature of the bulk plasma or larger will runaway to relativistic energies while electrons with energies of 11 times or less will be cooled [22–23]. A Fokker-Planck code, CQL3D, [30–31 simulation of the discharge in Fig. 2.3.3–7 has also verified this runaway generation mechanism. For the neon pellet, the calculated runaway current density is ~1.1 × 10<sup>5</sup> A/m<sup>2</sup> (compared to the initial current density of ~10<sup>6</sup> A/m<sup>2</sup>). This runaway production mechanism is very sensitive to the cooling time of the bulk electrons. Using a KPRAD simulation for argon instead of neon results in a more rapid cooling



Fig. 2.3.3–9. Massive helium gas puff phenomenology. Plasma current, line density, and average density calculated from the line density along three vertical chords V1, V2, V3 at major radii R = 1.486, 1.942, 2.099 m and 1 horizontal chord at z = 0 m for discharge 96764. Flux plots for four times 1.707 to 1.710 s are also shown with the density chord positions marked. The time the puff valve opens is marked by the arrow.

average density to  $\sim 1 \times 10^{21}$  m<sup>-3</sup> measured along two vertical chords and one horizontal chord initially track (until 1.709 s) indicating that the gas has rapidly penetrated to the center and that the density is uniform across the plasma. One vertical chord (V1), passing through the divertor region, is initially larger than the others indicating a large density in the divertor region until the plasma has limited on the floor after which all the chords give the same density (1.7085 to 1.709 s). Only 10% to 20% of the  $\sim 10^{23}$  helium atoms injected are ionized. Later in time, the average density along the chords, which is calculated assuming all the density is in the plasma core, start to diverge due to significant density in the halo region.

The massive helium gas puff mitigates a VDE (Fig. 2.3.3–10) with a reduction of both the halo current and TPF but shows no evidence of runaway electrons [soft x-ray signal (Fig. 2.3.3–9)]. The heat flux in these ohmic discharges is also significantly reduced by the helium puff but has to be inferred since the direct measurement by the IR camera during the helium puff is precluded by line radiation from the helium in the same region of IR used by the camera. The helium puff results in the radiated power increasing by 45% and the fraction coming from the core plasma as opposed to the divertor region increases from 0.64 to 0.82 (Fig. 2.3.3–11). The total energy radiated in the helium puff discharge is equal (within 5%) to the sum of the energy radiated and the energy deposited as heat flux to the divertor in the unmitigated

(Fig. 2.3.3–7) and thus a runaway current density nine times higher (~9 ×  $10^5$  A/m<sup>2</sup>). This increase in runways with the faster cooling argon impurity pellets explains the experimental observation stated above that runaways are observed in all the argon pellet experiments but only some of the neon experiments. These runaway generation mechanisms provide an initial seed of runaway electrons that can then be amplified by the collisional avalanche mechanism [28–29] to produce the observed runaway current levels (~0.3 MA in Fig. 2.3.3–8) [32].

Results similar to the impurity pellet mitigation, but without the generation of runaway electrons, are obtained in a set of preliminary experiments where a massive puff of helium gas is injected. The phenomenology of the massive gas puff is shown in Fig. 2.3.3–9. In this discharge, there is a large density increase, a thermal quench, and then the beginning of the current quench following ~2, 2.2, and 3 ms, respectively, after the opening of the fast puff valve. The increase in the



Fig. 2.3.3–10. Comparison of VDE discharge mitigated by a massive helium gas puff (solid, discharge 96764) with an unmitigated VDE (dotted, discharge 96759). Time evolution of plasma current, total poloidal halo current, and TPF of the halo current.



Fig. 2.3.3–11. Comparison of VDE discharge mitigated by a massive helium gas puff [(a) discharge 96762] with an unmitigated VDE [(b) discharge 96757]. Time evolution of the plasma current, total power radiated (solid), core power radiated (dotted), and divertor power radiated (dashed).

VDE (Fig. 2.3.3–12). Assuming there is no energy conducted to the divertor in the helium puff discharge, the total energy accounting shows the radiation and residual magnetic energy balance to within 5% with the initial thermal and magnetic energy (Fig. 2.3.3–12). Thus since essentially all the energy is appearing as radiation, there is none remaining to be deposited as heat flux on the divertor. Several factors combine to leave unresolved whether the thermal

energy is dissipated via radiation or via conduction to the floor. These factors include: a thermal energy in these ohmic discharges that is well below the dominant magnetic energy, the slow time resolution of the bolometer, and the lack of a reliable IR measurement of the conduction to the floor.

A KPRAD simulation provides an understanding for the heat flux mitigation. The temperature dilution from the increasing density, along with energy losses from ionization and radiation decrease the electron temperature to ~6 eV in 2 ms. The plasma becomes dominated by volume recombination (recombination time for He<sup>+2</sup> ~2 ms for these conditions) and by radiation losses from the hydrogenic (He<sup>+1</sup>) charge state which has a radiative cooling rate of ~3 × 10<sup>-35</sup> W–m<sup>3</sup> at 6 eV. This results in ~30 MW/m<sup>3</sup> (or 0.6 GW total) radiated power loss density, in good agreement with experimental radiation measurements (maximum measured 35 MW/m<sup>3</sup>). The measured UV continuum radiation from the recombination of He<sup>+2</sup> confirms that the plasma temperature is ~6 eV at the beginning of the current quench in agreement with the modeling. This low electron temperature effectively halts any further ionization of the helium (ionization potential 24.6 eV) and explains why only 10% to 20% of the injected helium is ionized.

Experiments were also performed to see if results similar to the mitigation of disruptions following VDEs occurred for major disruptions. The massive helium gas puff and argon pellet were used to preemptively terminate a discharge near a density limit major disruption (Fig. 2.3.3–13). This figure shows



Fig. 2.3.3–12. Energy balance accounting of the energy input to the disruption (IN), which includes initial stored thermal energy and initial magnetic energy (there is no auxiliary heating in this discharge), versus the energy lost during the disruption (OUT) which includes radiation and conduction losses and the residual magnetic energy at the final analysis time. Results for the helium gas puff mitigation and unmitigated VDE discharges in Fig. 2.3.3–11. The conduction for the helium puff is not measured.



Fig. 2.3.3–13. Comparison of a massive helium gas puff injection [(a) solid, discharge 96767] and an argon pellet injection [(a) dotted, discharge 96768] into repeat of a discharge with a major density limit disruption [(b) discharge 96766]. Time evolution of plasma current, total poloidal halo current, and TPF of the halo current. The injection times of the helium puff and argon pellet are as marked.

that the results of a helium puff and an argon pellet have a very similar mitigation of the halo current and TPF. The force on the vessel was also reduced in the helium puff case, similar to the pellet mitigation results.

The mitigation using the massive helium gas puff injection is encouraging for liquid jet mitigation of disruptions in future large devices such as ITER. In such devices, with large currents (>10 MA) a small initial "seed" of runaway electron current is expected to be amplified by the collisional avalanche mechanism [28-29 to the point that the dominant part of the many mega-ampere plasma current is carried by multi-MeV runaway electrons. To prevent such a generation of runaways, it is necessary to increase the density sufficiently that the increased electric field during the disruption remains below the critical field for the avalanche process [29,33]. In ITER, a 50 to 100 fold density increase would be required and a single pellet or multiple pellets would not be sufficient. Calculations indicate a pulsed liquid jet can meet the mass injection requirement [33]. A fast liquid jet of hydrogen or helium also has a number of advantages for disruption mitigation. During jet injection, there will be isobaric dilution cooling, allowing deep penetration and possibly avoiding MHD driven instabilities due to an unchanged pressure profile. Liquid jets will rapidly cool the plasma (dilution cooling, bremsstrahlung, and recombination radiation cooling) which induces the rapid current decay; thus mitigating the halo current and heat flux load. The high density will also inhibit the formation of runaway electrons.

**Summary and Conclusions.** We have reported on the progress of understanding the mitigation of both major disruptions and vertical displacement events (VDEs) on the DIII–D tokamak. Halo currents with up to 35% of the predisruption plasma current, toroidal peaking factors approaching 3, and heat fluxes of up to

100% of the predisruption thermal energy have been observed in unmitigated discharges. The halo current origin and scaling is well understood and well predicted by a simple analytical model and simulation codes such as DINA and TSC.

DIII-D experiments achieved a similar level of mitigation of both major disruptions and the disruptions following VDEs by preemptively terminating the discharge by injection of impurity pellets of neon and argon and a massive helium gas puff. Injection of impurity pellets into DIII-D plasmas after the initial loss of vertical position have effectively reduced the halo currents, toroidal asymmetry of the halo current, and the heat flux conducted to the divertor that occurred during the disruption at the end of the VDE. Production of runaway electrons, however, have been observed in many of the pellet injection experiments — particularly those using argon. The rapid cooling of the plasma can be explained by a modeling code (KPRAD) and the dissipation of the stored energy inside of the pellet burnup radius can be explained by the observed anomalous rapid transport of the pellet material into the plasma core. The runaway generation can be understood in terms of a modified Dreicer mechanism occurring during the pellet penetration. The first experiments with the injection of a massive amount of helium gas have been explored as an alternative to the impurity pellets in order to eliminate the undesirable runaway electrons. These experiments have shown effective mitigation of the halo currents, halo current asymmetry, and heat flux and have avoided the generation of runaway electrons. Both the impurity pellets and the massive helium gas puff have also been shown to preemptively mitigate a major disruption. Calculations for liquid jet mitigation of future large machines show the promise of the liquid jet idea.

**Acknowledgments.** The authors would like to thank Dr. S.C. Jardin for the TSC code simulation, Dr. R.W. Harvey for the CQL3D code simulation, and Dr. R. Khayrutdinov and Dr. R. Lukash for the DINA code simulations.

#### **References for Section 2.3.3**

- [1] WESSON, J.A., et al., Nucl. Fusion **29**, 641 (1992).
- [2] WARD, D.J., and WESSON, J.A., Nucl. Fusion 32, 1117 (1992).
- [3] TFR Group Collaboration, Nucl. Fusion 25, 919 (1985).
- [4] YOSINO, R., et al., Nucl. Fusion **33**, 1599 (1993).
- [5] WESLEY, J.C., and the ITER JOINT CENTRAL TEAM, Phys. Plasmas, 4, 2642 (1997).
- [6] LUXON, J.L., and DAVIS, L.G., Fusion Technology 8, 2A 441 (1985).
- [7] EVANS, T.E., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241–243, 606 (1997).
- [8] KELLMAN, A.G., et al., Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 739 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997).
- [9] STRAIT, E.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion **31**, 527 (1991).
- [10] JENSEN, T.H., and SKINNER, D.G., Phys. Fluids B 2, 2358 (1990).
- [11] GRANETZ, R.S., et al., Nucl. Fusion 36, 545 (1966).
- [12] NEYATANI, Y., YOSHINO, R., and ANDO, T., Fusion Technology 28, 1634 (1995).

- [13] ANDREW, P., et al., Proc. 16th IEEE/NPSS Symposium on Fusion Engineering, Champaign, Illinois, 1995 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996), Vol. 1, 770.
- [14] GRUBER, R., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion **35**, B191 (1993).
- [15] LEE, R.L., et al., Proc. 16th IEEE/NPSS Symposium on Fusion Engineering, Champaign, Illinois, 1995 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996), Vol. 2, 902.
- [16] HYATT, A.W., et al., Proc. 23rd Euro. Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Kiev, Ukraine, 1996, (European Physical Society, 1996) Vol. 20C, 287.
- [17] KHAYRUTDINOV, R., and LUKASH, R., Plasma Phys. Rep. 22, 91 (1996).
- [18] HUMPHREYS, D.A., and KELLMAN, A.G., "Analytic Modeling of Axisymmetric Disruption Halo Currents," to be published in Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA–A22802 (1998).
- [19] BAYLOR, L.R., et al., Proc. 15th IEEE/NPSS Symposium on Fusion Engineering, Hyannis, Massachusetts, 1993 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, 1994) Vol. 2, 583.
- [20] MILORA, S.L., COMBS, S.K., and FOUST, C.R., Rev. Sci. Instrum. 57, 2356 (1986).
- [21] TAYLOR, P.L., et al., Bull. Amer. Phys. Soc. 37, 1570 (1992).
- [22] WHYTE, D.G., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 4392 (1998).
- [23] WHYTE, D.G., et al., Proc. 24th Euro. Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Berchtesgaden, Germany, 1997 (European Physical Society, 1997), Vol. 21A, 1137.
- [24] SAYER, R.O., et al., Nucl. Fusion 33, 969 (1993).
- [25] DREICER, H., Phys. Rev. 117, 329 (1960).
- [26] KULSRUD, R.M., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **31**, 690 (1973).
- [27] KNOEPFEL, H., and SPONG, D.A., Nucl. Fusion 19, 785 (1979).
- [28] JAYAKUMAR R., FLEISCHMANN, R.R., and ZWEBEN, S.J., Phys. Lett. A 172, 447 (1993).
- [29] ROSENBLUTH, M.N., and PUTINSKI, S.V., Nucl. Fusion 37, 1355 (1997).
- [30] HARVEY, R.W., and McCOYM M.G., Proc. of IAEA Tech. Comm. Meeting on Advances in Simulation and Modeling of Thermonuclear Plasmas, Montreal, Canada, 1992 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1993) p. 489.
- [31] KERBEL, G.D., and McCOY, M.G., Phys. Fluids 28, 3629 (1985).
- [32] EVANS, T.E., D. G. Whyte, P. L. Taylor, A. G. Kellman, P. B. Parks, D. A. Humphreys, R. W. Harvey, S. C. Luckhardt, T. C. Jernigan, M. J. Schaffer, L. R. Baylor, A. W. Hyatt, R. L. Lee, J. A. Leuer, D. Gray, and J. Zhang, "The Production and Confinement of Runaway Electrons with Impurity 'Killer' Pellets in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22976 (to be printed).
- [33] PARKS, P.B., et al., "High-Velocity Liquid Jet Injection into Tokamak Plasmas for Disruption Mitigation," Fusion Technology 35, 1 (1999); General Atomics Report GA–A22908 (1998).

## 2.4. DIVERTORS AND EDGE PHYSICS

# 2.4.1. RADIATIVE DIVERTOR AND SOL EXPERIMENTS IN OPEN AND BAFFLED DIVERTORS ON DIII-D<sup>10</sup>

We present in this paper progress towards an increased understanding of the relevant physical processes that are important in controlling: (a) the divertor heat flux with divertor and core radiation (Section 2), (b) impurity and deuteron concentrations with plasma flows and cryopumping (Section 3), and (c) erosion and redeposition at material walls in the divertor (Section 4). We have performed new experiments comparing operation with open and baffled divertors, and have demonstrated core density control in both low- and high-triangularity plasmas (Section 5). Core density control is an important tool for DIII–D where active profile control is planned with electron-cyclotron-current drive.

We have used new diagnostic measurements of key physics parameters in concert with state-of-theart computational models (UEDGE-EIRENE-DEGAS, B2.5-EIRENE) to further our understanding of the fundamental physical processes. Shown in Fig. 2.4.1–1 is the DIII–D diagnostic set in the lower divertor,

along with the quantities that are measured by each instrument. Recent improvements include: (a) 2-D measurements of carbon line and deuterium recombination radiation, including CIV (1550 Å), (b) measurement of plasma flows with spectroscopy and a Mach probe, and (c) erosion and redeposition measurements with a DiMES probe.

**Physics of Divertor Heat** Flux Reduction. Starting from an empirical observation of the reduction of divertor peak heat flux with deuterium puffing [1], we have systematically measured the important terms in the heat and particle transport equations with new diagnostics; at present we have a 2-D characterization of much of the divertor region. Shown in Fig. 2.4.1-2(a) is a representative partially detached divertor (PDD) discharge [2], showing the reduction in peak heat flux,



Fig. 2.4.1–1. The array of diagnostics (with quantity measured) in the lower divertor in DIII–D includes: Bolometer (48-channel, radiated power distribution), Scanning mach probe (deuterium flow), Infrared TV's (7-IRTV's-lower divertor heat flux at two toroidal locations, upper divertor, also inside wall), Tangential spectroscopy(neutral, impurity and deuteron flows, T<sub>i</sub>, Recombination), Tangential TV (simultaneous inverted 2-D profiles of two lines: CII, CIII, D<sub>α</sub>, D<sub>β</sub>, D<sub>γ</sub>, neutral density), DiMES surface probe (erosion and redeposition on carbon and tungsten samples), Target Langmuir probes (T<sub>e</sub>, n<sub>e</sub>,  $\Gamma_i$ -ion flux), EUV SPRED spectrograph with absolute intensity calibration(CIV, L<sub>α</sub>, L<sub>β</sub>, other impurity emissions), an EUV tangential camera (CIV 1550 Å 2-D images), Neutral pressure gauges (deuterium and impurity partial pressures in the edge plasma and pumping plenum), and an 8-channel divertor Thomson scattering system DTS (T<sub>e</sub>, n<sub>e</sub> the plasma is swept to obtain 2-D profiles).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Allen, S.L., N.H. Brooks, R. Bastasz, et al., "Radiative Divertor and SOL Experiments in Open and Baffled Divertors on DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23004 (1998).



Fig. 2.4.1–2. (a) A representative PDD discharge ( $D_2$  puffing) showing heat flux reduction, H–mode confinement, and controlled core density. (b) The  $T_e$ ,  $n_e$ ,  $\Gamma_i$ , and heat flux at the outer strike point for a representative attached and PDD (dashed) discharge. (c) The model that has been developed to explain the physical processes in the PDD discharge.

constant ELMing H–mode confinement, and controlled core density with cryopumping. Scaling experiments have shown that the outer strike point (OSP) peak heat flux can be reduced to nearly the same value, 1 MW m<sup>-2</sup>, independent of input neutral beam power up to  $P_{inj} \sim 14$  MW [3,4]. In Fig. 2.4.1–2(b) are plasma profiles at the OSP for a typical discharge set of attached and detached (dashed) discharges. The  $q_{div}$  (heat flux),  $\Gamma_i$  (ion flux), and  $P_e$  (electron pressure) are reduced at the OSP, but  $\Gamma_i$  increases outboard, hence the name partially detached divertor. The  $T_e$  from Divertor Thomson Scattering (DTS) is dramatically reduced to 1–2 eV, and this has been a key measurement in the interpretation of much of the divertor data.

A 2-D model of the PDD is shown in Fig. 2.4.1–2(c). To facilitate discussion of the changes of the parallel heat flow from an ELMing H–mode to PDD operation, we use a 1-D form of the parallel energy flow equation [5], where the first term is identified as the classical parallel heat conduction, the second term is convection, and  $v_{//}$  is the parallel plasma fluid velocity. The losses  $S_E$  include radiation, ionization, and recombination:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{ds}} \left\{ \left( -\kappa \, \mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{e}}^{5/2} \, \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{e}}}{\mathrm{ds}} \right) + \, \mathrm{nv}_{\parallel} \left[ \frac{5}{2} \left( \mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{i}} + \mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{e}} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \, \mathrm{m}_{\mathrm{i}} \mathrm{v}_{\parallel}^{2} + \, \mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{o}} \right] \right\} = \mathrm{S}_{\mathrm{E}} \quad . \tag{1}$$

In the PDD, conduction carries the exhaust heat along the field line from the core to a region near the divertor. Here, carbon radiates strongly (10–12 eV), as indicated by calibrated EUV spectroscopy of the divertor region. Inversions of 2-D visible (CII, CIII) and ultraviolet (CIV 1550 Å) emissions indicate carbon radiates primarily near the X–point. The total radiation (mostly UV) from spectroscopy agrees well with corresponding chords of the bolometer. Ratios of calibrated multi-chord [6] and TV images in the visible (Balmer<sub> $\alpha$ </sub>/B<sub> $\beta$ </sub>) [7] indicate that recombination occurs near the divertor plate in the PDD as indicated in the model in Fig. 2.4.1–2(c) [8]. Corresponding ratios in the UV (Lyman<sub> $\alpha$ </sub>/Ly<sub> $\beta$ </sub>) show similar

changes, but often suggest absorption of the  $Ly_{\alpha}$  emission [9]. A radially-integrated form of Eq. (1) has shown that the measured T<sub>e</sub> from DTS, the bolometer radiation, and q<sub>div</sub> (from IRTVs) are consistent with conduction in ELMing H–mode, but convection is required in the PDD [10,11]. The implied radially-averaged v<sub>//</sub> is consistent with direct measurements of M ~ 0.8 in the divertor region [12] from the scanning Mach probe

The diagnostic set has enabled several other interesting observations: (a) there is a critical upstream separatrix density for PDD onset that scales roughly linearly with the input power [13]; (b) target Langmuir probe measurements indicate that electron kinetic effects are not important in ELMing H–mode or PDD plasmas [14], (c) the neutral density near the X–point has been measured to be ~ $10^{17}$  m<sup>-3</sup> in L–mode discharges from tangential TV views [15], and (d) the effect X–point geometry effects on bound-ary potentials and turbulence have been examined [16].

We have also performed "puff and pump" experiments with SOL deuterium puffing (up to  $2.5 \times 10^{22}$  D<sup>0</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), exhaust with cryopumping, and impurity injection. In trace injection experiments, exhaust enrichment up to 17 was obtained with argon, and enhanced radiation in the divertor and SOL has also been obtained with argon [17]. For the conditions on DIII–D, we find that the argon and carbon radiation in the divertor increase by equal amounts, but models [18] indicate that this need not be the case in future machines operating in different temperature regimes.

We explored the source of carbon by comparing L-mode helium with L-mode deuterium plasmas, and the dramatic decrease in the carbon radiation suggests that chemical sputtering plays a role in the source. However, the total divertor radiation in these discharges was unchanged because the carbon radiation was replaced by helium radiation. Modeling with the MCI Monte-Carlo code suggests that standard chemical sputtering models overestimate the amount of carbon we measure experimentally [19].

Plasma and Impurity Flows and Comparison with Models. We have studied plasma flows both to further our understanding of the convective heat flow discussed above and to understand impurity transport

in the divertor and SOL. Active control of impurities, like enrichment achieved with "puff and pump" techniques discussed above, is an approach to increase the operational window of radiative divertor plasmas and a method to control core impurity content. We have made recent improvements to the UEDGE code, including realistic models of chemical and physical sputtering [20], to model impurity transport for comparison with data. The UEDGE code has been benchmarked with a variety of DIII-D discharges [21], and it calculates multi-species impurity transport. In Fig. 2.4.1-3 are the poloidal distributions of the C4<sup>+</sup> ion density (the charge state flowing into the core) and net parallel particle force. Impurity accumulation or depletion is determined by the force gradient



Fig. 2.4.1–3. The ion density and net force on C4<sup>+</sup> ions (right) from UEDGE, the gradient in the force near a force null (e.g., near 0.4 and 1 m) determines whether the ion density builds up or is depleted.



Fig. 2.4.1–4. Comparisons of measurements of (a) primary ion flow from the Mach probe and (b) C+ velocity from spectroscopy with calculations from the UEDGE code for an (OSP-attached) ELMing H–mode.

near a force null, and the position of this null is determined by the details of the parallel ion temperature gradient and the flow pattern of the fuel ion species (i.e. the frictional drag term).

One strength of the UEDGE modeling is the ability to calculate predicted diagnostic data directly (e.g., the Mach probe does not scan along a field line). In Fig. 2.4.1–4(a), we compare direct measurements of the deuteron Mach number from a scanning probe [12,22] with a UEDGE calculation of the data. The data were obtained along a vertical cut through the plasma in the SOL, and the UEDGE results were calculated for the same discharge and plasma shape. The flow in the SOL is towards the plate. In Fig. 2.4.1–4(b) is a comparison of the C<sup>+</sup> ion velocity distribution [6,23] from a tangential spectrometer chord and the UEDGE calculation. There is usually a flow away from the plate near the separatrix, and a flow towards the plate farther out in the SOL. As shown in Fig. 2.4.1–4, there is reasonable agreement between the data and the model in attached discharges. In detached discharges, at the location of the Mach probe, we do not see a large change in the flow velocity, but the 2-D UEDGE calculation indicates that there are strong gradients and more 2-D data is required for a better comparison. The measured carbon velocities tend to be more towards the plate in detached discharges: the flow away from the plate decreases, and the flow towards the plate increases. Detailed comparisons with multiple chords of spectroscopy are in progress.

We have also identified new, interesting physics in the interface between the SOL and the "private flux" region below the x-point. A reversal in the plasma parallel flow has been observed by the Mach probe, as shown in Fig. 2.4.1–5(a). Potential measurements from the probe also indicate large radial electric fields. The corresponding  $E \times B$  drifts can drive an appreciable fraction of the recycling flux from the outer leg poloidally across the private region to the inner leg. The DTS system also measures large plasma density in the private flux region. We have also observed significant recombination radiation in the private flux region during the transition to outer leg detachment. The UEDGE model can now include drifts in the calculation, and comparisons with data are in progress [24].

**Erosion and Redeposition Measurements and Modeling.** To predict the lifetime of plasma-wall surfaces in future machines, we must understand the physical processes taking place between the divertor plasma and



Fig. 2.4.1–5. We are observing new physics at the separatrix between the outer SOL and the private flux region. There is a reversal in the main ion flow (left) and a sharp change in the potential (right), implying an electric field. The corresponding  $E \times B$  drifts can drive appreciable particle currents.

the target plate material. We have made direct measurements of erosion and redeposition at the OSP with an insertable DiMES probe [25] for comparison with models. A key to the comparison of these data with experimental models is the characterization of the plasma near the probe with the diagnostics shown in Fig. 2.4.1–1 and the data in Fig. 2.4.1–2(b), as the determination of quantities such as the input ion flux,



Fig. 2.4.1–6. (Left) The gross and net erosion from the DiMES probe (dashed) compared with the REDEP code (solid) in attached plasma operation. The effective sputtering yield agrees well with the code prediction. (Right) The effective sputtering yield for carbon (top) and tungsten (bottom) for attached (solid) and detached (dashed) plasma operation; note the reduction in erosion for the PDD case.

prompt redeposition, and self-sputtering require these data. Shown in Fig. 2.4.1–6 is a comparison of the gross and net erosion obtained from a carbon DiMES sample in an attached plasma, along with a calculation from the REDEP code [26]. Also shown (right) are the erosion for attached (solid) and PDD (dashed) plasma operation for carbon and tungsten DiMES samples. Note the dramatically reduced erosion near the strike point in the carbon sample for the PDD case. The erosion rates for the attached cases are greater than 10 cm/exposure-year, even with incident heat flux <1 MW/m<sup>2</sup>. In this case, measurements and modeling agree for both gross and net carbon erosion, showing the near- surface transport and redeposition of the carbon is well understood. Self-sputtering and oblique incidence are important, and the effective sputtering yields exceed 10%. The private flux wall is measured to be a region of net redeposition with attached divertor plasmas. Divertor plasma detachment eliminates physical sputtering, spectroscopically measured chemical erosion yields are also found to be low (Y(C/D<sup>+</sup>)  $\leq$  10<sup>-3</sup>). This leads to suppression of net erosion at the outer strike-point, which becomes a region of net redeposition (~4 cm/exposure-year). Leading edge erosion, and subsequent carbon redeposition, caused by tile gaps can account for half of the deuterium codeposition in the DIII–D divertor.

Particle Control with Baffling and Cryopumping. We have recently installed and conditioned a new upper divertor baffle and cryopump whose geometry is matched for particle control in high- $\delta$  plasmas ( $\delta \sim 0.7$ ). The shape of the baffle was designed with a combination of UEDGE and DEGAS modeling [27], and the width is a optimum between a very closed baffle for neutrals (which can introduce recycling directly into the plasma core), and a open baffle that allows neutral leakage (with little recycling). A detailed comparison of unpumped open/closed divertor operation was carried out with carefully matched plasmas as shown in Fig. 2.4.1–7; the ion  $\nabla B$  drift was towards the plate in each case. We observed that the line-average density was very similar in the two cases, but the midplane H<sub> $\alpha$ </sub> (a tangential view just

inside the separatrix) was reduced for the closed case. The density gradient at the separatrix, a measure of the core ionization rate, is reduced in the closed geometry. Transport modeling indicates that the ratio of the (open/closed) core ionization source was reduced by a factor of about F = 2.6; we normalized to the target plate current for each discharge. No changes in energy confinement during ELMing H-mode operation were observed, but the density at which the PDD occurred was decreased by 20% in the closed divertor.

We compared the measured reduction in core ionization with two computational models. A UEDGE model, in which the density profile is self-consistently calculated with a fluid neutrals model



Fig. 2.4.1–7. Carefully matched plasmas were used for comparison of open (dashed) and baffled (solid) divertor configurations. We observed a drop in the edge tangential  $H_{\alpha}$  signal, and a change in the edge density profile, implying a net reduction in the core ionization source with the baffled divertor.

results in an estimate of F = 2. We have also calculated F = 3.8 for a fixed UEDGE core plasma model and a full Monte-Carlo neutrals calculation with DEGAS [27,28]. Coupled self-consistent UEDGE-EIRENE calculations are in progress. Using the second technique, we estimate for a more closed divertor with a private-flux space "dome" and inside baffle that F = 9 for SN operation. A full double null installation is required for F = 9 for DN. The UEDGE modeling has also shown that the shape of the baffle can influence the plasma flows, and we are optimizing the shape to see if more effective enrichment of impurities is possible in a closed divertor.

With the upper cryopump on, we achieved active density control with  $n_e/n_{GW} = 0.27$  (fraction of the Greenwald density), which is close to the 0.22 achieved with the lower pump. This establishes an important particle control tool for high- $\delta$  plasma operation in DIII–D. The particle exhaust of the upper pump is similar to the lower pump, except at low  $n_e < 5 \times 10^{19} \text{ m}^{-3}$ . We are currently determining if this low exhaust at low density is due to better wall conditioning or reduced pumping effectiveness. Wall conditioning has controlled impurities in the baffled divertor so that  $Z_{eff} \sim 2$ . We routinely injected trace neon impurities to measure the core impurity confinement in several configurations. We found that at high density, the core neon decay time was similar for upper and lower divertors, but at low density, the time was significantly longer for the upper baffled pump.

**Double Null Divertor Plasma Operation.** We have continued research in double null divertor plasma operation. Previously, we showed that a balanced up/down heat flux required an unbalanced magnetic configuration [4]. Recent density control experiments with the upper high- $\delta$  cryopump have shown that the pump exhaust (with one pump in a balanced DN configuration) is about 50% of that in a single null plasma. As shown in Fig. 2.4.1–8, a nearly upper single-null plasma (with drsep = 5 cm, the distance between the two separatrices mapped to the midplane) is required to obtain maximum exhaust with one pump.

We have also observed that the role of neutrals may be different between DN and SN discharges [29], in that  $D_2$  gas puffing in DN discharges produced only modest reductions in  $P_e$ , and core MARFEs were not observed, even at  $n_e$  approaching  $n_{GW}$ .



Fig. 2.4.1–8. The pump exhaust to the upper cryopump as a function of SN and DN plasmas. The abscissa, drsep, is the distance between the upper and lower separatrix measured at the midplane, drsep = 0 is a magnetically balanced double null plasma.

**Conclusions and Future Work.** In conclusion, we have used a comprehensive diagnostic set and stateof-the art computational models to gain a better understanding of convective heat flow, recombination processes, deuteron and impurity ion flows, and the effect of divertor geometry and baffles. In 1999, we will install a third divertor cryopump, private-flux-space dome, and inside baffle which will is expected to provide particle control at the inner strike point and increase our particle control capability in high- $\delta$  plasmas. New diagnostics, such as a Penning gauge and spectroscopy chords in the upper divertor, will be added to study the impurity effects in the more baffled divertor.

#### **References for Section 2.4.1**

- HILL, D.N., et al., Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 499 (1995)].
- [2] PETRIE, T.W., et al., Nucl. Fusion **37**, 321 (1997).
- [3] LASNIER, C.J., et al., "Scalings and Profiles of Heat Flux During Partial Detachment in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22872 (1998).
- [4] LASNIER, C.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion **38**, 1225 (1998).
- [5] BRAGINSKII, S.I., Reviews of Plasma Physics (Consultants Bureau, New York, 1965).
- [6] ISLER, R.C., et al., "Spectroscopic Measurements of Impurity Temperatures and Parallel Ion Flows in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22852 (1998).
- [7] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., "Physics of the Detached Radiative Divertor Regime in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Physical Society Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22909 (to be printed).
- [8] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1761 (1997).
- [9] WOOD, R.D., et al., Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1998).
- [10] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4769 (1997).
- [11] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 1736 (1998).
- [12] BOEDO, J.A., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 822 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [13] MAINGI, R., et al., "Density Limit Studies on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22873 (1998).
- [14] WATKINS, J.G., et al., "An Evaluation of Kinetic Effects in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22879 (1998).
- [15] COLCHIN, R.J., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 818 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [16] MOYER, R.A., et al., "Potentials, ExB Drifts, and Fluctuations in Attached and Detached Divertors," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.
- [17] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Enrichment and Radiative Enhancement Using Induced SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22874 (1998).

- [18] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Control Studies Using SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23001 (1998).
- [19] EVANS, T.E., et al., "Quantitative Comparisons between Experimentally Measured 2–D Carbon Radiation and Monte Carlo Impurity (MCI) Code Simulations," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22876 (1998).
- [20] DAVIS, J.W., HAAS, A.A., J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 37-51 (1997).
- [21] PORTER, G.D., ALLEN, S.L., BROWN, M., et al., Phys. Plasmas 3, 1967 (1997).
- [22] BOEDO, J., et al., "Flow Reversal, Convection, and Modeling in the DIII–D Divertor," Phys. Plasmas **5**, 4305 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22910 (1998).
- [23] Isler, R.C., et al., Phys. Plasmas 6, 541 (1999).
- [24] ROGNLIEN, T.D., et al., "Influence of ExB and Grad-B Terms in 2-D Edge/Sol Transport Simulations," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.
- [25] WONG, C.P.C., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 871 (1992).
- [26] BROOKS, J.N., et al., Phys. Fluids B (Plasma Physics) 2, 1858 (1990).
- [27] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., J. Nucl. Mater. 220, 330 (1995).
- [28] ALLEN, S.L., et al., "Studies of High- (Baffled) and Low- (Open) Pumped Divertor Operation on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22878 (1998).
- [29] PETRIE, T.W., et al., "The Role of Neutrals in the H–L Back Transition of High Density Single-Null and Double-Null Gas-Fueled Discharges in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22864 (1998).

### 2.4.2. PHYSICS OF THE DETACHED RADIATIVE DIVERTOR REGIME IN DIII-D<sup>11</sup>

**Abstract.** This paper summarizes results from a 2-dimensional (2D) physics analysis of the transition to, and stable operation of, the partially detached divertor (PDD) regime induced by deuterium injection in DIII–D. The analysis [1] shows that PDD operation is characterized by a radiation zone near X–point at  $T_e \sim 8-15$  eV which reduces the energy flux into the divertor and thereby also reduces the target plate heat flux, an ionization zone below the X–point which provides a deuterium ion source to fuel parallel flow down the outer divertor leg, an ion-neutral interaction zone in the outer leg which removes momentum and energy from the flow, and finally a volume recombination zone above the target plate which reduces the particle flux to the low levels measured on the plates and thereby also contributes to reduction in target plate heat flux.

The peak heat flux striking divertor target surfaces in future tokamak devices must be reduced from that which is predicted based on ELMing H–mode operation of present experiments (see for example estimates of the local peak heat flux to surfaces in the ITER divertor [2]). The heat flux reduction technique which has received the most detailed experimental investigation on the DIII–D tokamak is to induce detachment of both divertor legs and large radiated power in the divertor away from the target plates by strong deuterium gas puffing. Frequently the outer leg plasma after gas injection is only detached from the target plates on flux surfaces near the separatrix and remains attached on flux surfaces farther out in the outer leg scrape-off-layer (SOL) [3,4]. This Partially Detached Divertor (PDD) is attractive because the peak heat flux near the separatrix is reduced typically by factors of 3–5, which would be sufficient for ITER requirements, and an attached plasma remains in the outer SOL from which helium ash could be pumped in a tokamak reactor. To understand the physics that produces the radial structure of this operating mode requires detailed two dimensional (poloidal and radial) measurements and computer simulations; these were done on DIII–D and are summarized below.

The paper is organized as follows. A one-dimensional model of the key physics mechanisms in a PDD plasma is described in Section 2. Section 3 summarizes key results from a comparison of conditions in the divertor before gas injection and after establishing the steady PDD conditions [1]. Signatures of the initiation and evolution of the transition to PDD conditions are described briefly in Section 4. In Section 5 possible source mechanisms for the carbon needed to initiate and sustain the PDD are described. Conclusions are given in Section 6.

**One Dimensional Model of Outer Leg During PDD.** A one dimensional (1D) flux tube model of the outer leg during PDD operation has five regions from the midplane to the target, each dominated by different physics processes: 1) a zone dominated by thermal conduction, 2) a radiation zone, 3) a deuterium ionization region, 4) a volume dominated by ion-neutral interactions, and 5) a region dominated by deuterium volume recombination (Fig. 2.4.2–1). At the midplane T<sub>e</sub> is high (~100 eV), the SOL screens the plasma at the separatrix from thermal neutrals and the energy transport is governed by the conductivity equation, q<sub>ll</sub> ~ T<sub>e</sub><sup>5/2</sup> dT/ds where s is the parallel length coordinate along the field line. In the region near the X–point measurements show high radiation levels during PDD operation. This radiation dissipates energy from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Fenstermacher, M.E., J. Boedo, R.C. Isler, et al., "Physics of the Detached Radiative Divertor Regime in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Physical Society Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22909 (to be printed).

flux tube and Te is reduced substantially. The measured electron density is not substantially increased so the drop in Te produces a drop in pressure. Below the X-point the measured Te is low enough (~5 eV) and the neutral density is high enough that an ionization region forms. This produces a source which leads to poloidal flow of primary ions toward the target plates. Farther downstream ion-neutral interactions begin to dominate at the low Te and high neutral density found in the lower part of the outer leg. These collisions can remove parallel momentum across the field lines from the plasma flow. This effectively reduces the flow velocity toward the target plate. For the region in which the flow velocity is low enough that the transit time through a volume is comparable with the recombination time, substantial recombination takes place. This occurs in the volume above the target surfaces and effectively reduces the ion current striking the plates near the OSP to substantially lower values than in the attached plasma condi-



Fig. 2.4.2–1. Schematic diagram for the one dimensional model of PDD conditions in the outer divertor leg of DIII–D. Regions dominated by radiation (carbon) near the X–point, deuterium ionization and recombination, and ion-neutral interactions are shown. Conduction dominates the energy transport above the X–point; convection dominates below the ionization region.

tions. The combination of low ion current recombining in the plate and reduced energy transport to the plate, due to the high radiation near the X-point, produces the observed low peak target heat flux near the separatrix strike point. The measured energy transport and radiation in the regions of the flux tube below the ionization front can not be accounted for by thermal conduction; convection by Mach~1 plasma flow is consistent with the measurements [5-8].

**Comparison of Conditions in Attached and Detached Divertor.** Deuterium gas injected at a high rate (~200 T $\ell$ /s or ~27 Pa m<sup>3</sup>/s) for several hundred milliseconds into a lower single-null ELMing H–mode plasma ( $\nabla$ B toward the divertor) followed by a reduced steady injection rate (~ 50 T $\ell$ /s or ~7 Pa m<sup>3</sup>/s) is used to establish PDD conditions in the divertor while retaining good H-mode confinement (H<sub>ITER89P</sub> = t<sub>E</sub>/t<sub>ITER89P</sub> ~ 1.6) and low impurity content [Z<sub>eff</sub>( $\rho$ =0) ~ 1.2, Z<sub>eff</sub>( $\rho$ =0.7) ~ 1.6] in the core plasma (Fig. 2.4.2–2). The peak heat flux is reduced by about a factor of 5 near the outer strike point (OSP), compared to the attached conditions prior to the gas injection. Total radiated power increases by 80% to P<sub>rad</sub>/P<sub>inj</sub> = 0.75 consistent with the reduction in total heat flux to the target plates, with most (60%) of the increase occurring in the divertor and little (<10%) inside the last closed flux surface, LCFS. With continued low gas injection, the PDD conditions can be sustained for the remainder of the discharge (10–20 energy confinement times).

**Experimental Observations.** Comparisons of 2D bolometer reconstructions with 2D profiles of deuterium and carbon radiation from the tangential visible TV show that in PDD operation the majority of the radiation is along the outer divertor leg separatrix with carbon radiating near the X-point and deuterium radiating nearer to the OSP. Images of the *difference* between the pre-injection and the PDD states are shown for


Fig. 2.4.2–2. Time history of a typical LSN discharge with a PDD phase beginning at 2350 ms. Traces shown are (a) the plasma current ( $I_p$ ), deuterium gas injection (Gas), peak outer divertor leg heat flux ( $P_{div}$ ), (b) neutral beam injection power ( $P_{inj}$ ), total and divertor radiated powers ( $P_{rad}$  and  $P_{rad\_div}$ ), (c)  $D_{\alpha}$  emission at the ISP and (d) at the OSP, (e) electron temperature ( $T_e$ ) and density ( $n_e$ ) at 11 cm above the divertor floor from divertor Thomson scattering, (f) energy confinement enhancement factors normalized to ITER89P and ITER93H scalings, and (g) core line averaged density normalized to the Greenwald density, and  $Z_{eff}$  at  $\rho = 0$  and  $\rho = 0.7$ .

the total radiated power [Fig. 2.4.2–3(a)], the CIII emission [Fig. 2.4.2–3(b)], and the deuterium (Balmer\_ $\alpha$ ) emission [Fig. 2.4.2–3(c)]. Taken together these profile changes are consistent with a model in which the inner leg has completely detached and cooled up to the X–point to temperatures below which neither carbon nor deuterium radiate substantially (T<sub>e</sub> <~ 1 eV). In addition, the profiles are consistent with outer leg temperatures of 1–3 eV for deuterium to radiate, and at the X–point, T<sub>e</sub> ~ 8–15 eV for substantial radiation from CIII and CIV.

Vertically integrated spectral measurements from the divertor VUV SPRED spectrograph [9] have confirmed, by direct measurement of the strongest radiating lines, that carbon is the main radiator in DIII–D detached plasmas (80% of the total radiated power) with deuterium contributing the remaining 20% of P<sub>rad</sub>. The highest power line is CIV at 155 nm. Substantial contributions from CIII at 117.5 and 97.7 nm, and from CII at 133.4 nm are also observed [1] as is deuterium Ly- $\alpha$  emission (121.6 nm).

Comparisons of temperature, density, ion flux and heat flux profiles on the outer target plate before and during PDD operation [10] show that in PDD the temperature is significantly decreased across the profile, the density peaks radially outboard of the separatrix, the heat flux reduction is largest near the OSP and the ion flux is reduced near the OSP but increased farther out in the outer leg SOL. These are the signature characteristics of PDD operation; reduced heat and particle flux near the separatrix strikepoint (detachment) with high particle flux and finite heat flux radially outboard of the OSP.



Fig. 2.4.2–3. Profiles of the *difference* between the 2D profiles during the PDD phase and the profiles during the pre-puff phase for (a) total radiated power reconstructed from the 48-channel bolometer array, (b) CIII (465 nm) visible emission and (c)  $D_{\alpha}$  (656.1 nm) emission, both reconstructed from the tangentially viewing visible video system. In all three cases the signals decrease in the inner leg region during PDD. The total radiation increases along the entire outer leg and at the X–point. The radiation in the lower part of the leg is from deuterium; radiation near the X–point is from carbon.

Reconstructions of divertor Thomson data from shots with radial sweeps of the X-point [11] produce 2D profiles of  $n_e$  and  $T_e$  showing that in the pre-injection phase [Fig. 2.4.2–4(a,b)] the electron pressure on flux surfaces is nearly constant, within a factor of 2, in contrast to PDD operation [Fig. 2.4.2–4(c,d)] in which there are large pressure variations both along flux surfaces (X-point to target) and radially in the SOL. In the pre-puff phase the electron temperature, and density (and therefore pressure) are nearly constant, within a



Fig. 2.4.2–4. Reconstructions of divertor plasma parameters from divertor Thomson scattering data in the pre-injection phase (a–b) and in the PDD phase (c–d). The electron temperature  $T_e$  is given in (a) and (c), and the density  $n_e$  in (b) and (d). In the pre-injection phase the temperature and density are constant along flux surfaces near the separatrix within a factor of 2. In the PDD phase  $T_e$  is reduced to low values (1–3 eV) throughout the divertor and  $n_e$  in the outer leg peaks radially outboard of the separatrix. A high density, low temperature MARFE-like structure is measured below the X–point.

factor of 2, on flux surfaces in the outer leg SOL. During the PDD phase temperature is low throughout most of the divertor;  $T_e \sim 1-3$  eV. The density in the SOL peaks radially outboard of the separatrix. This gives rise to a drop in pressure along flux surfaces of a factor of 3–5 from the X–point to the target plate. Finally, a high density ( $n_e = 2-4 \times 10^{20} \text{ m}^{-3}$ ), cold ( $T_e = 1-2 \text{ eV}$ ) MARFE-like structure is observed below the X–point in the private flux region in many of the PDD plasmas (see Ref. 1).

The  $D_{\alpha}$  emission attributable to recombination, obtained by taking the ratio of Balmer\_ $\alpha$  to Balmer\_ $\gamma$  emission [12], changes from a distributed region across the inner target plate in the pre-injection phase [Fig. 2.4.2–5(a)] to a region near the outer leg separatrix and target plate during PDD operation [Fig. 2.4.2–5(b)]. The profile before gas injection (ELMing H–mode) gives an indication that the inner leg plasma is nearly detached. During the PDD phase the profile in the outer leg SOL shows recombination occurs farther up the leg toward the X–point on surfaces close to the separatrix; emission farther out in the SOL is close to the target. This is consistent with theories which emphasize the importance of neutrals in triggering detachment [13], especially those models which propose that the neutrals enter the outer leg SOL by migrating across the separatrix from the private flux region [14].

The change in the  $D_{\alpha}$  emission due to ionization [12] is from a poloidally narrow layer upstream of the recombination zone in the inner leg prior to gas injection to a zone in the outer leg below the X-point in the PDD phase [Fig. 2.4.2–5(c,d)]. These profiles in both phases are consistent with a model [15] in which an ionization layer near the T<sub>e</sub>=5 eV surface provides a source which drives plasma flow toward the plates and a recombination region at lower temperature and higher density provides the ion sink



Fig. 2.4.2–5. Reconstructions of TTV  $D_{\alpha}$  data in a poloidal plane in the preinjection phase (a), (b) and the PDD phase (c), (d). The  $D_{\alpha}$  emission due to recombination is shown in (a) and (c); the  $D_{\alpha}$  emission from excitations in an ionizing plasma is shown in (b) and (d). In the pre-injection phase recombination is near the inner target; ionization a few cm upstream poloidally. During PDD operation recombination is in the lower outer leg and private flux region; ionization poloidally upstream in the mid-outer leg and in the inner SOL near the X–point.

which keeps the ion flux to the target plates low.

Measurements of carbon ion (C1+ and C2+) flows [16,17] show significant differences between PDD operation and pre-puff conditions; the *change* in the flow velocities in all regions of the divertor which have strong CII and CIII emission is in the direction toward the outer target plate during PDD operation. The flows of C1+ derived from measurements along chord T4 [Fig. 2.4.2-6(a)] are shown in Fig. 2.4.2–6(b). Analysis of the Zeeman splitting of the spectrum components indicates that in the outer SOL during the attached phase the flow is toward the target plate (forward) and near the separatrix the flow is away from the target (reversed). When the PDD is established (2500 ms in the figure) both the forward and reversed components of the C1+ flow pattern

change in the direction of increased flow toward the outer target. The forward flow increases almost a factor of 2 and the magnitude of the reversed flow decreases by a factor of 4. The measured velocities compare favorably with UEDGE modeling results [Fig. 2.4.2–6(c) and discussion below].

**Two Dimensional Modeling.** Simulations of PDD plasmas with the multi-fluid UEDGE code [18] now include the effect of gas puffing to produce the detachment and a more realistic carbon sputtering model [19] than was used previously. As in the previous work, many of the macroscopic features of PDD conditions can be reproduced simultaneously in a single calculation with the new carbon model including: 1) the midplane  $n_e$  and  $T_e$  profiles, 2) the heat flux profile at the targets, 3) the low ion flux at the targets, 4) carbon radiation near the X-point and deuterium radiation near the outer target. The best matches to the data are for simulations with less than (typically 50% of) the full sputtering yield predicted by the Haas model [19]. This is within the uncertainty of the model for the low temperatures in the PDD divertor plasma.

Initial simulations of carbon (C1+) flow profiles [20] reproduce the essential feature of flow measurements by the tangential spectroscopy diagnostic, namely: the *change* in the carbon flows is in the direction of the plates in PDD compared with the pre-puff phase. The comparison of C1+ ion flow with the spectroscopy measurements [Fig. 2.4.2–6(c)] shows that, for attached plasma conditions, the simulations reproduce both the forward flow toward the outer divertor plate in the outer regions of the SOL (data at Project Staff



Fig. 2.4.2-6. Flow velocities of C<sup>+</sup> ions from the tangentially viewing flow diagnostic using Doppler shift spectroscopy of CII 657.9 nm emission and simulation results from UEDGE. In (a) a schematic diagram of the views of the flow spectrometer chords [vertical (V1-V7) and tangential (T2-T6)] projected onto a poloidal plane and the location of the reciprocating probe plunge (arrow), in (b) the "positive" C+ flow toward the outer target plate and "negative" flow away from the plate flow both show a change in the direction of the target plates when the PDD conditions are established. In (c) a profile along the T4 line of sight (line with dots) calculated from UEDGE simulations of the pre-injection phase shows good agreement, within a factor of 2, with both the positive and negative measured velocities.

R=1.59 m) and the reversed flow in regions closer to the separatrix (data at R=1.43 m).

The essential features of the deuterium flow measurements by the reciprocating probe [7,8] and the tangential spectrometer [17] are also reproduced by UEDGE [20], namely: 1) deuterium flow away from the plates near the separatrix in the upper leg and toward the plates in the outer SOL in the pre-puff phase, and 2) deuterium flow only toward the plate near the OSP in PDD.

Initiation and Evolution of the Transition from Attached to Detached Conditions. Reconstructions of emission from the constituent radiators at the initiation of the transition to PDD conditions [12] show a sharp increase in  $D_{\alpha}$  emission in the private flux region near the ISP and increased carbon radiation both along the outer divertor leg and in the inner SOL near the X-point. The carbon emission at the start of the transition increases in the entire outer leg and in the X-point region in addition to the inner leg SOL near the X-point. As the transition progresses the CIII profile becomes more localized near the X-point. The  $D_{\alpha}$ emission from recombination is reduced near the ISP at initiation, increases radially inboard of the inner separatrix (in the inner leg SOL) near the target plate and increases in the private flux region near the ISP. As the transition progresses the emission moves across the private flux region and also up to the inner SOL near the X-point. During the slow evolution later in this discharge (Fig. 2.4.2-2) the carbon radiation gradually becomes more localized at the X-point (peak intensity unchanged but less emission in the lower leg), and deuterium recombination emission spreads radially outward near the outer target and poloidally up along the outer separatrix. These observations are consistent with Divertor Thomson measurements showing a gradual cooling of the plasma from the outer target plate upward during this evolution.

**Carbon Sources.** There is evidence of contributions from both chemical and physical sputtering by neutrals in the divertor and possibly of carbon sublimation sources. Sputtering by neutrals, either by chemical processes or direct physical sputtering by fast charge exchange particles, may be the dominant source of carbon in the DIII–D divertor during PDD operation. This indication was obtained by comparing the carbon content in the core and divertor plasmas in deuterium versus helium PDD [9,10,21–23].

The response of the core carbon content in helium plasmas compared with that in deuterium plasmas is consistent with a carbon source in the divertor from neutral sputtering. There are indications [23] that the carbon sputtered by chemical processes may be generated in a location from which it has a higher escape probability from the divertor into the core than that from neutral physical sputtering. There is also evidence that the source of the carbon that controls the core content is likely not from charge exchange neutral sputtering of the walls around the main plasma chamber, but instead is more likely from divertor sources. Simulations of attached plasmas with UEDGE support the hypothesis that the carbon source controlling the core carbon content is from the divertor region [20].

**Conclusions.** The data presented above show that PDD formation and sustainment are inherently two dimensional phenomena; although the 1D model of outer leg detachment provides a good framework for understanding the plasma properties in the poloidal regions along a divertor flux tube, the 2D measurements show that the critical sources and sinks for particle and energy depend on behavior in other regions of the divertor. The PDD regime is characterized by reduced target plate heat flux and ion current near the strikepoints, enhanced upstream impurity radiation, and low plasma temperature (Te=1-3 eV) in much of the divertor, leading to volume recombination of the plasma before reaching the target plates. Reconstructions of impurity radiation profiles show that carbon is the strongest radiating constituent near the X-point; deuterium radiation dominates near the OSP. The data also shows that the key physics processes are: 1) the buildup of neutral deuterium in the private flux region by radial diffusion from the inner leg, 2) transport of carbon from generation at the graphite walls to radiation near the X-point, and 3) diffusion of neutrals to an upstream ionization region in the outer leg. This ionization region is poloidally separated from a volume recombination region downstream. The separation of ionization and recombination zones leads to parallel flow in the outer leg approaching Mach 1, and convective energy transport toward the target plates which may lengthen the radiation region along the divertor leg compared with that implied by conductive energy transport alone [5,6]. Measurements of the 2D profiles averaged over ELMs during the transition to PDD operation show a sequence of events after deuterium gas injection: 1) inner leg detachment up to the X-point, 2) the resulting migration of neutrals across the private flux region and 3) initiation of outer leg detachment by energy and momentum losses due to plasma interactions such as charge exchange with neutrals entering the SOL from the private flux region.

#### **References for Section 2.4.2**

- [1] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion Research, 1999.
- [2] POST, D., et al., Proc. 14th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 3, 1991, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 4 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1992).
- [3] PETRIE, T.W., et al., Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part III, p. 237.
- [4] PETRIE, T.W., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. **196–198**, 848 (1992).
- [5] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4769 (1997).

- [6] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 1736 (1998).
- [7] BOEDO, J.A., et al., "Measurements of Flows in the DIII–D Divertor by Mach Probes," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22859 (1998).
- [8] BOEDO, J.A., et al., Phys. Plasmas 5, 4305 (1998).
- [9] WOOD, R.D., et al., "Measurements of Divertor Radiated Power Losses in the 170–1700 Å Spectral Region on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- [10] WHYTE, D.G., et al., "Divertor Erosion in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22858 (1998).
- [11] ALLEN, S.L., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241–243, 595 (1997).
- [12] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., "Evolution of 2D Deuterium and Impurity Radiation Profiles During Transitions from Attached to Detached Divertor Operation in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22861 (1998).
- [13] STANGEBY, P.C., Nucl. Fusion 33, 1695 (1993).
- [14] GHENDRIH, Ph., et al., J. Nucl. Mater., 220–222, 305 (1995).
- [15] KRASHENINNIKOV, S.I., et al, presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.
- [16] ISLER, R.C., et al., "Spectroscopic Measurements of Impurity Temperatures and Parallel Ion Flows in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22852 (1998).
- [17] ISLER, R.C., et al., Phys. Plasmas 6, 541 (1999).
- [18] ROGNLIEN, T.D., et al., J. Nucl. Mater., **196–198**, 347 (1992).
- [19] DAVIS, J.W., and HAASZ, A.A., J. Nucl. Mater., 241–243, 37 (1997).
- [20] PORTER, G.D., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 1994 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [21] HILL, D.N., DIII–D Divertor Physics Team, "Divertor Detachment in Helium Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- [22] HILL, D.N., et al., "Detached Divertor Operation in DIII–D Helium Plasmas," Proc. 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions, May 1998, San Diego; to be published in J. Nucl. Mater. (1999).
- [23] WEST, W.P., et al., "Carbon Influx in He and D Plasmas in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22880 (1998).

### 2.4.3. IMPURITY CONTROL STUDIES USING SOL FLOW IN DIII-D<sup>12</sup>

In a high-power density fusion device, controlling impurities in the scrape-off-layer (SOL) is essential in obtaining high radiative power fractions in the SOL to protect the divertor surfaces from unacceptable heat loads and material erosion while maintaining acceptably low impurity contamination in the core plasma. A key issue in this regard is whether external control of impurities is possible through tailoring of the main ion flow in the SOL. The tailoring of the main ion flow through strong D<sub>2</sub> gas injection and simultaneous divertor exhaust has been an integral part of the DIII–D program since 1994 [1–4]. These experiments have demonstrated that induced SOL flow offers several potential advantages and two primary results have been obtained: (1) induced SOL flow improves impurity enrichment in the divertor plasma in both open and closed divertor configurations with argon enrichment values as high as 17 obtained in the highest flow cases; and (2) plasmas with  $P_{rad}^{tot}/P_{input} > 80\%$  with a high SOL radiation fraction ( $P_{rad}^{SOL} + P_{rad}^{div} > 60\%$  of  $P_{rad}^{tot}$ ) have been obtained in ELMing H–mode plasmas with confinement ~1.0  $\tau_{ITER93H}$ ,  $n_e = 0.75 n_{eGW}$ , and  $Z_{eff} < 1.9$  using argon as the seeded impurity.

Impurity Enrichment Studies. The premise of the "puff and pump" technique used on DIII–D is that through simultaneous deuterium injection near the midplane and divertor exhaust one can augment the bulk plasma ion flow in the SOL sufficiently to overcome the thermal gradient force, which acts to drive impurities toward the core plasma [5,6]. Additional benefit may be gained through lowering of the SOL and divertor ion temperature, which increases the frictional force and reduces the thermal gradient force. Experiments have demonstrated that this technique is effective in increasing the enrichment of impurities in the DIII–D divertor [1,2] with the improvement being substantial for higher Z impurities [3]. To assess the effectiveness of this process in entraining impurities in the SOL, the typical figures of merit are the exhaust enrichment ( $\eta_{exh} = f_{exh}/f_{core}$ ) and compression ( $C_{exh} = n_Z^{exh}/n_Z^{core}$ ). On DIII–D, direct measurement of these quantities are made using charge-exchange recombination (CER) spectroscopy for the core impurity content and a modified Penning gauge for the exhaust gas impurity content. The results from these studies are summarized in Table 2.4.3–1. The observed exhaust enrichment  $\eta_{exh}$  is observed to be consistently higher in the top fueling case, indicating a beneficial effect of SOL flow on divertor retention

	Case A		Case B		Case C		Case D	
Fueling Location	Тор		Divertor		Тор		Divertor	
Fueling Rate(D°/s)	$1.05 \times 10^{22}$		$1.05 \times 10^{22}$		5.6×10 <sup>21</sup>		$5.6 \times 10^{21}$	
	$\eta_{exh}$	Cexh	$\eta_{exh}$	Cexh	$\eta_{exh}$	Cexh	$\eta_{exh}$	Cexh
Helium	1.1	6.1	0.9	4.3	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Neon	2.3	14.2	1.2	7.8	1.6	6.2	1.0	4.6
Argon	17.0	85.0	6.0	28.5	3.7	11.4	2.1	6.2

Table 2.4.3–1 Measured Enrichment ( $\eta_{exh}$ ) and Compression (C<sub>exh</sub>) for Various Flow Levels and Impurities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Wade, M.R., J.T. Hogan, R.C. Isler, et al., "Impurity Control Studies Using SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23001 (1998).

of impurities. The results in Table 2.4.3–1 also suggest that enrichment is sensitive to the choice of impurity. For example, in the  $1.0 \times 10^{22}$  D<sup>0</sup>/s case, helium enrichment increases ~20%, neon enrichment increases ~90%, and argon enrichment increases ~200% when comparing the top D<sub>2</sub> fueling case (Case A) with the divertor fueling case (Case B). Similar trends in argon enrichment have been inferred from SPRED UV measurements of argon line radiation in the core and divertor plasmas [3]. Analysis shows that this strong Z dependence is consistent with a combined neutral ionization and ion transport picture of impurity entrainment in the divertor [3].

Besides the improvement in impurity enrichment, several advantageous by-products arise from the application of this technique. First, at a high flow level, the SOL broadens and its density increases to  $1.5 \times 10^{19}$  m<sup>-3</sup> while the electron temperature remains approximately 10 eV. Such profiles provide excellent screening of impurities emanating from the vessel wall and an excellent environment for impurity radiation. Secondly, the ELM amplitude is reduced by approximately a factor of two relative to standard ELMing H–mode conditions [7]. This reduction is accompanied by a proportional increase in the ELM frequency such that the time-integrated energy carried out by the ELMs is approximately the same, but the instantaneous perturbation on the edge and divertor plasma induced by each ELM is much smaller. Modeling has also shown that the ELM dynamics are important in the obtainable impurity enrichment with higher frequency ELMs leading to improve enrichment [8]. Note that these changes are accomplished without significant impact on the core energy confinement.

**Radiative Divertor Plasmas.** Motivated by the favorable argon enrichment values obtained in the induced SOL flow case, recent experiments on DIII–D have focused on producing radiative divertors using the "puff and pump" technique with argon as the seeded impurity. These experiments have produced radiative plasmas that possess many of the aspects required by the radiative "solution" embodied in the ITER design criteria. In particular, radiative fractions up to 75% with concomitant heat flux reduction (a factor of 4) have been achieved simultaneous with good core energy confinement ( $\tau_E = 1.1 \tau_{E,ITER93H}$ ) and minimal core contamination ( $Z_{eff} < 1.9$ ). This represents the first successful demonstration of radiative divertor operation using a seeded impurity in which all of these requirements are achieved simultaneously. An overview of the results are presented here.

The best radiative discharges to date have been produced in a lower-single-null configuration with  $I_p = 1.3 \text{ MA}$ ,  $B_T = -2.1 \text{ T}$ ,  $q_{95} = 4.1$ ,  $\kappa = 1.75$ ,  $<\delta > = 0.28$ , and  $P_{NBI} = 11.9 \text{ MW}$ . In these discharges, a SOL flow is applied through deuterium injection near the symmetry point at the top of DIII–D at rate of  $2.45 \times 10^{22} \text{ D}^0$ /s throughout the current flattop phase (Fig. 2.4.3–1). This strong  $D_2$  flow alone produces plasma conditions in which radiation levels are higher than normally found in ELMing H–mode plasmas. During this phase, the total radiated power [Fig. 2.4.3–1(c)] represents approximately 50% (~6.0 MW) of the total input power ( $P_{NBI} + P_{OH} \approx 11.9 \text{ MW}$ ) with  $P_{rad,div}$ : $P_{rad,SOL}$ : $P_{rad,core}$  (MW) = 3.5:2.0:0.5. The peak heat flux incident on the outer divertor target, inferred from IRTV measurements, is ~2.0 MW/m<sup>2</sup> [Fig. 2.4.3–1(d)], which is a factor of two lower than the value normally obtained at these power levels with no external gas injection [9]. Carbon is observed to be the dominant impurity in the core plasma with  $Z_{eff} \approx 1.4$ , [Fig. 2.4.3–1(e)] and carbon and deuterium are the main radiating constituents in the divertor.

A further increase in radiation is then observed upon the introduction of argon at 2.0 s, which is injected from the private flux region of the divertor at a rate of  $1.26 \times 10^{21}$  Ar<sup>0</sup>/s. During the argon injection phase, the total radiation increases up to ~75% (8.5 MW) with P<sub>rad,div:</sub>P<sub>rad,SOL</sub>:P<sub>rad,core</sub> (MW) = 4.3:2.4:1.8. The radiation from the core plasma is localized in the last 10% of the plasma volume while



Fig. 2.4.3–1. Temporal evolution of the (a) input power and line-averaged electron density; (b) deuterium input and exhaust rates and argon input rate, (c) radiation power balance; (d) peak heat flux at the outer strike point; (e)  $Z_{eff}$  and (f)  $\tau_E/\tau_{E,ITER93H}$  in a radiative discharge produced via argon injection simultaneous with strong  $D_2$  injection and divertor exhaust.

the radiation in the divertor plasma is distributed fairly evenly over the entire divertor volume (Fig. 2.4.3-2). The increase in core radiation consists almost entirely of line radiation from argon and is consistent with the measured argon concentration ( $\sim 0.20\%$ ) in the core plasma. Meanwhile, the increase in the divertor radiation includes roughly equal increases in both carbon and argon radiation; thus, carbon remains the dominant radiator in the divertor. Even though the biggest increase in radiation is observed to come from the core plasma, it is important to note that the divertor radiative efficiency (defined as the ratio of the power radiated in the divertor to the power conducted to the divertor) actually increases substantially during the argon injection phase from 40% up to 55%. The increase in radiation is accompanied by a factor of 2 decrease (relative to the pre-argon injection phase) in the total and peak heat flux incident on the outer divertor target plates [Fig. 2.4.3-1(d)]. The outward shift of the heat flux profile observed during the argon injection phase is indicative of partial detachment of the outer strike point [Fig. 2.4.3–2(b)]. However, Langmuir probes measurements at the outer strike point suggest that the outer divertor leg remains attached as the particle flux profile remains peaked at the separatrix location. Furthermore,



Fig. 2.4.3–2. Two-dimensional radiation profile inferred from bolometry data and the heat flux profile at the divertor target taken at 3.5 s of the discharge described in Fig. 2.4.3–1.



Fig. 2.4.3–3. Measured Z<sub>eff</sub> versus the predicted scaling Z<sub>eff</sub> = 1 + 4.5 P<sub>rad</sub> Z<sup>0.12</sup>/(S<sup>0.94</sup>  $\bar{n}_e^{1.89}$ ) where P<sub>rad</sub> is the total radiation power, Z is the charge of the primary impurity, S is the plasma surface area, and  $\bar{n}_e$  is the line-averaged density. The horizontal error bars depicted here represent the uncertainty related to the impurity charge to use in the scaling expression [ranging from Z = 6 (carbon) to Z = 18 (argon)]. The ITER data point is calculated using P<sub>rad</sub> = 150 MW, S = 1250 m<sup>2</sup>, n<sub>e</sub> = 0.96×10<sup>20</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>, and Z = 18 (argon).

the measured  $D_{\alpha}/D_{\beta} > 20$  in the vicinity of the OSP, indicating that significant recombination is not occurring [10].

The core carbon fraction does not change during the argon injection phase while the argon fraction increases to  $\sim 0.20\%$ , resulting in  $Z_{eff} \approx 1.85$ . The incremental  $Z_{eff}$  (i.e.,  $Z_{eff}$  – 1 = 0.85) in this case is a factor of 2 smaller than that predicted by the scaling for radiative plasmas given by Matthews et al. [11]. In fact, the measured incremental Z<sub>eff</sub> in these "puff and pump" discharges is found to be consistently lower than the predicted scaling value, regardless of the level of argon (Fig. 2.4.3–3). This is consistent with the fact that the radiation in the DIII-D radiative discharges comes primarily from the divertor plasma; therefore, one might expect that P<sub>rad</sub> is not a linear function of Zeff as suggested by the Matthews scaling law. Global energy confinement is not affected by the introduction of argon with  $\tau_E$  = 1.7  $\tau_{E,ITER89P} = 1.1 \tau_{E,ITER93H}$ . In fact, there is little variation of energy confinement in

these types of discharges over a wide range of radiative fraction ( $P_{rad}/P_{NBI}$ ). Furthermore, local transport analysis reveals little difference in  $\chi_{eff}$  between the D<sub>2</sub> only cases and the D<sub>2</sub>+Ar cases. These observations are consistent with the observation that there is little deterioration in the edge plasma during the argon injection phase as the pedestal pressure remains approximately the same as in the pre-argon phase. ELMs remain Type I in character with the ELM frequency increasing to 200 Hz during the argon injection phase. One final observation is that energy confinement in this regime is insensitive to plasma density, in contrast to results in RI–mode studies on TEXTOR [12].

**Conclusions.** These studies have demonstrated that SOL flow has many inherent benefits for ELMing H-mode operation including: (1) improved impurity enrichment, especially of high Z impurities; (2) thicker SOL profiles at the midplane; and (3) a factor of two reduction in the heat loss per ELM without any deleterious effects on plasma confinement. Furthermore, a radiative plasma which meets all of the relevant criteria embodied in the ITER design has been produced on DIII–D using this technique in combination with argon injection. The core argon fraction in these plasmas (~0.20%) is consistent with the maximum fraction allowed in ITER as estimated by computational simulations [13]. Previous analytic estimates show that the maximum heat flux reduction in ITER that could be expected given this argon fraction would be  $\approx 50\%$  [14]. However, assuming that an argon enrichment consistent with this experiment (i.e.,  $\eta_{exh} = 3.0$ ) can be achieved on ITER, then this percentage would increase to over 67%, consistent with the ITER criteria that  $P_{target}/P_{loss} = 33\%$ . The results described in Section 2 indicate that even higher divertor enrichment of argon ( $\eta_{exh} \approx 20$ ) can be obtained using induced SOL flow and that a more

closed, baffled divertor geometry may increase the argon enrichment further. Finally, it is worth noting that the "solution" described here embodies many of the favorable aspects of a "hybrid" radiative solution in which low-Z impurity radiation predominates in the divertor and radiation from a high-Z impurity embellishes this divertor radiation while providing additional radiation in the core plasma.

#### **References for Section 2.4.3**

- [1] SCHAFFER, M.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion 8, 1000 (1995).
- [2] SCHAFFER, M.J., et al., J. Nucl. Mater 241–243, 585 (1997).
- [3] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Enrichment Studies with Induced Scrape-Off-Layer Flow on DIII–D," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22698 (1998).
- [4] WADE, M.R., et al., "Impurity Enrichment and Radiative Enhancement Using Induced SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22874 (1998).
- [5] NEUHAUSER, J., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. **121**, 194 (1984).
- [6] KRASHENINNIKOV, S.I., Contrib. Plasma Phys. 28, 465 (1988).
- [7] LEONARD, A.W., et al., "The Impact of ELMs on the ITER Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22860 (1998).
- [8] HOGAN, J.T., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 834 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [9] LASNIER, C.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion **38**, 1225 (1998).
- [10] ISLER, R.C, et al., Plasma Phys. Contr. Fusion 4, 2989 (1997).
- [11] MATTHEWS, G., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 196–198, 450 (1997).
- [12] MESSIAEN, A.M., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1690 (1997).
- [13] MANDREKAS, J., et al., Nucl. Fusion **37**, 1015 (1997).
- [14] POST, D.E., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 121, 171 (1984).

### 2.4.4. PLASMA FLOW IN THE DIII-D DIVERTOR<sup>13</sup>

Indications that flows in the divertor can exhibit complex behavior have been obtained from 2-D modeling [1,2] but so far remain mostly unconfirmed by experiment. An important feature of flow physics is that of flow reversal. Flow reversal has been predicted analytically [3] and it is expected when the ionization source arising from neutral or impurity ionization in the divertor region is large, creating a high pressure zone. Plasma flows arise to equilibrate the pressure.

A radiative divertor regime has been proposed in order to reduce the heat and particle fluxes to the divertor target plates. In this regime, the energy and momentum of the plasma are dissipated into neutral gas introduced in the divertor region, cooling the plasma by collisional, radiative and other atomic processes so that the plasma becomes detached from the target plates. These regimes have been the subject of extensive studies in DIII–D [4] to evaluate their energy and particle transport properties, but only recently it has been proposed that the energy transport over large regions of the divertor must be dominated by convection [5] instead of conduction. It is therefore important to understand the role of the plasma conditions and geometry on determining the region of convection-dominated plasma in order to properly control the heat and particle fluxes to the target plates and hence, divertor performance.

Owing to increased awareness of the important role of flows in the divertor, efforts are being made to characterize plasma and impurity flows in the divertor region. Divertor spectroscopy has been used to study impurity flows in ASDEX-Upgrade [6] and DIII–D [7] and probes for background plasma flow in DIII–D [8], Alcator C-Mod [9], TdV [10], and ASDEX-Upgrade [11], yet results are still partial and preliminary within a growing body [12,13] of well documented divertor physics.

**Results and Discussion**. We have measured the Mach number of the background plasma ion (D<sup>+</sup>), in the DIII-D tokamak divertor, by using a fast scanning probe which is introduced vertically from the floor as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(a). The experiments were performed in lower single null divertor configuration discharges with plasma current  $I_p=1.4$  MA, toroidal field  $B_T=2$  T (VB drift towards lower divertor), flattop duration of 3.8 s. and chord-averaged density of  $0.5-1.0\times10^{20}$  m<sup>-3</sup>. The discharges are heated primarily by neutral beam injection at power levels of 4–5 MW. If a strong gas puff is introduced during the discharge, the divertor plasma temperature drops and the density increases as the plasma detaches from the target plate. We have studied attached and detached discharges in order to compare the flow patterns and their role in particle and energy transport. Since the fast probe is fixed in space, the divertor plasma has been scanned horizontally (in R), to allow exploration of various regions of the divertor, as shown in the two vertical cuts in Fig. 2.4.4–1(a).

For attached divertor conditions, in H–mode, we observe plasma flow accelerating towards the plate in the lower divertor, in agreement with classical expectations [14], as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(b,c) (diamonds). As the neutral density in the divertor increases, and the temperature is reduced, a narrow region of flow reversal at  $\sim 1 \times 10^6$  cm s<sup>-1</sup> develops at the separatrix, as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(d,e) and extends further to the upper divertor and private region for very high neutral density conditions. The development of flow reversal [11] is strongly dependent on the particle source [3] and of great relevance for impurity transport since the impurities can then easily escape the lower divertor [15], defeating its purpose of impurity control. Impurity flow reversal (CIII) has been also observed [7] in the DIII–D divertor near the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Boedo, J.A., G.D. Porter, M.J. Schaffer, et al., "Plasma Flow in the DIII–D Divertor," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 822 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22915 (1998).



Fig. 2.4.4–1. The plasma and divertor geometry and the probe paths are shown. The path labeled  $R_{osp}$ –5 cm crosses the separatrix and the path labeled  $R_{osp}$  enters the SOL directly (a) Measurements of ion velocity (b) and Mach number (c) are obtained by the probe for attached (diamonds) and detached (circles) discharges. We also show the measurements of flow velocity (d) and Mach number (e) obtained at the path crossing the separatrix, and showing flow reversal.

separatrix and in the upper divertor at speed comparable to that of the background plasma. This measurement confirms previous observations of impurity transport in ASDEX-U [6].

As the neutral density in the divertor is increased, the temperature in the divertor decreases further to a regime where recombination starts playing a role and the plasma is detached from the divertor plates. For detached divertor conditions, in H–mode, the plasma flows towards the divertor plate at sound speed over an extended region comprising much of the SOL as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(b,c) (circles). Heat and particle transport under these conditions are then dominated by convection [5]. By comparing the parallel convected heat flux inferred from probe data [16–18] to the total heat flux at the plate measured by an IR camera [18], we find that 80% of the heat flux can be accounted for in semi-detached plasmas and 20%–30% in attached [19] plasmas.

We have modeled all the aforementioned discharge conditions with the code UEDGE [20] in 2 dimensions as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–2(a). We can reproduce the main features observed [19]: 1) flow reversal, as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–2(b), and to be compared to Fig. 2.4.4–1(d,e), and 2) accelerated flow towards the plate as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–2(c), and to be compared to Fig. 2.4.4–1(b,c) (diamonds). We can also reproduce results of convective flow over large volumes of the divertor as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(b,c) (circles). The latter figures are cuts on a 2-D plot, typical UEDGE output, such as the one shown in Fig. 2.4.4–2(a) and meant to reproduce the probe trajectories shown in Fig. 2.4.4–1(a). Work is in progress to improve the accuracy of the simulations by tuning the physics of the carbon source and calculating self-consistently the electric fields (and thus drifts) in the divertor region.

The relevance of the electric fields in the divertor region is under scrutiny since electric fields as large as 100 V/cm have been observed by the scanning probe across the separatrix as shown in Fig. 2.4.4–3. These fields are located at the boundary between the private region and the SOL and can produce



Fig. 2.4.4–2. The 2-D calculations of Mach number obtained by UEDGE and two paths meant to simulate those taken by the probe are shown (a). Calculated Mach number for cuts along those paths crossing the separatrix (b) and entering the SOL directly (c) are shown for attached discharges. Calculated Mach number for the same paths (d–e) are also shown.

 $\vec{E}_{\psi} \times \vec{B}_{\phi}$  flows of the order of 0.3–1×10<sup>5</sup> cm/s away or towards the target plate, introducing a significant amount of poloidal velocity shear (~0.5–1×10<sup>5</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). The poloidal flow speed is between 10% and 40% of the parallel flow and thus can affect its direction appreciably. The particle flux induced by the poloidal flows is of the order of 2–4×10<sup>22</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> which is larger than the estimated radial flux (5×10<sup>20</sup> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) inferred from UEDGE or from turbulence measurements at the midplane. The  $\vec{E}_{\psi} \times \vec{B}_{\phi}$  particle flows thus can potentially affect particle balance in the divertor considerably.

**Conclusions.** We have observed complex structures in the deuterium ion flows in the DIII–D divertor. Features observed include reverse flow, convective flow over a large volume of the divertor and stag-

nant flow. We have measured large gradients in the plasma potential across the separatrix in the divertor and determined that these gradients induce poloidal flows that can potentially affect the particle balance in the divertor. Introduction of self-consistent electric fields in UEDGE is in progress.

#### **References for Section 2.4.4**

- [1] RONGLIEN, T., et al., J. Nucl. Mat. **196–198**, p. 347 (1992).
- [2] PORTER, G.D., and the DIII–D TEAM, Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part II, p. 699 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996).



Fig. 2.4.4–3. Plasma potential profile (V) plotted versus normalized flux  $\psi_n$ . The separatrix is at  $\psi_n$ =1. The electric field is of the order of 200 V/cm.

- [3] COOKE, P.I.H., PRINJA, A.K., Nucl. Fusion 27, 7 (1987).
- [4] MAHDAVI, M.A., et al., Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 397 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997).
- [5] LEONARD, A.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4769 (1997).
- [6] GAFERT, J., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion **39**, 1981 (1997).
- [7] Isler, R.C., et al., Phys. Plasmas 6, 541 (1999).
- [8] BOEDO, J.A., et al., "Measurements of Flows in the DIII–D Divertor by Mach Probes," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22859 (1998).
- [9] LaBOMBARD, B., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241–243, 149 (1997).
- [10] STANSFIELD, B.L., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 1121 (1995).
- [11] PITCHER, C.S., et al., Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 1.
- [12] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1761 (1997).
- [13] FENSTERMACHER, M.E., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 666 (1997).
- [14] LaBOMBARD, B., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 162-164, 314 (1989).
- [15] EVANS, T.E., et al., Contrib. Plasma Phys. 38 (1998) 1/2, 260-265.
- [15] EVANS, T.E., et al., Contribution to Plasma Physics **38**, 260 (1998).
- [16] BRAGINSKII, S.I., Rev. Plasma Phys., edited by M. A. Leontovich (Consultants Bureau, New York, 1965), Vol. 1, p. 205.
- [17] HILL, D.N., et al., Plasma Phys. Control. Nucl. Fusion 3, 487 (1991).
- [18] LASNIER, C.J., et al., Nucl. Fusion 8, 1225 (1998).
- [19] BOEDO, J.A., et al. to be submitted to Nucl. Fusion (1998).
- [20] RONGLIEN, T., et al., submitted to J. Nucl. Mater. (1998).

### 2.4.5. INVESTIGATION OF DENSITY LIMIT PROCESSES IN DIII-D14

Density limit studies and projections are crucial in the design of a fusion reactor's basic operational regime. The operating plasma temperature is set by reactivity considerations. Thus the plasma density, in particular the density in the high reactivity region, determines the fusion power production for an optimized plasma temperature. In present day tokamaks in the high confinement mode (H–mode), the density profiles are relatively flat and it is difficult to create a peaked density profile with H–mode level energy confinement. This flatness of the profile has an undesirable consequence: achievement of a high density core requires a high density edge plasma. However, it is precisely the edge region which can impose the lowest absolute density limit. Thus achievement of a high central density can be restricted by edge density limits.

Historically density limits have been measured and cited as limits on the line-average density ( $\bar{n}_e$ ) measured with an interferometer chord, preventing conclusive identification of the underlying mechanisms. Studies [1,2] of multi-machine databases have identified a commonly observed density limit scaling:  $\bar{n}_e \propto I_p/a^2$ , where  $I_p$  is the plasma current and *a* is the minor radius. However extrapolation of this scaling to reactors can be misleading because the underlying processes have not been definitively determined. The scaling has consequences for fusion reactors: many D-T reactor designs must operate above this limit for economic competitiveness. Theories indicate that several distinct processes exist which can limit density in either the core, edge, or divertor plasma. Motivated by the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor's (ITER) need [3] to operate with density above the Greenwald limit ( $n_{GW}$ ) [2] with H–mode energy confinement, a multi-year experimental campaign has been carried out in DIII–D to identify density-limiting processes and determine techniques to avoid them [4]. Here density "limit" is used loosely since we include processes which prevent attainment of high density operation *with* high energy confinement, as opposed to exclusively disruptive processes. One of our primary goals was to separate edge and core density limit mechanisms.

A density limit in H–mode discharges is most easily observed in a density ramp with external gas fueling. In DIII–D, the following time sequence is usually observed as  $\overline{n}_e$  is increased:

- 1. The divertor plasma partially detaches [5] from the outer target plate upon crossing a private flux region neutral pressure limit [6] and a divertor "MARFE" forms on the low-field side of the X-point region
- 2. The divertor plasma completely detaches, i.e. the divertor  $D_{\alpha}$  and target particle flux are reduced to  $\sim 0$
- 3. The divertor "MARFE" begins to migrate to closed field lines
- 4. An H-mode-to-L-mode confinement transition is observed ELM activity ceases, and the MARFE encroaches onto closed field lines in the X-point area

This entire sequence was eliminated [4] by active pumping of the divertor with the in-vessel cryopump. Pumping maintained the private region neutral pressure below the critical value [6] for partial detachment onset. Pellet fueling replaced gas fueling to raise the plasma density while maintaining low divertor neutral pressure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Maingi, R., M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, et al., "Investigation of Density Limit Processes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published as General Atomics Report GA–A23000.

Partial detachment [5] is in fact an attractive reactor operating scenario because of reduced heat flux without deleterious confinement effects. Borass' 2-point SOL and divertor plasma model has been benchmarked [7] with experimental data from existing tokamaks and used to predict conditions required for detachment onset for ITER. This model was applied [8] to DIII–D conditions and predicted a power scaling of the critical upstream separatrix density and temperature (n<sup>crit</sup><sub>upst</sub> and T<sup>crit</sup><sub>upst</sub>) for partial detachment onset:  $T_{upst}^{crit} \propto P_{div,outer}^{0.3}$ ,  $n_{upst}^{crit} \propto P_{div,outer}^{0.7}$ where P<sub>div.outer</sub> is the power flow into the outer divertor. The



Fig. 2.4.5–1. Scaling of (a) critical separatrix density and (b) temperature at detachment onset as a function of the loss power to the outer divertor.

upstream parameters when the divertor temperature,  $T_{div}$ , falls below 5 eV were taken as the partial detachment onset point in the modeling. Figure 2.4.5–1 shows that experimentally  $n_{upst}^{crit} \propto P_{div,outer}^{0.76}$ ,  $T_{upst}^{crit} \propto P_{div,outer}^{0.57}$ , from Thomson Scattering measurements of electron parameters just above the outer midplane at partial detachment onset. Thus the predicted density scaling appears to fit our data but the temperature dependence is stronger than predicted by the model. Also, the absolute upstream separatrix density predicted by the model is about 2× higher than our measured values — more work is required to understand this particular discrepancy. This study demonstrates the importance of local parameter analysis for these processes: we have previously reported [9] that the critical  $\overline{n}_e$  for detachment onset is almost insensitive to the global heating power, i.e.,  $\overline{n}_e^{crit} \propto P_{heat}^{0.15}$ . In fact that same dependence is present in these data but the global analysis masks the important dependencies. The reason is quite simple: gas puffing preferentially raises the SOL density relative to  $\overline{n}_e$ . Thus while the changes in the  $\overline{n}_e$  are small during these scans, the SOL density increases much more rapidly.

The high density H–L back transition is often accompanied [4,10,11] by MARFEs on closed field lines just inside of the X–point region. In DIII–D this transition is usually observed at between 0.7–1.0\*Greenwald scaling. We have formulated the MARFE onset criterion for DIII–D discharge parameters and shown [12] that a discharge with a MARFE was predicted to be unstable to MARFE formation, whereas a discharge without a MARFE was predicted to be stable. In the low edge temperature

region near the separatrix for  $T_e < 75 \text{ eV}$ , the MARFE onset critical density increases as the edge  $T_e^4$ , primarily because of the  $T_e^{7/2}$  dependence of the parallel heat flux which can stabilize the radiative cooling mechanism responsible for the MARFE. When combined with the ITER-89P scaling law for L-mode energy confinement, it can be shown\* [12] that the MARFE onset critical upstream electron density ( $n_e^{crit}$ ) has the following scaling:

$$n_{e}^{\text{crit}} \propto \frac{I_{p}^{0.96}}{a^{1.9}} \xi^{-0.11} P_{\text{heat}}^{0.43} R_{m}^{0.17} B_{t}^{0.04} \left[ \kappa^{2} \left( 1 + \kappa^{2} \right) \right]^{-0.22} , \qquad (1)$$

where  $\xi$  is impurity concentration,  $P_{heat}$  is the heating power,  $R_m$  is the major radius,  $B_t$  is the toroidal field, and  $\kappa$  is the elongation. This scaling is remarkably similar to Greenwald, both in the strong  $I_p$  and *a* dependencies but also in the weak dependencies on other quantities (except  $P_{heat}$ ). Thus the scaling is clearly applicable to L-mode plasmas which usually have  $T_e < 100 \text{ eV}$  at the edge. H-mode confinement scaling laws have similar dependencies on engineering parameters, leading to a similar scaling for high density ELMY H-mode plasmas in DIII-D. Note that the scaling above predicts a stronger dependence on  $P_{heat}$  than observed on present day machines — we speculate that this discrepancy is related to global parameter analysis presented in most density limit studies and global confinement scaling used to arrive at Eq. (1). This scaling yields an edge plasma density limit which should be of no concern for reactors such as ITER which are expected to operate at edge temperatures well above 100 eV.

After eliminating the detachment and MARFE sequence with divertor pumping, pellet injection was used to fuel the core. However, pellet fueling characteristics lead to other restrictions [4] in the high-density operational window. We observed a stronger than linear plasma current dependence of the density decay time following pellet injection, which suggested operation at high I<sub>p</sub> was favorable for increasing density. In contrast to Greenwald's original analysis [2], we found no correlation between the density decay time and  $\bar{n}_e/n_{GW}$ . In addition, pellet fueling efficiency was found to decrease with heating power, suggesting low heating power was favorable. At B<sub>t</sub> =2.15 T the heating power was  $\leq 2 \times L$ -H confinement transition power threshold. In this regime pellets produced H-L transitions which rapidly ejected the pellet density in <10 ms. Access to high density was achieved by operating at low B<sub>t</sub>, giving more margin over the L-H threshold. We found that MHD modes could be de-stabilized at densities as low as  $\bar{n}_e/n_{GW} \sim 0.8$  during pellet fueling. The n=2 modes resulted in tolerable particle and energy confinement degradation (10%–15%), but the n=1 modes were catastrophic. The cause for the onset of these MHD modes is unclear, but the n=1 modes were avoided by operating at P<sub>heat</sub> < 3 MW ( $\beta_N \leq 1.7$ ).

By studying each of the aforementioned physical processes and selecting conditions to avoid them, we have achieved discharges (e.g. Fig. 2.4.5–2) for the first time at  $\overline{n}_e/n_{GW} \ge 1.5$  for up to 600 ms, with a peak energy confinement time of ~1.2\*ITER93H scaling. Due to the operating conditions required [4], these discharges were ELM-free and suffered from core impurity accumulation and a central power balance limit. Our effectiveness in heating the center was limited by the neutral beam technique; the heating deposition became peaked well off-axis during the high density phase, leading to a central radiative loss rate 4–5 times larger than the neutral beam heating rate. The central power balance density limit has been shown to be very high for reactors in which the heating profile will always be peaked on-axis.

In summary, the various edge density limits we have studied all extrapolate favorably for ITER. By avoiding the pellet fueling, confinement, and MHD limits, we were able to successfully achieve the central core radiative collapse density limit. This limit has been shown to be very high for ITER. The focus

of present studies is on understanding the various pellet-fueling related limits. In addition, injection from the high-field side has been shown [13] to increase fueling efficiency at high heating power which should allow us to raise the maximum  $\beta_N > 2$ , ITER's high value. This capability has been installed into DIII–D and will be used in upcoming experiments.

### **References for Section 2.4.5**

- HUGHILL, J., et al., in Heating in Toroidal Plasmas (Proc. 2nd Joint Varenna-Grenoble Int. Symp., Como, 1980), Vol. 2, CEC, Brussels (1980) 775.
- [2] GREENWALD, M., et al., Nucl. Fusion 2, 2199 (1988).



**ITER Requirement** 

2500

Fig. 2.4.5–2. Demonstration discharge with density  $\geq$ 1.5× Greenwald scaling and H–mode confinement.

Time (ms)

2000

[3] PERKINS, F.W., et al., Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); F1-CN-64/FP-24.

1.7

1.5 1.3

1.1

0.9 0.7

0.5

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.6

n<sub>e</sub>/n<sub>GW</sub>

 $\tau_{\mathsf{E}}/\tau_{\mathsf{E}}$ 

- [4] MAINGI, R., et al., Phys. Plasmas 4, 1752 (1997).
- [5] PETRIE, T.W., et al., Nucl. Fusion **37**, 321 (1997).
- [6] GRENDRIH, P., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 305 (1995).
- [7] BORASS, K., Nucl. Fusion **31**, 1035 (1991).
- [8] MAINGI, R., et al., "Density Limit Studies on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22873 (1998).
- [9] PETRIE, T.W., et al., Nucl. Fusion **33**, 929 (1993).
- [10] PETRIE, T.W., et al., J. Nucl. Mater. 241–243, 639 (1997).
- [11] MERTENS, V., et al., Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); F1-CN-64/A4-4.
- [12] MAHDAVI, M.A., et al., Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1113 (European Physical Society, 1997).
- [13] LANG, P.T., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 1487 (1997).

3000

<sup>\*</sup>Note that Section 2.4.5 erroneously reported  $n_e^{crit} \propto P_{heat}^{0.17}$ ; the correct relation is  $n_e^{crit} \propto P_{heat}^{0.43}$ .

# 2.5. WAVE PARTICLE INTERACTION PHYSICS

### 2.5.1. CURRENT PROFILE MODIFICATION WITH ELECTRON CYCLOTRON CURRENT DRIVE IN THE DIII-D TOKAMAK<sup>15</sup>

Control of the plasma current profile is necessary to extend the high performance discharges observed on the DIII–D tokamak and other tokamaks to steady state. Beyond the obvious need to maintain the total plasma current non-inductively, both the stability of the plasma and the transport of energy across the magnetic field depend on the current profile. Electron cyclotron current drive (ECCD) is a leading candidate to fulfill the role of plasma current profile control due to the straightforward ability to control the location and the magnitude of the non-inductive current under a wide variety of conditions, and the absence of the technical complication of plasma-antenna interactions.

The present system for ECCD on the DIII-D tokamak consists of two gyrotrons operating at 110 GHz. The system and verification of its proper operation have been described in detail elsewhere [1,2], so only a brief description will be given here. The two gyrotrons are rated for 0.9 MW for 2 s and 0.8 MW for 1 s, respectively. The pulse lengths are currently limited by heating of the gyrotron output window, but are adequate for the present proof-of-principle experiments. The power is transmitted via evacuated corrugated waveguide (31.75 mm diam) to the tokamak. Each transmission line contains a pair of miter bends which use grooved mirrors to set almost any desired polarization. Two separate launcher assemblies, neither of which have a vacuum window, have copper mirrors which can steer the beam poloidally. The toroidal angle is fixed in each launcher — either for co-current drive ( $\phi = 24^{\circ}-31^{\circ}$ depending on the poloidal angle) or for nearly radial launch, which allows heating without current drive. All of the results reported here use the co-current drive launcher. A vacuum opening of the transmission line is required to switch between launchers, so comparison of co-current drive with pure heating is not possible in a single day. The experiments reported here all employ second harmonic absorption of the extraordinary-mode polarization. Polarization purity and deposition location experiments have been successfully carried out [1,2]. As a whole, the ECCD system has a demonstrated reliability comparable to the neutral beam systems on DIII-D.

The results reported here represent the proof-of-principle phase of a program to implement an active current profile control system on the DIII–D tokamak. Three key elements of the proof-of-principle are presented here. First, the ability to modify the current profile by varying the deposition location is demonstrated by changes to global quantities related to the current profile such as the internal inductance  $(\ell_i)$  and the appearance of MHD instabilities identified with the q=1 surface such as sawteeth or m=1/n=1 modes. Second, localized current drive is measured by means of an analysis technique which makes use of the unique diagnostic capabilities of the DIII–D tokamak. While central current drive has been previously measured on DIII–D, the first quantitative measurement of localized off-axis ECCD in any toroidal device is reported here. Third, these current drive measurements are compared with various theoretical calculations in order to validate a predictive model of ECCD.

The discharges for the study of ECCD utilize early neutral beam injection (NBI) to delay the onset of sawteeth by raising the electron temperature ( $T_e$ ) and to allow continuous measurement of the internal magnetic fields by means of motional Stark effect (MSE) spectroscopy [3]. This enables detailed reconstruction of the magnetic equilibrium with the EFIT code [4]. An example of the effect of central ECCD is shown in Fig. 2.5.1–1. A single gyrotron is pulsed on at 1.5 s. The time sequence of equilibria show

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Luce, T.C., Y.R. Lin-Liu, J.M. Lohr, et al., "Current Profile Modification with Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23002 (1998).



Fig. 2.5.1–1. Time histories of the internal inductance  $\ell_i$ , the central safety factor q(0), and the poloidal flux at the magnetic axis  $\psi(0)$  for discharges with ECCD (solid line) and without (dashed line). A single gyrotron delivers ~0.5 MW starting at 1.5 s.

that the  $\ell_i$  and central safety factor q(0) deviate significantly from the NBI-only fiducial. While central heating should eventually have a similar result, the time scale for current penetration should be longer, not shorter, if this were a pure heating effect. The time history of the central poloidal flux  $\psi(0)$  also directly indicates that non-inductive current is the cause of the peaking. The time derivative of the poloidal flux is the local loop voltage, and the case with ECCD has a negative voltage indicating a noninductive current source greater than the total existing current density on axis.



Fig. 2.5.1–2. (a) Time histories of central electron temperature. The first sharp drop in temperature in each trace signifies the time of the first sawtooth. The central ECCD case has the first sawtooth at 1.52 s while the off-axis case has the first sawtooth at 1.89 s. The NBI-only fiducial case has the first sawtooth at 1.74 s. Note that the sawteeth are also much more rapid in the central ECCD case. (b) A dataset of similar discharges (same q, density, and ECH power) showing the effect illustrated in (a) is systematic. Current drive inside of  $\rho = 0.3$  hastens the onset of sawteeth while current drive for  $\rho > 0.3$  delays the onset of sawteeth as discussed in the text.

Another indication of current profile modification is the timing of the appearance of a q=1 surface in the plasma as evidenced by the onset of sawteeth or m=1/n=1 modes. For current drive on-axis, the q=1 surface should appear more quickly than in the fiducial case since current is being supplied more rapidly than is possible by diffusion. In the case of weak off-axis current drive, the current profile is broadened and less inductive flux is required which together delay the appearance of the q=1 surface. Evidence of these effects is shown in Fig. 2.5.1–2. The top part of the figure shows time histories of central T<sub>e</sub> for three cases: NBI-only, ECCD at  $\rho = 0.2$ , and ECCD at  $\rho = 0.45$ . (The coordinate  $\rho$  is the square root of

the normalized toroidal flux normalized to the edge value which acts as a relative radial coordinate.) In the off-axis case, the first sawtooth crash is delayed by more than 0.1 s, while central case induces the first sawteeth over 0.2 s earlier, despite the significant rise in  $T_e$ . The lower part of the figure shows the change in the time at which a q=1 surface appears, relative to a NBI-only fiducial with equal plasma current (I) and toroidal field (B), as a function of deposition radius. The dataset consists of ten discharges with equal injection power ( $P_{EC}$ ) and electron density (n). The systematic trend discussed above is apparent and the magnitude of the effect appears consistent with the magnitude of the driven current, which drops with radius due to the lower local  $T_e$ . The conclusion is that the ECCD is capable of making measurable modifications of the current profile over the range of radius where experiments were carried out ( $\rho = 0.1-0.6$ ). This sets the stage for the next step, which is to quantify the location and magnitude of the ECCD.

Measurement of the non-inductive current profile in the absence of resistive equilibrium requires simultaneous knowledge of the current density profile and the internal electric potential or loop voltage (V). These quantities are inferred on DIII–D by calculating the poloidal flux  $\psi$  on a spatial grid as a function of time [5]. The high spatial resolution measurements of the internal magnetic fields by MSE are necessary to provide the required accuracy and resolution. Two spatial derivatives of  $\psi$  give the total current density while the time derivative of  $\psi$  at constant  $\rho$  gives the loop voltage at that surface. Using a neoclassical conductivity [6], the non-inductive current density ( $J_{NI}$ ) is given by the difference of the total current density ( $J_{I|I}$ ) and the inductive current density ( $J_{OH} = \sigma E_{||}$ ). The remaining JNI is a combination of NB, bootstrap, and EC current. To isolate the ECCD, an NBI-only fiducial is prepared identically to the ECCD shot, and the difference is formed. This difference is corrected for the change in kinetic parameters between the two shots, but that correction is usually small. The assumptions of neoclassical resistivity and bootstrap current have been validated experimentally [5].

Two examples of off-axis ECCD analyzed by this technique are shown in Fig. 2.5.1–3. The left-hand column shows a case with deposition at  $\rho = 0.2$  and the right-hand column shows a case with  $\rho = 0.45$ . Starting with the left-hand case, the top figure shows  $J_{\parallel}$  from the equilibrium reconstruction for the ECCD and NBI-only cases. Notice that in the 0.5 s since the turn-on of the ECCD, the current profile has been substantially modified in agreement with the discussion above of Fig. 2.5.1–2. This magnitude of change is consistent with resistive simulations. The next box down shows the inferred loop voltage as a function of radius for both cases. The error bars are the random errors arising from fitting the time series of equilibria. This is estimated to be the dominant source of random error in this calculation and is propagated throughout the remaining calculations. As explained above, the neoclassical conductivity is calculated from the measured n,  $T_e$ , and impurity concentration ( $Z_{eff}$ ) and combined with V and  $J_{\parallel}$  to give  $J_{NI}$  (third box). (The graph ends at  $\rho = 0.7$  because no Z<sub>eff</sub> measurements are available outside of this.) Finally, the difference in the non-inductive current between the ECCD and fiducial shot is shown in the bottom box. This difference is ascribed to ECCD. The integrated difference current out to  $\rho = 0.4$  is 48 kA. The apparent current for  $\rho > 0.4$  is ~10 kA and is likely due to the accumulation of the systematic errors of this technique. While the accumulated random error in the driven current is large (~34 kA), making definitive comparisons at that level difficult, the peak current density is >2 standard deviations (2  $\sigma$ ) from 0, and the peak is clearly resolved to better than 1  $\sigma$ .

The right-hand column represents a case with the beam steered to  $\rho = 0.45$ . In this case, no significant change in J<sub>II</sub> is observed after 0.5 s (top box), but the ECCD is revealed by the reduction in V required



Fig. 2.5.1–3. Measurements of the current density due to the ECCD. The left column is analysis of a case with the beam aimed at  $\rho = 0.2$ . The plasma parameters in the ECCD discharge are B = 1.97 T, I = 0.98 MA,  $\bar{n} = 1.7 \times 10^{13}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, P<sub>EC</sub> = 1.03 MW. The right column is analysis of a case with the beam aimed at  $\rho = 0.4$ . The plasma parameters in the ECCD discharge are B = 1.76 T, I = 0.89 MA,  $\bar{n} = 1.8 \times 10^{13}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, P<sub>EC</sub> = 1.14 MW. The solid lines are the ECCD discharge in each case and the dashed lines are the NBI-only fiducial discharge. The top box is the total current density, the next box is the loop voltage, the third box is the non-inductive current density, and the bottom box is the ECCD current density. All traces are plotted versus the radial coordinate  $\rho$ .



Fig. 2.5.1–4. Comparison of experimental and theoretical current drive efficiency normalized to temperature. The experimental efficiency (circles) is roughly independent of radius while the theoretical efficiencies drop sharply with increasing radius. Three theoretical calculations are shown: linear theory (diamond), quasi-linear Fokker-Planck calculation (open square), and Fokker-Planck with parallel electric field (filled square).

locally to drive the same current (second box). The difference in non-inductive current appears at the expected location and is reduced in magnitude from the  $\rho = 0.2$  case (third and fourth boxes). The peak is resolved to 1  $\sigma$  and is >2  $\sigma$  from 0. The driven current in the positive peak is 31 kA. These cases are typical of the presently analyzed dataset in that the inferred peak current density appears at the expected location within the systematic errors of the aiming calibration, and the peak current density is significantly above any systematic or random errors apparent in the data.

The combination of poloidal beam steering and variation in the toroidal field allows assessment of the effects of trapped electrons on the ECCD. Two types of scans have been analyzed using the current drive analysis technique described above. The first is a scan of poloidal position at fixed toroidal field such that the resonance intersects the magnetic axis. The second type is a correlated variation of B and poloidal aiming to scan the poloidal deposition location at fixed  $\rho$ . In varying B, the plasma current is varied proportionately to keep the q profile simi-

lar, in order to avoid any difficulties with MHD instabilities. This dataset was obtained with roughly constant line-averaged electron density  $(1.7-1.8 \times 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  and  $P_{EC}$  (0.95–1.14 MW). The figure of merit chosen to evaluate these scans is the local current drive efficiency  $\eta (= nI_{EC}R/P_{EC})$ , with n the density at the deposition location and the major radius of the center of the flux surface where the current is driven) normalized by the theoretically expected linear temperature dependence. The radial scan shown in Fig. 2.5.1–4 indicates that the normalized efficiency  $\eta/T$  is independent of  $\rho$  in the region where experiments were carried out ( $\rho = 0.1-0.5$ ). Note that the driven current does drop over this range; it is only the normalized efficiency which is constant. This lack of dependence on  $\rho$  is in contrast to the theoretical results also illustrated in Fig. 2.5.1–4. Three types of calculations are displayed in the figure — a linear calculation [7], a quasi-linear Fokker-Planck calculation [8], and a quasi-linear Fokker-Planck calculation with the effects of  $E_{\parallel}$ . The Fokker-Planck calculations have been verified with an independent code [9]. With the exception of the centermost case where the high power density results in a significant quasi-linear effect, the three calculations obtain roughly the same answers. Since the effective trapped particle fraction rises by approximately a factor of 2 over this range of  $\rho$ , it appears that the normalized efficiency does not depend as strongly on this quantity as predicted by theory.

This same conclusion is consistent with the results of the poloidal location scans shown in Fig. 2.5.1–5. At both  $\rho = 0.35$  and  $\rho = 0.45$ , the normalized efficiencies are well above the theoretical predictions, indicating that the effect of trapped electrons is significantly less than predicted. The effect of trapped electrons is not completely absent as shown by points in the figure which represent calculations

of the ECCD in the absence of trapped particles. The poloidal variation in both scans is due in part to the local trapped particle fraction change and in part due to the upshift of the toroidal index of refraction due to damping at small major radius. The relative importance of these two effects is being investigated.

One possible explanation for the weaker trapped electron effect is modification of the trapped particle boundary by finite collisionality. The theoretical calculations applied to the scans in Figs. 2.5.1–4 and 2.5.1–5 all impose a trapped particle boundary assuming zero collisionality, i.e., a boundary which continues down to zero velocity. In the trapped particle region of velocity space, the characteristic time is the bounce time,



Fig. 2.5.1–5. Variation of normalized efficiency with poloidal angle at fixed  $\rho$ . The points connected by the solid line are  $\rho = 0.30-0.38$ . The points connected by the dashed line are for  $\rho = 0.44-0.50$ . Poloidal angle is defined as the angle with respect to the major radius with the magnetic axis as the origin. The outboard midplane is the 0° reference, vertically above the axis is 90°, and the inboard midplane is 180°.

which is assumed in these calculations to be much shorter than the pitch-angle scattering time characteristic of the passing region. Therefore, electrons which diffuse into the trapped particle region from the cocurrent side emerge rapidly (compared to the pitch-angle scattering time) on the counter-current side. This is the Ohkawa effect [10]. Finite collisionality reduces the size of the trapped region roughly in proportion to  $\sqrt{v_*}$ , and reduces it preferentially at low velocity. This has the somewhat surprising result that finite collisionality increases the net current, because electrons spend more time on the co-current side of the distribution. The data in Fig. 2.5.1–5 lie between the calculations with zero collisionality and the calculations with no trapped particles, which indicates that a reduction of the trapped particle region can explain the data. A predictive model based on finite collisionality theory has not yet been developed.

A qualitative assessment of the implications of this effect for ECCD on DIII–D and future devices can be made. The discharges reported here have the same collisionality as envisioned for high fusion power devices such as ITER [11]. However, the plasma  $\beta$  is significantly lower than planned for these discharges. The effect of higher  $\beta$  is to move the wave-particle interaction to higher velocity where the finite collisionality effects are small and to higher parallel velocity (due to relativistic effects) where the distance to the trapped particle region is larger. Therefore, the observed enhancements in the DIII–D experiments should be less significant in next step devices, The same argument is true for the advanced tokamak discharge scenarios for DIII–D which have higher  $\beta$  and lower collisionality than these proof-ofprinciple discharges. Using the same zero collisionality calculations as referenced above, substantial offaxis current is predicted at the half radius in these scenarios, due to the higher  $\beta$ .

With the present 1 MW ECCD system on DIII–D, it has been possible to modify the current profile evolution and make clear measurements of localized off-axis ECCD. The measured off-axis current drive

efficiencies are higher than predicted, indicating that some refinement of the theory is necessary. This work supports the development of the 6 MW ECCD system planned for completion in 2000 as an active current profile control tool for the DIII–D tokamak.

### **References for Section 2.5.1**

- [1] CALLIS, R.W., et al., Proc. 20th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 7–11, 1998, Marseille, France, Vol. 1, p. 315 (Association EURATOM-CEA, Saint Paul Lez Durance, 1998).
- [2] LOHR, J., et al., Proc. 23rd Int. Conf. on Infrared and Millimeter Waves, September 7–11, 1998, Wivenhoe Park, Colchester, United Kingdom, p. 269.
- [3] RICE, B.W., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 2694 (1997).
- [4] LAO, L.L., et al., Nucl. Fusion **30**, 1035 (1990).
- [5] FOREST, C.B., et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. **73**, 2244 (1994).
- [6] HIRSHMAN., S.P., Phys. Fluids **31**, 3150 (1988).
- [7] COHEN, R.H., Phys. Fluids **30**, 2442 (1987).
- [8] HARVEY, R.W., McCOY, M.G., in Advances in Simulation and Modeling of Thermonuclear Plasmas (Proc. IAEA Tech. Comm. Mtg, Montreal, 1992), IAEA, Vienna (1993), p. 498.
- [9] GIRUZZI, G., Phys. Fluids **31**, 3305 (1988).
- [10] OHKAWA, T., General Atomics Report GA-A13847 (1976).
- [11] PETTY, C.C., et al., Phys. Plasma **2**, 2342 (1995).

### 2.5.2. FAST WAVE HEATING AND CURRENT DRIVE IN ELMING H-MODE PLASMAS IN DIII-D<sup>16</sup>

The DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive (FWCD) program has concentrated on studying the basic physics of direct electron heating and current drive in low density L–mode discharges from its inception in 1991 through 1996. Among the reasons for this are the controllable low densities that can be achieved in L–mode, thus maximizing the power per particle available with a fixed transmitter power, and the high and nearly steady antenna loading that is obtained, maximizing the coupled rf power levels with a given maximum antenna voltage. Among the principal results of the L–mode experiments [1,2] was the observation of nearly full absorption of the coupled FW power, despite calculated first-pass absorption in the range of 8%–15%. However, the heating and current drive efficiencies dropped off sharply when the calculated first-pass absorption was less than about 8% in the condition studied. This was explained by an unspecified edge loss mechanism at the level of 4% per bounce. A survey of possible edge loss mechanisms in these experiments [3] showed that the most plausible candidate for the important edge loss mechanism was dissipation in far field rectified rf sheaths [4].

The more recent DIII–D FWCD work has been aimed at extension of the operating regimes of the experiments, including higher total power by combining FW with NBI [5] and 110 GHz ECH [6]. Generally, these higher power levels result in H–mode confinement, and in a quasi-steady-state condition, Edge Localized Modes (ELMs). Over the past two years, the DIII–D FWCD systems have been modified to improve their capabilities under a wider range of dynamic antenna loading conditions, such as those characteristic of ELMing H–modes. In this paper, the first results of extending the FWCD studies to ELMing H–mode discharges are presented.

**Technical Improvements to DIII–D FWCD Systems.** The DIII–D FWCD system consists of three fourelement antenna arrays, of two different designs, and three transmitters, also of two different designs. The original system (referred to as 285, from the toroidal angle in the DIII–D vessel at which the antenna array is located) was operated at frequencies close to 60 MHz in these experiments, and the two newer systems (referred to as 0 and 180) were used at approximately 83 MHz. A considerable simplification of the 285 system's transmission line that was carried out in 1997 is described in detail in Ref. [7]. The resulting system has only one adjustable tuning element (the "decoupler" stub), yet the standing wave ratio seen by the transmitter is less than 1.25 at all times during the discharge despite rapid fluctuations in the antenna loading resistance of more than a factor of four in ELMing H–mode. One further refinement in the operation of 285 that was used in the 1998 experiments was to adjust the operating frequency, within the instantaneous bandwidth of the transmitter, to compensate for changes in the reactive component of the antenna loading caused by different antenna/plasma gaps. Since this system has no adjustable tuning elements to compensate for these changes, the frequency adjustment (in the range of 59.8–60.1 MHz) is necessary to minimize the power diverted to the dummy load.

The modifications to the two newer systems to enhance their H-mode capabilities were to the arc protection circuits, which were reconfigured to be functionally identical to the older system's. The resulting arc protection system distinguishes rapid load transients that appear symmetrically on all four elements of an array from localized changes in impedance that affect only one element at a time. Impedance changes of the symmetric type occur at L-H transitions and ELMs, or are caused by any other nearly axisymmetric fluctuation, while localized arcs in a single antenna in an array cause impedance changes of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, W.P. Cary, et al., "Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in ELMing H-mode Plasmas in DIII-D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 1406 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA-A22917 (1998).



Fig. 2.5.2–1. (a) Time histories of the power reflection coefficient seen by 285 system's transmitter (solid line) and photodiode signal (dashed) in ELMing H–mode discharge. (b) Percentage of power diverted to dummy load for the 285 (solid), 180 (dashed), and 0 (symbols) systems. (c) Coupling resistance for the 285, 180 and 0 (similar labeling) antenna arrays.

the latter type. Furthermore, all three systems are equipped with "balanced fault detectors," which remove the rf drive when the antenna loading is anomalously high. The principle of this detector was based on the observation of a type of fault which appeared symmetric to all four array elements, but corresponded to a very high resistive loading, much higher than observed even at the peak of an ELM. This fault is interpreted as an rf discharge filling the antenna housing. Balanced faults were sometimes triggered by an ELM, particularly when the plasma surface was close to the antennas, and thereby constituted one limitation on the power that could be reliably coupled to ELMing H-mode discharges.

A 50 ms-long time history showing a typical example of operation of these systems in an ELMing H–mode is shown in Fig. 2.5.2–1. The coupling resistance of all three antenna arrays increases by a factor of

between 2.5 and 4 at each ELM (indicate by the increase in the photodiode signal which measures  $D_{\alpha}$  radiation at the plasma edge). Despite this substantial change in the antenna impedance, the power reflection coefficient seen at the transmitter output increases only to about 3%. The fixed pretuning arrangement used on the 285 array (no variable tuning elements other than the decoupler stub) causes the fraction of the transmitter power that is diverted to the dummy load (the waste percentage) to *decrease* at each ELM from about 25% to less than 10%. The tuners that remain in the 0 and 180 systems are adjusted so that the fraction of power diverted to their dummy loads is virtually 0 between ELMs, *increasing* to about 25% at the peak of each ELM. Which of these two configurations is more desirable is not obvious at present; comparison of these configurations is among the technical goals of these experiments. In 1998, the 285 system was reliably operated with a peak rf voltage limit of about 25 kV, while the 0 antenna operated successfully at peak voltages over 30 kV. Operation of the 180 system was limited not by peak antenna voltage, but by transmitter power, as a result of the higher ohmic losses in that system's relatively long transmission lines.

Electron Heating and Current Drive Experiments in ELMing H–mode Discharges. The first set of systematic experiments on FWCD and electron heating in ELMing H–mode plasmas were performed in the sawtooth-free portion (early neutral beam injection) of 1.4 MA discharges at a toroidal field of 2.05 T in a lower single null divertor configuration. 5 MW of NBI and up to 1.2 MW of 110 GHz ECH [6] were used to produce a target plasma with  $T_e(0)$ ~4.5 keV at a line-averaged electron density of ~3.5 × 10<sup>19</sup> m<sup>-3</sup> with an ELM frequency of ~100 Hz. Discharges were studied with different "outer gaps" (the outer gap is the distance from the separatrix to the limiter at the outboard midplane; the face of the antenna Faraday shields is recessed about 3 cm behind the limiter) between 2.5 and 8 cm, with all other parameters held as constant as possible. The total fast wave power that could be coupled to these discharges was less than

2 MW, owing to the very light antenna loading obtained between ELMs — comparable to only twice the loading obtained in the absence of plasma (half of the net power is coupled to the plasma) at the larger outer gaps. The resistive loading decayed exponentially with the outer gap for all three arrays, as shown in Fig. 2.5.2–2(a). The rate of decay of the loading as the gap was increased was ~60% larger than had been observed in L-mode, which further exacerbated the difficulty of high power coupling at large gaps.

The FW power directly deposited on electrons was measured using standard Fourier techniques by modulating the FW power at 40 Hz (80% modulation depth, square wave envelope) and measuring the correlated response on the electron cyclotron emission (ECE) radiometer channels covering the core of the plasma ( $\rho \le 0.6$ ). In the case of the 8 cm outer gap, about half of the coupled FW power could be accounted for in this way, which is a fraction comparable to that obtained in previous studies under good absorption conditions. At smaller outer gaps, however, the fraction of the power appearing in the plasma core dropped substantially [Fig. 2.5.2–2(b)]. At an outer gap of 5 cm, the power that could be found in the modulation analy-



Fig. 2.5.2–2. (a) Coupling resistance for all three antenna arrays (between ELMs) in the outer gap scan. (b) Fraction of coupled fast wave power deposited within  $\rho \le 0.6$  from the ECE modulation analysis.

sis was somewhat higher in a discharge in which the divertor cryopump was not used compared with a pumped case at the same outer gap. This gap dependence might be expected from a model in which the edge loss due to far field sheaths is the dominant mechanism competing with the weak central absorption due to TTMP and Landau damping: the rf electric field available at the wall to produce the  $E_{\parallel}$  that in turn excites the sheaths [4] is exponentially larger at smaller gaps, just as the antenna loading increases at smaller gaps. Furthermore, the electron density at the wall would be expected to be higher at smaller gaps, which also tends to increase the power dissipated in the sheaths.

This trend continued in the FW current drive results. The loop voltage profile as a function of time and the fast wave current drive were deduced by comparing sawtooth-free discharges with co- and counter-current drive antenna phasings, as has been described previously [5]. Up to 80 kA of central FWCD were measured in the 8 cm gap case, as shown in Fig. 2.5.2–3(a); again, the measured driven current declined at smaller gaps, despite the higher coupled FW power. The measured FWCD was compared with code calculations based on the ergodic multipass limit [8], with no assumed edge loss. The results are shown in Fig. 2.5.2–3(b); a substantial edge loss [2] would be required to explain the current drive and heating deficit in the 3.5 cm case. The key point is that the central current drive efficiency, a local quantity, cannot itself depend on the edge plasma conditions. Hence, the measured sensitivity of the driven current to the edge plasma parameters must result from the dependence of the edge loss mechanism that competes with central damping in the multipass limit on edge parameters.

Future experimental work will aim to measure the far-field sheaths directly with probes distant from the fast wave arrays and to investigate the correlation between the sheaths and the edge loss required to account for the measured central electron heating and current drive efficiencies as a function of outer gap. Also, previous observations have shown a relationship between the ELM characteristics and the central heating efficiency. Direct measurement of the sheaths and their dependence on the ELM characteristics should facilitate finding ELMing H–mode conditions that are compatible with efficient high-power central fast wave heating and current drive.

#### **References for Section 2.5.2**

- [1] PINSKER, R.I., et al., Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland Vol. 18B, Part III, 1118 (1994)].
- [2] PETTY, C.C., et al., Nucl. Fusion **35**, 773 (1995).
- [3] MYRA, J.R., and D'IPPOLITO, D.A., Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1628 (1994).
- [4] MYRA, J.R., D'IPPOLITO, D.A., and BURES, M., Phys. Plasmas 1, 2890 (1994).
- [5] PETTY, C.C., et al., Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 225 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997).
- [6] PRATER, R., et al., Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 1410 (European Physical Society, 1998).
- [7] PINSKER, R.I., et al., Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 413 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998).
- [8] KUPFER, K., et al., Phys. Plasmas 1, 3915 (1994).



Fig. 2.5.2–3. (a) FW-driven current (co-current phasing) in the outer gap scan. (b) Ratio of measured FW-driven current to that calculated from the multipass code, assuming no edge loss.

# 

## 3.1. OVERVIEW OF CURRENT CAPABILITIES

DIII–D National Fusion Facility provides the capability to carry out a wide range of state-of-the-art tokamak experiments. At the heart of the facility is the DIII–D tokamak, which is capable of operating at plasma currents up to 3.0 MA with a magnetic field of 2.2 T. The DIII–D tokamak is renowned for its research in highly noncircular limiter and divertor plasma configurations. Substantial plasma heating and current drive capability is available from 20 MW (delivered) of neutral beam heating, 6 MW (source) of ICRF power and 2 MW (source) of ECRF power. The DIII–D diagnostics set provides over 50 diagnostic systems capable of providing definitive measurements of plasma parameters in the core, edge, and boundary regions of the plasma. Control of the tokamak, heating systems, and auxiliaries is managed through a set of interconnected computers.

Operation of the DIII–D facility is the responsibility of GA, who provides the core operational engineering and technical staff, along with the appropriate infrastructure to organize the effort. Many collaborators in the DIII–D Program participate in operational activities including, in particular, the design, installation, and operation of diagnostics and plasma systems such as rf heating, pellet injection, etc. GA is responsible for coordinating and focusing these efforts, ensuring safety, and maintaining appropriate levels of quality.

The DIII–D facility provides over 100,000 sq. ft. of floor space on a ten acre site dedicated to support the activities of the DIII–D Program and its collaborators (Fig. 3–1). The DIII–D tokamak is located at the heart of the facility (Fig. 3–2) with the many support systems, utilities, and diagnostics arrayed around it.

Excellent progress has been made over the last ten years in keeping the facility vital by continually upgrading and refurbishing the tokamak systems in order to address the challenging issues of tokamak research. The major changes are summarized in Table 3–1 along with some of the important steps in physics progress. Not shown here are the numerous improvements to the diagnostic systems that have made the DIII–D facility the best diagnosed tokamak in the world. The current status of the diagnostics is presented in Section 3.6. Also not shown are the many ongoing upgrades to the computer systems for control data acquisition and analysis that have been carried out to meet the needs of the program. The current status of the system is given in Section 3.5.







Fig. 3–2. The heart of the facility is the DIII–D tokamak with its many support systems, utilities and diagnostics.

 Table 3–1

 Major Events in the History of the DIII–D Facility — 1989 through 1998

Month	Year	Event			
Apr	89	Radiation shield enclosure complete			
Aug	89	Achieved 19.6 MW neutral beam injection			
Oct	89	Achieved 3 MA double-null divertor			
Jan	90	Install CER and horizontal ECE diagnostics			
Feb	90	Achieved 10 s H-mode plasmas			
Feb	90	Motional Stark effect diagnostic operational			
June	90	Install ADP ring electrode			
June	90	Install first FWCD antenna			
June	90	Install first 110 GHz ECH launcher			
Nov	90	Multipulse Thomson scattering complete			
Dec	90	1 MW FWCD power into tokamak			
Dec	90	Fast stroking Langmuir probe installed			
Jan	91	First biased internal ring experiments			
May	91	First boronization			
May	91	VH–mode discovered			
June	91	Beta of 11.2% achieved			
Mar	92	110 GHz ECH into plasma			
June	92	Between shot boronization			
Nov	92	Install ADP in-vessel cryopump			
Jan	93	Cover all vessel walls with graphite tiles			
Feb	93	Switched to exclusive of glow discharge cleaning			
June	93	Repaired TF coil prestress structure			
Oct	93	Measured He exhaust from plasma			
Oct	93	Achieved beta of 12.6%			
Jan	94	Install deuterium pellet injector			
Apr	94	Complete installation of second and third ECH antenna			
Sep	94	Magnetic field correction coil installed			
Oct	94	2 MW ICH with new antennas			
Feb	95	Install divertor Thomson scattering			
Feb	95	Install divertor reflectometer			
Feb	95	Install beam emission spectroscopy diagnostic			
Apr	95	Ohmic heating coil lead failure identified			
Jul	95	Ohmic heating coil returned to service at half capability			
Dec	95	Record DIII–D performance: 4.4 MJ stored energy, Q <sub>DD</sub> = 0.0015			
Feb	96	Remote experimental connectivity begun			
May	96	Plasma control using real-time equilibrium calculations			
June	96	First 110 GHz ECH physics experiments; T <sub>e</sub> = 10 keV			
Feb	97	Upper divertor plenum and cryopump installed			
Feb	97	Radial MSE diagnostic installed			
May	97	Isoflux plasma feedback control implemented			
June	97	Second 110 GHz gyrotron generates 850 kW, 2-s pulse			
June	97	Remote operation from LLNL			
Nov	97	Repair of ohmic heating coil lead completed			
Apr	98	Off-axis ECCD experiments			
May	98	First resistive wall mode control experiments			
June	98	Hampton University VUV diagnostic operational			
Sep	98	Install central Thomson scattering			
Sep	98	Install high field side pellet injector			

### **3.2. TOKAMAK OPERATIONS**

In the years 1998 and preceding, the DIII–D facility operated for research from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. with technical staff arriving up to two hours earlier to prepare and staying afterward for shutdown. Research operations have been carried out on a five-day-a-week basis for three weeks of operation followed by two weeks of maintenance, calibration, and testing. In addition, longer shutdowns are sometimes needed for major maintenance tasks. Typically one longer period is set aside each year for new installations and major refurbishments. In recent years, the number of operating weeks has been limited by funding (8 weeks in FY97 and 13 weeks in FY98 compared to up to 27 weeks earlier). The number of operating hours per year could readily be increased by a factor of two or more with appropriate funds.

The tokamak is housed within the machine hall, which provides access control during operations and provides radiation shielding to allow deuterium to be used as fuel in the tokamak. Within the machine hall, the tokamak is surrounded by heating systems, most notably the large neutral beam lines, diagnostic systems, and other auxiliary systems.

The DIII–D tokamak uses conventional water-cooled coils to provide the magnetic field configuration. The coil systems are designed to operate in a pulsed mode with the joule heat stored in the coil mass during the discharge and removed in the ten minute interval between discharges. They routinely operate at full 2.2 T toroidal field and at 2 MA plasma current for a discharge flat-top duration of 5 s (Fig. 3–3). This can be readily extended to 10 s with modest upgrades of the coil system connections, feeds, and power supplies. Operation for longer duration at lower field and plasma current is also possible. The DIII–D coil configuration is noteworthy for its 18 independently controlled poloidal field shaping coils, each powered by an independent current regulator. These coils shape the highly noncircular plasma cross sections which are typical of the DIII–D Research Program. Lastly, there is a set of six 5 m<sup>2</sup> picture frame coils mounted in a belt around the midplane which correct the residual error fields due to anomalies in the magnetic field configuration.

DIII–D presently has a comprehensive carbon first wall and divertor targets to protect the vacuum vessel in areas of high heat fluxes and to limit high Z impurities in the plasma (Fig. 3–4). Graphite is an effective choice because it has low atomic mass so that sputtered graphite entering the plasma has little impact, it has good thermo-mechanical properties in contact with the hot plasma, and it has good thermal conductivity. The first wall is a robust system, operating for ten years without failures, providing maximum experimental time. The wall consists of inertially cooled graphite tiles, absorbing energy during a discharge then releasing it to the water cooled vessel wall through a compliant heat transfer interface in the ten minutes between discharges. The first wall is conditioned for operation by first baking and outgassing under vacuum at 350°C. The wall is then coated with a fine layer of boron (boronization) which serves largely to getter oxygen in the vessel. Finally, helium glow discharge cleaning is used in the interval between discharges to clean and degas the wall surfaces before the next discharge.

A wide range of plasma configurations can be run including single-null divertors with either upper or lower null, highly shaped double-null divertors, and limiter discharges on any of the surfaces. The tile design provides cavities between the vacuum vessel wall and the tiles for diagnostics, protecting them and their signal cables from large heat fluxes.


Fig. 3–3. DIII–D capabilities allow a wide range of research and technology issues to be addressed.



Fig. 3–4. The entire DIII–D first wall is graphite.

A toroidally continuous baffle with cryopump in the lower divertor region has been in use for several years (Fig. 3-5). Divertor characterization experiments have been successful using the extensive lower diagnostic set to benchmark many computer plasma models. Low triangularity plasmas are routinely pumped by placing the separatrix at the aperture of the divertor plenum to provide density and particle control with 40,000 l/s pumping speed. These pumps operate at liquid helium temperatures and actively pump both the plasma fuel gas and all volatile impurities during the discharge. They also have the capability of substantially lowering the plasma density. The cryopump at the bottom of the plasma chamber is optimized to pump the edge of single-null divertor discharges with low triangularity.

An integrated biasable ring electrode has allowed the study of the effects of electric fields on the neutral pressure in the baffle, as well as evaluated novel noninductive startup techniques. The upper divertor target area was



Fig. 3–5. The carbon first wall and divertor targets protect the vacuum vessel and limit high-Z impurities.

modified in the beginning of FY97 with the installation of the first phase of the Radiative Divertor. This hardware included a toroidally continuous baffle and cryopump similar to the existing lower system in the bottom except the aperture to the pumping plenum is at a smaller minor radius, allowing pumping and particle control high performance, high triangularity discharges. The structure is comprised of water-cooled Inconel 625 panels with graphite tiles mounted to the surface. The cryopump is of a design similar to the proven lower pump. The pump provides pumping speeds of nearly 40,000 l/s for the high performance discharges. The D<sub>2</sub> is defrosted from the pumps during the helium glow between discharges and the pumps are fully defrosted and outgassed during nonoperational periods.

The gas puff system and pellet injector provide for control of the plasma fueling. The gas system provides a completely programmable source of a diverse range of gases to initiate the discharge and fuel it from the edge during the pulse. The pellet injector provides fueling deeper into the plasma by injecting high velocity pellets of frozen fuel gas from the plasma edge. The injector is capable of delivering a continuous stream of pellets during a discharge.

A substantial number of more utilitarian systems are necessary to operate the facility. Prime power for the auxiliary heating systems is taken from the local utility power mains. The power for the coil systems is supplied by one of two flywheel energy storage motor generators (525 and 260 MVA). These generators are spun up to full energy between discharges and then the energy is drawn out during the 10 s of the discharge. The coils are powered by a set of phase controlled power supplies. In the case of the plasma

shaping coils, there is a series switching current regulator in series with each. The auxiliary heating systems are powered by 12 high voltage power supplies each typically capable of 6 MW of power.

A 150 l/h helium liquifier provides the cryogenic helium needed to support operation of the neutral beamlines, ECH magnets, pellet injector, and divertor cryopumps. A substantial water conditioning system supplies the high pressure, high purity water needed to cool the coils and other systems.

Operation of the tokamak with deuterium fuel results in significant neutron production. These neutrons create a need for radiation monitoring and control. The radiation shield forming the wall and roof of the machine hall reduces the radiation levels sufficiently to allow the facility to be operated with acceptable exposure to the public and workers. Radiation levels at the site boundary are limited to 40 mRem/yr by agreement with the DOE. Radiation levels for staff are limited to 5000 mRem/yr by the NRC and internally to 400 mRem/qtr. The facility is operated within the ALARA principles in order to keep radiation doses as low as reasonably achievable. The quarterly site radiation levels are summarized in Fig. 3–6.



Fig. 3–6. Quarterly boundary radiation levels show the site is maintained well below the 40 mrem operating limit.

Substantial auxiliary heating is provided to heat the tokamak discharges to the temperatures needed to achieve the conditions appropriate for efficient fusion reactions and to facilitate driving currents in the plasma. The capabilities of these heating systems are summarized in Table 3–2. The neutral beam systems are the workhorse of day-to-day operation. They are routinely available on demand to provide heating at their design levels. They have also become an important source for a number of diagnostics including ion temperature, current profile, and turbulence. The ICRF system is fully operational and experiments are underway to refine techniques to couple the power to the plasma. The 110 GHz ECH system has been commissioned and has been used in plasma experiments.

System		P <sub>max</sub> (MW)	Duration (s)	P (5 s) (MW)	P (10 s) (MW)
Neutral beams	LBL 80 kV	20	3	16	8
ICH	ABB 30–55 MHz*	2.8	20	2.8	2.8
	FMIT 30–60 MHz	1.4	≥10	1.4	1.4
ECH (110 GHz)	Gycom gyrotron	0.75	2	0.30	0.15
	CPI gyrotron	0.80	0.8	0.28	0.24

 Table 3–2

 Power to Plasma of Auxiliary Heating Systems (June 1998)

\*The rf power must be decreased above this frequency (to 20% at 120 MHz).

### 3.3. NEUTRAL BEAM HEATING SYSTEMS

The DIII–D Neutral Beam Systems consist of four beamlines, and each beamline has two positive ion sources in parallel, focused through a common drift duct. These neutral beam systems were designed for 5 s deuterium beam operation at beam energy of 80 keV with 16 MW of total injected neutral beam power from eight sources. They routinely operate at this level. Improvements in operational technique and in system hardware have led to the routine operation in deuterium at beam power level of 20 MW for 3.5 s. Successful testing and operation of three ion sources at 93 keV deuterium beam energy also leads to the possibility of enhancing system capability to 28 MW. Control and data acquisition computers have recently been upgraded, along with several instrumentation and control systems to improve system functionality, availability, and reliability.

## 3.4. RF SYSTEMS

At present, we have two 110 GHz gyrotrons operating at a nominal 1 MW (source) power level. The first gyrotron is made by Gycom in Russia. It has an edge-cooled window of boron nitride which limits the pulse length to 2.0 s at a power level of 1 MW. It has achieved power levels of 960 kW for 2.0 s pulses in tests in Russia. The other gyrotron is made by CPI (formerly Varian). It has a face-cooled window of sapphire which limits the power to 1 MW for 0.8 s or 0.5 MW for 2 s. Both vendors indicate their designs are cw compatible except the window. These gyrotrons have injected power into DIII–D through the transmission system, and the beam patterns and locations generated in the vacuum vessel correspond approximately to those expected from the theory of Gaussian beam propagation and from vacuum ray tracing using a 3D computer model. A third 1 MW gyrotron is expected from CPI in late 1998.

The transmission system for these gyrotrons is evacuated corrugated waveguide of diameter 31.75 mm propagating the  $HE_{11}$  hybrid mode. Presently there are four launchers on the DIII–D tokamak, each capable of launching 1 MW of ECH power. Each launcher comprises a 60.3 mm diameter corrugated waveguide launcher, a fixed focusing mirror located about 30 mm from the termination of

the waveguide, and a steerable flat mirror that can be pivoted poloidally so the rf beam can be aimed at any elevation between the plasma center and the upper edge. They are tilted off-normal by 19 deg in the toroidal direction so that the rf beam is launched in a manner which will drive toroidal plasma co-current near the cyclotron resonance. The steering in the toroidal direction can be changed, but only during a vent of the vacuum vessel. The present mirrors are tilted 19 deg in the toroidal direction in order to generate co-current drive.

The three ICH heating systems consist of three power sources all capable of a nominal 2 MW of power at the source and three launchers located on the midplane of the machine. The capabilities of these systems are summarized in Table 3–3. The antennas are each protected with a Faraday shield set at the nominal angle of a field line during normal operation and bumper limiters to protect them from excessive direct contact with the plasma.

POWERSYS	PWR (MW)	f (MHz)	Duration (s)	ANT	Duration (s)	Functionality
FMIT	2	30–60	10	4 strap	2	FWCD. FWH
ABB	2	30–120	20	4 strap	10	FWCD, FWH
ABB	2	30–120	20	4 strap	10	FWCD, FWH

 TABLE 3–3

 ICH HEATING SYSTEM CAPABILITY

## 3.5. COMPUTER SYSTEM

An extensive array of computer systems is used to operate the tokamak and auxiliary systems, collect the data, and carry out the analysis (Fig. 3–7). These computers are interlinked in a network that effectively applies these resources to the needs of the program. The tokamak control computer provides for control and monitoring of the entire operating cycle. Critical safety limitations are applied with hardwired systems. The heating systems are separately controlled. The acquisition and archiving of data is controlled by another computer that serves as the hub of a large network of computers, both at GA and offsite, used to provide storage and analysis of data. In addition, an array of computers is used to operate, manage, and analyze the data for the diagnostics.

The plasma control system provides state-of-the-art high speed digital control of the plasma crosssectional shape (magnetic configuration) and key plasma profile parameters. This system uses multiple input multiple output control technology that allows the wide range of plasma shapes studied in the DIII–D Program to be routinely operated on a shot to shot basis. Recently the implementation of isoflux control has provided realtime control of the plasma boundary using realtime calculation of the MHD equilibrium to evaluate the plasma configuration. The system has the capability for integrated control of the plasma profile parameters using diagnostic measurements as inputs. The system also serves as a platform for the seamless addition of control functions for other parameters such as the plasma density, total energy, or coupling to the ICRF antenna.



Fig. 3–7. An extensive array of computer systems operates the tokamak and collects and analyzes the data.

## 3.6. DIAGNOSTIC SYSTEMS

The DIII–D plasma diagnostic set is made up of more than 50 instruments built and operated by the DIII–D National Program. This ensemble of instruments is the most complete of any tokamak in the world and routinely produces the high quality data required to fuel the DIII–D Scientific Research Program. The DIII–D diagnostics set includes extensive divertor and edge measurement capability, plasma core profile measurements of density, temperature and plasma current and a large suite of fluctuation diagnostics. A complete list of the diagnostic systems installed on DIII–D and the measurements that they make is shown in Table 3–4.

### 3.7. COMMUNITY OUTREACH

The fusion group maintains a vigorous program of community outreach. Tours are provided for students and a wide variety of professional and community organizations.

The Fusion Group operates an Education Outreach Program for middle and high school students throughout San Diego County. The program enables teachers and scientists to work together closely to produce effective educational materials on fusion science and technology for classroom use, and allows students unique opportunities to discuss science, engineering, and math topics with professional scientists and engineers. Key deliverables from previous work include workbooks, a curricular chapter on the electromagnetic spectrum, a poster for classroom display, a videotape on nuclear fusion energy production and DIII–D facility tours and tour stations. Workshops which cover the curricular materials are provided to teachers and educators to enhance their fusion knowledge base. Over the previous two years, more than 100 educators have attended our workshops, while others have used the materials as a basis for teaching a unit on nuclear fusion. Future work will include the production of an interactive CD–ROM on plasma science and fusion technology, expansion of the curriculum notebook to include activities on radiation, ICF, plasma, and fusion related engineering, and significant contributions to professional journals and classroom textbooks on plasma science and fusion technology. Classroom visits by scientists and engineers will also become part of the program.

A unique aspect of the Education Outreach Program is a three-hour DIII–D Tokamak Facility tour given to student groups. The tour is the culminating activity in the Educational Outreach Program. Students are given a brief overview of the on-going, worldwide efforts in harnessing nuclear fusion as an energy source and are then given a multistation tour of the facility. At the different stations, small groups of students participate in demonstrations and hands-on activities that cover general areas of science and technology. The stations are titled "Plasma — The 4th State of Matter," "The Electromagnetic Spectrum," "Engineering Analysis and CAD," "Data Acquisition and Computers," "Radiation, Radioactivity, and Risk Assessment," "Inertial Confinement Fusion," and "DIII–D Model and Experimental Hall." At each station, scientists and engineers discuss topics and present demonstrations to reinforce the concepts presented. During the previous two years, more than 2000 students have toured the DIII–D facility.

TABLE 3–4
DIAGNOSTIC SYSTEMS INSTALLED ON DIII-D

Electron Temperature and Density	
Multipulse Thomson scattering ECE Fourier transform spectrometer ECE radiometer Multichannel vibration compensated (infrared) interferometer	8 lasers, 40 radial points Horizontal midplane profiles Horizontal midplane 3 vertical chords, 1 radial chord
Microwave reflectometer	Midplane edge profiles
Ion Temperature and Velocity	
Charge exchange recombination spectroscopy	16 vertical channels; 16 horizontal channels; 3 mm edge resolution
Core Impurity Concentration	
VUV survey spectrometer (SPRED dual range) Visible Bremsstrahlung array	Radial midplane view Radial profile at midplane, 16 channels
Radiated Power	
Bolometer arrays	2 poloidal arrays, 48 channels each
Divertor Diagnostics	
Visible spectrometer VUV survey spectrometer (SPRED) Tangential TV (visible) Tangential TV (VUV) Infrared cameras Graphite foil bolometers Fast neutral pressure gauges Penning gauges Baratron gauge Langmuir probes Moveable Langmuir probe Tile current monitors Reflectometer	<ul> <li>7 channels</li> <li>Vertical view along outer divertor leg</li> <li>2–D image of lower divertor</li> <li>2–D image of lower divertor</li> <li>5 cameras</li> <li>12 locations</li> <li>4 locations in divertors</li> <li>Under divertor baffle</li> <li>Under divertor baffle</li> <li>18 radially across lower floor, 2 upper divertor throat</li> <li>Scannable through lower divertor outer leg</li> <li>Radial and toroidal arrays</li> <li>Vertical view through X-point</li> </ul>
Magnetic Properties	
Rogowski loops Voltage loops B <sub>θ</sub> loops Diamagnetic loops	3 toroidal locations 41 poloidal locations and 30 saddle loops 2 × 29 in poloidal arrays 9 toroidal locations
Plasma Edge/Wall	
Plasma TV IR camera Visible filter scopes Moveable Langmuir probe	4 cameras, radial view, rf antennae Inside wall and coiling views 16 locations Scannable across outer midplane

## TABLE 3-4 (CONTINUED)

#### **Fluctuations/Wave Activities**

Microwave reflectometers Far infrared scattering Infrared scattering Mirnov coils Li beam injector

X-ray imaging system RF probes

#### **Fast Ion Diagnostics**

Neutral particle analyzer Fast neutron scintillation counters Fusion products probe

#### **Plasma Current Profiles**

Motional Stark polarimeter Nonthermal Electron Distribution Soft x-ray pulse height spectrometer ECE Michelson spectrometer

#### Miscellaneous

Neutron detectors Hard x-ray monitors Synchrotron (IR) radiation detector Torus pressure gauges Residual gas analyzer 2 radial systems
Radial view
Vertical view
Toroidal, poloidal, and radial arrays
Radial beam with 16 channel tangential viewing channels
100 channels, 5 arrays
10 probes in poloidal array, 10 probes in toroidal array, 1 launch antenna

Scannable horizontal view, 3 vertical views 2 radial channels 1 new midplane probe

35 channels, 2 radial arrays

1 scannable radial view 1 vertical view

3 toroidal locations2 toroidal locations2 tangential chords on midplane

# 4. MAJOR UPGRADE PROJECTS IN THE PAST 10 YEARS

## 4.1. NEUTRON SHIELDING

### 4.1.1. INTRODUCTION

A neutron shielding system was constructed for the DIII–D facility to allow a full program of experiments in deuterium while limiting the radiation at the site boundary to 20 mRem per year. The goal of the shielding effort for the DIII–D facility is to provide a shielding enclosure (walls and roof) which reduces the radiation at the site boundary by a factor of 300.

It is desirable to minimize the interference of the shielding system with the existing diagnostic and other devices. It was also necessary to maintain access to the torus hall using the existing overhead 20-ton bridge cranes in order to handle heavy equipment and machinery. The weight of the added shielding system was kept to a minimum since it will increase soil bearing pressures that can produce differential settlement in the DIII–D facility.

#### 4.1.2. DESIGN DESCRIPTION

Several concepts were evaluated to provide the required supplemental shielding to the DIII–D facility. The conclusion of the engineering study is that the Translating Overhead Protective System concept best met the design requirements since it provides minimal experimental interference, maintains access to the machine pit area, and minimizes additional structural and foundation work, if any, that may have to be performed on the building.

Figure 4–1 shows the chosen concept, which consists of a fixed roof, translating roof, and side walls. Figure 4–2 shows a CAD isometric projection of the roof.

Table 4–1 presents the basic specifications for the shielding system. Water in the form of gel was used as the shielding material for the roof because of its availability, low cost, and ease of installation. The gel is packed in fiberglass boxes which are placed over the roof supporting structure. The gel, though more expensive than water, has the following advantages: (1) it has little water-sloshing effect during possible seismic activities, (2) it keeps boron uniformly distribution, and (3) it is leak resistant against small holes or punctures.



Fig. 4–1. Overall shielding geometry of DIII–D. (a) View looking north. (b) View looking west.



Fig. 4–2. Roof design. DIII–D radiation shield concept. The shielding enclosure is completely within the DIII–D building. The enclosure roof opens to allow crane access to the tokamak and surrounding equipment.

Shielding Materials	
Roof	13 in. of borated water in gel form packed in fiberglass boxes.
Walls	Pourable shielding materials or poly/boron sheets equivalent to 12-in. B-poly. Flexible hydrogenous foam is considered in penetrations and embedments where conduits and pipes have to be moved.
Dimensions	
Fixed roof	14 × 61 ft
Translating roof	54.5 × 61 ft
Fill-in walls	
North	61 × 7 ft
South	$61 \times 9 \text{ ft}^{(a)}$
East	68.5 × 10.5 ft
West	$68.5 \times 12.5 \text{ ft}^{(b)}$
Environmental Control Systems	
Heat removal	A new ventilation system installed in the torus hall area in order to regulate the temperature inside.
Fire protection	A fire-suppression sprinkler system along with smoke and fire alarm is provided.
Lighting	A lighting system is attached to the translating roof and sufficient lighting underneath the fixed roof.

TABLE 4–1 BASIC SPECIFICATIONS OF THE NEUTRON SHIELDING

<sup>(a)</sup>Includes 2-ft overhang attached to translating roof.

<sup>(b)</sup>Includes 3-ft, 10-in. horizontal slab wall.

### 4.1.3. FIXED ROOF

The fixed roof located at the northern end of the DIII–D facility is supported by the existing crane structure. The roof structure is made of supporting steel structure framing with built-up plate girders and 1-3/8-in. corrugated metal decking for support of the selected shielding material. In order to provide access to the 20-ton cranes, the existing 20-ton north crane will be parked over the fixed roof when the translating roof is closed over the pit. Also, to access the machinery underneath the fixed roof, such as the neutral beam source housings, etc., a 4-ton underhung bridge crane will ride on the east-west spanning girders and will be able to move objects at least 6 ft from the southern end of the fixed roof.

#### 4.1.4. TRANSLATING ROOF

The translating roof structure rides on the existing crane support structure and can be moved in or out of the machine pit area. This permits easy access to the torus hall area and allows installation and maintenance of the moving portion of the roof to be performed in the high bay area away from the DIII–D machine, thus minimizing interference with the experimental work. The translating roof structure consists of a similar support structure framing with tapered built-up steel girders with preset camber spanning the east-west direction across the machine pit. A 1-3/8-in. corrugated metal decking supports the shielding materials between the girders.

#### 4.1.5. SIDE WALLS

The side walls fill the space between the existing concrete shield walls and the roof shielding. The shielding material is a castable material in a hydrogenous binder placed in fireproof plywood forms.

## 4.2. DIVERTOR UPGRADES

#### 4.2.1. INTRODUCTION

The objective of the divertor and first wall program for DIII–D is to protect the vacuum vessel in areas of high heat fluxes and to limit high Z impurities in the plasma. The first wall is a robust system consisting of inertially cooled graphite tiles, absorbing energy during a discharge then releasing it to the water cooled vessel through a compliant heat transfer interface in the ten minutes between discharges. A wide range of plasma configurations can be run including single-null divertors with either upper or lower null, highly shaped double-null divertors, and limiter discharges on any of the surfaces. The tile design provides cavities between the vacuum vessel wall and the tiles for diagnostics, protecting them and their signal cables from large heat fluxes.

The divertor improvements performed on DIII–D were staged as two programs. The first upgrade program was the Advanced Divertor Program (ADP) which consisted of a toroidally continuous ring electrode biasable to 600 V with 20 kA and a toroidally continuous cryocondensation pump situated under a toroidal gas baffle attached to the ring electrode (Fig. 4–3). The pumping is achieved by cryocondensation of particles on a 4.6 K liquid helium cooled surface. Particles condensed on the helium-cooled surface are prevented from recycling back into the plasma during a discharge. The second stage of divertor improvements is the Radiative Divertor Program (RDP), which is to provide particle control for high performance Advanced Tokamak (AT) operations and to develop methods of reducing the heat flux at the divertor target without impacting the core confinement. The RDP includes the installation of divertor structures and cryopumps to permit this new research to be carried out (Fig. 4–4).

## 4.2.2. ADVANCED DIVERTOR PROGRAM DESIGN

A cross section of the pump and ring electrode and their location in the pumping plenum is shown in Fig. 4–3. The pump is comprised of a series of concentric Inconel 625 tubes cut and assembled together. The 1 m<sup>2</sup> pumping surface consists of a 10m long, 25-mm diam Inconel 625 tue with liquid helium flowing inside. Surrounding the pumping surface are liquid nitrogen cooled shields limiting the steady state heat load the liquid helium system to less than 10 W. Surrounding the nitrogen-cooled surfaces is a radiation/particle shield to prevent energetic divertor particles from releasing water previously condensed on liquid nitrogen surfaces. The aperture to the pump is created by cutting windows in the radiation/particle and outer nitrogen shields. The inner nitrogen shell shields the helium tube from incoming energetic particles. All particles entering the pump must bounce off a nitrogen-cooled surface at least twice before striking the helium surface. The nitrogen-cooled surfaces have a high emissivity to absorb a large fraction of the incoming thermal radiation. The helium and nitrogen systems are electrically connected only at the feed through flange to prevent eddy current heating and additional loads on the pump.



Fig. 4–3. Advanced divertor hardware in outer lower corner of DIII–D vacuum vessel.



Fig. 4–4. The planned completion of the radiative divertor installation includes the lower baffle and the private flux baffles together with new tiles making up the inner baffles.

The pump is supported to the vessel via flexible supports attached to the nitrogen shell. The support is designed to allow for the thermal contraction of the system at cryogenic temperatures and for low heat leak while the vessel is at 25°C. The natural frequency of the support system in the vertical direction is designed to have no resonance near the 25 Hz natural frequency of the vessel wall. The supports are also designed to attenuate the impulse loads induced on the pump components during disruptions.

Flow of the liquid helium inside the 25 mm Inconel tube is annular flow around a 19 mm-diam core made of a thin walled tube (0.25 mm). The flow channel was designed to achieve a flow velocity of 0.5 m/s and maintain a large thermal capacity. The inner tube has slots to allow liquid helium to fill the center of the core. Flow restrictors are placed every 75 mm in the inner tube to minimize the amount of flow through the center to less than 10%. Extensive testing of different flow configurations led to the choice of this annular flow design based on its heat load capability.

During plasma experiments, the divertor strike point was varied with respect to the pump entrance aperture. A four-fold increase in the particle exhaust rate has been observed as the strike point is positioned closer to the pump. A maximum particle exhaust rate of  $5 \times 10^4$  Pa-*l*/s has been achieved during experiments.

#### 4.2.3. RADIATIVE DIVERTOR PROGRAM

The radiative divertor is a major element of the DIII–D Program and includes the installation of divertor structures and cryopumps as shown in Fig. 4–4. The first phase installation, the upper outer cryopump and baffle, was completed in February 1997 and is currently being used in the experimental campaign. The second phase is in progress, which is the detailed design and fabrication of the upper inner cryopump. When completed, the RDP will allow for pumping of all four strike points of a double-null high triangularity plasma.

The radiative divertor baffles have been designed to be very flexible as the height and width of the slots can easily be varied. This will allow DIII–D to both optimize the configuration based on experimental results and benchmark computer models with various configurations. The initial installation was designed for a slot width of 1.5 cm and a length of 23 cm based on the values from the combined UEDGE and DEGAS models for optimum reduction of the core ionization. The modeling indicates that if the slot is made narrower, the core ionization increases because the slot becomes a recycling source that is close to the plasma core. If the slot is made wider, neutrals can leak around the plasma and enter the core at the midplane. In the present design, the nominal slot can be changed by about 3.5 cm by adding thicker or thinner graphite tiles. The length of the slot can be increased from 23 to 43 cm by lengthening the supports for the tiles and adding a vertical baffle structure. We can also make a "gasbox" type of divertor by leaving the structure below the baffle open in the 43 cm slot case. It is envisioned that a height change could be done each year during the major DIII–D maintenance period. We plan to change slot widths and slot lengths guided by the data so that the important quantities can be determined and results evaluated.

### 4.3. 6 MW ICRF

#### 4.3.1. INTRODUCTION

The FWCD program on the DIII–D tokamak is a collaborative effort. Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) led the design and fabrication of the FWCD antennas. GA was responsible for the generation, transmission, and coupling of the high power rf to the antenna. The experimental activities are carried out with multi-institutional participation.

The 6 MW upgrade consists of three systems each having its own 2 MW transmitter connected to a four-strap antenna by an insulated coaxial transmission line. The transmission line is configured to provide the flexibility of adjusting the phasing of the straps for electron heating  $(0,\pi,0,\pi)$  and for current drive phasing of  $(0,\pi/2,\pi,3\pi/2)$ , while providing matching between the antenna-plasma impedance ( $\approx 1-4 \Omega$ ) and the 50  $\Omega$  impedance that the transmitter requires for optimum power delivery. The matching system must also compensate for the mutual inductance between the straps, which has been achieved by using a decoupler concept developed earlier for the original 2 MW DIII–D FWCD system.

An overall schematic of one of the two new transmitter/antenna systems is shown in Fig. 4–5. Both systems are topologically the same, although the routing of the transmission line is different in order to comply with the DIII–D building layout. The transmitters, transmission lines, and the four-strap antennas are described in more detail in the following sections.

#### 4.3.2. TRANSMITTER

The high power rf transmitters are being supplied by THOMSCAST AG, formerly Asea Brown Boveri Infocom (ABB). These transmitters are of the same type as those in service on the ASDEX Upgrade experiment at the Max-Plank Institut für Plasma Physics. The overall design of a 2 MW rf generator is shown in the block diagram (Fig. 4–6).

The transmitter consists of four stages of rf amplification: pre-amplifier, predriver, 100 kW high power driver, and the 2 MW high power final. The input signal is fed to the 50 W rf preamplifier by way of an attenuator and the PIN regulator. The 5 kW predriver stage is of a straightforward design and uses a water-cooled Siemens-type RS1054 transmitting tetrode. The input and output tuning circuits of this grounded-cathode stage are motor driven. The 100 kW high-power driver stage is a grounded-grid configuration using a type 4 CW 150000 tetrode made by Eimac. The output circuit is designed as a coaxial 1/4 circuit with a 50 W output impedance adjusted by a motor-driven variable coupling. The 2 MW high power final stage is entirely a coaxial design. It is fitted with an ABB type CQK 650-2 tube, operated in a grounded-grid configuration. The output circuit is made up of coaxial line sections with tuning achieved by motor-driven sliding elements. The control system can store the position of the tuning elements for up to 12 different frequencies, so that when the operator wants to change frequencies, a recall of the stored tuning element locations is all that is required. The specifications for the transmitter are given in Table 4–2.



Fig. 4–5. Schematic for one of the 2 MW 30–120 MHz fast wave current drive systems.



Fig. 4–6. Block diagram of the rf transmitter amplifier stages.

Frequency range	30 to 120 MHz
Bandwidth	$\pm 0.25\% - 1$ dB; $\pm 75$ to $\pm 300$ kHz – 1 dB
Output power	From 30 to 80 MHz, 2.0 MW At 100 MHz, 1.5 MW At 120 MHz, 1.0 MW Into 50 Ohms, VSWR 1:15
Pulse duration	20 s maximum
Duty cycle	10% maximum

 TABLE 4–2

 Specification of the ABB Type VU 62 B Transmitter

#### 4.3.3. TRANSMISSION LINE

To achieve the phasing control, the topology shown in Fig. 4–5 was chosen. Alternate straps of the antenna are maintained at 180° phasing by use of two resonant loops of 6-1/8-in. transmission line, which are fed at a high impedance point. The resonant loop arrangement is used to lock the phase difference between two of the four straps of the antenna. The phase shifter in this loop has sufficient travel to equalize both sides of the loop. This allows the antenna straps to launch symmetrical spectra. To obtain directed spectra for current drive, the phase shifter of each of the loops is adjusted to create a half wavelength difference in the two sides of the loop.

In the situation of the "1-3, 2-4" feed scheme with resonant loops, the voltage magnitudes at the two resonant loops feed points must be equal to obtain equal antenna currents. By connecting a decoupler between the two resonant loop feed points, phase-independent decoupling can be obtained. The connection of a decoupler at each feed point creates a 5-way connection point.

The final elements that control the loop phasing are a 3 dB hybrid for power splitting the feed from the transmitter and a 360° phase shifter which sets the overall phase difference between the two 5-way crosses. The 3 dB hybrid is optimized to split the power from the transmitter over the 60 to 120 MHz band.

In addition to the main elements described above for phase control, other transmission line components were included for personnel safety, ease of testing, and improved reliability. Some of these components are (1) test sections which allow the high power center conductor to be quickly removed and linked to two type N connectors; (2) a four-port coaxial switch to allow the transmitter to be switched from the 3 dB hybrid to the dummy load; (3) gas barriers which allow the system to be pressurized to 3 atm (each transmission line has five separate zones) with insulating gas such as dry air, N<sub>2</sub>, or SF<sub>6</sub>; (4) dc breaks which electrically isolate the transmitter and impedance matching equipment from the DIII–D torus and torus hall (the dc break's standoff is 30 kV continuous and the rf insertion loss is less that 0.05 dB); and (5) flex sections to allow for thermal growth and installation mismatch.

#### 4.3.4. ANTENNAS

The outer midplane locations of the three fast wave antennas are indicated in Fig. 4-7. The first antenna (F1) has been used in many experimental campaigns, with a variety of Faraday shield configurations, including two tests with no shield. The other two antennas (F2A and F2B) are identical and were installed in 1994. Spectral calculations have been performed with the RANT3D code. Figure 4–7 also indicates the location of the rf pick up probes and the microwave reflectometers.



Fig. 4–7. Layout of DIII–D showing the location of the F1 and two F2 antennas, the rf pick up probes and the reflectometer horns.

The Faraday shield rods for all antennas are slanted at 12 deg relative to the midplane as shown in Fig. 4–7, to better match the magnetic field line pitch at the shields. All plasma facing wall surfaces on DIII–D are armored with graphite tiles which provide protection for the Faraday shields which are situated 1 to 2 cm behind the surface of the tiles at the outer midplane. All shields have the plasma facing sides coated with boron carbide, although the F1 antenna has been operated for some experiments with no shield at all, and also with no boron carbide coating on the shield, that is, the inconel substrate facing the plasma. The boron carbide coatings have performed satisfactorily provided that the coating is thin enough (< ~100  $\mu$ m). Thicker coatings cracked and eroded during plasma operation, apparently due to lack of thermal contact to the base shield rod material. DIII–D routinely uses boronization for wall conditioning.

### 4.4. 3 MW, 110 GHz ECH System

#### 4.4.1. INTRODUCTION

To support the AT operating regimes in the DIII–D tokamak, methods need to be developed to control the current and pressure profiles across the plasma discharge. In particular, AT plasmas require substantial off-axis current in contrast to normal tokamak discharges where the current peaks on-axis. On DIII–D electron cyclotron current drive (ECCD) is being employed to drive the off-axis current in AT plasmas. The first phase of the ECH is 3 MW of electron cyclotron heating power. This involves the installation of three gyrotron systems operating at 110 GHz, the second harmonic resonance frequency on DIII–D, with each system generating nominally 1 MW. The three systems will use one GYCOM (Russian) gyrotron and two CPI (formerly Varian) gyrotrons, all with windowless evacuated corrugated low loss transmission lines. The second phase of the ECH upgrade, initiated in FY99, is to add three more gyrotrons to increase the ECH system power to 6 MW. The final phase would increase the power to 10 MW.

#### 4.4.2. RF SYSTEM OVERVIEW

Three gyrotrons have been installed and operated on the DIII–D tokamak. One, a GYCOM gyrotron has been in operation since 1996, the second a Communications and Power Industries (CPI) gyrotron model VGT-8011A has been in service since May 1997. Both gyrotrons are nominally 1 MW at a central frequency of 110 GHz. Although each gyrotron is designed for long pulse capability (>10 s), their present pulse capability is limited to 2 s and 0.8 s, respectively, owing to the output windows currently installed upon the tubes. The GYCOM gyrotron uses a BN edge-cooled window, and CPI uses a double-disk sapphire window design with an inert Chloro-fluorocarbon (FC-75) coolant flowing between the two disks. The third gyrotron is also a CPI gyrotron with basically the same internal configuration as the tube with the double disc window but has been built with a CVD diamond window. This gyrotron offers the first practical design of 1 MW cw operation. The gyrotron performance parameters are shown in Table 4–3.

Table 4–3       Gyrotron Performance Parameters				
	GYCOM	CPI No. 1	CPI No. 2	
Frequency, GHz	109.8 - 110.15	110	110	
Output window design Material Cooling method	Single disk BN Edge cooled	Double disk Sapphire Face cooled	Single disk CVD Diamond Edge cooled	
RF power (kW) and pulse duration (s)	(960)/2.0	(350)/10 (530)/2 (1000)/0.8	(1000)/10 Effectively cw	
Efficiency, %	38.0	32.0	32	
Beam voltage, kV	72.0	80.0	80	
Beam current, A	33.8	35	35	

The transmission line for all three systems uses 31.75 mm diam aluminum circularly corrugated waveguide carrying the HE<sub>11</sub> mode. The waveguide diameter represents a compromise between power handling capability and the desirability that the transmission line be insensitive to misalignment, thermal growth, and motion. For the first two gyrotrons, the rf beam exiting the side of the gyrotron is a modified gaussian beam with a flattened profile to minimize the peak temperature and thus the stresses in the window. Since the window and rf beam are made as large as practical,  $\approx 100$  mm, to reduce the thermal load on the window, direct coupling from the gyrotron into the waveguide is impractical and an interface device is required. Using two mirrors, the rf beam exiting the gyrotron is phase corrected to restore it to a free-space Gaussian and is then focused to couple into the 31.75 mm waveguide diameter. These mirrors are housed in a mirror optics unit (MOU) which also contains a water-cooled resistive load, which absorbs any stray rf power that exits the gyrotron is a free-space Gaussian, but is larger in diameter,  $\approx 51$  mm, than the 31.75 mm diam of the waveguide, so a MOU will also be needed to focus the beam into the waveguide.

An entire single transmission line system, shown in Fig. 4–8, consists of 6 mitre bends and is  $\approx$ 40-m long with an estimated 2% loss in the waveguide and 0.6% loss per mitre bend. The mitre bend losses are from mode conversion 0.5% and ohmic losses 0.1%. The waveguide is evacuated to a pressure of  $\approx$ 1 × 10<sup>-5</sup> Torr by a turbomolecular pump at the MOU and a similar pump on a special section of waveguide near the tokamak, where the waveguide has been slotted to allow pumping between the corrugations. This waveguide pumping section is placed as close to the DIII–D vacuum vessel as practical so that any impurities evolving from the waveguide upstream of the tokamak can be pumped out before they reach the plasma and possibly contaminate it. For the FC–75 cooled CPI gyrotron, a fast shutter located just upstream of the pumping section has been installed. This shutter can close faster than the pressure wave can travel down the waveguide and, in conjunction with the pumping section, maintains the vacuum pressure of the pumping section.



Fig. 4–8. ECH system layout showing the routing of the transmission line and the location of the major transmission line components.

sure at the tokamak entrance waveguide. To aid in gyrotron optimization, a dummy load is connected to the system via a waveguide switch located near the gyrotron. Polarization control is achieved by a set of grooved motorized polarizing mirrors mounted in two of the mitre bends. By appropriate rotation of these two mirrors, any elliptical polarization desired can be obtained.

There are two sets of dual launchers attached to DIII–D. Each launcher is composed of two mirrors; a focusing mirror and a flat tilting mirror. In the first set, the flat mirrors are permanently angled at 19 deg off normal to provide the appropriate current drive injection angle. The flat tilting mirror rotates vertically so the injected beam can be steered poloidally from slightly below the midplane to the outermost top edge of the plasma. On the second set of launchers, the tilting mirrors are aimed normal to the plasma. The gyrotrons can be interchanged between these two launcher sets by the simple task of breaking the connection at the second-to-last mitre bend and adding or removing a 2 m length of waveguide.

# 5. SUPPORT SERVICES

## **5.1. QUALITY ASSURANCE**

Fusion Quality Assurance (QA) engineers, inspectors, and support personnel maintained a high level of activity during 1998. Significant projects supported were the repair of the E-coil solenoid leak, Radiative Divertor tooling and Ring panels, optical alignment of the ORNL High Field Pellet Injector, Tile and Bumper Limiter replacement at 225 degrees, and the installation and alignment of the ECH Launcher waveguides at the 255 degree, R+1 port.

The Fusion Quality Assurance group performed the following specific jobs:

- 1. Reviewed and approved all DIII–D design drawings, specifications, procedures, and procurement requisitions. Participated in design reviews and chaired the Material Review Board (MRB).
- 2. Performed receiving inspections, source inspections, and measurements of purchased and fabricated material, parts, subassemblies and assemblies.
- 3. Revised and released for use 14 DIII–D Work Procedures. The Work Procedures describe how key tasks in the DIII–D program are carried out. The Work Procedures were revised to make them better describe actual work practices and to be consistent with higher level procedures and the Fusion Group QA Manual and Fusion Group Procedures. In addition, Chapter 1 of the Fusion Group QA Manual and the Quality Assurance Program Document for the DIII–D program were revised to reflect recent organizational and procedural changes.
- 4. Completed the semi-annual building concrete footing and building column settlement surveys; no unexpected subsidence was detected. An inspection of the cracks in the concrete walls adjacent to the machine was also performed with no noticeable changes noted.
- 5. The Continuous Improvement Committee continued following-up on previously completed Continuous Improvement Opportunity (CIO) forms to verify that the actions taken were effective.

During the period 1988 through 1998, the Fusion Quality Assurance group performed all relevant Quality Assurance/Quality Control tasks required to support the DIII–D Program. During this period, several events and associated Quality Assurance activities were particularly noteworthy.

- Routinely assisted the project with precise optical alignments of equipment and diagnostic experiments to ensure optimum performance of the devices.
- Occasionally assist project personnel including collaborators in obtaining as-built measurements in and around the machine. In addition, they periodically perform reverse engineering of modified or experimental parts.

- Developed an instruction to provide guidance for the assembly of a data package for each diagnostic installed on the DIII–D machine. The data package serves as a reference document for any individual interested in a specific diagnostic and is made up of documents generated during the design, fabrication, and installation of the diagnostic.
- Implemented the Continuous Improvement Committee established by the Senior VIce President. Continuous Improvement is a means by which every member of an organization continually examines all of the processes, procedures, methods and activities by which work is accomplished and suggest constructive changes.
- Provided training to over 200 Fusion Group personnel including collaborators in selected requirements of the Fusion Group QA Manual, Fusion Group Procedures, and the DIII–D Work Procedures.
- Issued 24 Fusion Group Procedures. The Fusion Group Procedures implement the requirements specified in the Fusion Group QA Manual.
- Developed and released a new Fusion Group QA Manual complying with DOE Order 5700.6C. Project personnel were major contributors to the manual.
- Fusion QA initiated trend reports on supplier performance in an effort to increase awareness of good and poor performance.
- Since the majority of Fusion manufactured components are produced locally by a limited number of smaller machine shops, Fusion QA has adopted a policy of conducting periodic in-process inspections during fabrication. This practice has resulted in discovering machine setup problems, design drawing misinterpretations, machine programming errors, and machinist errors in sufficient time to prevent scrapping the part.
- Fusion QA inputs inspection and acceptance information into the Dun & Bradstreet Millennium Accounts Payable/Purchase Order System. In addition to providing a database of inspection activities, the system requires QA acceptance of articles to be inspected before the supplier is paid, which has decreased the number of submitted parts not meeting design requirements.

## 5.2. PLANNING

The Planning group supported operation and maintenance of the DIII–D facility. Planning and Control provided long-term program planning, as well as day-to-day scheduling (cost control, preparation of Field Work Proposals, and Cost and Fee Proposals), processing of purchase requests, expediting and reporting of status. These support activities are essential to constraining the program within prescribed budgets and schedules. Our planning activities (budget, schedule, resource) enabled us to maximize the utilization of available resources for accomplishment of program goals and were important in planning and replanning of scope, budget, and schedule with fluctuating funding levels.

Major planning activities during 1998 included work on ECH and radiative divertor upgrades. Over the period of this contract, major planning activities included work on ECH, radiative divertor, diagnostics, E-coil leak repair, and ICRF.

## 5.3. ENVIRONMENT SAFETY AND HEALTH

### 5.3.1. FUSION AND DIII-D SAFETY

The fusion safety program provides for the safe operation of the DIII–D facility and for a safe working environment for employees and visitors. Special programs address high voltage and high current, high vacuum systems, ionizing radiation, microwave radiation, cryogenics and the use of power equipment and machine tools. Therefore, a special two volume Safety Manual set was written entitled "Doublet III Safety Procedures for Facility and Equipment Operation;" volume #1 contains policies and volume #2 contains procedures. These two manuals point out the specific safety rules and operation procedures to be adhered to while at the DIII–D site. Both manuals refer to the company safety manuals for the general safety and environmental rules and regulations. DIII–D is provided support by GA's Licensing, Safety and Nuclear Compliance organization and GA's Human Resources Safety organization in areas such as health physics, industrial hygiene, environmental permitting, hazard communication, hazardous waste, and industrial safety.

Fusion has established a Safety Committee in accordance with company policy as a means of focusing on and addressing both the numerous safety issues faced daily and longer range safety needs and goals. The Fusion Safety Committee is comprised of representatives from various departments within the Fusion Group, including management, supervisors, operators and technicians. Its chairman is the DIII–D Associate Program Director; the vise chairman is a manager from one of the organization in fusion and the secretary is the Fusion Safety Officer. The Safety Committee meets twice a month to address safety activities and concerns of the Fusion Group such as hazardous work requests, radiation work authorizations, accident/incident reports, near misses, equipment malfunctions, accident avoidance programs, supervisor involvement, training, inspections, access control procedures and high voltage hazards. The Safety Committee also solicits specialized help from any of the five fusion safety subcommittees during reviews of lasers, electrical systems, vacuum systems, the use of chemicals or cryogens.

In addition to the Fusion Safety Committee's oversight of activities at DIII–D, two individuals are dedicated full-time to on-site "preventive" safety involvement. Their activities include writing and reviewing procedures, developing and conducting special training classes, conducting inspections and follow-up, maintaining safety equipment and calibrating safety monitoring devices, MSDSs and hazardous waste collection sites, interfacing with GA's Licensing, Safety and Nuclear Compliance organization and HR Safety organization, and providing continuous oversight of fusion employees, collaborators, visitors and contractors to assure compliance with established safety policies, procedures and regulations.

The DIII–D Emergency Response Team (ERT) consists of individuals involved directly with maintenance and operation of the DIII–D equipment. They are trained in cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), first aid, use of self-contained breathing apparatus (SCBA) and the use of fire extinguishers, evacuation and crowd control and facility familiarization. The team can respond within seconds to provide immediate assistance until outside emergency assistance arrives. Internal emergency drills are conducted annually and drills in conjunction with outside emergency responders and hospitals are conducted biannually. These drills have included extrication of a dummy from inside the DIII–D Vacuum vessel and a simulated diborane release. Local outside emergency responders are given a biannual tour of DIII–D with an explanation of our emergency response systems.

#### 5.3.2. INSPECTIONS

Safety inspections are conducted throughout the year to promote an active Hazard Prevention Program. The inspections are conducted by a combination of Fusion, GA Licensing, Safety and Nuclear Compliance or GA/HR Safety personnel and outside consultants. A report is provided to the Fusion Safety Committee, where corrective action assignments are made. Table 5–1 lists inspections for the DIII–D tokamak.

Inspection	Frequency
Site inspection (GA)	Monthly
Slings and lifting equipment (GA)	Quarterly
Fire extinguishers (GA)	Monthly
Stationary fire equipment	Yearly
Electrical consultant	Biannually
CAL/OSHA Consulting Service	Yearly
Insurance carrier inspection	Yearly (multiple)
S.D. City Fire Department (CEDMAT)	Yearly
GA Safety Committee Hazards Survey	Yearly
NRC	Yearly
DOE/OAK Safety Review Inspection	Yearly

TABLE 5–1 INSPECTIONS FOR THE DIII–D TOKAMAK

The Fusion Safety Officer is responsible for tracking the progress of all inspection discrepancies and ensuring resolution.

All new employees, collaborators and long term visitors must go through a thorough and comprehensive one-on-one indoctrination by the Fusion Safety Officer and the Pit Coordinator. They are informed of the specific potential hazards that are present daily at DIII–D and the special safety precautions and rules that apply, with specific emphasis on the areas where they will be working. The necessary training classes are recommended due to the information gained at the indoctrination. Individual contractors and subcontractors assigned to work at the DIII–D facility also receive a similar indoctrination.

#### 5.3.3. TRAINING

Training is all-important to the safety of both personnel and equipment. Due to the complexity of the DIII–D site and its operation, numerous safety-training classes are conducted. DIII–D treats all long-term

visitors and collaborators just like regular GA Employees and includes them in all required safety training. Listed below are examples of the various classes given:

- Confined Space Entry
- LockOut/TagOut
- Fall Prevention and Protection
- Laser Safety
- Hazard Communication
- Hazardous Waste Disposal
- CPR
- Radiological Safety
- Back Injury Prevention
- Ergonomics
- Emergency Response Team Training
- Working Safely and Effectively in the DIII–D Pit
- Fork Lift Operator Training
- Crane and Rigging Training
- Electrical and High Voltage Safety
- High Potential Testing Safety
- Power Tool Safety
- Cryogenic Safety
- General Laboratory Safety

A stationary power tool training program is in effect which requires that any individual that uses a power tool attached to the floor must be trained in the safe use of that tool. This is accomplished by training videos, written tests and hands-on verification of proficiency by shop supervisors.

#### 5.3.4. OTHER ACTIVITIES

As a result of an accident involving a Japanese scientist at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (LLNL) in February 1992, the U.S. DOE and Japan formed a Joint Working Group. The U.S./Japan Joint Working Group (JWG), led by Steve Rossi from the Office of Fusion Energy, met at the DOE headquarters in Germantown, Maryland in October 1992 and in Tokyo and Mito City, Japan in January 1993 to discuss the issues of safety of inter-institutional collaborations. Subsequent visits to the U.S. were in 1993, 1995 and 1997 and to Japan in 1994, 1996. The group consists of four U.S. and four Japanese safety representatives from national laboratories, private contractors and universities. The Fusion Safety Officer represents both GA and the U.S. industrial contractors. A Japan/English Safety manual for JAERI was generated with the help of individuals from both sides of the JWG.

The Fusion Safety Officer conducted collaborative safety visits for the University of Wisconsin-Madison in an effort to share safety knowledge within DOE laboratories and Universities. The Fusion Safety Officer attended or participated in the following groups or training sessions/ seminars:

- DOE Tiger Team Training
- PPPL Tiger Team
- ORNL Machine Guarding
- DOE Contractors Safety & Health Conference
- Inter-laboratory Safety Group
- Cal/OSHA Update
- National Safety Council Conference on Safety & Health (6 conferences)
- 14<sup>th</sup> Annual Symposium on Fusion Engineering (ES&H co-chair)
- Occupational Safety & Health Training Institute (six different courses)
- DOE Contractors Fire Safety Conference

A safety check-in form was instituted to ensure that all visitors and collaborators receive the correct indoctrination and information upon arrival at DIII–D.

A Hazardous Work Authorization (HWA) review and signature sheet was instituted to ensure that when an HWA is approved by the Fusion Safety Committee, each person on the personnel involved list is informed of the requirements and procedures listed in the HWA.

A Safety Library was established to enable fusion employees' better access to all relevant safety policies, procedures and requirements. A current file of all MSDSs and the chemical inventory is also available in the library.

# 6. DIII-D COLLABORATIVE PROGRAMS

## 6.1. DIII-D COLLABORATIVE PROGRAM OVERVIEW

DIII–D is a national fusion facility with approximately 50 participating institutions with approximately 300 scientific users spending more than one week at DIII–D each year. These collaborations of national and international organizations carries out the scientific research of the DIII–D Program Plan. This DIII–D collaborative research spans a wide range of activities with a wide range of facilities and institutions as described below.

## 6.2. LAWRENCE LIVERMORE NATIONAL LABORATORY

The Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (LLNL) Collaboration with DIII-D started in 1986 with a focus on divertor physics, divertor modeling, current drive and diagnostic tasks. At least half of the group lived in San Diego and some commuted; this ratio has grown over the year to nearly two-thirds of the staff at DIII-D in 1998. The first LLNL diagnostic was an Infrared TV system to measure divertor heat flux, which resulted in some of the first direct measurements of heat flux on a diverted tokamak. A visible TV camera (with spectral filters to look at deuterium radiation) and fast ion gauges were added. These data were compared with the UEDGE model of the divertor plasma. Research was started on reducing the divertor heat flux by increasing divertor plasma radiation; this is the currently accepted divertor "solution" for the ITER design. Since that time, several new divertor diagnostics have been developed and installed by the collaboration, most notably the divertor Thomson scattering system and an imaging bolometer system which is the only divertor system in the world. Very low electron temperatures and high electron densities are measured during radiative divertor operation, which has verified the code predictions that other physical processes, such as volume recombination and convective heat flux, are important in the divertor. Unique tomographic reconstruction algorithms were developed for the bolometer and visible camera data so that the total and particular radiation constituents have been measured. An absolutely calibrated extreme ultraviolet spectrograph was recently installed and has determined that the major constituent of radiation is carbon radiation (at 1550 Å). A collaborative effort with Hampton University has obtained the first 2–D pictures of this radiation. The UEDGE code has been continuously developed and benchmarked against the data. The most recent development is the inclusion of particle drifts and the comparison of data from the UCSD group. LLNL also played a lead role in the development of the radiative divertor hardware which has been recently installed. This has allowed particle control in highly shaped plasmas.

The LLNL collaboration has been active in two other areas: tokamak improvements [advanced tokamak (AT)], and remote site collaborations. The focus of the AT research has been the measurement and control of the current profile with a 35-channel motional Stark effect (MSE) diagnostic. This is arguably the best system in the world and measures the plasma current density as a function of radius. This has been a key measurement in the improvement of tokamak confinement and in the study of negative or weakly sheared profile plasmas. The current profile is now routinely calculated at nearly 200 time points between discharges and changes are made in the neutral beam timing and other parameters to optimize the profile. In the future, the DIII–D team plans to actively control the current profiles and may use realtime feedback with the MSE diagnostic. Contributions have also been made in the area of transport, particularly in the area of electron transport.

The goal of the work on the remote experimental site is to facilitate experiments by personnel located both at and away from the DIII–D site. In many cases, these tools help both sides of the collaboration. One example is the use of off-site computers to process MSE and magnetics data which are available to all researchers between shots. Remote experiment demonstrations have been carried out linking LLNL to DIII–D and Alcator C–Mod.

### 6.3. OAK RIDGE NATIONAL LABORATORY

The ORNL collaboration in the past ten years has focused on MHD studies, particle transport and control, pellet injection, and radio frequency (rf) physics and technology.

ORNL staff took a leading physics role in the area of MHD equilibrium, stability, and plasma performance and lead to two significant milestones in tokamak research. The first was the high beta achievement (average beta of 11% and central beta of 43%) using dynamic plasma shaping, which showed the access to second stability regime in the plasma core. The second experimental campaign was the high performance D–D operation (high equivalent D–T fusion yield of  $Q_{DT} = 0.3$ ) in DIII–D, demonstrating neoclassical ion heat transport over the entire profile.

ORNL's work in the particle transport and control area began in collaboration to design the advanced divertor structure. ORNL staff installed pressure gauges and helped design the divertor cryopump and played key roles in the first set of density control experiments in H–mode. ORNL staff led particle balance studies and showed that divertor pumping could replace He GDC to maintain low recycling conditions in ELMing H–modes. The ORNL pellet injector was installed in 1994 and has been used in particle transport and plasma optimization studies and for disruption mitigation studies using impurity pellets. These experiments have enabled DIII–D to operate density above the Greenwald density limit with good H–mode confinement. A novel approach to mitigate against disruptions using a massive gas puff has also been developed.

The ORNL group investigated helium transport in the core and in the edge plasma and demonstrated the exhaust of helium from ELMing H–mode plasmas with a pumped divertor in DIII–D, indicating adequate helium ash removal in ITER. It has also been demonstrated that strong plasma flows in the scrapeoff layer can effectively entrain impurities in the divertor. Radiative divertor plasmas using puff-andpump and radiating mantle plasmas (i.e., RI–mode) have been produced. Properties of the core transport and possible use of edge stability control were investigated. Spectroscopic studies of the divertor plasmas have investigated impurity and plasma flows as well as volume recombination. First studies on the effects of recycling neutrals on transport barriers and confinement have revealed a correlation between the H–mode threshold and the penetration of neutrals into the core plasma. ORNL designed and built the three fast wave current drive antenna arrays currently on DIII–D. The first four-element array was installed in 1990 and has been in use ever since. In that time, there have been three different Faraday shields used with this antenna. The second and third arrays, installed in 1994, are identical and were designed for long-pulse operation, incorporating water cooling. The design of these antennas resulted from extensive modeling and experimental development at ORNL. These antennas have been used for the first tokamak experiments with fast wave current drive, demonstrating efficient on-axis current drive. ORNL maintains these antennas and leads the collaborative effort for rf operations on DIII–D.

## 6.4. SANDIA NATIONAL LABORATORY

The collaboration between Sandia National Laboratories (SNL) and GA on the DIII–D tokamak has centered on physics and technology of the tokamak boundary and plasma/wall interaction zone. This involved work in materials testing and thermo-mechanical engineering analysis, plasma wall interactions, design and implementation of advanced plasma diagnostics, scrapeoff layer (SOL) and divertor physics, and plasma edge modeling. Three SNL groups at both the Albuquerque and Livermore laboratory sites and full and part time SNL personnel at DIII–D performed this work. Measurements at DIII–D provide important information for the fusion program studies at SNL.

SNL expertise in high heat flux technology helped optimize DIII–D performance. The graphite walls in DIII–D are a mosaic of tiles engineered to handle high heat and particle flux including resistance to thermal shock. Tile testing for GA at SNL's High Heat Flux Facility in Albuquerque was instrumental in choosing the best design and material for use in DIII–D. The high heat flux engineering and diagnostic expertise at SNL developed boundary diagnostics for DIII–D including embedded target plate Langmuir probes and two fast reciprocating Langmuir probes designed to quickly plunge into the plasma edge.

Edge and divertor measurements helped SNL to explore key plasma physics issues. The array of 28 target plate probes provides density, temperature, and particle flux measurements across the divertor floor, at the two baffle entrances, and in the upper divertor. These measurements are especially important for detachment and particle balance studies. SNL implemented and operates this diagnostic.

SNL performed plasma/material interaction studies on the interior walls and divertor plates of the tokamak using specially developed techniques and instruments. Metal deposition measurements on the graphite tiles by in situ beta back-scattering showed net deposition at the inner strike point. Specially prepared, removable Divertor Materials Exposure System (DiMES) samples were exposed to well-diagnosed tokamak divertor plasmas and subjected to extensive surface analysis to determine erosion and redeposition. ITER erosion and redeposition models were corrected to incorporate the DIII–D erosion and redeposition measurements.

### 6.5. PRINCETON PLASMA PHYSICS LABORATORY

Physicists from Princeton Plasma Physics Laboratory (PPPL) have taken part in the DIII–D scientific program for a number of years, largely through interactions between individuals at PPPL and GA. This traditional collaboration typically involved analysis of magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) stability, micro-

instability, and transport in specific DIII–D discharges. In FY97, after shutdown of TFTR, the PPPL/DIII–D collaboration underwent a major expansion and participation was further increased in FY98. PPPL is now one of the principal collaborating institutions in tokamak research at DIII–D.

PPPL has contributed to the DIII–D program in three principal areas. (1) PPPL scientists have directly participated in the DIII–D experimental campaign. (2) PPPL has provided physics support through scientific programming and code development, diagnostic engineering and technician effort, and design and implementation of new diagnostic capability. (3) PPPL has provided operations support through provision of full-time technical personnel and the development or procurement of hardware necessary for the DIII–D research program.

Beginning in FY97 and continuing in FY98, PPPL physicists led or participated in a number of important investigations. These included experiments which produced high performance plasmas with steady-state internal transport barriers, experiments in which Resistive Wall Modes were reproducibly observed, using saddle loop sensors installed by PPPL, and an experiment to investigate sawtooth stabilization by minority ICRF heating and by neutral beam injection.

The highest priority diagnostic task for the PPPL/DIII–D collaboration during FY98 was an upgrade of the Thomson scattering systems. The previous systems, with horizontal viewing of vertical laser beams, could not access the central core of DIII–D plasmas. As part of a joint effort with LLNL and GA, PPPL designed, fabricated, and installed critical in-vessel and ex-vessel components for the Tangential Central Thomson Scattering System and participated in system tests.

Active feedback control of MHD instabilities in DIII–D is a major goal of AT research and a principal area of concentration for the PPPL/DIII–D collaboration. Of particular interest is control of the Resistive Wall Mode, which limits the achievable pressure in high performance plasmas. In support of this important program, PPPL initiated the physics and engineering design of a nonaxisymmetric feedback coil project in FY97, installed a new six-coil set of saddle loop sensors in FY98, and is now procuring a power supply for active feedback stabilization experiments. The saddle loops easily detected the onset and evolution of Resistive Wall Modes during the 1998 experimental campaign. PPPL is supplying feedback power supplies in FY99.

PPPL technical support of the DIII–D facility has been especially effective. A PPPL operations engineer, an RF power engineer, and an RF technician played crucial roles in recent experimental campaigns and also conceived and implemented a number of improvements in the facility. An outstanding example of such improvements is a novel modification of the patch panel hardware for the field shaping coils. This allows the field shaping coils to be reconfigured much more quickly than before to greatly enhance experimental flexibility.

In support of the DIII–D ECH program, PPPL began development of an improved, steerable ECH/ECCD launcher in FY98. The first launcher to be completed in FY99 will be able to remotely control the toroidal and poloidal injection angles of two gyrotrons. This will allow DIII–D physicists, for the first time, to change the direction and radial location of electron cyclotron current drive on a shot-to-shot basis and will greatly improve the ability to distinguish the effects of heating and current drive.

## 6.6. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, LOS ANGELES

The University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) collaboration led by Dr. A. Peebles has been a member of the DIII–D research team since 1988 and has had a continuous on-site presence since then, typically comprised of both researchers and students. During this period, UCLA has contributed to the very successful DIII–D program in a number of areas, including the development of the paradigm of E×B flow shear suppression of turbulence in H–mode, VH–mode, and NCS regimes, general turbulence and transport studies, the physics of ICRF plasma heating, edge and core density profiles and divertor studies. In addition, UCLA brings to DIII–D an international reputation and expertise in the development and application of advanced millimeter-wave and far-infrared diagnostics. In FY98, the UCLA program was supported by a total of 5 FTE with 4 FTE on-site at DIII–D.

In general, the overall role of UCLA within the DIII–D Research program has been concentrated in four main strategic areas:

- UCLA has made major scientific contributions to increasing understanding of the transport and turbulence properties of the advanced confinement operating regimes on DIII-D. For example, measurement of turbulent correlation lengths, and temporal evolution of fluctuating quantities, temperature have aided in revealing the major role that E×B shear suppression of turbulence plays in all of the AT confinement regimes.
- 2. UCLA has also made significant contributions to the wave particle and boundary physics areas on DIII–D.
  - a. In the wave particle area, reflectometry has been utilized for the first time in a nonperturbing, local determination of the rf electric field profile associated with externally launched fast waves in a hot fusion plasma. This work was strongly collaborative with the ORNL and GA groups.
  - b. In boundary physics, UCLA has made major contributions to improved understanding of the L-H transition, has developed reflectometry systems to measure both density profile and turbulence properties in the divertor, and has investigated in-out asymmetries in edge turbulence.
- UCLA has developed, fully demonstrated, and integrated advanced millimeter-wave/far-infrared diagnostic systems into the DIII–D National Facility. The diagnostic systems developed for DIII–D have broad application and relevance to other devices within the restructured fusion energy sciences program.
- 4. Finally, UCLA has played the major role on DIII–D in the education of students in plasma physics, fusion science and millimeter/FIR technology. Over the past 10 years, four outstanding UCLA Ph.D. theses have been generated through participation in the DIII–D Program. Two of these directly led to Invited Talks for the students (a rare occurrence) at the APS Plasma Physics Division Meetings.

Finally, it should also be noted that interaction with the theoretical community has grown significantly over the years that UCLA has participated in the DIII–D Program. This close coupling between the theoretical, experimental and operational communities is one of the major reasons for the success of the UCLA participation in the DIII–D National Fusion Facility.

## 6.7. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN DIEGO

The University of California, San Diego (UCSD) collaboration in the DIII–D Program began in 1989 as part of the Institute of Plasma and Fusion Research and the Mechanical, Aerospace, and Nuclear Engineering (MANE) Department at UCLA. The program led by Prof. R. Conn relocated to the UCSD in 1994, becoming part of the newly formed Fusion Energy Research Program. The initial program, funded by the Transport Initiative, was a collaborative effort with SNL to construct and operate a fast reciprocating Langmuir probe array on the outboard midplane of the DIII–D tokamak for the study of tokamak boundary [edge and scrapeoff layer (SOL)] physics, edge turbulence, and L-to-H transition physics. Over the next ten years, the scope of the collaboration was broadened to include: (1) a second fast reciprocating Langmuir probe in the lower divertor to study the physics of main ion parallel and perpendicular flows, and detached and/or highly radiating divertor plasmas; (2) a disruption research program, including runaway electron generation and detection, and mitigation of disruption effects; and (3) a subcontract from GA to measure erosion rates of plasma facing materials in DIII–D using the DiMES actuator.

These research activities are organized into the following four subtasks:

- 1. Edge Physics and Turbulence. The principal objectives of this subtask are the investigation of plasma edge turbulence and transport, and the impact of turbulence and convective flows on the plasma edge and SOL; edge electron temperature fluctuations, and thermal transport; and detached and highly radiating divertor and boundary (RI–mode) plasmas.
- 2. **Disruption Physics and Mitigation.** The principal objectives of this subtask are the experimental investigation of DIII–D disruptions and mitigation techniques, runaway electron production, magnetic fluctuation effects on disruption runaways, two-color IR diode detector for runaway synchrotron radiation, and development of DISRAD, a fast disruption AXUV radiometer diagnostic.
- 3. UCSD/GA/TEXTOR Collaboration, Radiating Boundary. The principal objective of this subtask is to characterize the edge in RI-mode discharges in both limiter (TEXTOR) and elongated/divertor (DIII-D). Recent results include:
  - a. Analysis of fluctuation and turbulent transport changes in RI-modes at TEXTOR.
  - b. Evaluation of turbulence changes in the DIII–D boundary with radiative mantles.
- 4. **Divertor Materials Erosion Probe.** The principal objectives of this subtask are to perform, under subcontract to GA, DiMES materials experiments and operations, plasma analysis, measurement of materials erosion rates under conditions relevant to ITER and model validation in collaboration with GA, SNL, and Argonne National Laboratory.

## 6.8. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

The focus of the UC Irvine research program led by Prof. W. Heidbrink has been the physics of nonthermal "fast" ions. These energetic ions are produced through neutral-beam injection, ion-cyclotron heating, and fusion reactions. UC Irvine has developed and operated a suite of fast-ion diagnostics and has led physics studies of the thermalization, confinement, and stability behavior of fast-ion populations. Diagnostic efforts include fusion-product measurements of 2.5 and 14-MeV neutrons and 15 MeV protons, neutral-particle analysis of beam ions and ions accelerated by rf, and bolometric measurements of escaping beam ions.

Thermalization of deuterium beam ions was studied by injecting short neutral beam pulses into DIII–D and measuring the subsequent decay of the 2.5 MeV neutron emission. Excellent agreement with classical Coulomb scattering theory was obtained (to within  $\sim$ 15% accuracy). This "beam-blip" technique was subsequently employed on TFTR to measure the diffusion of beam ions and on JT–60U to measure the effect of toroidal-field ripple on beam-ion confinement.

The confinement of fusion products was consistent with classical expectations in the absence of MHD activity but was severely degraded in the presence of strong MHD modes. Losses of beam ions were observed during Alfven eigenmode activity and in plasmas with large tearing modes.

The toroidicity induced Alfven eigenmode (TAE) was studied extensively. The mode was first observed concurrently on TFTR and DIII–D in 1991. Large losses of up to 80% of the injected beam power were carefully documented. The stability threshold was an order of magnitude higher than initially predicted; the discrepancy was subsequently attributed to additional damping mechanisms. The instability saturated in a burst cycle (relaxation oscillation) caused by the expulsion of beam ions. Efforts to compare the eigenfunction with ideal MHD theory revealed significant discrepancies, indicating the importance of kinetic effects.

An equally virulent instability (dubbed the "BAE") was observed at lower frequencies than the TAE; this mode is still poorly understood theoretically. Modes with frequencies that chirp down rapidly were also studied as were fishbones and sawteeth. A DIII–D team led by UC Irvine performed a TFTR D–T experiment that searched for alpha-driven BAEs.

### 6.9. UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS

The University of Texas (UT) Fusion Research Center (FRC) has been collaborating with DIII–D since October 1996. The FRC augments the existing capabilities of the DIII–D group by operating diagnostics for use in both the DIII–D core program and in specific FRC experiments. In particular, the group operates and maintains an electron cyclotron emission (ECE) radiometer, provides analyzed ECE data, and assists with the operation of a beam emission spectroscopy (BES) system and analysis of its data. Also, UT staff propose specific experiments to test models of turbulence and transport.

Over the last two years, progress has been made in several collaborative research areas. FRC members participated in experiments to test theory-based transport models and analyzed BES fluctuation data for same. In addition, data obtained during other experiments was used to evaluate transport changes associated with low-order rational q surfaces in the plasma. Progress was made as well in diagnostic development. Improvements have been made to the ECE radiometer resulting in greater reliability and better calibration stability. New software has been developed for ECE analysis including a program to use ECE data to constrain the equilibrium reconstruction code EFIT. New data analysis techniques have been applied to BES data to look for evidence of self-organized criticality. The FRC has plans for an upgrade of additional channels to the ECE diagnostic and increased participation in transport experiments.
#### 6.10. COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY

Scientists from the Columbia University (Profs. Navratil, Mauel, and a postdoctorate student) have participated in experiments on DIII–D. The primary areas of collaboration have been in obtaining high performance with negative central shear and in stabilization of resistive wall modes. This collaboration helps connect the DIII–D research with the experiments on High Beta Tokamak — Extended Pulse (HBT–EP), which is a small tokamak at Columbia University presently studying the issue of wall stabilization. Part of the HBT–EP research program involves the use of nonaxisymmetric coils to force plasma rotation. The idea of forcing plasma rotation by rotating magnetic islands in the plasma originated at GA by T. Jensen. The collaboration presently consists of one full-time scientist permanently located at DIII–D in addition to active involvement on a part-time basis of other Columbia scientists in the planning and operation of the relevant experiments.

### 6.11. UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN

The University of Wisconsin (UW) collaboration on DIII–D has focussed on two major research topics central to magnetic fusion research: MHD studies, led by Prof. James Callen, and turbulence studies, under the direction of Prof. Raymond Fonck.

The MHD program began in 1995 and has involved five scientists, post doctoral researchers, and graduate students. Central thrusts of the MHD research have included neoclassical tearing modes, magnetic island physics, and disruption precursors. Neoclassical tearing mode studies included theory and simulations on the stabilization of these modes through the use of localized current drive and heating, dynamics of the MHD trigger and the effects of geometry and aspect ratio on pressure-driven magnetic islands. Also, UW has assisted in numerous GA led experimental studies on long-pulse beta limits in tokamaks. Magnetic island physics has involved the interpretation of internal fluctuation measurements during island growth; also, the delta-prime parameter has been obtained (both theoretically and experimentally) to determine the classical and neoclassical stability of the modes. Further, the distortion of magnetic islands resulting from the combination of flow shear and viscosity has been examined. Disruption studies have provided a model for the temporal evolution of an ideal MHD instability as it is driven slowly through its stability boundary. The spatial structure of observed precursors on electron temperature measurements via ECE are currently being compared with that predicted by the GATO ideal MHD stability code.

The turbulence program was initiated in 1995 and has resulted in the development of a multichannel density fluctuation diagnostic and the resulting analysis and interpretation of plasma turbulence measurements. This program has involved several scientists, graduate students and a technician as well as assistance from GA. A state-of-the-art BES system has been deployed on the DIII–D tokamak. Eight channels were operating near the end of 1995 with an additional eight added by mid-1996. In early 1997, the system was brought up to 32 channels. 2–D (radial, poloidal) fluctuation measurement capability has been implemented recently with initial measurements obtained.

## 6.12. UNIVERSITY OF MARYLAND

The collaboration between GA and the University of Maryland began in the mid-1980s. The primary focus of the General Atomics-University of Maryland collaboration led by Prof. R. Ellis and a postdoctorate student at DIII–D is the calibration, maintenance, operation, and improvement of the Michelson interferometer diagnostic system. This instrument, a baseline diagnostic, provides absolutely calibrated measurements of the electron temperature profile via ECE in DIII–D plasmas. These measurements are widely used by the DIII–D research team. Since the Michelson views the plasma along a horizontal chord, it is also known as the Horizontal ECE (HECE) system.

The original purpose of the Michelson interferometer was to measure nonthermal ECE emission from DIII–D along a vertical viewing chord. A result of this early work was the study of changes in the electron distribution function during ECH and current drive. The diagnostic was later converted to its present horizontal viewing chord for measuring the electron temperature profile. Since that time, several upgrades and improvements have been made. The lens-relay system which had been used to transmit the plasma light to the Michelson was replaced by a much more efficient and robust waveguide assembly. A technique to extract the temperature profile from the third-harmonic Michelson data was implemented, which has proven to be useful when the second harmonic data are "cutoff" due to high plasma densities. Measurements with the HECE system have determined the wall reflection coefficient for microwaves in a graphite-tiled tokamak to be 0.7.

Several projects are currently being pursued by the Maryland collaborators. The primary responsibility of Maryland scientists is the continued operation and improvement of the Michelson interferometer diagnostic system. Research is ongoing to find the cause of inconsistencies in ECE profile measurements in NCS plasmas — one of the results of this effort will be the use of Michelson data to constrain MHD equilibria (EFITs). The Maryland staff will add a new ECE diagnostic to DIII–D in 1999. This diagnostic will be a flexible fast channel that has many potential applications, such as determining the spectrum of synchrotron radiation produced by runaway electrons following plasma disruptions and measuring ECH temperature effects via third harmonic emission.

#### 6.13. INTERNATIONAL COLLABORATIONS

The DIII–D international collaboration program continues to provide a broad source of innovative ideas and opportunities which support the DIII–D Research Program. Throughout, the DIII–D Program has benefited from the many foreign collaborating activities. The DIII–D Program has played, and will continue to play, a lead role internationally in the AT research thrust. The flexibility of the DIII–D device allows early testing of new approaches that can, if successful, later be implemented on the larger tokamaks such as JET and JT–60U. DIII–D scientists have participated in such experiments on foreign machines transferring techniques developed on DIII–D. Working with foreign tokamaks of various sizes, DIII–D has played a key role in developing the dimensionless parameter approach to the scale size dependence of plasma confinement. The path of developing AT approaches on DIII–D and confirming those approaches on the larger foreign tokamaks will provide the scientific basis for use of AT operating modes on future international or domestic next step machines. For example, in developing the reversed or NCS regime for use on JET, a strong interaction of the JET and DIII–D research staff took place. JET scientists came to DIII–D and JET-shaped plasmas were operated in DIII–D. In those plasmas, the techniques for timing and application of neutral beam heating were developed that allowed internal transport barrier regimes with negative central shear to be created. Later, about six DIII–D scientists went to JET and participated in the initial D–D experiments at JET in which NCS internal transport barrier plasmas were created in JET as preparation for the DT campaign. DIII–D personnel also participated in the DT campaign.

DIII–D and JAERI have had a long interactive history in AT studies, particularly around the issue of plasma shape, specifically triangularity. This interaction began early in the DIII–D Program with the discovery of the Type II or grassy ELM regime when high triangularity plasmas were operated in DIII–D. Stability analysis by JAERI scientists showed the edge of such plasmas was predicted to be in the second stability regime from which sprung today's intensive effort to understand the stability of the H–mode pedestal region. More recently, DIII–D scientists have first assisted in implementing on JT–60U the wall conditioning techniques developed on DIII–D for discharge optimization and, secondly, DIII–D scientists have assisted in developing on JT–60U plasma control approaches that allowed higher discharge triangularity. These higher triangularity discharges in JT–60U have better beta limit and ELM properties.

The EFIT equilibrium code has been exported from DIII–D to most tokamaks around the world, and has played a prominent role in the design and analysis of their AT experiments. The EFIT code was implemented on JT–60U by DIII–D scientists and used to analyze internal transport barrier discharges, as well as to deduce the radial profile of noninductively driven current in discharges that have not resistively relaxed to a new steady-state current profile. A similar use of EFIT has been made on Tore Supra as part of a larger collaboration on advanced methods of plasma control. Experts in DIII–D's digital plasma control system have participated in work on Tore Supra.

The shaping flexibility of DIII–D has enabled DIII–D to match the plasma shapes run in other tokamaks, e.g., JET, ASDEX Upgrade, Alcator C–Mod. This ability to run identical plasma shapes has enabled dimensionless parameter scaling studies of confinement to be carried out between DIII–D and these three tokamaks. The results have provided a more sound basis of projecting confinement to future devices, in particular, to ITER.

DIII–D began a detailed program of investigation of the effects of magnetic field errors on performance and, in particular, on plasma rotation. This work was expanded into collaborative work on the larger tokamak JET and the smaller tokamak COMPASS. The resulting three machine database has provided a scaling law that has been used to estimate error field problems on ITER. This collaborative work has continued onto the subject of neoclassical tearing modes which frequently appear in AT regimes.

The role of DIII–D in developing the principle of E×B shear suppression of turbulence as the reason for the confinement improvement in H–mode is well known. The detailed focus on the plasma edge made by DIII–D has motivated other tokamaks to mount new diagnostics focused on the plasma edge. The result has been a present intensive worldwide effort to understand the structure and physics properties of the H–mode shear layer. This work has high leverage on the overall performance of the tokamak because of the sensitive dependence of the overall confinement on the height of the H–mode pedestal; a dependence that results from "stiff" transport models for the core plasma predicted by theory. Collaborations have been carried out with JET in England, ASDEX–Upgrade in Germany, Tore Supra in France, and JT–60U and JFT–2M in Japan through bi-lateral agreements. In addition to the benefits gained from DIII–D staff assignments in these and other laboratories, foreign scientists visiting DIII–D have made significant contributions to DIII–D Program goals. A summary of some of the recent major international collaborations by DIII–D staff members is given below.

**JET (England)** is the large European tokamak approximately twice the size and magnetic field strength of DIII–D. Our collaboration with JET is one of the largest of our international collaborations. Several DIII–D scientists from GA, LLNL, and ORNL collaborated at JET in a two-step exchange on NCS-type high performance tokamak discharges. First a series of experiments were performed on DIII–D with participation by JET scientists. Then DIII–D scientists participate in experiments at JET. In other experiments, DIII–D and JET scientists have carried out dimensionless scaling experiments to investigate fundamental confinement properties and to provide results to the ITER database. The results from this series of experiments were very successful. Ion temperatures of about 30 keV and electron temperatures of about 16 keV were obtained. These results represent some of the highest fusion parameters attained in deuterium plasmas on JET.

**TEXTOR (Germany).** The RI-mode is an AT mode first discovered on TEXTOR. Its prominent features are confinement of H-mode quality or better with densities above the Greenwald limit and a radiated power fraction approaching 100%. Because the diagnostic instrument set on TEXTOR is limited, the TEXTOR group have initiated a collaboration on DIII-D on RI-mode plasmas. Because of the excellent edge diagnostics set on DIII-D, it is expected that a deeper understanding of the physics of the RI-mode might be obtained on DIII-D.

**Tore Supra (France)**. The primary emphasis for our collaboration with Tore Supra has been ECH physics and technology, noninductive current drive, and plasma and current density profile control. The Tore Supra program includes electron cyclotron, fast wave, and lower hybrid heating and current drive research which complements the DIII–D electron cyclotron and fast wave heating and current drive research.

**ASDEX Upgrade (Germany).** The ASDEX/DIII–D collaborations are primarily in the area of Divertor research and RF. This includes impurity transport and heat transfer mechanisms involving Edge Localized Modes and MARFEs. Research also includes H–mode confinement studies. RF collaboration includes ICRF and ECH.

**JAERI (Japan).** The DIII–D Program is a major collaboration between the U.S. and Japan and was implemented by DOE and JAERI. JAERI contributed substantial financial resources and manpower from 1979 to 1986. A U.S./Japan Doublet III Steering Committee meets annually to assess progress and review future plans. GA scientists participated in an exchange at JT–60U, working in the area of NCS, high confinement, and neutral beam current drive. The equilibrium reconstruction code, EFIT, was used to analyze JT–60U NCS configurations. A successful experiment using the GA-designed "Combline" antenna was carried out on the JAERI JFT–2M tokamak. This antenna allows better coupling to the plasma over a wide range of plasma parameters. The highly successful JAERI/DIII–D cooperation continues. This collaborative program entails the long term participation of JAERI scientists in the DIII–D Fusion Research Program.

**Russia**. DIII–D maintains a broad collaboration program with several Russian Fusion Research Institutes. DIII–D and T–10 tokamak scientists have collaborated closely for a number of years. For several

years, DIII–D provided subcontract funds to carry out ECH experiments on T–10 which was equipped with more microwave gyrotron power than was the case at the time on DIII–D. With the TRINITI lab at Troitsk, near Moscow, the main topics are: materials for plasma facing components, divertor spectroscopy, and the use of the Russian developed DINA code for modeling dynamic plasma behavior. With Kurchatov, collaborations were on ECH, electron temperature measurements using an x–ray spectrometer, and remote analysis of charge exchange recombination data. Funded by the Theory Grant, GA is contracting with Moscow State University to support Russian theorists to perform theoretical analysis of plasma physics problems of relevance to understanding the performance of DIII–D.

**China**. The main thrust of our exchanges with the Chinese Fusion Research Program has consisted of the long term participation of Chinese scientists in the DIII–D Program at the DIII–D site. These exchanges have concentrated in the area of the Thomson scattering diagnostic, the CER diagnostic, and ECH systems.

**Korea**. The proposed Korean superconducting tokamak (KSTAR) has many similarities in shape and size to DIII–D. DIII–D scientists and engineers have contributed to the preliminary physics and engineering design of this device. It is expected that the collaboration with KSTAR and the Korean fusion program will increase as KSTAR design, construction, and operation progresses.

**ITER Experts**. The ITER Expert groups provide the forum for prioritizing, coordinating, and communicating tokamak planning, scientific research nationally and internationally. As part of the effort to satisfy the ITER physics research and development needs, seven ITER Expert Groups were established. The Expert Groups, identify ITER research needs within their area of expertise and propose research programs, including suggestions for specific facilities. DIII–D program staff participated in the ITER Physics Committee, chair the Divertor Expert Group, and are members of the Confinement and Transport Group, the Confinement Modeling and Database Group, the Divertor Modeling and Database Group, and the Disruptions, Plasma Control, MHD Group. Many other DIII–D scientists have enthusiastically participated in these groups via extensive presentations, written contributions, database inputs, and participation at working sessions.

# 7. PUBLICATIONS FY98–FY89

# 7.1. FY98

- Allen, S.L., N.H. Brooks, R. Bastasz, J.A. Boedo, J.N. Brooks, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, J. Hogan, R.C. Isler, G.L. Jackson, J.C. Jernigan, A.W. Hyatt, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Lehmer, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, W.H. Meyer, P.K. Mioduszewski, R.A. Moyer, D.G. Nilson, L.W. Owen, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, G.M. Staebler, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, W.R. Wampler, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, N.S. Wolf, C.P.C. Wong, R.D. Wood, DIII–D Phys. and Oper. Teams, "Radiative Divertor and SOL Experiments in Open and Baffled Divertors on DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23004 (1998).
- Allen, S.L., M.E. Fenstermacher, C.M. Greenfield, A.W. Hyatt, R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, M.R. Wade, A.S. Bozek, R. Ellis, D.N. Hill, M.A. Hollerbach, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, D.G. Nilson, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Studies of High- (Baffled) and Low- (Open) Pumped Divertor Operation on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22878 (1998).
- Allen, S.L., M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, M.R. Wade, R. Maingi, C.M. Greenfield, M.A. Mahdavi, "Particle and Power Control Studies With the Upper Divertor Pump and Baffle," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1848 (1998).
- Anderson, P.M., J.I. Robinson, E. Gonzales, G.W. Rolens, "Restoration of the DIII–D Solenoid," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 669 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22686 (1997).
- Anderson, P.W., Johnson, W.R. Johnson, J.L. Busath, S.L. Allen, "Performance and Development of the DIII–D Tokamak Core," Proc. 20th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 7–11, 1998, Marseille, France, Vol. 1, p. 1685 (Association EURATOM-CEA, Saint Paul Lez Durance, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22884 (1998).
- Austin, M.E., K.W. Gentle, K.H. Burrell, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, "Changes in Transport Related to Low-Order Rational q-Surfaces in DIII–D NCS Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1759 (1998).

- Baker, D.R., T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, L.Y. Sun, M.R. Wade, G.R. McKee, Jr, "Dimensionless Scaling of Electron Particle Transport Versus Energy Transport in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1759 (1998).
- Baker, D.R., M.N. Rosenbluth, "Density Profile Consistency and Its Relation to the Transport of Trapped Versus Passing Electrons in Tokamaks," Phys. Plasmas 5, 2936 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22523 (1998).
- Baker, D.R., M.R. Wade, G.L. Jackson, R. Maingi, R.E. Stockdale, J.S. deGrassie, R.J. Groebner, C.B. Forest, G.D. Porter, DIII–D Team, "Measurement of Electron Transport Coefficients in Different Operational Modes of DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 38, 485 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22553 (1997).
- Baylor, L.R., T.C. Jernigan, P.B. Parks, P. Gohil, C.-L. Hsieh, "Results From Vertical Pellet Injection Inside the Magnetic Axis on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1890 (1998).
- Baxi, C.B., "Thermal Analysis and Testing for DIII–D Ohmic Heating Coil Repair," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 673 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22677 (1997).
- Boedo, J.A., R. Lehmer, R.A. Moyer, J.G. Watkins, G.D. Porter, T.E. Evans, A.W. Leonard, M.J. Schaffer, "Measurements of Flows in the DIII–D Divertor by Mach Probes," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22859 (1998).
- Boedo, J.A., R.A. Moyer, G.D. Porter, C.J. Lasnier, M.J. Schaffer, T.E. Evans, A.W. Leonard, J.G. Watkins, R. Maingi, "Measurements of Plasma Flow in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1849 (1998).
- Boedo, J., G.D. Porter, M.J. Schaffer, R. Lehmer, R.A. Moyer, J.G. Watkins, T.E. Evans, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, S.L. Allen, "Flow Reversal, Convection, and Modeling in the DIII–D Divertor," to be published in Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA–A22910 (1998).
- Boedo, J.A., G.D. Porter, M.J. Schaffer, R.A. Moyer, J.G. Watkins, T.E. Evans, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, R.C. Isler, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Lehmer, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, T. Rognlien, M.R. Wade, "Plasma Flow in the DIII–D Divertor," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 822 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22915 (1998).
- Bravenec, R.V., D.W. Ross, M.E. Austin, D.M. Patterson, W.L. Rowan, G.R. McKee, Jr, R.J. Fonck, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, W. Dorland, M. Kotschenreuther, M.A. Beer, G.W. Hammett, "Comparisons of Measurements and Gyrofluid Simulations of Turbulence in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1760 (1998).
- Bray, B., T.N. Carlstrom, C.-L. Hsieh, C.C. Makariou, D.G. Nilson, "Central Thomson Scattering Diagnostic for DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).

- Broesch, J.D., J.T. Scoville, A.W. Hyatt, R.M. Coon, "Real-Time Protection of the Ohmic Heating Coil Force Limits in DIII–D," Transaction on Nuclear Science 45, 2039 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22705 (1997).
- Brooks, N.H., R.J. Colchin, D.F. Finkenthal, T.H. Jensen, R. Maingi, N. Naumenko, S. Tugarinov, M.R. Wade, "Partial Pressure Measurements with an Active Spectrometer," presented at 12th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, June 7–11, 1998, Princeton, New Jersey, to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22855 (1998).
- Brooks, N.H., D.F. Finkenthal, T.H. Jensen, N.N. Naumenko, S.N. Tugarinov, "An Active Spectrometer," to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22700 (1997).
- Brooks, N.H., D.F. Finkenthal, G. Labik, M.R. Wade, "A Partial Pressure Diagnostic for the Upper Divertor Plenum of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).
- Burrell, K.H., "Turbulence and Sheared Flow," Science **281**, 1816 (1998); General Atomics Report GA-A22945 (1998).
- Burrell, K.H., M.E. Austin, C.M. Greenfield, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, G.M. Staebler, B.W. Stallard, "Effects of E×B Velocity Shear and Magnetic Shear in the Formation of Core Transport Barriers in the DIII–D Tokamak," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 40, 1585 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22715 (1997).
- Burrell, K.H., E.J. Synakowski, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Fonck, P. Gohil, C.M. Greenfield, G.R. McKee, Jr, P.A. Politzer, C.L. Rettig, B.W. Rice, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Stallard, "Long Pulse Discharges with Regions of Reduced Core Transport," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1662 (1998).
- Callis, R.W., J. Lohr, D. Ponce, T.E. Harris, R.C. O'Neill, D.B. Remsen, R. Prater, T.C. Luce, "3 MW, 110 GHz ECH System for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 20th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 7–11, 1998, Marseille, France, Vol. 1, p. 315 (Association EURATOM-CEA, Saint Paul Lez Durance, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22906 (1998).
- Callis, R.W., J. Lohr, R.C. O'Neill, D. Ponce, R. Prater, "Multi-Megawatt 110 GHz ECH System for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 417 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22707 (1997).
- Carlstrom, T.N., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, A.W. Leonard, T.H. Osborne, D.M. Thomas, "Comparison of L-H Transition Measurements with Physics Models," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA-A22989 (1998).
- Carlstrom, T.N., R.J. Groebner, D.M. Thomas, R.J. Colchin, R. Maingi, M.E. Fenstermacher, R.A. Moyer, J.G. Watkins, "Effect of the Ion Grad B Drift Direction on the Edge Plasma, Divertor, and H–Mode Power Threshold in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1764 (1998).
- Carolipio, E.M., W.W. Heidbrink, C.B. Forest, R.B. White, "Simulations of Beam Ion Losses Due to Tearing Modes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1764 (1998).

- Cary, W.P., B.L. Burley, W.H. Grosnickle, "DIII–D ICRF High Voltage Power Supply Regulator Upgrade," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 459 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22712 (1997).
- Casper, T.A., J.A. Hawreliak, W.M. Nevins, L.D. Pearlstein, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, T.S. Taylor, "Current Profile Modeling to Extend the Duration of High Performance Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 2002 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22914 (1998).
- Chiu, H., "Measurement of Neutral Beam Profiles at DIII–D," Proc. 13th Top. Mtg. on the Technology of Fusion Energy, June 7–11, 1998, Nashville, Tennessee; General Atomics Report GA–A22896, Rev. 1 (1998).
- Chiu, H.K., R.-M. Hong, "Comparison of Calculated Neutral Beam Shine Through with Measured Shine-Through in DIII–D," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 1095 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22735 (1997).
- Chu, Y., T.E. Evans, D.F. Finkenthal, "A 2-D Methane Transport Model for the DIII–D Divertor Region," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1743 (1998).
- Colchin, R.J., R. Maingi, S.L. Allen, C.M. Greenfield, M.R. Wade, "Effects of Particle Exhaust on Neutral Compression RAtios in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22865 (1998).
- Colchin, R.J., R. Maingi, M.E. Fenstermacher, T.N. Carlstrom, R.C. Isler, L.W. Owen, "Method of Neutral Density Determination Near the X-point in DIII-D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 818 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22902 (1998).
- Colchin, R.J., R. Maingi, R.C. Isler, L.W. Owen, M.E. Fenstermacher, T.N. Carlstrom, "X-Point Neutral Density Determination in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1850 (1998).
- Comer, K.J., J.D. Callen, A.D. Turnbull, A.M. Garofalo, E.J. Strait, M.E. Austin, "Comparison of Experimental Diagnostic Signals with Stability Code Predictions," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1762 (1998).
- DeBoo, J.C., C.M. Greenfield, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, D.P. Schissel, R.E. Waltz, E. Fredrickson, J.E. Kinsey, C. Bravenec, G.R. McKee, Jr, H. Yuh, "Dynamic Tests of Transport Models with a Modulated Heat Source," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1664 (1998).
- DeBoo, J.C., J.E. Kinsey, R. Bravenec, E. Fredrickson, C.M. Greenfield, Y.R. Lin-Liu, J. Lohr, T.C. Luce, G.R. McKee, Jr, R. Prater, C.L. Rettig, D.P. Schissel, G.M. Staebler, R.E. Waltz, "Experimental Tests of Transport Models Using Modulated ECH," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22982 (1998).

- deGrassie, J.S., D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, M.R. Wade, B.W. Rice, "Effect of Electron Cyclotron Heating on Core Ion Parameters in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1891 (1998).
- Doyle, E.J., T.L. Rhodes, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, "Core Turbulence Correlation Lengths in Enhanced Confinement NCS Plasmas on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1884 (1998).
- Edgell, D.H., J.S. Kim, J.R. Ferron, E.J. Strait, "Feasibility of Real-Time MHD Tearing Mode Identification in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1762 (1998).
- Er, A., D.P. Schissel, J.C. DeBoo, C.C. Petty, J.E. Kinsey, "Transport Modeling of the DIII–D Collisionality Experiments," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1743 (1998).
- Evans, T.E., D.F. Finkenthal, "Monte Carlo Impurity Transport Modeling in the DIII–D Transport," Proc. 11th Am. Phys. Soc. Top. Conf. on Atomic Processes in Plasmas, March 23–25, 1887, Auburn, Alabama, Vol. 443, p. 58 (AIP Press, New York, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22831 (1998).
- Evans, T.E., D.F. Finkenthal, M.E. Fenstermacher, A.W. Leonard, G.D. Porter, W.P. West, "Quantitative Comparisons between Experimentally Measured 2–D Carbon Radiation and Monte Carlo Impurity (MCI) Code Simulations," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22876 (1998).
- Evans, T.E., D.F. Finkenthal, Y.S. Loh, M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, W.P. West, "Comparisons of Physical and Chemical Sputtering in High Density Divertor Plasmas with the Monte Carlo Impurity (MCI) Transport Model," Contribution to Plasma Physics 38, 260 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22693 (1997).
- Evans, T.E., A.W. Leonard, W.P. West, D.F. Finkenthal, M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, Y. Chu, "Carbon Radiation Studies in the DIII–D Divertor with the Monte Carlo Impurity (MCI) Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1850 (1998).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., S.L. Allen, D.N. Hill, R.C. Isler, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Evolution of 2D Deuterium and Impurity Radiation Profiles During Transitions from Attached to Detached Divertor Operation in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22861 (1998).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., S.L. Allen, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Wood, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, R.J. Colchin, R.C. Isler, "Power Dependence on the 2D Divertor Emission Profiles During the Transition to PDD Operation in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1849 (1998).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., J. Boedo, R.C. Isler, A.W. Leonard, G.D. Porter, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, R. Colchin, T.E. Evans, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Lehmer, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, T.D. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, and N. Wolf, "Physics of the Detached Radiative Divertor Regime in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Physical Society Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22909 (to be printed).

- Ferron, J.R., R.L. Miller, L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, T.H. Osborne, T.S. Taylor, B.W. Rice, "Modification of Edge Instability Character Through Changes in Discharge Shape," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1663 (1998).
- Ferron, J.R., M.L. Walker, L.L. Lao, H.E. St. John, D.A. Humphreys, J.A. Leuer, "Real Time Equilibrium Reconstruction for Tokamak Discharge Control," Nucl. Fusion 38, 1055 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22586 (1997).
- Garofalo, A.M., J. Bialek, M.S. Chu, E.D. Fredrickson, R.J. Groebner, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, G.A. Navratil, B.W. Rice, S.A. Sabbagh, J.T. Scoville, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, and the DIII–D Team, "Study of the Resistive Wall Mode in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 814 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22921 (1998).
- Garofalo, A.M., A.D. Turnbull, E.J. Strait, M.E. Austin, J. Bialek, M.S. Chu, E. Fredrickson, R.J. La Haye, G.A. Navratil, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, M. Okabayashi, B.W. Rice, S.A. Saggagh, J.T. Scoville, T.S. Taylor, M.L. Walker, DIII–D Team, "Stabilization of the External Kink and Control of the Resistive Wall Mode in Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1809 (1998) (Invited Abstract).
- Garstka, G.D., R.F. Ellis, M.E. Austin, L.L. Lao, Y.R. Lin-Liu, B.W. Rice, "Magnitude and Possible Causes of the 'ECE Overlap Problem' in NCS DIII-D Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, L.R. Baylor, T.C. Jernigan, "Modifications to the Radial Electric Field and the Toroidal Rotation Velocity by Pellet Injection in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1759 (1998).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, "Parametric Dependence of the Edge Radial Electric Field in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 93 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22585 (1997).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, K. Holtrop, K.H. Kaplan, P. Monier-Garbet, "Wavelength Calibration of the Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy System on the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 12th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, June 7–11, 1998, Princeton, New Jersey, to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22887 (1998).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, T.H. Osborne, "Energy Transport During Off-Axis Neutral Beam Heating in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 425 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22554 (1997).
- Gray, D.S., S.C. Luckhardt, D.G. Whyte, J. Zhang, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, R.L. Lee, J.A. Leuer, M.J. Schaffer, R.T. Snider, P.L. Taylor, T.C. Jernigan, "Fast Radiometric and Infrared Measurements During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1890 (1998).
- Greene, K.L., B.B. McHarg, Jr., "Development of Improved Methods for Remote Access of DIII–D Data and Data Analysis," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 779 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22730 (1997).

- Greenfield, C.M., C.L. Rettig, G.M. Staebler, B.W. Stallard, M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, J.S. deGrassie, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, J. Lohr, G.R. McKee, Jr, W.A. Peebles, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, B.W. Rice, T.L. Rhodes, E.J. Synakowski, R.E. Waltz, Z. Zheng, "Behavior of Electron and Ion Transport in Discharges with an Internal Transport Barrier in the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22990 (1998).
- Greenfield, C.M., C.L. Rettig, G.M. Staebler, B.W. Stallard, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, J.S. deGrassie, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, G.R. McKee, Jr, R.I. Pinsker, T.L. Rhodes, R.E. Waltz, L. Zheng, "Studies of Electron Thermal Transport in the Presence of an Internal Ion Transport Barrier," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1662 (1998).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, J. Kim, "Evolution of Main Ion Poloidal Rotationand Pressure Gradient Across H–Mode Transition," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1765 (1998).
- Groebner, R.J., T.N. Carlstrom, "Critical Edge Parameters for H–mode Transition in DIII–D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **40**, 673 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22723 (1997).
- Groebner, R.J., T.H. Osborne, "Scaling Studies of the H–mode Pedestal," Phys. Plasmas **5**, 1800 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22786 (1998).
- Harvey, R.W., F.W. Perkins, A. Pletzer, R.J. La Haye, Y.R. Lin-Liu, R. Prater, "Modeling of Neoclassical Tearing Mode Stabilization by ECCD in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1764 (1998).
- Heidbrink, W.W., C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, "Fast-Ion Behavior During High-Harmonic Ion Cyclotron Heating," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1891 (1998).
- Hinton, F.L., M.N. Rosenbluth, "Dynamics of Axisymmetric E×B and Poloidal Flows in Tokamaks," Proc. 25th European Physical Society Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22904 (1998).
- Hollerbach, M.A., J.P. Smith, "Fabrication and Installation of the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Structures," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 377 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22724 (1997).
- Hsieh, C.-L., B. Bray, G. Diao, F. Yin, "Possible Role of Pinch Terms in the Formation of an Internal Transport Barrier in Tokamak Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1759 (1998).
- Humphreys, D.A., A.G. Kellman, "Analytic Modeling of Axisymmetric Disruption Halo Currents," to be published in Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA–A22802 (1998).
- Humphreys, D.A., A.G. Kellman, R.S. Granetz, R.R. Khayrutdinov, V.E. Lukash, Y. Neyatani, R. Yoshino, "Analytic Halo Current Models Applied to Disruptions in Present and Next-Generation Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1875 (1998).
- Hyatt, A.W., R.L. Lee, P.L. Taylor, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.G. Kellman, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.G. Whyte, C.J. Lasnier, T.C. Jernigan, DIII–D Team, "Comparison of Divertor Heat Flux Profile Evolution in DIII–D Disruptions Unmitigated and Mitigated by Pre-Disruption Impurity Atom Injection," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1890 (1998).

- Ikezi, H., J.L. Doane, J. Lohr, C.P. Moeller, D. Ponce, "Characterization of Wave Polarization in the DIII–D 110 GHz ECH System," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).
- Ikezi, H., C.P. Moeller, J.L. Doane, M. DiMartino, J. Lohr, D. Ponce, R.W. Callis, "Millimeter Wave Polarimeter," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **68**, 478 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22856 (1998).
- Isler, R.C., N.H. Brooks, W.P. West, A.W. Leonard, G.R. McKee, G.D. Porter, "Spectroscopic Analysis of Normal and Reversed Ion Flows in the DIII–D Divertor," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22815 (1998).
- Isler, R.C., N.H. Brooks, W.P. West, A.W. Leonard, G.R. McKee, G.D. Porter, "Spectroscopic Measurements of Impurity Temperatures and Parallel Ion Flows in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22852 (1998).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, D.R. Baker, T.E. Evans, R.J. Groebner, R.J. La Haye, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, T.S. Taylor, W.P. West, M. Murakami, M.R. Wade, J.A. Boedo, R.A. Moyer, C.J. Lasnier, A.M. Messiaen, J. Ongena, B. Unterberg, "Impurity Seeding and Radiating Mantle Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1889 (1998).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, T.E. Evans, A.W. Hyatt, R.J. La Haye, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, W.P. West, M. Murakami, M.R. Wade, A.M. Messiaen, "Enhanced Confinement Discharges in DIII–D with Neon and Argon Induced Radiation," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22875 (1998).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, M. Murakami, M.R. Wade, J.A. Boedo, T.E. Evans, R.J. La Haye, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, G.R. McKee, A.M. Messiaen, R.A. Moyer, J. Ongena, T.W. Petrie, T.S. Taylor, B. Unterberg, W.P. West, "RI-mode Investigations in the DIII–D Tokamak with Neon and Argon Induced Radiating Mantles," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 810 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22911 (1998).
- Jakubowski, M., R.J. Fonck, J.S. Kim, G.R. McKee, Jr, "Analysis of Transient Turbulent Phenomena in BES Density Fluctuation Measurements," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1760 (1998).
- Jernigan, T.C., L.R. Baylor, S.K. Combs, S.L. Milora, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, R.L. Lee, A.G. Kellman, M.J. Schaffer, P.L. Taylor, D.G. Whyte, "Disruption Mitigation by Massive Gas Injection on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1890 (1998).
- Johnson, W.R., J.P. Smith, "Fabrication of a 1200 kg Ingot of V-4Cr-4Ti for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Program," J. Nucl. Mater. **258–263**, 1425 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22740 (1998).
- Kellman, D.H., R.-M. Hong, "Recent Improvements to the DIII–D Neutral Beam Instrumentation and Control System," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 807 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22718 (1997).

- La Haye, R.J., L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, E.D. Fredrickson, B.W. Rice, "Increasing the Soft Beta Limit Due to Neoclassical Tearing Modes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1763 (1998).
- La Haye, R.J., O. Sauter, "Threshold for Metastable Tearing Modes in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 987 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22570 (1997).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, V.S. Chan, R.J. Groebner, R.J. La Haye, R.L. Miller, T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, A.D. Turnbull, T.S. Taylor, B.W. Rice, "Characterization of Edge Current Density, Pressure Gradient, and Instabilities Using the Improved MSE System and a Radial Sweeping Technique," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1761 (1998).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, R.L. Miller, T.H. Osborne, V.S. Chan, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, R.J. La Haye, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, E.J. Doyle, E.A. Lazarus, M. Murkamai, G.R. McKee, Jr, B.W. Rice, C. Zhang, L. Chen, "Effects of Plasma Shape and Profiles on Edge Stability in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22993 (1998).
- Lao, L.L., R.J. La Haye, K.H. Burrell, V.S. Chan, J.R. Ferron, C.L. Rettig, G.W. Rewoldt, J.T. Scoville, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, W.M. Tang, T.S. Taylor, D. Wroblewski, "Role of E×B Flow Shear on Confinement Enhancement in DIII–D High Internal Inductance Discharges with High-Confinement Edge," Phys. Plasmas 5, 1050 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22675 (1997).
- Lasnier, C.J., D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, J.G. Watkins, "Scalings and Profiles of Heat Flux During Partial Detachment in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22872 (1998).
- Lasnier, C.J., D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, J.G. Watkins, "Scaling of Divertor Heat Flux and Radiated Power for Partially Detached Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1889 (1998).
- Lasnier, C.J., D.N. Hill, T.W. Petrie, A.W. Leonard, T.E. Evans, R. Maingi, "Survey of Target Plate Heat Flux in Diverted DIII–D Tokamak Discharges," Nucl. Fusion 8, 1225 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22231 (1998).
- Lazarus, E.A., A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, D.A. Humphreys, "Using a Multipole Expansion for Startup in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 1083 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22590 (1997).
- Leonard, A.W., N.H. Brooks, T.E. Evans, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, W.P. West, G.D. Porter, R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, J.A. Boedo, "Radiative Divertor Plasmas with Convection in DIII–D," Phys. Plasmas 5, 1736 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22787 (1998).
- Leonard, A.W., A. Hermann, K. Itami, J. Lingertat, A. Loarte, T.H. Osborne, W. Suttrop, the ITER Divertor Modeling and Database Expert Group and the ITER Divertor Physics Expert Group, "ELM Heat Flux in the ITER Divertor," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 679 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22899 (1998).

- Leonard, A.W., A. Hermann, K. Itami, J. Lingertat, A. Loarte, T.H. Osborne, W. Suttrop, the ITER Divertor Modeling and Database Expert Group and the ITER Divertor Physics Expert Group, "The Impact of ELMs on the ITER Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22860 (1998).
- Leonard, A.W., M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, R. Maingi, J.G. Watkins, DIII–D Team, "Scaling of Radiative Divertor Plasmas in DIII–D to High Power," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1888 (1998).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., V.S. Chan, T.C. Luce, R. Prater, "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Efficiency in General Tokamak Geometry and Its Application to Advanced Tokamak Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1891 (1998).
- Lohr, J., D. Ponce, R.W. Callis, J.L. Doane, H. Ikezi, C.P. Moeller, "Recent Developments on the High Power ECH Installation at the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 23rd Int. Conf. on Infrared and Millimeter Waves, September 7–11, 1998, Wivenhoe Park, Colchester, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A22963 (1998).
- Lohr, J., D. Ponce, H. Ikezi, R.W. Callis, R.C. O'Neill, T.C. Luce, R. Prater, C.C. Petty, "The 110 GHz System for ECH and ECCD on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1663 (1998).
- Luce, T.C., "Current Profile Modification with Electron Cyclotron Current Drive," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1772 (1998).
- Luce, T.C., Y.R. Lin-Liu, J.M. Lohr, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, R.I. Pinsker, D. Ponce, M.E. Austin, F.W. Baity, Jr., M. Murakami, S. Bernabei, K.-L. Wong, G. Grizzi, R.W. Harvey, B.W. Rice, M. Zerbini, "Current Profile Modification with Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23002 (1998).
- Mahdavi, M.A., DIII–D Physics Team, "An Overview of the DIII–D Divertor Program," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1848 (1998).
- Maingi, R., M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, L.R. Baylor, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, T.C. Jernigan, R.J. La Haye, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M. Murakami, R.T. Snider, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, "Investigation of Density Limit Processes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published as General Atomics Report GA–A23000.
- Maingi, R., M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, L.R. Baylor, T.C. Jernigan, R.J. La Haye, A.W. Hyatt, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, D.G. Whyte, "Density Limit Studies on DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22873 (1998).
- Maingi, R., M.R. Wade, M.E. Fenstermacher, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, J.G. Watkins, "The Dependence of Local Edge Plasma Parameters on Heating Power at Partial Detachment Onset in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1850 (1998).

- Mandrekas, J., W.M. Stacey, M.R. Wade, M. Murakami, G.L. Jackson, "Analysis of DIII-D Impurity Enriched Radiative Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1890 (1998).
- McHarg, Jr., B.B., "Overview of the DIII–D Program Computer Systems," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 783 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22717 (1997).
- McKee, Jr, G.R., R.J. Fonck, M. Jakubowski, G.L. Jackson, G.M. Staebler, M. Murakami, R. Sydora, "Turbulence Suppression Measurements During Radiative-Improved (RI–Mode) Plasmas with BES on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1760 (1998).
- Miller, R.L., Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.H. Osborne, T.S. Taylor, "Ballooning Mode Stability for Self-Consistent Pressure and Current Profiles at the H–mode Edge," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 40, 753 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22711 (1997).
- Moyer, R.A., R.D. Lehmer, T.L. Rhodes, E.J. Doyle, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, R.J. Groebner, "Evidence for Self-Organized Criticality in Tokamak Plasma Transport," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1664 (1998).
- Moyer, R.A., T.L. Rhodes, C.L. Rettig, E.J. Doyle, K.H. Burrell, J.W. Cuthbertson, R.J. Groebner, K.W. Kim, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, J.G. Watkins, "Study of the Phase Transition Dynamics of the L-to-H Transition," presented at IAEA Tech. Committee Meeting on H-mode Physics, September 22–24, 1997, Kloster-Seeon, Germany, to be published in Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22726 (1997).
- Murakami, M., M.R. Wade, G.L. Jackson, G.M. Staebler, T.E. Evans, C.M. Greenfield, A.W. Hyatt, R.J. La Haye, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, T.S. Taylor, W.P. West, C.J. Lasnier, A.M. Messiaen, J. Ongena, B. Unterberg, "Analysis of Radiating Mantle Discharges with Impurity Seeding in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1662 (1998).
- Navratil, G.A., J. Bialek, A. Boozer, A.M. Garofalo, E.J. Strait, R.J. La Haye, J.T. Scoville, E.A. Lazarus, E. Fredrickson, M. Okabayashi, "Resistive Wall Mode Onset and Control in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1663 (1998).
- Nilson, D.G., G. Brewis, R. Ellis, M.E. Fenstermacher, N. Jalufka, R.T. Snider, "A Tangentially Viewing VUV TV System for the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 12th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, June 7–11, 1998, Princeton, New Jersey, to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22885 (1998).
- Nilson, D.G., B.W. Stallard, T.N. Carlstrom, C.L. Hsieh, R.E. Stockdale, "Central Thomson Scattering Upgrade on DIII–D," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, 791 (1998) (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22722 (1997).
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, G.D. Porter, G.M. Staebler, A.D. Turnbull, "H-mode Pedestal Characteristics in ITER Shape Discharges in DIII-D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA-A22882 (1998).

- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, R.L. Miller, A.D. Turnbull, "H–Mode Pedestal Characteristics on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1663 (1998).
- Osborne, T.H., R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, A.W. Leondard, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, G.D. Porter, D.M. Thomas, R.E. Waltz, "H-mode Pedestal Characteristics, ELMs, and Energy Confinement in ITER Shape Discharge on DIII–D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **40**, 845 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22733 (1997).
- Parks, P.B., M.N. Rosenbluth, "Equilibrium Pellet and Liquid Jet Shapes Under High Ablation Pressures," Phys. Plasmas **5**, 1380 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22772 (1997).
- Parks, P.B., M.N. Rosenbluth, S.V. Putvinskij, T.E. Evans, "High-Velocity Liquid Jet Injection into Tokamak Plasmas for Disruption Mitigation," to be published in Fusion Technology; General Atomics Report GA-A22908 (1998).
- Penaflor, B.G., B.B. McHarg, Jr., D. Piglowski, "Software Development on the DIII–D Control and Data Acquisition Computers," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 811 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22713 (1997).
- Peng, Q., J. Schachter, C. Campo, D.P. Schissel, "A Suite of Tools for EFIT Analysis Using Object-Oriented Programming (OOP)," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).
- Petersen, P.I., DIII–D Team, "Recent Results from the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 26 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22748 (1998).
- Petrie, T.W., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, D.M. Thomas, W.P. West, S.L. Allen, M.R. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, R. Maingi, J.G. Watkins, "The Effect of the Grad-B Drift Direction on the ELMing H–Mode Density Limit in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1764 (1998).
- Petrie, T.W., R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, R.J. Groebner, D.N. Hill, A.W. Leonard, C.J. Lasnier, M.A. Mahdavi, R.A. Moyer, M.E. Rensink, D.M. Thomas, W.P. West, and the DIII–D Team, "The Role of Neutrals in the H–L Back Transition of High Density Single-Null and Double-Null Gas-Fueled Discharges in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22864 (1998).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, D.R. Baker, B. Ballet, T.N. Carlstrom, J.G. Cordey, J.C. DeBoo, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, B.W. Rice, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade R.E. Waltz, "Experimental Constraints on Transport from Dimensionless Parameter Scaling Studies," Phys. Plasmas 5, 1695 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22788 (1998).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, F.W. Baity, D.R. Baker, J.C. DeBoo, J.S. deGrassie, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, B.W. Rice, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, R.E. Waltz, "Comprehensive Energy Transport Scalings Derived From DIII–D Similarity Experiments," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22992 (1998).

- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, J.C. DeBoo, R.E. Waltz, D.R. Baker, M.R. Wade, "Scaling of Heat Transport with Beta in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 1183 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22572 (1997).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, J.S. deGrassie, T.C. Luce, R. Prater, F.W. Baity, M. Murakami, E. Fredrickson, W.W. Heidbrink, "Fast Wave Current Drive and Non-Thermal Effects in Neutral Beam Heated Plasmas." Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1663 (1998).
- Phillips, J.C., J.L. Busath, B.G. Penaflor, D. Piglowski, D.H. Kellman, H.K. Chiu, R.-M. Hong, "Advances in the Operation of the DIII–D Neutral Beam Computer Systems," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 815 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22760 (1998).
- Piglowski, D., B.G. Penaflor, J.C. Phillips, "Use of the Accessware Interface/Database Software in the Neutral Beam Control Systems Used by the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 819 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22745 (1997).
- Pinsker, R.I., "Development of Impedance Matching Technologies for ICRF Antenna Arrays," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **40**, A215 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22817 (1998).
- Pinsker, R.I., "Tutorial RF Heating and Current Drive, Helicon Waves, Interstellar Medium," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1878 (1998).
- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, W.P. Cary, J.S. DeGrassie, R.H. Goulding, N.L. Greenough, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, "Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in ELMing H–mode Plasmas in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 1406 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22917 (1998).
- Pinsker, R.I., W.P. Cary, C.C. Petty, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, W.C. Martin, F.W. Baity, "System for Tunerless Operation of a Four-Element Phased Array Antenna for Fast Wave Current Drive," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 413 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22752 (1997).
- Politzer, P.A., "Evidence for Correlations in DIII–D Te Fluctuation Data," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1760 (1998).
- Popov, A.M., Y.Q. Liu, N.N. Popova, R.J. La Haye, A.D. Turnbull, B.W. Rice, "Simulation of Neoclassical Tearing Mode Suppression by ECCD with the 3D Nonlinear Code NFTC in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1763 (1998).
- Porter, G.D., N.S. Wolf, M.E. Fenstermacher, J.A. Boedo, R.C. Isler, DIII–D Team, "The Effect of SOL Flow on Core Impurity Content in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1849 (1998).

- Prater, R., M.E. Austin, S. Bernabei, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, Y.R. Lin-Liu, J.M., Lohr, T.C. Luce, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, D. Ponce, M. Zerbini, "Electron Cyclotron Heating Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 2nd Europhysics Top. Conf. on RF Heating and Current Drive of Fusion Devices, January 20–23, 1998, Brussels, Belgium, Vol. 22A (1998) p. 221; General Atomics Report GA–A22803 (1998).
- Prater, R., T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M.E. Austin, G. Garstka, R.W. Harvey, M. Murakami, "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1891 (1998).
- Prater, R., T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, J.M. Lohr, M.E. Austin, S. Bernabei, J.S. DeGrassie, J.L. Doane, H. Ikezi, Y.R. Lin-Liu, C.P. Moeller, M. Murakami, R.I. Pinsker, D. Ponce, M. Zerbini, "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive and Current Profile Control in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 1410 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22916 (1998).
- Project Staff, "The DIII–D Five-Year Program Plan, 1999–2003 (Abridged Version)," General Atomics Report GA–A22950 (1998).
- Ponce, D., J. Lohr, J.F. Tooker, W.P. Cary, T.E. Harris, "The DIII–D Multiple Gyrotron Control System," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 552 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22720 (1997).
- Reis, E.E., P.M. Anderson, E. Chin, J.E. Robinson, "Analysis and Testing of the DIII–D Ohmic Heating Coil Lead Repair Clamp," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, p. 677 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22706 (1997).
- Rettig, C.L., W.A. Peebles, T.L. Rhodes, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, E.J. Synakowski, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, "Microturbulence Dynamics Associated with Steady-State High Performance Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1761 (1998).
- Rhodes, T.L., E.J. Doyle, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, R.A. Moyer, R.D. Lehmer, R.J. Groebner, D.M. Thomas, "Comparison of Tokamak Plasma Turbulence Measurements to Self-Organized Criticality Modeling," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1761 (1998).
- Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, J.R. Ferron, C.M. Greenfield, G.L. Jackson, L.L. Lao, R.J. La Haye, T.C. Luce, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, E.J., Synakowski, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, "Progress Towards Sustainment of Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22999 (1998).
- Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, L.L. Lao, D.G. Nilson, "Simultaneous Measurement of q and E<sub>r</sub> Profiles Using the Motional Stark Effect in High-Performance DIII–D Plasmas," presented at 12th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, June 7–11, 1998, Princeton, New Jersey, to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22888 (1998).
- Rice, B.W., T.A. Casper, B.W. Stallard, J.C. DeBoo, J.R. Ferron, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. La Haye, T.C. Luce, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, "Progress Toward Sustainment of Advanced Tokamak Modes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1662 (1998).

- Rice, B.W., J.R. Ferron, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, C.M. Greenfield, G.L. Jackson, T.C. Luce, R.L. Miller, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Synakowski, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, M.R. Wade, "Progress Towards Sustainment of Internal Transport Barriers in DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 826 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22918 (1998).
- St John, H.E., T.B. Yang, R. Cohen, "Interactive Transport Methods in ONETWO," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1673 (1998).
- Schachter, J., Q. Peng, D.P. Schissel, C. Campo, T. Terpstra, "Software Tools for Enhanced Data Visualization and Analysis Capabilities," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1893 (1998).
- Schaffer, M.J., "Non-Uniform Poloidal Pressure is Necessary for Detached Tokamak Divertor Operation," to be published in Comments in Plasma Physics; General Atomics Report GA–A22649 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., "Poloidal Pressure Gradients, Divertor Detachment, and MARFEs," Contribution to Plasma Physics **38**, 140 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22703 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., J.A. Boedo, N.H. Brooks, R.C. Isler, R.A. Moyer, "Plasma Pressure and Flows During Divertor Detachment," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22863 (1998).
- Schaffer, M.J., J.A. Boedo, R.A. Moyer, "Plasma Physics Near the Divertor X-Point," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1889 (1998).
- Schissel, D.P., C. Campo, J. Peng, J. Schachter, T. Terpstra, B. Davis, B. Meyer, T.A. Casper, "Enhanced Data Analysis at the DIII–D National Fusion Facility," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1892 (1998).
- Schissel, D.P., DIII–D National Team, "Remote Collaboration and Data Access at the DIII–D National Fusion Facility," Proc. Workshop on Remote Participation in Fusion Experiments, June 28–29, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic; General Atomics Report GA–A22922 (1998).
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. La Haye, E.J. Strait, M.L. Walker, E. Fredrickson, J. Bialek, A.M. Garofalo, "Development of Tools for Resistive Wall Mode Feedback Control on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1762 (1998).
- Smith, J.P., W.R. Johnson, P.W. Trester, "Metallurgical Bonding Development of V-4Cr-4Ti Alloy for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Program," J. Nucl. Mater. 258-263, 1420 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22741 (1998).
- Simonen, T.C., D.M. Meade, "Results of DIII–D Operation with New Enabling Technologies," Fusion Engineering and Design **39–40**, 83 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22560 (1997).
- Simonen, T.C., T.S. Taylor, G.L. Jackson, B.W. Rice, "DIII–D Progress in Advanced Tokamak Performance," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1758 (1998).
- Stacey, W.M., M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, "Analysis of DIII–D Density Limits," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1850 (1998).

- Staebler, G.M., "Theory of Internal and Edge Transport Barriers," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **40**, 569 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22694 (1997).
- Staebler, G.M., R.E. Waltz, C.M. Greenfield, B.W. Stallard, M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, J.S. DeGrassie, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, M. Kotschenreuther, L.L. Lao, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, P.A. Politzer, R. Prater, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, R.D. Stambaugh, H.E. St. John, W.P. West, "Electron Thermal Transport in Enhanced Core Confinement Regimes," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 2006 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22895 (1998).
- Staebler, G.M., G.L. Jackson, W.P. West, S.L. Allen, R.J. Groebner, M.J. Schaffer, D.G. Whyte, "Improved High-Mode with Neon Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22674 (1997).
- Stallard, B.W., "Electron Heat Transport in Improved Confinement Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1636 (1998) (Invited Abstract).
- Stambaugh, R.D., "Power and Particle Exhaust in Tokamaks," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 2, 719 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22794 (1997).
- Stambaugh, R.D., V.S. Chan, R.L. Miller, P.M. Anderson, H.K. Chiu, S.C. Chiu, C.B. Forest, C.M Greenfield, T.H. Jensen, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, Y.R. Lin-Liu, A. Nerem, R. Prater, P.A. Politzer, H.E. St. John, M.J. Schaffer, G.M. Staebler, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, C.P.C. Wong, "Development Path of Low Aspect Ratio Tokamak Power Plants," Fusion Engineering and Design **41**, 385 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22565 (1997).
- Stambaugh, R.D., V.S. Chan, R.L. Miller, M.J. Schaffer, "The Spherical Tokamak Path to Fusion Power," Fusion Technology 33, 1 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22226 (1996).
- Stambaugh, R.D., DIII–D National Team, "Research Program Progress and Plans," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1662 (1998).
- Strait, E.J., M.S. Chu, L.L. Lao, R.J. La Haye, J.T. Scoville, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, E. Fredrickson, M. Okabayashi, A.M. Garofalo, G.A. Navratil, S.A. Sabbagh, E.A. Lazarus, "Observation and Control of Resistive Wall Modes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1763 (1998).
- Strait, E.J., A.M. Garofalo, M.E. Austin, J. Bialek, M.S. Chu, E. Fredrickson, L.L. Lao, R.J. La Haye, E.A. Lazarus, G.R. McKee, Jr, G.A. Navratil, M. Okabayashi, B.W. Rice, S.A. Sabbagh, J.T. Scoville, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, M.L. Walker, DIII–D Team, "Observation and Control of Resistive Wall Modes," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22994 (1998).
- Sun, L.Y., C.C. Petty, T.C. Luce, D.R. Baker, M.R. Wade, "Effect of Dimensionless Size Scaling of Heat Transport in Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1743 (1998).

- Taylor, P.L., "Disruption Mitigation Studies in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1809 (1998) (Invited Abstract).
- Taylor, T.S., "Physics of Advanced Tokamaks," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **39**, B47 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22704 (1997).
- Taylor, T.S., K.H. Burrell, D.R. Baker, G.L. Jackson, R.J. La Haye, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Prater, T.C. Simonen, A.D. Turnbull, DIII–D Team, "Results From the DIII–D Scientific Research Program," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23007 (1998).
- Taylor, T.S., D.A. Humphreys, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, R. Wolf, "Hollow Current Profiles During Discharge Initiation and Fast Current Ramps in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1763 (1998).
- Thomas, D.M., K.H. Burrell, M.R. Wade, R.T. Snider, "Prospects for Charge-Exchange-Recombination-Based Measurements on ITER using a Helium Diagnostic Neutral Beam," presented at 12th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, June 7–11, 1998, Princeton, New Jersey, to be published in Rev. Sci. Instrum.; General Atomics Report GA–A22886 (1998).
- Thomas, D.M., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, T.H. Osborne, T.N. Carlstrom, "The Back Transition and Hysteresis Effects in DIII–D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **40**, 707 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22697 (1997).
- Thomas, D.M., R.J. Groebner, T.N. Carlstrom, T.H. Osborne, T.W. Petrie, "State Transitions, Hysteresis, and Control Parameters on DIII–D," Proc. 25th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 29–July 3, 1998, Zofin, Praha, Czech Republic, Vol. 22C, p. 806 (European Physical Society, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22907 (1998).
- Thomas, D.M., R.J. Groebner, T.N. Carlstrom, T.H. Osborne, K.H. Burrell, "DIII–D Experimental Comparisons with Two-Fluid Drift Braginskii Simulations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1764 (1998).
- Turnbull, A.D., T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, R.L. Miller, T.S. Taylor, "Identification of Intermediate n Ideal MHD Kink-Peeling Modes with ELMs in DIII–D H–Mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1761 (1998).
- Wade, M.R., DIII-D Divertor Team, "Radiative Discharges Using Argon in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1849 (1998).
- Wade, M.R., J.T. Hogan, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D.N. Hill, R. Maingi, M.J. Schaffer, J.G. Watkins, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, W.P. West, "Impurity Enrichment Studies With Induced Scrape-Off-Layer Flow on DIII–D," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22698 (1998).
- Wade, M.R., J.T. Hogan, R.C. Isler, R. Maingi, W.P. West, N.H. Brooks, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Wood, J.A. Boedo, R.D. Lehmer, R.A. Moyer, D.G. Whyte, J.G. Watkins, "Impurity Control Studies Using SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 17th IAEA Fusion Energy Conference, October 19–24, 1998, Yokohama, Japan, to be published in a special issue of Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A23001 (1998).

- Wade, M.R., W.P. West, R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, J.A. Boedo, N.H. Brooks, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, J.T. Hogan, R.C. Isler, G.L. Jackson, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Lehmer, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, T.H. Osborne, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, J.G. Watkins, D.G. Whyte, "Impurity Enrichment and Radiative Enhancement Using Induced SOL Flow in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22874 (1998).
- Walker, M.L., D.A. Humphreys, J.R. Ferron, "Control of Plasma Poloidal Shape and Position in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 36th IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, December 10–12, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 4 (1998) p. 3703; General Atomics Report GA–A22684 (1997).
- Walker, M.L., D.A. Humphreys, J.R. Ferron, "Multivariable Shape Control Development on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 17th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 6–11, 1997, San Diego, California, Vol. 1, p. 556 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22729 (1997).
- Watkins, J.G., O. Batishchev, J.A. Boedo, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R. Lehmer, A.W. Leonard, R.A. Moyer, "An Evaluation of Kinetic Effects in the DIII–D Divertor," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22879 (1998).
- Watkins, J.G., O. Batishchev, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, T.H. Osborne, "ELM Effects in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1889 (1998).
- West, W.P., N.H. Brooks, M.E. Fenstermacher, R.C. Isler, G.L. Jackson, C.J. Lasnier, A. Ramsey, M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Carbon Influx in He and D Plasmas in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22880 (1998).
- West, W.P., N.H. Brooks, G.L. Jackson, M.R. Wade, R.C. Isler, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, G.D. Porter, A. Ramsey, D.G. Whyte, "Carbon Sources and Core Plasma Carbon Content on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1851 (1998).
- Whyte, D.G., R. Bastasz, J.N. Brooks, W.R. Wampler, W.P. West, C.P.C. Wong, O.I. Buzhinskij, I.V. Opimach, "Divertor Erosion in DIII–D," presented at 13th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 18–23, 1998, San Diego, California, to be published in J. Nucl. Mater.; General Atomics Report GA–A22858 (1998).
- Whyte, D.G., T.C. Jernigan, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.G. Kellman, R.L. Lee, P.L. Taylor, "Diagnosis and Modeling of Radiation During Massive Helium Gas Injection Disruption Mitigation on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **43**, 1850 (1998).
- Whyte, D.G., M.R. Wade, D.F. Finkenthal, K.H. Burrell, P. Monier-Garbet, B.W. Rice, D.P. Schissel, W.P. West, R.D. Wood, "Measurement and Verification of Z<sub>eff</sub> Radial Profiles Using Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy on DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **38**, 387 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22601 (1997).

- Whyte, D.G., T.E. Evans, T.C. Jernigan, A.G. Kellman, R.L. Lee, P.B. Parks, R.E. Stockdale, P.L. Taylor, "Rapid Inward Impurity Transport During Pellet Injection on the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 4392 (1998); General Atomics Report GA–A22773 (1998).
- Wong, K.L., C.L. Rettig, C.C. Petty, DIII–D Team, "Observation of Short Wavelength Fluctuations in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 43, 1761 (1998).

# 7.2. FY97

- Allen, S.L., C.M. Greenfield, J. Boedo, D. Colchin, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R. Lehmer, A.W. Leonard, T.C. Luce, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, B.W. Rice, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, T.S. Taylor M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, R.D. Wood, DIII–D Team, "Effects of Divertor Geometry and Pumping on Plasma Performance on DIII–D," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1129 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22646 (1997).
- Allen, S.L., C.M. Greenfield, DIII–D Team, "Results from the New High-Triangularity Upper Pump and Baffle on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1843 (1997).
- Allen, S.L., D.N. Hill, T.N. Carlstrom, D.G. Nilson, R.E. Stockdale, C.-L. Hsieh, T.W. Petrie, A.W. Leonard, D. Ryutov, G.D. Porter, R. Maingi, M.R. Wade, R. Cohen, W. Nevins, M.E. Fenstermacher, R.D. Wood, C.J. Lasnier, W.P. West, M.D. Brown, "Measurements of Electron Temperature and Density With DTS in Radiative Divertor Discharges on DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 595 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22357 (1996).
- Anderson, P.M., "Scientific Basis and Engineering Design to Accommodate Disruption and Halo Current Loads for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 759 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22451 (1996).
- Austin, M.E., G. Cima, R.F. Ellis, T.C. Luce, "Using ECE to Improve EFIT Results for NCS Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1974 (1997).
- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, J.L. Doane, R.A. James, "Improved Operation of the Michelson Interferometer ECE Diagnostic on DIII–D," presented at 11th Top. Conf. on High Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, May 12–16, 1996, Monterey, California, in Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 480 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22330 (1996).
- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, T.C. Luce, "Determination of Wall Reflectivity for ECE Frequencies in DIII–D," Proc. 10th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating, April 6–11, 1997, Ameland, The Netherlands, p. 249; General Atomics Report GA–A22581 (1997).
- Baity, F.W., R.H. Goulding, D.J. Hoffman, P.M. Ryan, D.J. Taylor, R.W. Callis, R.I. Pinsker, J.E. Lindemuth, J.H. Rosenfeld, "Faraday Shield Development on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1934 (1997).

- Baker, D.R., "Density Profile Consistency Particle Pinch and Cold Pulse Propagation in DIII–D," Phys. Plasmas **4**, 2229 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22413 (1996).
- Baker, D.R., "Modeling of the Recycling Particle Flux and Electron Particle Transport in the DIII–D Tokamak," J. Nucl. Mater. **241-243**, 602 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22341 (1996).
- Baker, D.R., M.N. Rosenbluth, "Derivation of Expression for Canonical Density Profiles and Comparison with DIII–D Measurements," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1920 (1997).
- Baylor, L.R., T.C. Jernigan, S.K. Combs, C.R. Foust, P. Gohil, "Plans for High Field Side Pellet Fueling in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1920 (1997).
- Boedo, J.A., R. Lehmer, R.A. Moyer, J.G. Watkins, D.N. Hill, "Measurements of Flows in the DIII–D Divertor by Mach Probes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1917 (1997).
- Bravenec, R.V., W.L. Rowan, D.M. Patterson, A.J. Wootton, R.J Fonck, G.R. McKee, M. Jakubowski, C.M. Greenfield, D.P. Schissel, M. Kotschenreuther, W. Dorland, "Density Fluctuations During Perturbative Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1921 (1997).
- Broesch, J.D., "Real Time Software for the Control and Monitoring of DIII–D System Interlocks," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, to be published (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22455 (1996).
- Brooks, N.H., D. Fehling, D.L. Hillis, C.C. Klepper, N.N. Naumenko, N. Tugarinov, D.G. Whyte, "Visible Spectroscopy in the DIII–D Divertor," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 978 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22352 (1996).
- Brooks, N.H., R.C. Isler, G.R. McKee, S. Tugarinov, "Doppler Shift Measurements of Plasma Flow in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1918 (1997).
- Burrell, K.H., DIII–D Core Transport Group, "Formation and Expansion of Core Transport Barriers in Negative Central Shear Discharges in DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1921 (1997).
- Burrell, K.H., "Effects of E×B and Velocity Shear on Turbulence and Transport in Magnetic Confinement Devices," Phys. Plasmas **4**, 1499 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22516 (1996).
- Callis, R.W., "Status of the DIII–D 110 GHz ECH System," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 825 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22378 (1996).
- Callis, R.W., J. Lohr, R.C. O'Neil, D. Ponce, M.E. Austin, T.C. Luce, R. Prater, "Initial Results from the Multi-Megawatt 110 GHz ECH System for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 191 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22576 (1997).
- Carlstrom, T.N. K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, F.L. Hinton, G.M. Staebler, D.M. Thomas, "The Grade-B Drift Effect, Sawteeth, and the H-mode Power Threshold Scaling," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1923 (1997).

- Carlstrom, T.N., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, G.M. Staebler, "H–Mode Threshold Power Scaling and the Grad-B Drift Effect," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1089 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22630 (1997).
- Carlstrom, T.N., C.-L. Hsieh, R.E. Stockdale, D.G. Nilson, and D.N. Hill, "Initial Operation of the Divertor Thomson Scattering Diagnostic on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 1195 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22337 (1996).
- Carolipio, E.M., W.W. Heidbrink, "Array of Neutral Particle Analyzers at DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **68**, 304 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22358 (1996).
- Carolipio, E.M., W.W. Heidbrink, C.B Forest, R.B. White, "Effect of Helical Field Perturbations on Fast-Ion Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1975 (1997).
- Casper, T.A., D.N. Hill, W.H. Meyer, J.M. Moller, B.W. Stallard, R.D. Wood, J.T. Scoville, B.B. McHarg, Jr., Operations Group, "Remote Experimentation on DIII–D — Operations and Concepts," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1977 (1997).
- Chan, V.S., for the DIII–D Team, "DIII–D Tokamak Concept Improvement Research," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 95 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22471 (1996).
- Colchin, R.J., R. Maingi, D.L. Hillis, C.C. Klepper, L.W. Owen, M.R. Wade, S.L. Allen, C.M. Greenfield, D.M. Thomas, G.R. McKee, "Neutrals Studies in the Modified Upper Divertor of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1918 (1997).
- DeBoo, J.C., D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, R.E. Waltz, K.H. Burrell, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, P.A. Politzer, J.E. Kinsey, E. Fredrickson, M. Kissick, "Temporal Response of Profiles to a Modulated Heat Source," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1922 (1997).
- deGrassie, J.S., D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, S.C. Chiu, H. Ikezi, J.M. Lohr, Y.R. Lin-Liu, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, B.W. Rice, "Toroidal Velocity and RF Power in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1976 (1997).
- deGrassie, J.S., D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, H. Ikezi, Y.R. Lin-Liu, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, "Reduction of Toroidal Rotation by Fast Wave Power on DIII–D," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 93 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22571 (1997).
- Doyle, E.J., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, S. Coda, J.C. DeBoo, R. Durst, R.J. Fonck, P. Gohil, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, K.W. Kim, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, R.A. Moyer, G.A. Navratil, T.H. Osborne, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, D.P. Schissel, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, D.M. Thomas, R.E. Waltz, "Physics of Turbulence Control and Transport Barrier Formation in DIII–D," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 547 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22487 (1996).

- Doyle, E.J., T.L. Rhodes, W.A. Peebles, "Core Reflectometer Density Profile Measurements on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1920 (1997).
- Evans, T.E., A.G. Kellman, D.A. Humphreys, M.J. Schaffer, P.L. Taylor, D.G. Whyte, T.C. Jernigan, A.W. Hyatt, and R.L. Lee, "Measurements of Non-Axisymmetric Halo Currents With and Without 'Killer' Pellets During Disruptions in the DIII–D Tokamak," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 606 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22344 (1996).
- Evans, T.E., A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, P.B. Parks, D.A. Humphreys, M.J. Schaffer, A.W. Hyatt, R.L. Lee, S.C. Chiu, D.G. Whyte, S. Luckhardt, T.C. Jernigan, L.R. Baylor, S. Jardin, G.L. Schmidt, R.W. Harvey, "Impurity Killer Pellet Plasma Termination and Disruption Mitigation Physics in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1978 (1997).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, T.N. Carlstrom, J.W. Cuthbertson, E.J. Doyle, T.E. Evans, P.-M. Garbet, R.W. Harvey, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, R.C. Isler, G. Jackson, R.A. James, R. Jong, C.C. Klepper, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, W.H. Meyer, R.A. Moyer, D.G. Nilson, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, T.L. Rhodes, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, S. Tugarinov, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, and D.G. Whyte, "Comprehensive 2D Measurements of Radiative Divertor Plasmas in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 666 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22347 (1997).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, R.C. Isler, "2–D Profiles of Radiating Constituents from Deuterium and Helium Radiative Divertor Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1919 (1997).
- Ferron, J.R., C.M. Greenfield, E.J. Strait, R.J. La Haye, G.L. Jackson, T.H. Osborne, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, "MHD Stability in Tokamak Discharges with High Squareness," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1979 (1997).
- Ferron, J.R., M.L. Walker, L.L. Lao, G.B. Penaflor, H.E. St. John, D.A. Humphreys, J.A. Leuer, "Real Time Equilibrium Reconstruction for Control of the Discharge in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1125 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22637 (1997).
- Garofalo, A.M., M.E. Mauel, G.A. Navratil, S.A. Sabbagh, E.J. Strait, R.J. La Haye, A.D. Turnbull, DIII–D Team, "Study of the Resistive Wall Mode in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1979 (1997).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, L.R. Baylor, T.C. Jernigan, "Effect of Pellet Injection on the Edge Radial Electric Field and the H-mode Power Threshold," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1924 (1997).
- Gray, D.S., S. Luckhard, D.G. Whyte, J. Zhang, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, R.L. Lee, J.A. Leuer, P.L. Taylor, T.C. Jernigan, "A Wide-Bandwidth Multichannel Radiometer Diagnostic for Disruptions and Other Transient Phenomena on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1977 (1997).

- Greenfield, C.M., D.P. Schissel, B.W. Stallard, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Fonck, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, M. Jakubowski, L.L. Lao, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, H.E. St. John, B.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, K.L. Tritz, R.E. Waltz, and the DIII–D Team, "Transport and Performance in DIII–D Discharges with Weak or Negative Central Magnetic Shear," Phys. Plasmas 4, 1596 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22517 (1996).
- Greenfield, C.M., J.C. DeBoo, T.H. Osborne, F.W. Perkins, M.N. Rosenbluth, D. Boucher, "Enhanced Fusion Performance Due to Plasma Shape Modification of Simulated ITER Discharges in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 37, 1215 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A21842 (1997).
- Greenfield, C.M., J.R. Ferron, A.W. Hyatt, M.J. Schaffer D.P. Schissel, S.L. Allen, T.A. Casper, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, E.A. Lazarus, R. Maingi, M.R. Wade, DIII–D Team, "High Performance Plasmas with a Pumped and Baffled Divertor in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Groebner, R.J., T.N. Carlstrom, K.H. Burrell, S. Coda, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, K.W. Kim, Q. Peng, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, D.P. Schissel, G.M. Staebler, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, J.G. Watkins, "Study of H–Mode Threshold Conditions in DIII–D," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 867 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22443 (1996).
- Harvey, R.W., V.S. Chan, S.C. Chiu, T.E. Evans, D.G. Whyte, M.N. Rosenbluth, "Comparisons of Runaway Electron Production in DIII–D with the CQL3D Model," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1975 (1997).
- Heidbrink, W.W., P.L. Taylor, J.A. Phillips, "Measurements of the Neutron Source Strength at DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **68** (1), 536 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22325 (1996).
- Heidbrink, W.W., E.M. Carolipio, T. Tran, K.H. Burrell, "Neutral Particle Measurements of the Pitchangle Scattering Rate, Beam-Ion Transport, and Radial Electric Field," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1975 (1997).
- Hicks, N.K., R.I. Pinsker, H. Ikezi, "Fast Alfvén Wave Interferometry and Reflectometry on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1927 (1997).
- Hill, D.N., DIII–D Divertor Physics Team, "Divertor Detachment in Helium Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- Holland, C., R. Maingi, R. Owen, R.I. Pinsker, "Development of a Graphical User Interface to Assess Solutions of 2–D Plasma Transport Equations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1927 (1997).
- Holtrop, K.L., G.L. Jackson, A.G. Kellman R.L. Lee, W.P. West, R.D. Wood, D.G. Whyte, "Characterization of Wall Conditions in DIII–D," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 15 (3), 678 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22474 (1996).
- Humphreys, D.A., A.G. Kellman, R.R. Khayrutdinov, V.E. Lukash, "Scoping Studies of ITER Disruption Halo Currents Using the DINA Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1832 (1997).

- Hyatt, A.W., P.L. Taylor, A.G. Kellman, "Database Analysis of Disruption Frequency in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1978 (1997).
- Ikezi, H., J.S. deGrassie, R.I. Pinsker, R.T. Snider, "Plasma Mass Density, Species Mix and Fluctuation Diagnostics Using Fast Alfven Wave," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 478, 68 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22340 (1996).
- Ikezi, H., D.A. Phelps, "Traveling Wave Antenna for Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in Tokamaks," Fusion Tech. **106**, 31 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A21993 (1995).
- Isler, R.C., N.H. Brooks, W.P. West, G.R. McKee, M.E. Fenstermacher, "Deuterium Recombination in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1919 (1997).
- Jackson, G.L., E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, R.J. Bastasz, N.H. Brooks, D.T. Garnier, K.L. Holtrop, J.C. Phillips, E.S. Marmar, T.S. Taylor, D.M. Thomas, W.R. Wampler, D.G. Whyte, W.P. West, "Enhanced Performance in the DIII–D Tokamak with Lithium Wall Conditioning," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 655 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22361 (1996).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, T.E. Evans, J.R. Ferron, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Wood, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, "Impurity Feedback Control for Enhanced Divertor and Edge Radiation in DIII–D Discharges," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 618 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22345 (1996).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, A.W. Hyatt, A.W. Leonard, W.P. West, C.J. Lasnier, R.A. Moyer, M. Murakami, J. Ongena, "Radiating Mangle Discharges in DIII–D with Enhanced Confinement," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1923 (1997).
- Jakubowski, M., R.J. Fonck, G.R. McKee, C.M. Greenfield, R.V. Bravenec, "Density Fluctuations in Microturbulence and High Beta MHD in DIII–D Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1921 (1997).
- Jernigan, T.C., L.R. Baylor, S.K. Combs, S.L. Milora, T.E. Evans, P.B. Parks, "Hardware Advanced in Disruption Mitigation by Pellet Injection on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Johnson, W.R., J.P. Smith, "Production and Fabrication of Vanadium Alloys for the Radiative Divertor Program of DIII–D — Semiannual Report Input for 1997" General Atomics Report GA–A22662 (1997).
- Kadota, K., C.C. Petty, T.C. Luce, "Dimensionless Size Scaling of the H–mode Power Threshold," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1928 (1997).
- Kellman, A.G., J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jahns, T.C. Jernigan, C.J. Lasnier, R.L. Lee, J.A. Leuer, S. Luckhardt, M.J. Schaffer, P.L Taylor, D.G. Whyte, D. Wroblewski, J. Zhang, "Disruption Studies in DIII–D," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 739 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22476 (1996).
- La Haye, R.J., "Physics of Locked Modes in ITER Error Field Limits, Rotation for Obviation, and Measurement of Field Errors," General Atomics Report GA–A22468 (1997).

- La Haye, R.J., J.D. Callen, M.S. Chu, S. Deshpande, T.A. Gianakon, C.C. Hegna, S. Jardin, L.L. Lao, J. Manickam, D.A. Monticello, A. Pletzer, A.J. Reiman, O. Sauter, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, H.R. Wilson, "Practical Beta Limit in ITER-Shaped Discharges in DIII–D and Its Increase by Higher Collisionality," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada Vol. 1, p. 747 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22427 (1996).
- La Haye, R.J., J.D. Callen, T.A. Gianakon, C.c. Hegna, L.L. Lao, C. Ren, O. Sauter, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, H.R. Wilson, "Metastable Beta Limit in DIII–D," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1121 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22616 (1997).
- La Haye, R.J., L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, "High Beta Tokamak Operation in DIII–D Limited at Low Density/Collisionality by Resistive Tearing Modes," Nucl. Fusion **37**, 397 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22229 (1997).
- La Haye, R.J., O. Sauter, "Threshold for Neoclassical Tearing Modes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- Lao, L.L., V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, R.L. Miller, T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, S.A. Sabbagh, "Edge Instabilities and Termination of DIII–D High Performance Discharges with an H–mode Edge," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, E.J. Strait, V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, E.A. Lazarus, T.C. Luce, R.L. Miller, G.A. Navratil, T.H. Osborne, P.A. Politzer, B.W. Rice, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, "Impact of Edge Current Density and Pressure Gradient on the Stability of DIII–D High Performance Discharges," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1117 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22640 (1997).
- Lasnier, C.J., M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, W.P. West, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, J.G. Watkins, "Comparison of Divertor Heat Flux Profiles and Power Balance for Attached and Detached Helium and Deuterium Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **42**, 1919 (1997).
- Lasnier, C.J., R. Maingi, A.W. Leonard, S.L. Allen, D.A. Buchenauer, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, J.W. Cuthbertson, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, R.A. Jong, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, T.S. Taylor, J.G. Watkins, "Characteristics of the Scrape-Off Layer in DIII–D High-Performance Negative Central Magnetic Shear Discharges," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 623 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22353 (1996).
- Lazarus, E.A., G.A. Navratil, C.M. Greenfield, E.J. Strait. M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, D.R. Baker, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R. Durst, J.R. Ferron, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, W.W. Heidbrink, R.-M. Hong, A.W. Howald, C.-L. Hsieh, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, J. Kim, L.L. Lao, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, J. Lohr, R.J. La Haye, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, M. Murakami, T.H. Osborne, L.J. Perkins, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, S.A. Sabbagh, D.P. Schissel, J.T. Scoville, R.T. Snider, B.W. Stallard, R.D. Stambaugh, H.E. St. John, R.E. Stockdale, P.L. Taylor, T.S. Taylor, D.M. Thomas, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, R.D. Wood, D.G. Whyte, "Higher Fusion Power Gain With Profile Control in DIII–D Tokamak Plasmas," Nucl. Fusion 37, 7 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22416 (1996).

- Lazarus, E.A., G.A. Navratil, E.J. Strait, B.W. Rice, J.R. Ferron, C.M. Greenfield, M.E. Austin, D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, V.S. Chan, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R. Durst, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, W.W. Heidbrink, R.-M. Hong, W.A. Houlberg, A.W. Howald, C.-L. Hsieh, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, J. Kim, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, J. Lohr, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, M. Murakami, T.H. Osborne, L.J. Perkins, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, R.L. Rhodes, S.A. Sabbagh, D.P. Schissel, J.T. Scoville, A.C.C. Sips, R.T. Snider, F.X. Sölder, G.M. Staebler, B.W. Stallard, R.D. Stambaugh, H.E. St John, R.E. Stockdale, T.S. Taylor, D.M. Thomas, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, R.D. Wood, D.G. Whyte, "Stability in High Gain Plasmas in DIII–D," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 199 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22489 (1996).
- Lehmer, R., R.A. Moyer, J.A. Boedo, J.G. Watkins, K.H. Burrell, "Edge Electron Temperature Fluctuation Measurements in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1923 (1997).
- Leonard, A.W., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, R.C. Isler, C.J. Lasnier, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.J. Schaffer, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Energy and Particle Transport in the Radiative Divertor Plasmas of DIII–D," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1109 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22634 (1997).
- Leonard, A.W., M.A. Mahdavi, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, T.W. Petrie, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, "Distributed Divertor Radiation through Convection in DIII–D," Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4769 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22488 (1997).
- Leonard, A.W., W. Suttrop, T.H. Osborne, T.E. Evans, D.N. Hill, A. Hermann, C.J. Lasnier, D.M. Thomas, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, M. Weinlich, H. Zohm, "Divertor Heat and Particle Flux D to ELMs in DIII–D and ASDEX–U," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 628 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22346 (1996).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., F.L. Hinton, "Trapped Electron Correction to Beam Driven Current in General Tokamak Equilibria," Phys. Plasmas **4**, 4179 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22620 (1997).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., F.L. Hinton, "Trapped Electron Corrections to Ohkawa Current in General Tokamak Equilibria," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1977 (1997).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., T.C. Luce, S.C. Chiu, R.L. Miller, R. Prater, "Modeling of 110 GHz Electron Cyclotron Wave Propagation and Absorption on DIII–D," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 195 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22598 (1997).
- Loh, Y.S., T.E. Evans, W.P. West, D.F. Finkenthal, M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, "Development and Testing of a Chemical Sputtering Model for the Monte Carlo Impurity Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1927 (1997).
- Lohr, J., "Summary of the Experimental Session EC–10 Workshop," Proc. 10th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating, April 6–11, 1997, Ameland, The Netherlands; General Atomics Report GA–A22618 (1997).

- Lohr, J., R.W. Callis, R.C. O'Neil, D. Ponce, T.C. Luce, M.E. Austin, M. Murakami, D. Zhang, "The 110 GHz ECH Installation on DIII–D — Status and Initial Experimental Results," Proc. 10th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating, April 6–11, 1997, Ameland, The Netherlands; General Atomics Report GA–A22584 (1997).
- Lohr, J., D. Ponce, R.W. Callis, I. Popov, M. Zerbini, P. Cahalan, "The 110 GHz Gyrotron Installation on DIII–D Status and Experimental Results," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1976 (1997).
- Lohr, J., D. Ponce, L. Popov, J.F. Tooker, D. Zhang, "Initial Tests and Operation of a 110 GHz, 1 MW Gyrotron with Evacuated Waveguide System on the DIII–D Tokamak," ed. A.G. Litvak, in Proc. 3rd Int. Wkshp. on Strong Microwaves in Plasmas, August 7–14, 1996, St. Petersburg, Russia, Vol. 2, p. 694 (Institute for Applied Physics, Nizhny Novgorod, Russia, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22420 (1996).
- Luce, T.C., B. Alper, C.B. challis, G.A. Cottrell, C. Gormezano, C.M. Greenfield, J.C.M. deHaas, G.T.A. Huysmans, E.A. Lazarus, D.P.J. O'Brien, B.W. Rice, A.C.C. Sips, F.X. Söldner, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, B.J.D. Tubbing, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, D.J. Ward, W.P. Zwingmann, "Comparison of Discharges with Core Transport Barriers on DIII–D and JET," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1105 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22645 (1997).
- Luce, T.C., J.S. deGrassie, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, J.M. Lohr, R.I. Pinsker, M.E. Austin, S. Bernabei, "Electron Cyclotron Heating and Current Drive Experiments in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1976 (1997).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, B. Balet, J.G. Cordey, "Implications from Dimensionless Parameter Scaling Experiments," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 611 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22467 (1996).
- Luxon, J.L., "DIII–D Team, An Overview of the DIII–D Program," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 221 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22458 (1996).
- Mahdavi, M.A., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, R.J. Bastasz, L.R. Baylor, J.N. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, A.W. Hyatt, R.C. Isler, G.L. Jackson, T.C. Jernigan, R.A. Jong, C.C. Klepper, R.J. La Haye, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, P.K. Mioduszewski, R.A. Moyer, M. Murakami, L.W. Owen, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, G.M. Staebler, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, W.R. Wampler, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, C.P.C. Wong, R.D. Wood, DIII–D Physics and Operations Teams, "Divertor Plasma Physics Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 397 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22478 (1996).

- Mahdavi, M.A., R. Maingi, R.J. La Haye, T.C. Jernigan, T.W. Petrie, L.R. Baylor, A.W. Hyatt, A.W. Leonard, M. Murakami, L.W. Owens R.T. Snider, R.D. Stambaugh, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, DIII–D Team, "Recent H–mode Density Limit Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1113 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22636 (1997).
- Mahdavi, M.A., G.M. Staebler, R.D. Wood, D.G. Whyte, W.P. West, "Stability of a Radiative Mantle in ITER," J. Nucl. Mater. **241-243**, 305 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22348 (1996).
- Maingi, R., "Investigation of Physical Processes Limiting Plasma Density in DIII–D," Phys. Plasmas 4, 1752 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22521 (1996).
- Maingi, R., L.R. Baylor, T.C. Jernigan, M.R. Wade, M.A. Mahdavi, A.W. Hyatt, R.J. La Haye, T.H. Osborne, T.W. Petrie, DIII-D Team, "Overview of Density Limit Experiments on DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- Maingi, R., B. Terreault, G. Haas, H.S. Bosch, S.C. Chiu, G.L. Jackson, P.K. Mioduszewski, M.A. Mahdavi, M.J. Schaffer, M.R. Wade, W. Zuzak, "Comparison of Wall/Divertor Deuterium Retention and Plasma Fueling Requirements on the DIII–D, TdeV, and ASDEX–Upgrade Tokamaks," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 672 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22359 (1996).
- McKee, G.R., R.J. Fonck, M. Jakubowski, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, "Turbulence Suppression Dynamics During Internal Transport Barrier Formation on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1921 (1997).
- Miller, R.L., Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.H. Osborne, T.S. Taylor, "Ballooning Mode Stability for Self-Consistent Pressure and Current Profiles at the H-mode Edge of Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Miller, R.L., Y.-R. Lin-Liu, A.D. Turnbull, V.S. Chan, L.D. Pearlstein, O. Sauter, L. Villard, "Stable Bootstrap-Current Driven Equilibria for Low Aspect Ratio Tokamaks," eds. J.W. Connor, E. Sindoni and J. Vaclavik, in Theory of Fusion Plasmas, p. 11 (Editrice Compositori, Bologna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22433 (1996).
- Moyer, R.A., R. Lehmer, J.A. Boedo, T.L. Rhodes, C.L. Rettig, E.J. Doyle, J.G. Watkins, R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, "Coherent Modes in the Edge of DIII–D H–modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1923 (1997).
- Murakami, M., "Overview of DIII-D 1997 Experiment Campaign," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1917 (1997).
- Osborne, T.H., R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, G.D. Porter, D.M. Thomas, R.E. Waltz, "Scaling of ELM and H–Mode Pedestal Characteristics in ITER Shape Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, P. 1101 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22638 (1997).

- Olstad, R.A., J.L. Doane, C.P. Moeller, R.C. O'Neill, M. Di Martino, "High-Power Corrugated Waveguide Components for Millimeter Wave Fusion Heating Systems," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 573 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22466 (1996).
- Peebles, W.A., C.L. Rettig, X. Nguyen, K.H. Burrell, M.E. Austin, G. Cima, "Electron Temperature Fluctuation Measurements in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1922 (1997).
- Penaflor, B., J.R. Ferron, M.L. Walker, "A Structured Architecture for Advanced Plasma Control Experiments," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 965 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22545 (1996).
- Petrie, T.W., S.L. Allen, T.N. Carlstrom, D.N. Hill, R. Maingi, D.G. Nilson, M.D. Brown, D.A. Buchenauer, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, R.A. Jong, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, G.D. Porter, M.R. Wade, W.P. West, "Investigation of Electron Parallel Pressure Balance in the Scrape-Off Layer of Deuterium-Based Radiative Divertor Discharges in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 639 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22349 (1996).
- Petrie, T.W., A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, W.P. West, R. Maingi, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, G.D. Porter, "Behavior of Double-Null H-mode Discharges at High Density in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1919 (1997).
- Petrie, T.W., R. Maingi, S.L. Allen, D.A. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, "Partially Detached Radiative Divertor with Active Divertor Pumping," Nucl. Fusion 37, 643 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22154 (1997).
- Petty, C.C., C.B. Forest, R.I. Pinsker, J.S. deGrassie, F.W. Baity, R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, S.C. Chiu, R.L. Freeman, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, H. Ikezi, E.F. Jaeger, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M. Murakami, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, B.W. Rice, "Fast Wave Current Drive in Neutral Beam Heated Plasmas on DIII–D," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 225 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22575 (1997).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, "Understanding Transport through Dimensionless Parameter Scaling Experiments," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1085 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22626 (1997).
- Phelps, D.A., "An ELM-Resilient RF Arc Detection System for DIII–D Based on Electromagnetic and Sound Emissions from the Arc," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 401 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22577 (1997).
- Phelps, D.A., F.W. Baity, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, C.P. Moeller, R.I. Pinsker, "Advantages of Traveling Wave Resonant Antennas for Fast Wave Heating Systems," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 397 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22574 (1997).

- Pinsker, R.I., C.P. Moeller, C.C. Petty, D.A. Phelps, T. Ogawa, Y. Miura, H. Ikezi, J.S. deGrassie, R.W. Callis, R.H. Goulding, F.W. Baity, "Development of Fast Wave Systems Tolerant of Time-Varying Loading," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 629 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22450 (1996).
- Pinsker, R.I., C.P. Moeller, J.S. deGrassie, D.A. Phelps, C.C. Petty, R.W. Callis, F.W. Baity, "Fast Wave Antenna Array Feed Circuits Tolerant of Time-Varying Loading for DIII–D," Proc. 12th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, April 1–3, 1997, Savannah, Georgia, p. 393 (American Institute of Physics, Woodbury, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22583 (1997).
- Pinsker, R.I., D.A. Phelps, R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, J.S. deGrassie, C.P. Moeller, R.C. O'Neill, C.C. Petty, F.W. Baity, "High Power Operation of Tunerless Fast Wave Current Drive Antenna Systems on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1976 (1997).
- Politzer, P.A., H.E. St. John, R.L. Miller, C.B. Forrest, W.M. Nevins, L.D. Pearlstein, "Plasma Current Rampu-up and Sustainment with Bootstrap Current," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Prater, R., M.E. Austin, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, J.S. deGrassie, R.L. Freeman, C.B. Forest, S.W. Ferguson, H. Ikezi, E.F. Jaeger, E. Joffrin, J.H. Lee, Y.-R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, D.A. Phelps, M. Porkolab, D.W. Swain, The DIII–D Team, "Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in DIII–D in Discharges with Negative Central Shear," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montre-al, Canada, Vol. 3, p. 243 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22449 (1996).
- Prater, R., R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, Y.R. Lin-Liu, J.M. Lohr, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, M.E. Austin, S. Bernabei, G. Giruzzi, R.W. Harvey, M. Murakami, M. Zerbini, "Initial Experiments on DIII–D Using Electron Cyclotron Heating at 110 GHz," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).
- Project Staff, "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report, October 1, 1995 through September 30, 1996," General Atomics Report GA–A22550 (1997).
- Project Staff, "DIII-D Tokamak Long Range Plan," General Atomics Report GA-C19596, Rev. 7 (1997).
- Reis, E.E., J.P. Smith, C.B. Baxi, A.S. Bozek, E. Chin, M.A. Hollerbach, G.J. Laughon, D.L. Sevier, "Structural Design of the DIII–D Radiative Divertor," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 475 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22445 (1996).
- Reis, E.E., R.H. Ryder, "Creep-Fatigue Damage in OFHC Coolant Tubes for Plasma Facing Components," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 319 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22436 (1996).
- Rensink, M.E., Lodestro, L.L., G.D. Porter, T.D. Rognlien, C.P. Coster, "Comparison of Fluid and Monte Carlo Neutral Gas Models in Divertor Plasma Simulations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1918 (1997).
- Rhodes, T.L., C.L. Rettig, W.A. Peebles, K.H. Burrell, F.L. Hinton, "Prompt Plasma Response to Neutral Beam Injection," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1922 (1997).

- Rice, B.W., "q-Profile Measurements with Motional Stark Effect in DIII–D," Fusion Engineering and Design **34**, 135 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22269 (1996).
- Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, L.L. Lao, "Effect of Plasma Radial Electric Field on Motional Stark Effect Measurements and Equilibrium Reconstruction," Nucl. Fusion 37, 517 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22480 (1996).
- Rice, B.W., T.A. Casper, B.W. Stallard, J.R. Ferron, C.M. Greenfield, G.L. Jackson, R.J. La Haye, T.C. Luce, E.J. Strait, R. Maingi, M.R. Wade, "Effect of the q and E×B Shear Profiles on Confinement and Stability of ELMing H–mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **42**, 1922 (1997).
- Rice, B.W., L.L. Lao, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "The Importance of the Radial Electric (E<sub>r</sub>) on Interpretation of Motional Stark Effect Measurements of the q Profile in DIII–D High-Performance Plasmas," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1153 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22641 (1997).
- Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, L.L. Lao, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Direct Measurement of the Radial Electric Field in Tokamak Plasmas Using the Stark Effect," Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**, 2694 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22647 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., "Helical–D Pinch" presented at IAEA Technical Committee Meeting on Innovative Approaches to Fusion Energy, October 20–23, 1997, Pleasanton, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22690 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., "Slow Linear Fusion" presented at IAEA Technical Committee Meeting on Innovative Approaches to Fusion Energy, October 20–23, 1997, Pleasanton, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22689 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., N.H. Brooks, J.A. Boedo, R.A. Moyer, R.C. Isler, "Plasma Pressure and Flows Near the Divertor X-point," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1918 (1997).
- Schaffer, M.J., M.R. Wade, R. Maingi, P. Monier-Garbet, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, M.A. Mahdavi, "Direct Measurement of Divertor Neon Enrichment in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 585 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22343 (1996).
- Schissel, D.P., C.M. Greenfield, J.C. DeBoo, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, B.W. Rice, G.M. Staebler, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, H.E. St. John, M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, D.R. Baker, V.S. Chan, E.J. Doyle, J.R. Ferron, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, W.W. Heidbrink, R.-M. Hong, A.W. Howald, C.-L. Hsieh, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, J. Kim, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, J. Lohr, R.J. La Haye, R. Maingi, R.L. Miller, M. Murakami, T.H. Osborne, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, S.A. Sabbagh, J.T. Scoville, R.T. Snider, R.D. Stambaugh, R.E. Stockdale, P.L. Taylor, T.S. Taylor, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, R.E. Waltz, R.D. Wood, D.G. Whyte, "Local Analysis of Confinement and Transport in Neutral Beam Heated DIII–D Discharges with Negative Magnetic Shear," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 463 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22479 (1996).
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. La Haye, "Coupled Resonant Error Field Mode Components and the Low Density Locked Mode Threshold," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1979 (1997).
- Sevier, D.L., C.B. Baxi, D.N. Hill, E.E. Reis, G.W. Silke, C.P.C. Wong, "Implications of Steady-State Operation on Divertor Design," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 720 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22388 (1996).
- Simonen, T.C., "High Pressure Plasma Stability with Favorable Magnetic Field Line Curvature," to be published in Plasma Physics Reports; General Atomics Report GA–A22578 (1997).
- Simonen, T.C., DIII–D National Team, "DIII–D National Program Progress and Plans," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1843 (1997).
- Smith, J.P., C.B. Baxi, A.S. Bozek, E. Chin, M.A. Hollerbach, W.R. Johnson, G.J. Laughon, E.E. Reis, D.L. Sevier, D.G. Nilson, "The DIII–D Radiative Divertor Project, Status and Plans," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 706 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22389 (1996)
- Smith, J.P., W.R. Johnson, C.B. Baxi, "Manufacturing Development of Low Activation Vanadium Alloys," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 982 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22382 (1996).
- Smith, J.P., W.R. Johnson, E.E. Reis, "Fabrication Development and Usage of Vanadium Alloys in DIII–D," Proc. 19th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 16–20, 1996, Lisbon, Portugal, Vol. 1, p. 479 (Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22452 (1996).
- Snider, R.T., N.H. Brooks, N. Bogatu, "Argon  $K_{\alpha}$  Measurement Technique on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1977 (1997).
- Snider, R.T., T.N. Carlstrom, T.R. Hodapp, F.C. Jobes, W.A. Peebles, "Application of Interferometry and Faraday Rotation Techniques for Density Measurements on the Next Generation of Tokamaks," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 728 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22328 (1996).
- St. John, H.E., Q. Peng, J. Freeman, J. Crotinger, "Development of a New System for Transport Simulation and Analysis at General Atomics," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1977 (1997).
- Staebler, G.M., C.M. Greenfield, D.P. Schissel, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Fonck, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus G.A. Navratil, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, H.E. St. John, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, R.E. Waltz, DIII–D Team, "Core Turbulence and Transport Reduction in DIII–D Discharges with Weak or Negative Magnetic Shear," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1097 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22617 (1997).
- Staebler, G.M., G.L. Jackson, W.P. West, S.L. Allen, R.J. Groebner, M.J. Schaffer, D.G. Whyte, "Improved Energy Confinement with Neon Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1093 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22643 (1997).

- Staebler, G.M., G.L. Jackson, W.P. West, S.L. Allen, R.J. Groebner, M.J. Schaffer, D.G. Whyte, "Improved High-Mode with Neon Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A22674 (1997).
- Stallard, B.W., T.A. Casper, B.W. Rice, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield J.C. DeBoo, P. Gohil, C.C. Petty, D.P. Schissel, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, G.R. McKee, M.E. Austin, L.R. Baylor, "Electron Thermal Transport in L-mode Edge NCS Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1922 (1997).
- Stambaugh, R.D., V.S. Chan, P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, R.W. Callis, H.K. Chiu, C.B. Forest, R.-M. Hong, T.H. Jensen, L.L. Lao, J.A. Leuer, M.A. Mahdavi, R.L. Miller, A. Nerem, R. Prater, P.A. Politzer, M.J. Schaffer, D.L. Sevier, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, C.P.C. Wong, "The Spherical Torus Approach to Magnetic Fusion Development," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 1380 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22388 (1996).
- Stambaugh, R.D., V.S. Chan, R.L. Miller, P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, R.W. Callis, H.K. Chiu, S.C. Chiu, C.B. Forest, R. Hong, T.H. Jensen, L.L. Lao, J.A. Leuer, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M.A. Mahdavi, A. Nerem, R. Prater, P.A. Politzer, M.J. Schaffer, D.L. Sevier, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, C.P.C. Wong, "The Spherical Torus Approach to Magnetic Fusion Development," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 3, p. 395 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22432 (1996).
- Strait, E.J., T.A. Casper, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, A. Garofalo, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, R.L. Miller, G.A. Navratil, C. Ren, B.W. Rice, I. Semenov, A.C.C. Sips, F.X. Söldner, B.W. Stallard, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, and the DIII–D Team, "Stability of Negative Central Magnetic Shear Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas 4, 1783 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22522 (1996).
- Strait, E.J., M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, DIII–D Team, J. Anderson, K. Commer, G. McKee, C. Ren, M.E. Austin, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, B.W. Rice, "Stability Limits of DIII–D Discharges with Strongly Peaked Pressure Profiles," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42 1845 (1997).
- Strait, E.J., J.D. Broesch, R.T. Snider, M.L. Walker, "A Hybrid Digital-Analog Long Pulse Integrator," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 381 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22338 (1996).
- Taylor, T.S., "Physics of Advanced Tokamaks," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **39**, B47 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22704 (1997).
- Taylor, T.S., R.L. Lee, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, M.J. Schaffer, D.S. Gray, S. Luckhardt, D.G. Whyte, J. Zhang, T.C. Jernigan, "Runaway Electron Diagnostic for Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1979 (1997).
- Thomas, D.M., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, P. Gohil, D.H. Kaplan, C.C. Makariou, R.P. Seraydarian, "A Fast CCD Detector for Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy on the DIII–D Tokamak," presented at 11th Top. Conf. on High Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, May 12–16, 1996, Monterey, California, in Rev. Sci. Instrum. 68, 1233 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22329 (1996).

- Thomas, D.M., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, T.H. Osborne, T.N. Carlstrom, "The Back Transition and Hysteresis Effects in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1924 (1997).
- Turnbull, A.D., T.S. Taylor, J.R. Ferron, R.J. La Haye, Y.R. Lin-Liu, R.L. Miller, E.J. Strait, M.S. Chu, C.M. Greenfield, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, E.A. Lazarus, "Prospects for Advanced Tokamak Scenarios of High Performance Tokamak Regimes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1980 (1997).
- Wade, M.R., DIII–D Team, "Z-Dependence of Transport in the Core and SOL of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1921 (1997).
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, K.H. Burrell, T.C. Luce, R. Maingi, P.K. Mioduszewski, C.C. Petty, W.P. West, R.-M. Hong, D.H. Kellman, J.C. Phillips, DIII–D Team, "Experimental Evidence for the Suitability of ELMing H–Mode Operation in ITER with Regard to Core Transport of Helium," Proc. 16th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 7–11, 1996, Montreal, Canada, Vol. 1, p. 801 (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22473 (1996).
- Wade, M.R., T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, "Gyroradius Scaling of Helium Transport," Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**, 419 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22530 (1997).
- Watkins, J.G., D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, R. Lehmer, J.A. Boedo, C.M. Greenfield, "Comparison of Open and Closed Divertor Conditions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1920 (1997).
- Watkins, J.G., R.A. Moyer, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.A. Buchenauer, T.N. Carlstrom, D.N. Hill, M. Ulrickson, "Reciprocating and Fixed Probe Measurements of Density and Temperature in the DIII–D Divertor," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 645 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22362 (1996).
- West, W.P., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, T.N. Carlstrom, J.W. Cuthbertson, E.J. Doyle, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, R.C. Isler, G.L. Jackson, R.A. Jong, C.C. Klepper, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, G.R. McKee, W.H. Meyer, R.A. Moyer, D.G. Nilson, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, T.L. Rhodes, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, S.N. Tugarinov, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Divertor Plasma Studies on DIII–D Experiment and Modeling," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **39**, A295 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22461 (1996).
- West, W.P., DIII–D Divertor Team, "Carbon Pathways to the Core Plasma in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1919 (1997).
- Whyte, D.G., J.N. Brooks, C.P.C. Wong, W.P. West, R.J. Bastasz, W.R. Wampler, J. Rubinstein, "DiMES Divertor Erosion Experiments on DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 241-243, 660 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22342 (1997).
- Whyte, D.G., T.E. Evans, A.G. Kellman, D.A.. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, T.C. Jernigan, R.L. Lee, S.L. Luckhardt, P.B. Parks, M.J. Schaffer, P.L. Taylor, "Energy Balance, Radiation and Stability During Rapid Plasma Termination Via Impurity Pellet Injections on DIII–D," Proc. 24th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 9–14, 1997, Berchtesgaden, Germany, Vol. 21A, Part III, p. 1137 (European Physical Society, 1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22639 (1997).

- Wolf, N.S., M.E. Rensink, G.D. Porter, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, "Modeling the Effect of Divertor Geometry on Radiative Divertor Plasma in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1919 (1997).
- Wong, C.P.C., R.J. Bastasz, D.G. Whyte, W.R. Wampler, W.P. West, "Results from the Divertor Materials Evaluation Studies (DiMES) at DIII–D," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on The Technology of Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada, Vol. 30 (3), Part 2A, p. 694 (American Nuclear Society, La Grange Park, Illinois, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22392 (1996).
- Wood, R.D., S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill R.C. Isler, A.W. Leonard, W.P. West, "Measurements of Divertor Radiated Power Losses in the 170–1700 Å Spectral Region on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 42, 1844 (1997).

## 7.3. FY96

- Allen, S.L., M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, W.H. Meyer, G.D. Porter, R.D. Wood, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, W.P. West, R. Maingi, M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, "Divertor Plasma Parameters During Radiative Divertor Operation on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1533 (1996) (Abstract).
- Anderson, P.M., "Tokamak Physics Experiment Divertor Design," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1262 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22170 (1996).
- Baggest, D.S., D.A. Rothweil, S. Pang, M.L. Walker, A. Nerem, "Improving Plasma Shaping Accuracy Through Consolidation of Control Model Maintenance, Diagnostic Calibration, and Hardware Change Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 862 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22199 (1996).
- Baker, D.R., "Density Profile Consistency and Particle Pinch Velocities in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1572 (1996) (Abstract).
- Baylor, L.R., T.C. Jernigan, M.R. Wade, R. Maingi, R.J. Groebner, M.A. Mahdavi, "Transport in High Density Pellet Fueled DIII–D Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1573 (1996) (Abstract).
- Baxi, C.B., "Comparison of Swirl Tube and Hypervapotron for Cooling of ITER," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 186 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22175 (1996).
- Baxi, C.B., E.E. Reis, K.M. Redler, E.E. Chin, R.H. Boonstra, K.M. Schaubel, P.M. Anderson, E.H. Hoffmann, "Thermal Hydraulic Analysis of the TPX Plasma Facing Components," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1283 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22168 (1996).

- Blue, Anne P., "San Diego Science Alliance Education Outreach Activities," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1455 (1996) (Abstract).
- Bozek, A.S., C.B. Baxi, J.V. Del Bene, G.J. Laughon, E.E. Reis, H.D. Shatoff, and J.P. Smith, "Engineering Design of Cryocondensation Pumps for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Program," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 898 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22151 (1996).
- Broesch, J.D., E.J. Strait, R.T. Snider, M.L. Walker, "A Digital Long Pulse Integrator," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 365 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22218 (1996).
- Brooks, N.H., R.C. Isler, G.R. McKee, S. Tugarinov, "Ion Temperature Measurements in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1430 (1996) (Abstract).
- Burrell, K.H., "E×B and Magnetic Shear Effects on Turbulence and Transport in Magnetic Confinement Devices," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1418 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- Callis, R.W., W.P. Cary, R.C. O'Neill, J.C. Allen, T.E. Harris, J.S. deGrassie, S.W. Ferguson, F.W. Baity, G.C. Barber, J.F. Tooker, D.A. Phelps, "Upgrade of the DIII–D RF Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 812 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22145 (1996).
- Carlstrom, T.N., "Transition Physics and Scaling Overview," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 38, 1149 (1996).
- Carlstrom, T.N., D.J. Campbell, J.G. Cordey, J.C. DeBoo, R.J. Groebner, E. Righi, G. Sailbene, D.P. Schissel, D. Start, K. Thomsen, "JET/DIII–D Size Scaling of the H–Mode Power Threshold," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 38, 1231 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22205 (1995).
- Carlstrom, T.N. and R.J. Groebner, "Study of the Conditions for Spontaneous H-mode Transitions in DIII-D," Phys. Plasmas **3** (5), 1867 (1996); General Atomics Report GA-A22250 (1996).
- Carlstrom, T.N., R.J. Groebner, D.M. Thomas, K.H. Burrell, L.W. Owen, B.A. Carreras, "L-H Power Threshold and Transition Studies in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1534 (1996) (Abstract).
- Carolipio, E.M., W.W. Heidbrink, A. Jaun, M.S. Chu, R.B. White, C.Z. Cheng, G.Y. Fu, "Simulations of Energetic-Ion Losses During TAE Activity in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1570 (1996) (Abstract).
- Carreras, B.A., L. Owen, R. Maingi, P. Mioduszewski, T.N. Carlstrom, R.J. Groebner, "Studies of Edge Neutral Density Distributions in L- and H-mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1573 (1996) (Abstract).

- Cary, W.P., F.W. Baity, G.C. Barber, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, S.W. Ferguson, T.E. Harris, R.C. O'Neill, R.I. Pinsker, "4 MW Upgrade to DIII–D FWCD System: System Commissioning and Initial Operation," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 834 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22161 (1996).
- Casper, T.A., M.C. Spang, J. Crotinger, L.D. Pearlstein, B.W. Stallard, T.S. Taylor, "Corsica Time-Dependent Modeling of DIII–D Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).
- Chin, E., and E.E. Reis, "Elastic-Plastic-Creep Analyses of Brazed Carbon-Carbon/OFHC Divertor Tile Concepts for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1287 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22180 (1996).
- Chiu, H.K., "Calculations of Material Activation in Disruption Generated Run-Away Electrons in ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1436 (1996) (Abstract).
- Chiu, S.C., V.S. Chan, R.W. Harvey, M.N. Rosenbluth, "Bounce-Averaged Fokker-Planck Simulation of Runaway Avalanche from Secondary Knock-on Production," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1435 (1996) (Abstract).
- Chu, M.S., J.M. Greene, L.L. Lao, A. Bondeson, O. Sauter, B.W. Rice, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, "Resistive Instabilities in Advanced Negative Central Shear Tokamaks With Peaked Pressure Profiles," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part I, p. 215 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22387 (1996).
- Chu, M.S., Y.R. Lin-Liu, R.L. Miller, F.L. Waelbroeck, "Beta Optimization in High Temperature Steady-State Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1398 (1996) (Abstract).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, K.H. Burrell, "Edge Turbulence Correlation Measurements by Phase-Contrast Imaging in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1574 (1996) (Abstract).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, K.H. Burrell, "Edge Turbulence Measurements During the L- to H-Mode Transition by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII-D," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom, Vol. 19C, Part 1, p. I-297 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA-A22086 (1995).
- Danielson, C.A., "Fusion Science Education Outreach," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1456 (1996) (Abstract).
- DeBoo, J.C., "Global Energy Confinement Scaling, Uncertainties, and Projections for ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1414 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- DeBoo, J.C., C.M. Greenfield, D.P. Schissel, K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, E.A. Lazarus, M. Murakami, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, G.A. Navratil, "Profile Evolution in Enhanced Performance Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).

- deGrassie, J.S., H. Ikezi, L.L. Lao, Y.R. Lin-Liu, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, F.W. Baity, M. Murakami, "Fast Wave Electron Heating in ELMing H-mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1429 (1996) (Abstract).
- deGrassie, J.S., C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, C.B. Forest, H. Ikezi, R. Prater, F.W. Baity, R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, S.C. Chiu, E.J. Doyle, "Fast Wave Current Drive on DIII–D," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California, p. 173 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22039 (1995).
- Doyle, E.J., W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, R.A. Moyer, R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, J.G. Watkins, "Physics of Very Slow L–H Transitions," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1574 (1996) (Abstract).
- Evans, T.E., P.L. Taylor, A.G. Kellman, M.J. Schaffer, A.W. Hyatt, D.A. Humphreys, R.L. Lee, P.B. Parks, D.G. Whyte, T.C. Jernigan, S. Luckhardt, J.W. Cuthbertson, J. Zhang, G.W. Jahns, D. Wroblewski, "Recent Physics Results from the DIII–D Disruption Program," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1534 (1996) (Abstract).
- Fagaly, R.L., L.C. Brown, R.B. Stephens and M.D. Wittman, "Inertial Confinement Fusion Target Insertion Via Augmented Mass Free Fall," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 26 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22182 (1996).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., "The Two-Dimensional Structure of Partially Detached Divertor Plasmas in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1560 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- Ferguson, S.W., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, T.E. Harris, and J.C. Allen, "RF Power Diagnostics and Control on the DIII–D, 4 MW 30–120 MHz Fast Wave Current Drive System (FWCD)," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 866 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22172 (1996).
- Ferguson, S.W., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, D.A. Phelps, D. Ponce, F.W. Baity, and G. Barber, "RF High Voltage Performance of RF Transmission Line Components on the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive (FWCD) System," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 837 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22188 (1996).
- Ferron, J.R., B. Penaflor, M.L. Walker, J. Moller, D. Butner, "A Flexible Software Architecture for Tokamak Discharge Control Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 870 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22160 (1996).
- Ferron, J.R., M.L. Walker, B. Penaflor, H.E. St. John, "Real Time Equilibrium Reconstruction for Control of the Discharge in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1569 (1996) (Abstract).
- Forest, C.B., S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, H. Ikezi, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, D.B. Batchelor, F.W. Baity, E.F. Jaeger, M. Murakami, J.H. Lee, M. Porkolab, "Application of Fast Wave Current Drive to Discharges with Negative Central Shear," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1387 (1996) (Abstract).

- Forest, C.B., C.C. Petty, K.H. Burrell, J.S. deGrassie, A.W. Hyatt, R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, M. Murakami, R. Prater, B.W. Rice, E.J. Strait, "Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in Tokamak Plasmas with Negative Central Shear," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part II, p. 910 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22400 (1996).
- Freeman, R.L., "Applications of High Power Millimeter Waves in the DIII–D Fusion Program," Proc. Int. Conf. on Millimeter and Submillimeter Waves and Applications III, August 5–9, 1996, Denver, Colorado, Vol. 2842, p. 11 (SPIE — The International Society for Optical Engineering, Bellingham, Washington, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22442 (1996).
- Galkin, S.A., A.A. Ivanov, S.Yu. Medvedev, Yu.Yu. Poshekhonov, D.A. Humphreys, "Comparison of Tokamak Axisymmetric Mode Growth Rates for Linear MHD and Equilibrium Evolution Approaches," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1375 (1996) (Abstract).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, T.H. Osborne, A.B. Hassam, "Experimental Evaluations of Theoretical Predictions for Plasma Rotation at the L-H Transition in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1573 (1996) (Abstract).
- Gootgeld, A.M., "Cooling Water Conditioning & Quality Control For Tokamaks," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 825 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22152 (1996).
- Greene, J.M., O.N. Boratav, "Evidence for the Development of Singularities in Euler Flow," Physica D **91**, 1 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22369 (1996).
- Greenfield, C.M., "Transport and Performance in DIII–D Discharges with Weak or Negative Central Magnetic Shear," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1443 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- Greenfield, C.M., D.P. Schissel, B.W. Stallard, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, R.V. Budny, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R. Durst, R.J. Fonck, R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, D.C. McCune, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, B.W. Rice, T.L. Rhodes, H.E. St. John, T.S. Taylor, K.L. Tritz, M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, "Transport in High Performance Weak and Negative Central Shear Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part I, p. 291 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22403 (1996).
- Groebner, R.J., T.N. Carlstrom, "Parameterization of Edge Profiles for H–mode Studies," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1573 (1996) (Abstract).
- Harris, J.J., J.D. Broesch, R.M. Coon, "A Combined PLC and CPU Approach to Multiprocessor Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 874 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22196 (1996).

- Harris, T.E., J.C. Allen, W.P. Cary, S.W. Ferguson, C.C. Petty, and R.I. Pinsker, "System Control and Data Acquisition of the Two New FWCD RF Systems at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 878 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22212 (1996).
- Harvey, R.W., V.S. Chan, S.C. Chiu, M.N. Rosenbluth, "Runaway Electron Distribution Calculation with the CQL3D Fokker-Planck Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1436 (1996) (Abstract).
- Heidbrink, W.W., "Beam-Driven Chirping Instability in DIII–D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **37**, 937 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21988 (1995).
- Henline, P.A., "Improved Operating Scenarios of the DIII–D Tokamak as a Result of the Addition of UNIX Computer Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 895 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22146 (1996).
- Hill, D.N., S.L. Allen, R.D. Wood, T.W. Petrie, A.W. Leonard, W.P. West, M. Wade, R. Isler, R. Maingi, "Results of Recent Radiative Divertor Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1430 (1996) (Abstract).
- Hinton, F.L., "Nonlocal Collisional Transport in a Magnetized Plasma," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1394 (1996) (Abstract).
- Hodapp, T.R., J.D. Broesch, J.A. Leuer, R.T. Snider, E.J. Strait, "Magnetic Diagnostics for Future Tokamaks," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 918 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22195 (1996).
- Hoffmann, E., R. Boonstra, C.B. Baxi, J. Bialek, E. Chin, L. Drees, W. Lee, K.L. Redler, and E.E. Reis, "Design of the Inboard Passive Stabilizer for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1295 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22148 (1996).
- Hollerbach, M.A., J.P. Smith, C.B. Baxi, A.S. Bozek, E. Chin, R.D. Phelps, K.M. Redler, and E.E. Reis, "Design and Analysis of the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Water-Cooled Structures," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 817 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22208 (1996).
- Humphreys, D.A., A.G. Kellman, T.E. Evans, M.J. Schaffer, "Predictive Modeling of Axisymmetric Disruption Halo Currents," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1432 (1996) (Abstract).
- Hyatt, A.W., R.L. Lee, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.A. Humphreys, A.G. Kellman, C.J. Lasnier, P.L. Taylor, and The DIII–D Team, "Magnetic and Thermal Energy Flow During Disrution in DIII–D," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part I, p. 287 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22405 (1996).

- Hyatt, A.W., R.L. Lee, D.A. Humphreys, A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, and The DIII–D Team, J.W. Cuthbertson, "Magnetic and Thermal Energy Flow During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1433 (1996) (Abstract).
- Ikezi, H., R.I. Pinsker, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, "Fast Wave Propagation Studies in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas **3** (6), 2306 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22017 (1995).
- Isler, R.C., C.C. Klepper, R.D. Wood, M.E. Fenstermacher, A.W. Leonard, "Spectroscopic Characterization of the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1430 (1996) (Abstract).
- Jackson, G.L., G.M. Staebler, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, M.J. Schaffer, W.P. West, "CDH-mode and Highly Radiative Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1430 (1996) (Abstract).
- Jaeger, E.F., M. Murakami, L.A. Berry, D.B. Batchelor, M.D. Carter, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, "Absorption of Fast Wave Power by Energetic Ions During FWCD in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1534 (1996) (Abstract).
- James, R.A., C.C. Petty, R.W. Harvey, "A Comparison of Fundamental and Second Harmonic Inside Launch ECCD in the Presence of a dc Electric Field," Proc. 9th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Heating Conf., January 23–26, 1995, Borrego Springs, California, p. 75 (World Scientific Publishing Co., Singapore, Japan 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21994 (1995).
- Jensen, T.H., K.H. Finken, C. Ren, "Nonlinear Tearing," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1398 (1996) (Abstract).
- Jensen, T.H., R.J. La Haye, A.W. Hyatt, "A Nonlinear Model for the Singular Surface Response," Phys. Plasmas **3** (5) 1524 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A21996 (1995).
- Jensen, T.H., R.L. Miller, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Pressure Driven Tokamaks," Phys. Plasmas 3, 1656 (1996); General Atomics Report GA-A22126 (1995).
- Jernigan, T.C., L.R. Baylor, S.K. Combs, S.L. Milora, M.R. Wade, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, M.A. Mahdavi, J.C. Phillips, R.T. Snider, "Pellet Injection on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1572 (1996) (Abstract).
- Johnson, W.R., J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, "Production and Fabrication of Vanadium Alloys for the Radiative Divertor Program of DIII–D," General Atomics Report GA–A22426 (1996).
- Kellman, A.G., for the DIII–D Team, "Recent Results from the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 792 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22207 (1996).
- Kessler, D.N., R.-M. Hong, S.P. Riggs, "A New Technique to Measure the Neutralizer Cell Gas Line Density Applied to a DIII–D Neutral Beamline," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 840 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22149 (1996).

- Kim, J.S., "A Method of Poloidal Mode Analysis of Tokamak Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).
- Kim, K.W., E.J. Doyle, T.L. Rhodes, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., "High Resolution Reflectometer Edge Density Profile Measurements at L–H Transitions and ELMs," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1574 (1996) (Abstract).
- La Haye, R.J., L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, "Long-Pulse Beta Limit and Neoclassical Tearing in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1388 (1996) (Abstract).
- La Haye, R.J., J.T. Scoville, "Use of an M=2, N=1 Static Error Field Correction Coil, 'The C–Coil,' on DIII–D to Avoid Disruptive Locked Modes," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom, Vol. 19C, Part IV, p. 53 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22033 (1995).
- Lao, L.L., K.H. Burrell, T.S. Casper, V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, R.D. Durst, C.B. Forest, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, F.L. Hinton, Y. Kawano, E.A. Lazarus, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M.E. Mauel, W.H. Meyer, R.L. Miller, G.A. Navritil, T.H. Osborne, Q. Peng, C.L. Rettig, G. Rewoldt, T.L. Rhodes, B.W. Rice, D.P. Schissel, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, W.M. Tang, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, R.E. Waltz, and The DIII–D Team, "Rotational and Magnetic Shear Stabilization of Magnetohydrodynamic Modes and Turbulence in DIII–D High Performance Discharges," Phys. Plasmas 5, 1951 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22258 (1996).
- Lao, L.L., K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, T.C. Luce, R.L. Miller, T.H. Osborne, P.A. Politzer, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, G. Rewoldt, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, "Enhanced Stability and Confinement in DIII–D Discharges with Weak Magnetic Shear and Recent Experiments in Crescent/Bean Geometry," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1569 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lasnier, C.J., M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, R. Maingi, A.W. Leonard, J.G. Watkins, "Edge Properties of DIII–D High Performance and Extended Duration Pumped NCS Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1432 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lazarus, E.A., G.A. Navratil, E.J. Strait, C.M. Greenfield, The DIII–D Team, B.W. Rice, "Increasing the Fusion Gain in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1386 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lee, R.L., "Presentation Stations of the General Atomics Fusion Educational Program," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1456 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lee, R.L., A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, C.J. Lasnier, "Heat Flux Asymmetry in Disruptions and VDEs in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1433 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lee, R.L., C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, "Thermal Deposition Analysis During Disruptions on DIII–D Using Infrared Scanners," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 902 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22217 (1996).

- Leonard, A.W., T.W. Petrie, W.P. West, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, G.D. Porter, R.D. Wood, J.G. Watkins, D.G. Whyte, "Enhanced Distributed Radiation in an Extended Divertor in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1533 (1996) (Abstract).
- Leuer, J.A., J.L. Luxon, M.-F. Xu, T.A. Antaya, "Impact of PF and TF Coil Misalignment on Toroidally Asymmetric Plasma Error Fields in TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1327 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22187 (1996).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., V.S. Chan, S.C. Chiu, "Plasma Rotation in the Presence of Radio Frequency Fields," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California, p. 247 (American Institute of Physics, New York 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22070 (1995).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., R.L. Miller, V.S. Chan, R. Prater, T.S. Taylor, "Stability of Bootstrap Current-Driven Tokamak Equilibrium on Current Diffusion Time Scale," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1429 (1996) (Abstract).
- Lohr, John, R.W. Callis, Dan Ponce, J.T. Tooker, L. Popov, Daqing Zhang, "Commissioning of the First Part of the 110 GHz ECH System on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1428 (1996) (Abstract).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, "Dimensionless Parameter Scaling for Transport Physics and Performance Extrapolation," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1572 (1996) (Abstract).
- Luckhardt, S., J.W. Cuthbertson, J. Zhang, R.E. Stockdale, T.E. Evans, A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, D.G. Whyte, "Temperature and Density Evolution Measurements and Runaway Production During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1433 (1996) (Abstract).
- Mahdavi, M.A., R.J. La Haye, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, R.D. Stambaugh, W.P. West, R. Maingi, L.R. Baylor, T.C. Jernigan, M.R. Wade, M. Murakami, J.G. Watkins, J. Cuthbertson, "Attainment of High Density in DIII–D H–mode Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1532 (1996) (Abstract).
- Maingi, R., "Investigation of Physical Processes Limiting Plasma Density in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1501 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- Maingi, R., G.L. Jackson, M.R. Wade, M.A. Mahdavi, P.K. Mioduszewski, G. Haas, M.J. Schaffer, J.T. Hogan, "Divertor Particle Exhaust and Wall Inventory on DIII–D," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom, Vol. 19C, p. I–325.(European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22065 (1995).
- Maingi, R., G.L. Jackson, M.R. Wade, M.A. Mahdavi, P.K. Mioduszewski, M.J. Schaffer, J.T. Hogan, C.C. Klepper, G. Haas, "Control of Wall Particle Inventory with Divertor Pumping on DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 36, 245 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22014 (1995).
- McKee, Jr., G.R., D.L. Hillis, R.C. Isler, C.C. Klepper, M.R. Wade, N.H. Brooks, W.P. West, "Neutral and Low-Charge-State Helium and Neon Spectroscopy Measurements During Radiative Divertor Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1431 (1996) (Abstract).

- Miller, R.L., Y.R. Lin-Liu, A.D. Turnbull, V.S. Chan, L.D. Pearlstein, O. Sauter, "Stable Equilibria for Bootstrap-Current Driven Low Aspect Ratio Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1404 (1996) (Abstract).
- Miller, R.L., Y.R. Lin-Liu, A.D. Turnbull, V.S. Chan, L.D. Pearlstein, O. Sauter, L. Villard, "Stable Equilibria for Bootstrap-Current Driven Low Aspect Ratio Tokamaks," Phys. Plasmas 4, 1062 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22321 (1996).
- Monier-Garbet, P., K.H. Burrell, F.L. Hinton, J. Kim, X. Garbet, R.J. Groebner, "Effects of Neutrals on Plasma Rotation in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **37**, 403 (1997); General Atomics Report GA–A22234 (1995).
- Moyer, R.A., J. Cuthbertson, E.J. Doyle, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, J.G. Watkins, R. Maingi, G.D. Porter, "Turbulence Suppression and Transport Barrier Formation in Very Slow L-H Transitions," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1574 (1996) (Abstract).
- Murakami, M., E.F. Jaeger, F.W. Baity, C.C. Petty, C.B. Forest, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, J.M. Lohr, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, "Fast Wave Electron Heating and Current Drive and Comparison with RF Modeling in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1388 (1996) (Abstract).
- Navratil, G.A., E.A. Lazarus, C.M. Greenfield, B.W. Rice, "High Fusion Performance NCS Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1386 (1996) (Abstract).
- Nilson, D.G., N.H. Brooks, J.P. Smith, R.T Snider, "Diagnostics for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 806 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22189 (1996).
- O'Neill, R.C., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, J.L. Doane, R. Gallix, T.R. Hodapp, J.M. Lohr, T.C. Luce, and C.P. Moeller, "ECH Mirror Interface Tank for 110 GHz, 1 MW Gyrotron," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 844 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22216 (1996).
- Osborne, T.H., A.W. Leonard, D.G. Porter, The DIII–D Team, "ELM Studies on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1534 (1996) (Abstract).
- Owen, L., J. Hogan, M.R. Wade, R.C. Isler, R. Maingi, D. Coster, "Divertor Enrichment Modeling for DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1431 (1996) (Abstract).
- Parks, P.B., D. Whyte, R. Bastasz, N.H. Brooks, W.R. Wampler, W.P. West, and C.P.C. Wong, "First Measurements of the Ion Energy Distribution at the Divertor Strike Point During DIII–D Disruptions," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 821 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22237 (1996).
- Peebles, W.A., C.L. Rettig, J. Lohr, K.H. Burrell, "Electron Temperature Fluctuation Measurements in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1572 (1996) (Abstract).

- Petrie, T.W., D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, J.W. Cutherbertson, T.E. Evans, P.H. Ghendrih, C. Lasner, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, "Radiative Divertor Experiments in DIII-D with D2 Injection," Nucl. Fusion 37, No. 3, 321 (1997); General Atomics Report GA-A21879 (1995).
- Petrie, T.W., A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, W.P. West, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R.D. Wood, R. Maingi, D.G. Whyte, "Divertor and X–Point MARFE Behavior in DIII–D H–mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1430 (1996) (Abstract).
- Petty, C.C., C.B. Forest, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, R.J. Groebner, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, "Current Profile Evolution During Fast Wave Current Drive on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California, p. 193 (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22063 (1995).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, "Nondimensional Transport Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1388 (1996) (Abstract).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, B. Balet, J.P. Christiansen, J.G. Cordey, "Nondimensional Transport Experiments on DIII–D and Projections to an Ignition Tokamak," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part I, p. 211 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22385 (1996).
- Phelps, D.A., "Broadband Tunable and ELM Resilient Traveling Wave Antennas for Plasma Heating and Shaping in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1429 (1996) (Abstract).
- Phelps, D.A., H. Ikezi and C.P. Moeller, "A High Power Experimental Traveling Wave Antenna for Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in DIII–D and Relevance to ITER," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 848 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22159 (1996).
- Phillips, J.C., D.H. Kellman, R. Hong, J. Kim, G.M. Laughon, "Five Second Helium Neutral Beam Injection Using Argon-Frost Cryopumping Techniques," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 852 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22197 (1996).
- Pinsker, R.I., C.C. Petty, D.A. Phelps, C.P. Moeller, R.W. Callis, T. Ogawa, Y. Miura, "First High Power Results from the General Atomics Combline on the JFT–2M Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1429 (1996) (Abstract).
- Popov, A.M., Y.Q. Liu, A.D. Turnbull, M.S. Chu, "Nonlinear MHD Simulation of Negative Central Shear Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1569 (1996) (Abstract).
- Popova, N.N., Y.Q. Liu, A.M. Popov, A.D. Turnbull, M.S. Chu, "Nonlinear Simulations of Magnetic Field Lines Stochastization in the Negative Central Shear Experiments in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1570 (1996) (Abstract).

- Prater, R., F.W. Baity, W.P. Cary, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, R.W. Harvey, H. Ikezi, E.F. Jaeger, K. Kupfer, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "First Results on Fast Wave Current Drive in Advanced Tokamak Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom, Vol. 1, p. 381 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22088 (1995).
- Prater, R., R.W. Callis, J.M. Lohr, T.C. Luce, J.F. Tooker, D. Zhang, L. Popov, M. Murakami, J.A. Konings, "Initial Electron Cyclotron Heating Experiments at 110 GHz in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1388 (1996) (Abstract).
- Redler, K.M., C.B. Baxi, E.H. Hoffmann, and K.M. Schaubel, "Use of a Thermal Analogy to Find Electrical Resistances of the Electrical Breaks in the TPX Passive Stabilization Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1299 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22147 (1996).
- Reis, E.E., C.B. Baxi, E. Chin, K.M. Redler, "Thermal and Structural Analysis of the TPX Divertor," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1291 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22164 (1996).
- Rettig, C.L., E.J. Doyle, T.L. Rhodes, W.A. Peebles, K.H. Burrell, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Fonck, B.W. Rice, E.A. Lazarus, "Core Turbulence Evolution and Characteristics During Negative Central Shear Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1387 (1996) (Abstract).
- Rewoldt, G., L.L. Lao, W.M. Tang, "Microstability Analysis of DIII–D High-Performance Discharges," Phys. Plasmas **3**, 4074 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22228 (1996).
- Rhodes, T.L., E.J. Doyle, C.L. Rettig, K.W. Kim, W.A. Peebles, R.J. Fonck, C.M. Greenfield, "Reflectometer Measurements of Core Fluctuation Behavior in NCS and Other Regimes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1572 (1996) (Abstract).
- Rice, B.W., K.H. Burrell, L.L. Lao, G. Navatril, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, M.E. Austin, T.A. Casper, M.S. Chu, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, W.W. Heidbrink, A.W. Hyatt, H. Ikezi, R.J. La Haye, E.A. Lazarus, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M.E. Mauel, W.H. Meyer, C.L. Rettig, D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, P.L. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, and the DIII–D Team, "Demonstration of High Performance Negative Central Magnetic Shear Discharges on the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas 3 (5), 1983 (1996).
- Rice, B.W., B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, T.C. Luce, T.S. Taylor, C.M. Greenfield, F. Soldner, G. Sips, E.J. Lazarus, R. Maingi, M.R. Wade, "Extension of High-Performance NCS Operating Regimes to Low-Triangularity Plasmas, with Implications for JET/ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1386 (1996) (Abstract).
- Riggs, S., R. Hong, and D. Kessler, "Neutral Beam Shine-Through Power and Its Dependence On The Line Density Of The DIII–D Plasma," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 856 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22150 (1996).

- Robinson, J.I., and J.T. Scoville, "Development of a New Error Field Correction Coil (C-coil) for DIII-D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 829 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22223 (1996).
- Rothweil, D.A., D.A. Phelps, and R. Doerner, "Interpretation of PISCES–A RF Antenna System Experimental Results," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 968 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22209 (1996).
- Ruskov, E., W.W. Heidbrink, M.A. vanZeeland, "Analysis of Beam-Driven 'BAE' Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).
- Schaffer, M.J., T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, R.J. La Haye, "VDE Disruption Halo Currents: Rotation and Peaking," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1432 (1996) (Abstract).
- Schaffer, M.J., R. Maingi, A.W. Hyatt, M.A. Mahdavi, "Increased Divertor Exhaust by Electrical Bias in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion Lett. **36**, 495 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A21878 (1995).

- Schaubel, K.M., P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, R.H. Boonstra, B.E. Eklund, E.H. Hoffmann, R.L. Pearsons, Jr., J.L. Pickering, K.M. Redler, E.E. Reis, D.L. Sevier, "Design of the TPX Outboard Toroidal Limiters," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1303 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22177 (1996).
- Schissel, D.P., DIII–D Education Outreach Team, "Advancing Precollege Science and Mathematics Education in San Diego County," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1456 (1996) (Abstract).
- Schissel, D.P., J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, K.H. Burrell, L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, E.A. Lazarus, M. Murakami, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, G.A. Navratil, "Energy Transport in Neutral Beam Heated DIII–D Discharges with Negative Magnetic Shear," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).
- Schultz, K.R., "Inertial Fusion Target Development," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 116 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22219 (1996).
- Schultz, K.R., T. Bernat, R.L. Fagaly, L. Foreman, W. Meier, R. Petzoldt, "Development of IFE Target Systems on the NIF," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 86 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22225 (1996).
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. La Haye, "Multi-mode Error Field Correction," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1570 (1996) (Abstract).
- Silke, G.W., and R. Junge, "Remote Welding Equipment for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1363 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22174 (1996).
- Simonen, T.C. for The DIII–D Team, "DIII–D Research Program Status and Plans," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1532 (1996) (Abstract).
- Smith, J.P., C.B. Baxi, A.S. Bozek, E. Chin, M.A. Hollerbach, W.R. Johnson, G.J. Laughon, R.D. Phelps, K.M. Redler, E.E. Reis, and D.L. Sevier, "Engineering Design of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 801 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22157 (1996).
- Smith, J.P., W.R. Johnson, R.D. Stambaugh, P.W. Trester, D. Smith, and E. Bloom "Vanadium Alloys For The Radiative Divertor Program of DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 1, p. 858 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22165 (1996).
- St. John, H.E., J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, D.P. Schissel, B.W. Stallard, "Application of Empirically Derived MHD Metrics in Current Drive and Transport Analysis of NCS Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1571 (1996) (Abstract).
- Staebler, G.M., R.E. Waltz, M. Kotschenreuther, "Gyrokinetc Stability of DIII–D NCS Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1387 (1996) (Abstract).

- Stallard, B.W., T.A. Casper, B.W. Rice, C.M. Greenfield, D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, C.L. Rettig, "Reduced Transport in Negative and Weak Shear Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1387 (1996) (Abstract).
- Stambaugh, R.D., V.S. Chan, P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, R.W. Callis, H.K. Chiu, C.B. Forest, R.-M. Hong, T.H. Jensen, L.L. Lao, J.A. Leuer, M.A. Mahdavi, R.L. Miller, A. Nerem, R. Prater, P.A. Politzer, M.J. Schaffer, D.L. Sevier, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, C.P.C. Wong, "The Spherical Torus Approach to Magnetic Fusion Development," Proc. 12th Top. Mtg. on Technology Fusion Energy, June 16–20, 1996, Reno, Nevada; General Atomics Report GA–A22393 (1996).
- Stephens, R.B., G. Collins, "Analysis of Integrating Sphere Performance for IR Enhanced DT Layering," presented at 11th Target Fabrication Specialists Meeting, September 8–12, 1996, Orcas Island, Washington, to be published in Fusion Technology; General Atomics Report GA–A22477 (1996).
- Strait, E.J., "Frequency Response of Metal-Clad Inductive Magnetic Field Probes," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **67**, 2538 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22049 (1996).
- Strait, E.J., "Stability of Negative Central Magnetic Shear Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1442 (1996) (Invited Abstract).
- Strait, E.J., T.A. Casper, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, C.B. Forest, C.M. Greenfield, A.W. Hyatt, L.L. Lao, R.J. La Haye, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, B.W. Rice, A.C.C. Sips, F.X. Soldner, B.W. Stallard, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, "Improved Fusion Performance in Low-q, Low Triangularity Plasmas with Negative Central Magnetic Shear," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part III, p. 1493 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22402 (1996).
- Strait, E.J., L.L. Lao, M.E. Mauel, B.W. Rice, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, E.A. Lazarus, T.H. Osborne, S.J. Thompson, A.D. Turnbull, "Enhanced Confinement and Stability in DIII–D Discharges with Reversed Magnetic Shear," Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, 4421 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22041 (1995).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, R.L. Lee, M.J. Schaffer, J.W. Cuthbertson, S. Luckhardt, J. Zhang, T. Jernigan, D.G. Whyte, "Disruption Mitigation Using Impurity Pellet Injection in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1432 (1996) (Abstract).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, B.W. Rice, D.A. Humphreys, "Experimental Measurements of the Current, Temperature, and Density Profile Changes during a Disruption in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 (6), 916 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22076 (1995).
- Taylor, T.S., J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, B.W. Rice, "Evidence for High Edge Current Density and Its Impact on Plasma Control," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1569 (1996) (Abstract).
- Thomas, D.M., "Visualization of Density Structures in Tokamak Edge Plasmas Using Lithium Beam Fluorescence," Proc. IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science **24** (1), 27 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22098 (1995).
- Thomas, D.M., T.N. Carlstrom, R.J. Groebner, A.W. Leonard, T.L. Rhodes, C.L. Rettig, "Parameters Affecting the H–L Transition on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1573 (1996) (Abstract).

- Turnbull, A.D., E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, M.S. Chu, R.L. Miller, T.S. Taylor, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. La Haye, R.T. Snider, B.W. Rice, E.A. Lazarus, G.A. Navratil, "Beta Limiting Instabilities in Negative Central Shear Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1569 (1996) (Abstract).
- VanderLaan, J.F., S. Miller, B.B. McHarg, Jr., P.A. Henline, "Handling and Archiving of Magnetic Fusion Data at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 881 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22167 (1996).
- Wade, M.R., S.L. Allen, R.D. Wood, M.J. Schaffer, W.P. West, R. Maingi, D.G. Whyte, "Neon Enrichment and Particle Balance During 'Puff and Pump' Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1533 (1996) (Abstract).
- Wade, M.R., D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, W.P. West, "Charazerization of Core Impurity Transport and Accumulation in Various Operating Regimes in DIII–D," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part I, p. 283 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22404 (1996).
- Walker, M., J.R. Ferron, B. Penaflor, D.A. Humphreys, J.A. Leuer, A.W. Hyatt, C.B. Forest, J.T. Scoville, B.W. Rice, E.A. Lazarus, T.W. Petrie, S.L. Allen, G.L. Jackson, and R. Maingi, "Status of DIII–D Plasma Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 885 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22176 (1996).
- Watkins, J.G., D.A. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, D.G. Porter, T.N. Carlstrom, J.W. Cuthbertson, R.A. Moyer, "Scaling of Density and Temperature Gradients in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1431 (1996) (Abstract).
- Weschenfelder, F., G.L. Jackson, N.H. Brooks, R.L. Lee, W.P. West, P. Wienhold, J. Winter, "Three-Filter Colorimetry in DIII–D to Measure In-Situ Erosion and Deposition of Plasma Facing Surfaces," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 66, 5257 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21917 (1995).
- West, W.P., N.H. Brooks, S.L. Allen, G.D. Porter, R.D. Wood, R.C. Isler, M.R. Wade, G.R. McKee, D.G. Whyte, "Modeling of Impurity Spectroscopy in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1431 (1996) (Abstract).
- West, W.P., T.E. Evans, N.H. Brooks, M.E. Fenstermacher, S. Hirshman, R.C. Isler, A.W. Leonard, G.D. Porter, M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Modeling of Impurity Spectroscopy in the Divertor and SOL of DIII–D Using the 1D Multifluid Model NEWT1D," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine Vol. 20C, Part II, p. 767 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22406 (1996).
- Whyte, D.G., T.E. Evans, A.G. Kellman, D.A. Humphreys, P.L. Taylor, R.T. Snider, W.P. West, J.W. Cuthbertson, R.D. Wood, "Spectroscopic Investigation of Disruptions on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1432 (1996) (Abstract).
- Winter, Partricia S., "General Atomics Science Education Outreach Programs," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1456 (1996) (Abstract).

- Wood, R.D., S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, R.C. Isler, M.R. Wade, A.W. Leonard, M.J. Schaffer, W.P. West, "Measurements of Divertor Impurity Emissions on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 41, 1533 (1996) (Abstract).
- Wood, R.D., R.C. Isler, S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, W.P. West, "Measurements of Divertor Impurity Concentrations on DIII–D," Proc. 23rd European Conf. on Contr. Fusion and Plasma Phys., June 24–28, 1996, Kiev, Ukraine, Vol. 20C, Part II, p. 763 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22398 (1996).
- Wong, C.P.C., B.W. McQuillan, R.W. Schleicher, E.T. Cheng, and the ARIES Team, "Evaluation of U.S. Demo Helium-Cooled Blanket Options," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 1145 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22214 (1996).
- Wright, A.L., J. Tooker, J.C. Allen, W.P. Cary, and T.E. Harris, "ECH Control System for New 1 MW 110 GHz Gyrotrons at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champaign, Illinois, Vol. 2, p. 889 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1996); General Atomics Report GA–A22169 (1996).
- Wroblewski, D., G.L. Jahns, J.A. Leuer, J.R. Ferron, A.G. Kellman, "Application of Neural Networks for Real Time Determination of High-β Disruption Boundary and Current Profile Parameters," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1433 (1996) (Abstract).
- Yushmanov, P., R.J. Groebner, L.L. Lao, T.N. Carlstrom, "A Scaling for the H-mode Edge Pedestal in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1575 (1996) (Abstract).
- Zhang, Daqing, John Lohr, J.W. Tooker, Dan Ponce, R.W. Callis, "Power Accountability with 1 MW 110 GHz Gyrotron System on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **41**, 1429 (1996) (Abstract).

## 7.4. FY95

- Allen, J.C., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, R. O'Neill, "Russian 110 GHz Gyrotron Control System," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 167.
- Allen, S.L., A.S. Bozek, N.H. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, J.W. Cuthbertson, J.C. DeBoo, R. Ellis, J.C. Evans, T.E. Evans, "Recent DIII–D Divertor Research," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A22091 (1995).
- Allen, S.L., N.H. Brooks, R.B. Campbell, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, D. Knoll, C.J. Lasnier, E.A. Lazarus, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, W. Meyer, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, G.M. Staebler, R.D. Stambaugh, W.P. West, and R.D. Wood, "Development of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 336 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21714 (1994).

- Allen, S.L., M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, B. Johnson, D.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, T.S. Taylor, W.P. West, R.D. Wood, "Progress in Radiative Divertor Design for DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1832 (1995) (Abstract).
- Anderson, P.M., "TPX Divertor Design," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 120.
- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, R.A. James, T.C. Luce, "Wall Reflectivity for Electron Cyclotron Frequencies in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1789 (1995) (Abstract).
- Baggest, D., S. Pang, D. Rothweil, M. Walker, and A. Nerem, "Improving Plasma Shaping Accuracy Through Consolidation of Control Model Maintenance, Diagnostic Calibration, and Hardware Change Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 209.
- Baker, D.R., and G.L. Jackson, "Analysis of Particle Transport Barrier in DIII–D Elm Free H–mode Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1790 (1995) (Abstract).
- Baxi, C.B., "Comparison of Swirl Tube and Hypervapotron for Cooling of ITER High Heat Flux Components," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 94.
- Baxi, C.B., E.E. Reis, K. Redler, E. Chin, R. Boonstra, K.M. Schaubel, P.A. Anderson, E. Hoffmann, "Thermal Hydraulic Analysis of the TPX Plasma Facing Components," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 150.
- Bozek, A.S., C.B. Baxi, J.V. Del Bene, G.J. Laughon, E.E. Reis, H.D. Shatoff, and J.P. Smith, "Engineering Design of Cryocondensation Pumps for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor Program," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 213.
- Broesch, J.D., "A Digital Long-Pulse Integrator," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 114.
- Brooks, N.H. and S.N. Tugarinov, A.A. Oleinicov, "Ion Temperature Measurements in the DIII–D Divertor During Experiments with Strong Gas Puffing," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1832 (1995) (Abstract).
- Brown, L.C., K.K. Boline, C.R. Gibson, M.J. Hansink, and G.J. Laughon, "Moving Cryostat Target Insertion System for the OMEGA Upgrade ICF Laser," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 67.
- Buchenauer, D., T.W. Petrie, C.J. Lasnier, D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, A.W. Leonard, J.W. Cuthbertson, and R. Maingi, "Characterization of Divertor Plasma Detachment in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1832 (1995) (Abstract).

- Burrell, K.H., M.E. Austin, T.N. Carlstrom, S. Coda, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, J. Lohr, R.A. Moyer, T.H. Osborne, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, D.M. Thomas, "H–Mode and VH–Mode Confinement Improvement in DIII–D: Investigations of Turbulence, Local Transport, and Active Control of the Shear in the E×B Flow," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 221 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21833 (1994).
- Burrell, K.H., E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, M.E. Mauel, B.W. Rice, T.S. Taylor, T.A. Casper, B.W. Stallard, E.A. Lazarus, T.H. Osborne, "Core Transport Barrier Development in Reversed Magnetic Shear Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1786 (1995) (Abstract).
- Callis, R.W., W.P. Cary, R. O'Neill, J.C. Allen, T.E. Harris, J.S. deGrassie, S.W. Ferguson, F.W. Baity, G. Barber, J. Tooker, D.A. Phelps, "Upgrade of the DIII–D RF System," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 174.
- Carlstrom, T.N., "Study of the Conditions for Spontaneous H–mode Transitions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1804 (1995) (Invited Abstract).
- Cary, W.P., F.W. Baity, G. Barber, R.W. Callis, J.S. deGrassie, S.W. Ferguson, T.E. Harris, R. O'Neill, R.I. Pinsker, "4 MW Upgrade to DIII–D FWCD System: System Commissioning and Initial Operation," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 207.
- Casper, T.A., M.S. Chu, P. Gohil, W.W. Heidbrink, A.W. Hyatt, R.A. James, R. Jong, L.L. Lao, M. Makowski, W. Meyer, P.A. Politzer, G.D. Porter, B.W. Rice, H. St. John, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, S.J. Thompson, A.D. Turnbull and D. Wroblewski, "Fluctuations in High β<sub>p</sub> Plasmas in DIII–D," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland 18B (Part I) 190 (1994)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21750 (1994).
- Casper, T.A., J.A. Crotinger, S.W. Haney, J.M. Moller, L.D. Pearlstein, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, and T.S. Taylor, "Time Dependent Modeling of Reversed Central Shear Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1787 (1995) (Abstract).
- Chan, V.S., R.L. Miller, S.C. Chiu, and A.D. Turnbull, "Radiofrequency Wave Heating and Current Drive in Low Aspect Ratio Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40**, 1788 (1995) (Abstract).
- Chin, E., and E.E. Reis, "Elastic-Plastic-Creep Analyses of Brazed Carbon-Carbon/OFHC Divertor Tile Concepts for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 150.
- Chiu, S.C., J.S. deGrassie, R.W. Harvey, V.S. Chan, Y.R. Lin-Liu, R.D. Stambaugh, H. Ikezi, T.K. Mau, W.W. Heidbrink, "Interaction of Fast Waves with Ions," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22062 (1995).
- Chiu, S.C., R.W. Harvey, J.S. deGrassie, V.S. Chan, Y.R. Lin-Liu, R.D. Stambaugh, T.K. Mau, "Interaction Between Energetic Ions and Fast Waves," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1838 (1995) (Abstract).

- Chiu, S.C., C.F.F. Karney, T.K. Mau, and Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Theory of Current Drive by Parallel Acceleration of Electrons in a Weakly Relativistic Plasma," Phys. Plasma 2 (2) 450 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21599 (1994).
- Chu, M.S., J.M. Greene, L.L. Lao, R.L. Miller, A. Bondeson, "Rotation Stabilization of Advanced Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1645 (1995) (Abstract).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, and K.H. Burrell, "A Study of Edge Turbulence by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1836 (1995) (Abstract).
- Cummings, J.W., and P.A. Thurgood, "A UNIX Based SCADA Software Package for the Machine Control and Neutral Beam Computers at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 212.
- DIII–D Education Team, "Advancing Precollege Science and Mathematics Education in San Diego County," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1690 (1995) (Abstract).
- deGrassie, J.S., F.W. Baity, S.W. Ferguson, C.B. Forest, R.H. Goulding, H. Ikezi, R.I. Pinsker, "ELM Driven Variation in the Fast Wave Antenna Loading on DIII–D and Techniques for Transmitter Protection," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1837 (1995) (Abstract).
- Doyle, E.J., K.H. Burrell, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, and T.L. Rhodes, "Investigation of Turbulence Asymmetries Across the L to H Transition on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1836 (1995) (Abstract).
- Duong, H.H., R.V. Budney, R.K. Fisher, N.N. Gorelenkov, J.M. McChesney, S.S. Medley, P.B Parks, M.P. Petrov, "The Effect of Toroidal Field Ripple on Confined Alphas in TFTR," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1672 (1995) (Abstract).
- Evans, T.E., M.E. Fenstermacher, M.A. Mahdavi, W.H. Meyer, G.D. Porter, G.T. Sager, W.P. West, "Monte-Carlo Impurity Transport Simulations in the Edge of the DIII–D Tokamak Using the MCI Code," Proc. 10th Int. Conf. on Stellarators, May 22–26, 1995, Madrid, Spain; General Atomics Report GA–A22064 (1995).
- Evans, T.E., C.J. Lasnier, D.N. Hill, A.W. Leonard, M.E. Fenstermacher, T.W. Petrie, and M.J. Schaffer, "Measurements of Non-Axisymmetric Effects in the DIII–D Divertor," J. Nucl. Mater. **220–222**, 235 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21707 (1994).
- Evans, T.E., G.T. Sager, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.G. Whyte, M.A. Mahdavi, G.D. Porter, W.P. West, "Intrinsic Carbon Transport Studies in DIII–D Plasmas Using the Mointe-Carlo Impurity (MCI) Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1834 (1995) (Abstract).
- Fagaly, R.L., L.C. Brown, R.B. Stephens and M. Wittman, "Inertial Confinement Fusion Target Insertion via Augmented Mass Free Fall," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 67.
- Ferguson, S.W., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, T.E. Harris, and J.C. Allen, "RF Power Diagnostics and Controls on the DIII–D, 4 MW, 30–120 MHz Fast Wave Current Drive System," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 210.

- Ferguson, S.W., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, D.A. Phelps, and D. Ponce, "High Voltage Performance of RF Transmission Line Components on the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive System," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 207.
- Ferron, J.R., L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, O. Sauter, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, S.J. Thompson, and A.D. Turnbull, "The Effect of the Edge Current Density on Confinement and Kink Mode Stability in H–Mode and VH–Mode Discharges," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland 18B (Part I) 86 (1994)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21737 (1994).
- Ferron, J.R., B. Penaflor, M. Walker, J. Moller, D. Butner, "A Flexible Software Architecture for Tokamak Discharge Control Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 210.
- Ferron, J.R., M.L. Walker, J. Broesch, C.B. Forest, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, J. Leuer, B. Penaflor, J.T. Scoville, T.S. Taylor, M. Brown, D. Butner, J. Moller, B.W. Rice, "Improved Shape and Position Control for DIII–D Using Real Time Digital Analysis," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1791 (1995) (Abstract).
- Fisher, R.K., R.V. Budney, H.H. Duong, N.N Gorenlenkov, J.M. McChesney, D.K. Mansfield, S.S. Medley, P.B. Parks, M.P. Petrov, M.H Redi, A.L. Roquemore, "Alpha Particle Studies in TFTR Using the Pellet Charge Exchange Diagnostic," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1671 (1995) (Abstract).
- Forest, C.B., K. Kupfer, T.C. Luce, P.A. Politzer, L.L. Lao, and D. Wroblewski, "A Method for Measuring the Inductive Electric Field Profile and Noninductive Current Profiles on DIII–D," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland **18B** (Part III) 1146 (1994)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21747 (1994).
- Forest, C.B., C.C. Petty, B.W. Rice, R. Prater, R.I. Pinsker, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, K. Kupfer, "Experimentally Determined Profiles of Fast Wave Current Drive on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Forest, C.B., C.C. Petty, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, R.J. Groebner, H. Ikezi, E.F. Jaeger, K. Kupfer, M. Murakami, R.I. Pinsker, "Experimentally Determined Profiles of Fast Wave Current Drive on DIII–D," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22048 (1995).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, A.B. Hassam, T.H. Osborne, "Energy and Angular Momentum Transport During On- and Off-Axis NBI in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1790 (1995) (Abstract).
- Gootgeld, A.M., "Cooling Water Conditioning and Quality Control for Tokamak," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 206.
- Greenfield, C.M., J.C. DeBoo, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, "Modification of the Toroidal Rotation Profile by Plasma Shaping in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1789 (1995) (Abstract).

- Groebner, R.J., M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, T.C. Carlstrom, S. Coda, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, J. Kim, R.J. La Haye, C.L. Hsieh, L.L. Lao, J. Lohr, R.A. Moyer, C.L. Rettig, T.H. Rhodes, G.M. Staebler, R.E. Stockdale, D.M. Thomas, and J.G. Watkins, "Evidence for Modified Transport Due to Sheared E×B Flows in High-Temperature Plasmas," Proc. Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics, October 31–November 4, 1994, Foz do Iguacu, Brazil (1994) p. 74; General Atomics Report GA–A21872 (1994).
- Groebner, R.J., T.N. Carlstrom, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, and J. Kim, "Correlation of H-mode Transition with Local Edge Parameters in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Harris, J.J., J.D. Broesch, R.M. Coon, "A Combined PLC and CPU Approach to a Multiprocessor Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 210.
- Harris, T.E., J.C. Allen, W.P. Cary, S.W. Ferguson, C.C. Petty, and R.I. Pinsker, "System Control and Data Acquisition of the Two New FWCD RF Systems at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 210.
- Harvey, R.W., O. Sauter, K. Kupfer, "Parallelization of the FPET Fokker-Planck Edge Transport Code; Coupled Electron-Ion Distributions," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1835 (1995) (Abstract).
- Heidbrink, W.W., "Experimental Aspects of Effects of High-Energy Particles on Alfvén Modes," Proc. European Theory of Fusion Plasmas Conf., August 22–26, 1994, Varenna, Italy (1994) p. 49; General Atomics Report GA–A21811 (1994).
- Heidbrink, W.W., E.M. Carolipio, R.A. James, E.J. Strait, "Summary of Recent Studies of Beam-Driven BAE and Chirping Modes in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 35 (12) 1481 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22040 (1995).
- Henline, P.A., "Improved Operating Scenarios of the DIII–D Tokamak as a Result of the Addition of UNIX Computer Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 212.
- Hill, D.N., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, Ph. Ghendrih, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, R.A. James, R. Jong, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, P.K. Mioduszewski, R.A. Moyer, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, M.J. Schaffer, G.M. Staebler, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, F. Weschenfelder, W.P. West, D. Whyte, R. Wood, "Divertor Research on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 499 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21851 (1994).
- Hillis, D.L., M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, W.P. West, R.J. Groebner, "Low-Z Impurity Transport and Accumulation in Enhanced Confinement Regimes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1790 (1995) (Abstract).
- Hinton, F.L., and Y.B. Kim, "The Ion Temperature Pedestal in H–mode Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1652 (1995) (Abstract).

- Hinton, F.L., M.N. Rosenbluth, "The Mechanism for Toroidal Momentum Input to Tokamak Plasmas from Neutral Beams," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA-A22075 (1995).
- Hodapp, T.R., J.D. Broesch, J.A. Leuer, R.T. Snider, E.J. Strait, "Magnetic Diagnostics for Future Tokamaks," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 116.
- Hoffmann, E., C.B. Baxi, J. Bialek, E. Chin, K. Redler, and E.E. Reis, "Design of the Inboard Passive Stabilizer for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 151.
- Hollerbach, M.A., J.P. Smith, E. Chin, and H. Shatoff, "Design and Analysis of a Radiative Divertor for Use in DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 205.
- Howald, A.M., J.M. McChesney, and W.P. West, "The TEXT Neutral Lithium Beam Edge Density Diagnostic," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **66** (1), 312 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21711 (1994).
- Hsieh, C., J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. LaHaye, J.R. Luo, T.H. Osborne, D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, R.E. Stockdale, T.S. Taylor, "A Heat Transport Model Based on Experimental Observations for Tokamak Plasmas with Auxiliary Heating," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1790 (1995) (Abstract).
- Humphreys, D.A., J.A. Crotinger, S.W. Haney, A.G. Kellman, R.R. Khayrutdinov, V.E. Lukash, L.D. Pearlstein, and M.L. Walker, "Time-Dependent Simulation of DIII–D Plasma Evolution and Control Scenarios," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1791 (1995) (Abstract).
- Hyatt, A.W., R.L. Lee, P.L. Taylor, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.A. Humphreys, A.G. Kellman, C.J. Lasnier, "Magnetic and Thermal Flow During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1792 (1995) (Abstract).
- Ikezi, H., J.S. deGrassie, D.A. Phelps, "Designs for the Conversion of an ICH Antenna to a Traveling Wave Antenna on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1838 (1995) (Abstract).
- Ikezi, H., R.I. Pinsker, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, "Experimental Studies of Fast Wave Propagation in DIII–D," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22057 (1995).
- Jackson, G.L., F. Weschenfelder, N.H. Brooks, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, and J. Winter, "Erosion in the DIII–D Divertor Measured by Colorimetry," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1834 (1995) (Abstract).
- Jensen, T.H., R.L. Miller, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Pressure Driven Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1787 (1995) (Abstract).
- Jong, R.A., G.D. Porter, R.J. Groebner, C.J. Lasnier, D.M. Thomas, GA Thomson Team, "Evolution of Scrape-Off-Layer Plasmas in VH-mode Plasmas in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1833 (1995) (Abstract).

- Junge, R.N., C. Dahms, and G.W. Silke, "Remotely-Operated Tube Cutters for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 158.
- Kellman, A., for the DIII–D Team, "Recent Results from the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 173.
- Kessler, D.N., R. Hong, and S.P. Riggs, "A New Technique to Measure the Neutralizer Cell Gas Line Density Applied to a DIII–D Neutral Beamline," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 208.
- Kim, J., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, G.M. Staebler, P. Gohil, R.P. Seraydarian, "Evolution of Main Ion Pressure Gradient and Poloidal Rotation Across L–H Transition in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1836 (1995) (Abstract).
- Kim, J.S., J.M. Greene, and M.S. Chance, "Proper Treatment of Tokamak Data by Singular Value Decomposition," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1653 (1995) (Abstract).
- Kim, Y.-B., R.E. Waltz, "General Gyrokinetic Stability in Soloveev Equilibria," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1652 (1995) (Abstract).
- Knighton, K.E., "Distributed Timing System Control for DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 211.
- La Haye, R.J., "Calculation of the Impact of n=1 Error Fields on the Divertor Heat Loading of the Tokamak Physics Experiment," Fusion Technology **29**, 126 (1996); General Atomics Report GA–A21341 (1993).
- La Haye, R.J., L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, and T.S. Taylor, "m/n=2/1 Rotating Mode Limit on Steady High Beta Tokamak Operation," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1788 (1995) (Abstract).
- La Haye, R.J., T.H. Osborne, C.L. Rettig, C.M. Greenfield, A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Core Flow Shear as the Cause of Very High Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **35**, 988 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21544 (1994).
- Lao, L.L., "Rotational and Magnetic Shear Stabilization of MHD Modes and Turbulence in DIII–D High Performance Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1829 (1995) (Invited Abstract).
- Laughon, G.J., "Inertial Confinement Fusion Target Insertion Concepts for the National Ignition Facility," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 69.
- Lazarus, E.A., and A.W. Hyatt, "Plasma Startup in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1791 (1995) (Abstract).

- Lazarus, E.A., A.W. Hyatt, T.H. Osborne, S.E. Attenberger, M.E. Austin, K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, M.S. Chu, J.W. Cuthbertson, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, J.M. Greene, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, W.A. Houlberg, C.-L. Hsieh, G.L. Jackson, J. Kim, S. Konoshima, L.L. Lao, C. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, C.L. Rettig, B.W. Rice, M.J. Schaffer, D.P. Schissel, R.T. Snider, R.D. Stambaugh, R.E. Stockdale, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, R. Wood, and D. Wroblewski, "The Role of Shaping in Achieving High Performance in DIII–D," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 609 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21807 (1994).
- Lee, R.L., C. Lasnier, A.W. Hyatt, A.G. Kellman, and P.L. Taylor, "Thermal Deposition Analysis During Disruptions on DIII–D Using Infrared Scanners," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 213.
- Leonard, A.W., S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, W.M. Meyer, T.W. Petrie, J.G. Watkins, R.D. Wood, DIII–D Team, "Radiation Distributions in Detached Divertor Operation on DIII–D," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, June 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A22068 (1995).
- Leonard, A.W., J. Goetz, C. Fuchs, M. Marashek, F. Mast, R. Reichle, "Bolometry for Divertor Characterization and Control," Proc. The Diagnostics for ITER International Workshop, August 28– September 1, 1995, Varenna, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A22138 (1995).
- Leonard, A.W., C.J. Lasnier, C.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, R.A. Jong, W.H. Myer, T.W. Petrie, and G.D. Porter, "Power Balance in DIII–D During Single-Null ELMing H–Mode Plasmas," J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 325 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21693 (1994).
- Leonard, A.W., C.J. Lasnier, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.C. Klepper, W.H. Meyer, T.W. Petrie, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Power Flow in the Divertor of DIII–D During Radiative Divertor Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Leuer, J.A., and J.L. Luxon, "Impact of PF and TF Coil Misalignment on m=2, n=1 Plasma Error Fields in TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 155.
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., R.L. Miller, "Upper and Lower Bounds of the Effective Trapped Particle Fraction in General Tokamak Equilibria," Phys. Plasmas 2 (5), 1666 (1995); General Atomics Reports GA-A21820 (1994).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., R.L. Miller, T.S. Taylor, V.S. Chan, A.D. Turnbull, "Self-Consistent High- $\ell_i$ , High- $\beta$ Advanced Tokamak Operational Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1788 (1995) (Abstract).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, "Experimental Determination of the Dimensionless Scaling Parameter of Energy Transport in Tokamaks," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22096 (1995).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, "Gyroradius Scaling of Energy Transport and Predictions of Fusion Device Performance," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1791 (1995) (Abstract).

- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, K.H. Burrell, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, J.C.M. deHaas, R.A. James, M. Makowski, "Experimental Constraints on Transport," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 319 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21834 (1994).
- Luxon, J.L., for the DIII–D Team, "Recent Results from the DIII–D Tokamak and Implications for Future Devices," Proc. 18th Symp. on Fusion Technology, August 22–26, 1994, Karlsruhe, Germany 1, 39 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21814 (1995).
- Mahdavi, M.A., S.L. Allen, D.R. Baker, B. Bastasz, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, R.B. Campbell, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.F. Finkenthal, J. Foote, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, F.L. Hinton, J. Hogan, A.W. Howald, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, R. Jong, S. Konoshima, C. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, P.K. Mioduszewski, R.A. Moyer, H. Ogawa, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T.D. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, K.M. Schaubel, D.L. Sevier, J.P. Smith, G.M. Staebler, G.T. Sager, R.D. Stambaugh, D.M. Thomas, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, F. Weschenfelder, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, J. Winter, C.P.C. Wong, and R.D. Wood, "Divertor Heat and Particle Control Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 13 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21706 (1994).
- Mahdavi, M.A., and G.M. Staebler, "Radiative Cooling Scenarios for ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1834 (1995) (Abstract).
- Maingi, R., G.L. Jackson, M.R. Wade, M.A. Mahdavi, P.K. Mioduszewski, G. Haas, M.J. Schaffer, J.T. Hogan, C.C. Klepper, "Control of Wall Particle Inventory with Divertor Particle Exhaust on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1647 (1995) (Abstract).
- Maingi, R., P.K. Mioduszewski, D.N. Hill, M.A. Mahdavi, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, C.C. Klepper, C.J. Lasnier, D.K. Lee, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, R.A. Moyer, L.W. Owen, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, M.R. Wade, and J.G. Watkins, "Effect of Low Density H–Mode Operation on Edge and Divertor Plasma Parameters," J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 320 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21705 (1994).
- Makariou, C.C., R.E. Stockdale, T.N. Carlstrom, C.-L. Hsieh, "Data Acquisition Extensions for DIII–D Thomson Scattering," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 213.
- Mandl, W., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, R.P. Seraydarian, M.R. Wade, J.T. Scoville, "Investigation into Ion Edge Temperature Behaviour Using CER Spectroscopy at DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 35, 3 (1995) 347; General Atomics Report GA–A21685 (1994).
- Mangano, R.A., N.B. Alexander, R.L. Fagaly, and J. Learning, "High Pressure Cryogenic Valve for Tritium Use," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 66.
- Mauel, M.E., B.W. Rice, E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, Y.B. Kim, R.J. La Haye, E.A. Lazarus, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Production and Stability of High-Beta DIII–D Discharges with Reversed Magnetic Shear," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournemouth, United Kingdom,(European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22101 (1995).

- McCheseny, J.M., W.H. Goldstein, K.B. Fournier, J.F. Hansen, S.J. Sanders, "A Laser-Induced Fluorescence Diagnostic for Divertors," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1793 (1995) (Abstract).
- McHarg, Jr., B.B., "Conversion of the Central DIII–D Data Acquisition System to a UNIX Based Platform," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 211.
- McHarg, Jr., B.B., "Conversion of the Central DIII–D Data Acquisition System to a UNIX Based Platform," to be published in Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois; General Atomics Report GA–A22153 (1996).
- Menon, M.M., C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, J.T. Hogan, G.J. Laughon, et al., "Particle Exhaust Characteristics of an In-Vessel Cryopump Used in DIII–D Diverted Plasmas," Fusion Technology 27 (4), 355 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21659 (1994).
- Miller, R.L., "MHD Stability and Current Drive in Low Aspect Ratio Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1788 (1995) (Invited Abstract).
- Miller, R.L., F.L. Waelbroeck, A.B. Hassam, and R.E. Waltz, "Stabilization of Ballooning Modes with Sheared Toroidal Rotation," Phys. Plasmas 2 (10), 3676 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21751 (1994).
- Miller, R.L., F.W. Waelbroeck, L.L. Lao, and T.S. Taylor, "Stabilization of Ballooning Modes with Sheared Toroidal Rotation," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 3, 231 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21793 (1994).
- Miller, R.L., and R.E. Waltz, "On the Nature of Rotational Shear Stabilization in Toroidal Geometry and Its Numerical Representation," Phys. Plasmas 1, 2835 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21438 (1994).
- Murakami, M., E.F.Jaeger, F.W.Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, J.D. Galamobs, G.R. Hanson, D.W. Kim, J.M. Lohr, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, D.C. Stallings, J.B. Wilgen, "Measurements of Fast Wave Direct Electron Heating Profiles and Comparison with RF Modeling on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Nilson, D.G., N.H. Brooks, J.P. Smith, R.T Snider, "Diagnostics for the DIII–D Radiative Divertor," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 174.
- O'Neill, R.C., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, J.L. Doane, R. Gallix, T.R. Hodapp, and C.P. Moeller, "ECH Mirror Interface Tank for 110 GHz, 1 MW Gyrotron," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 208.
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, E.J. Doyle, J.R. Ferron, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, D.N. Hill, G.L. Jackson, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, A.W. Leonard, C.J. Lasnier, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, C.L. Rettig, R.D. Stambaugh, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, A.D. Turnbull, M.R. Wade, W.P. West, "ELMs on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1833 (1995) (Abstract).

- Owen, L.W., R. Maingi, M.A. Mahdvi, J.T. Hogan, T.W. Petrie, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.A. Buchenauer, "Neutral Pressure Dependence on Divertor Plasma Parameters and Geometry on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1834 (1995) (Abstract).
- Parks, P.B., "Energy Transport by Plasma Particles to Vaporizing Divertor Plates During Disruptions," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1792 (1995) (Abstract).
- Parks, P.B., R.K. Fisher, and J.M. McChesney, "Effect of Stochastic Ripple Diffusion on the Detection of Fusion Product Ions by Charge-Exchange Pellet Diagnostics," Nucl. Fusion 35, 1297 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21689 (1994).
- Petrie, T.W., D. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, R.A. Jong, J. Kim, R. Maingi, S.L. Allen, T.E. Evans, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, G.D. Porter, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, R.D. Wood, "Plasma Pressure Balance in the Scrape-off Layer of Radiative Divertor Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1832 (1995) (Abstract).
- Petty, C.C., M.E. Austin, F.W. Baity, R.W. Callis, C.S. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, R.L. Freeman, P. Gohil, R.H. Goulding, R.W. Harvey, "Fast Wave Current Drive in DIII–D," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 2, 211 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21826 (1995).
- Petty, C.C., C.B. Forest, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, H. Ikezi, Y.-R. Lin-Liu, M. Murakami, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, "Measurements of Fast Wave Current Drive During VH–Mode in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, K.H. Burrell, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, R.W. Harvey, R.I. Pinsker, R. Prater, R.E. Waltz, R.A. James, and D. Wroblewski, "Nondimensional Transport Scaling in DIII–D: Bohm Versus Gyro-Bohm Resolved," Proc. 1994 American Physical Society Division of Plasma Physics Meeting, November 7–11, 1994, Minneapolis [Phys. Plasmas 2 (6), 2342 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21904 (1995).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, R.I. Pinsker, K.H. Burrell, S.C. Chiu, P. Gohil, R.A. James, and D. Wroblewski, "Gyroradius Scaling of Electron and Ion Transport," Phys. Rev. Lett. **74**, 1763 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21632 (1994).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.E. Austin, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, R.H. Goulding, R.W. Harvey, D.J. Hoffmann, R.A. James, "Fast Wave and Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **35**, 773 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21690 (1994).
- Phelps, D.A., H. Ikezi, and C.P. Moeller, "A High Power Experimental Traveling Wave Antenna for Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive in DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 208.
- Phelps, D.A., C.P. Moeller, "A High RF Power Density Combline for JFT–2M and Relevance to ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1838 (1995) (Abstract).

- Phelps, D.A., C.P. Moeller, H. Ikezi, S.C. Chiu, "First Demonstration of a Traveling Wave Antenna in a Tokamak and Relevance to the JFT-2M Combline," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17-19, 1995, Palm Springs, California; General Atomics Report GA-A22051 (1995).
- Phelps, R.D., S. Coda, "Engineering and Design of a CO<sub>2</sub> Phase Contrast Interferometer System for DIII–D," General Atomics Report GA–A21839 (1994).
- Phillips, J., D.H. Kellman, R. Hong, J. Kim, G.J. Laughon, "Five Second Helium Neutral Beam Injection Using Argon-Frost Cryopumping Techniques," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 208.
- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, R.H. Goulding, D.J. Hoffmann, H. Ikezi, Y.-R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, J.P. Squire, D.W. Swain, and the DIII–D Group, "Recent Results from Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland 18B (Part III) 1118 (1994)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21759 (1994).
- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, H. Ikezi, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, and the DIII–D Group, "Direct Electron Heating with Directional Fast Wave Launch on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1837 (1995) (Abstract).
- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, H. Ikezi, M. Murakami, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, D.W. Swain, DIII–D Group, "Direct Electron Heating with Directional Fast Wave Launch on DIII–D," Proc. 11th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, May 17–19, 1995, Palm Springs, California; General Atomics Report GA–A22081 (1995).
- Politzer, P.A., "Ion Orbits Near the Plasma Axis and Implications for Reversed Shear Operation," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1787 (1995) (Abstract).
- Politzer, P.A., for the DIII–D Team, "Development of a Tokamak Plasma Optimized for Stability and Confinement," Proc. 6th Int. Toki Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion, November 29– December 2, 1994, Toki, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A21926 (1995).
- Project Staff, "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy, October 1, 1993 through September 30, 1993," General Atomics Report GA–A21935 (1994).
- Redler, K.M., C.B. Baxi, E. Chin, E.H. Hoffmann, E.E. Reis, and K.M. Schaubel, "Use of a Thermal Analogy to Find Electrical Resistances of the Electrical Breaks in the TPX Passive Stabilization Systems," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 151.
- Reis, E.E., C.B. Baxi, E. Chin, and K.M. Redler, "Thermal and Structural Analysis of the TPX Divertor," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 150.
- Rice, B.W., "Demonstration of High Performance Reverse Shear Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **40** (No. 11), 1747 (1995) (Invited Abstract).

- Riggs, S.P., R. Hong, and D.N. Kessler, "Neutral Beam Shinethrough Power and It's Dependence on the Line Density of the DIII–D Plasma," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 209.
- Robinson, J.I., and J.T. Scoville, "Development of a New Error Field Correction Coil (C–Coil) for DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 206.
- Rothweil, D.A., D.A. Phelps, R. Doerner, and A. Nerem, "Interpretation of PISCES–A RF Antenna System Experimental Results with Circuit Simulation," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 168.
- Sager, G.T., T.E. Evans, M.E Fenstermacher, D.G. Whyte, M.A. Mahdavi, G.D. Porter, G.M. Staebler, W.P. West, and A.W. Leonard, "Development and Benchmarking of the MCI Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1835 (1995) (Abstract).
- Sager, G.T., C.P.C. Wong, and ARIES Design Team, "Characteristics of the U.S. Demo-1 Divertor," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 135.
- St. John, H.E., Y.R. Lin-Liu, S.C. Chiu, M.S. Chu, R.L. Miller, P.A. Politzer, A.D. Turnbull, "Optimization of Advanced Tokamak Discharges in TPX," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1787 (1995) (Abstract).
- St. John, H.E., T.S. Taylor, Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Transport Simulation of Negative Magnetic Shear Discharges," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26– October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 3, 603 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21847 (1994).
- Schaffer, M.J., A.V. Chankin, R.D. Monk, "MHD Equilibrium, Pfirsch-Schlüter Currents and Tokamak Divertor Detachement," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1832 (1995) (Abstract).
- Schaffer, M.J., D.G. Whyte, N.H. Brooks, J.W. Cuthbertson, J. Kim, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.D. Wood, "Impurity Reduction During 'Puff and Pump' Experiments on DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion Lett. 35, 1000 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21687 (1995).
- Schaubel, K.M., P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, R.H. Boonstra, B.E. Eklund, R. Pearsons, J.L. Pickering, K.M. Redler, E.E. Reis, D.L. Sevier, "Design of the TPX Outboard Toroidal Limiters," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 151.
- Schaubel, K.M., J.P. Smith, G.J. Laughon, C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, M.J. Schaffer, R.D. Stambaugh, "The DIII–D Divertor Cryopump System Design and Operational Experience," Proc. 18th Symp. on Fusion Technology, August 22–26, 1994, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1, 347 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21787 (1994).
- Schissel, D.P., K.H. Burrell, T.A. Casper, J.C. DeBoo, L.L. Lao, E.A. Lazarus, M.E. Mauel, T.H. Osborne, B.W. Rice, B.W. Stallard, H.E. St. John, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, "A Comparison Between Reversed Magnetic Shear Discharges in DIII–D and Theoretical Transport Models," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1786 (1995) (Abstract).

- Schultz, K.R., "Inertial Fusion Target Development," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 198.
- Scoville, J.T., and R.J. La Haye, "Use of the C-coil on DIII-D to Correct m=2, n=1 Error Fields and Prevent Locked Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1788 (1995) (Abstract).
- Seraydarian, R.P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, P. Gohil, and G. Phelps, "A Fast CCD Detector for Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1836 (1995) (Abstract).
- Silke, G.W., and R.N. Junge, "Remote Welding Equipment for TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 159.
- Smirnov, A.P., R.W. Harvey, "Calculations of the Current Drive in DIII–D with the GENRAY Ray Tracing Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1837 (1995) (Abstract).
- Smith, J.P., S.L. Allen, P.M. Anderson, C.B. Baxi, E. Chin, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, M.A. Hollerbach, A.W. Hyatt, R. Junge, M.A. Mahdavi, "Engineering Design of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," Proc. 18th Symp. on Fusion Technology, August 22–26, 1994, Karlsruhe, Germany, 1, 327 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21788 (1994).
- Smith, J.P., C.B. Baxi, E. Chin, M.E. Hollerbach, R.N. Junge, E.E. Reis, D.L. Sevier, "Engineering Design of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 174.
- Smith, J.P., W.R. Johnson, R.D. Stambaugh, P.W. Trester, D. Smith, and E. Bloom "Vanadium Alloys for the Radiative Divertor Program of DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 209.
- Snider, R.T., R.J. La Haye, A. Turnbull, and D. Wroblewski, "Modification of the Sawtooth Crash Behavior During Large Error Field Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion 34 (4), 483 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21276 (1993).
- Staebler, G.M., "The Critical Point for the Onset of Divertor Energy Flux Asymmetry in Tokamaks," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A22053 (1995).
- Staebler, G.M., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, F.L. Hinton, J. Kim, and C. Wiley, "Towards a Complete Theory of the H-mode," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1835 (1995) (Abstract).
- Stallard, B.W., T.A. Casper, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, W.W. Heidbrink, A.W. Hyatt, R.A. James, R.A. Jong, L.L. Lao, M.A. Makowski, "q Profile Evolution and Enhanced Core Confinement of High β<sub>p</sub> Plasmas in DIII–D," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 2, 251 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21799 (1994).
- Stallard, B.W., Y.K. Kawano, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.A. Casper, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, and T.S. Taylor, "Transport and Current Profile Evolution in Reverse Central Shear Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40 (No. 11), 1787 (1995) (Abstract).

- Stambaugh, R.D., for the DIII–D Team, "DIII–D Program Overview," Proc. 15th International Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 83 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21840 (1994).
- Strait, E.J., L.L. Lao, M.E. Mauel, B.W. Rice, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, E.A. Lazarus, Y. Kawano, T.A. Casper, T.H. Osborne, B.W. Stallard, H.E. St.John, S.J. Thompson, and A.D. Turnbull, "Enhanced Confinement and Stability in DIII–D Discharges with Reversed Magnetic Shear," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1645 (1995) (Abstract).
- Strait, E.J., T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, B. Rice, O. Sauter, S.J. Thompson, and D. Wróblewski, "Wall Stabilization of High Beta Tokamak Discharges in DIII–D," Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (13) 2483 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21797 (1994).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, R. Bastasz, N.H. Brooks, T.E. Evans, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, R.L. Lee, B.W. Rice, D.G. Whyte, "Experimental Disruption Studies in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1647 (1995) (Abstract).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, B.W. Rice, R. Bastasz, N.H. Brooks, T.E. Evans, K.L. Holtrop, D.A. Humphreys, A.W. Hyatt, R.L. Lee, D.G. Whyte, "DIII–D Disruption Experiment Results," Proc. 22nd European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, July 3–7, 1995, Bournmouth, United Kingdom (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22082 (1995).
- Taylor, T.S., H. St. John, A.D. Turnbull, Y.R. Lin-Liu, K.H. Burrell, V. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, R.J. La Haye, E.A. Lazarus, "Optimized Profiles for Improved Confinement and Stability in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 27–July 1, 1994, Montpellier, France [European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland 36 Suppl. (12)B, B229 (1994)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21757 (1995).
- Taylor, T.S., E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, M. Mauel, A.D. Turnbull, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, R.J. Groebner, R.J. La Haye, B.W. Rice, "Wall Stabilization of High & Plasmas in DIII–D," Helium Transport and Exhaust Studies in Enhanced Confinement Regimes in DIII–D," Proc. 36th Annual Meeting of the Division of Plasma Physics, November 7–11, 1994, Minneapolis [Phys. Plasmas 2 (6), 2390 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21914 (1995).
- Taylor, T.S., A.D. Turnbull, L.L. Lao, "Dependence of the Stability Limit on Discharge Shape for Negative Central Shear Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1786 (1995) (Abstract).
- Thomas, D.M., and D.M. Blackford, "Characterization of ELM Effects on DIII–D Edge Plasma Via Lithium Beam Diagnostic," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1833 (1995) (Abstract).
- Trester, P.W., K.M. Schaubel, E.H. Hoffmann, P.M. Anderson, and E.E. Reis, "Copper Alloy Candidates and Design Considerations for the Heat Sink Structure of Plasma Facing Components in TPX," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 159.
- Turnbull, A.D., B.J. Lee, T.S. Taylor, "Optimum Wall Position for the Negative Central Shear Advanced Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1787 (1995) (Abstract).

- Turnbull, A.D., T.S. Taylor, E.J. Strait, S.J. Thompson, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, R.T. Snider, B.W. Rice, D. Wroblewski, "Wall Stabilization of Rotating High ß Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 15th International Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 1, 705 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21819 (1994).
- Valentine, P.G., P.W. Trestor, J. Winter, J. Linke, J.L. Kaae, A. Schuster, H. Bolt, R. Duwe, E. Wallura, and V. Phillips, "B<sub>4</sub>C-SiC Reaction-Sintered Coatings on Graphite for Plasma Facing Components," J. Nucl. Mater. 220-222, 756 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21719 (1994).
- VanderLaan, J.F., and S. Miller, "Handling and Archiving of Magnetic Fusion Data at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 211.
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, W.P. West, N.H. Brooks, K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, C.C. Klepper, G. Laughon, M.M. Menon, P.K. Mioduszewski, and DIII–D Team, "Helium Exhaust Studies in H–Mode Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak Using an Argon-Frosted Divertor Cryopump," Phys. Rev. Letts. **74** (14) 2702 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21652 (1994).
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, M.A. Mahdavi, W.P. West, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, R.-M. Hong, D.H. Kellman, J.C. Phillips, R.P. Seraydarian, and the DIII–D Team, D.F. Finkenthal, "Helium Transport and Exhaust Studies in Enhanced Confinement Regimes in DIII–D," Phys. Plasmas 2 (6) 2357 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21905 (1995).
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, R. Maingi, J.H. Hogan, R. Hong, J.C. Phillips, "Helium Transport and Exhaust Studies in the Presence of a Central Source of Helium in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1646 (1995) (Abstract).
- Wade, M.R., J.T. Hogan, D.L. Hillis, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, et al., "Helium Exhaust Studies in the DIII–D Tokamak," J. Nucl. Mater. 220–222, 178 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21702 (1994).
- Walker, M., J.R. Ferron, B. Penaflor, D.A. Humphreys, J.A. Leuer, A.W. Hyatt, C.B. Forest, J.T. Scoville, B.W. Rice, "Status of DIII–D Plasma Control," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 211.
- Walker, M.L., T.A. Casper, J.R. Ferron, C.B. Forest, D.A. Humphreys, J. Leuer, V. Lukash, P.A. Politzer, "Developing Next Generation Tokamak Control Design Techniques Using Existing Devices," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1791 (1995) (Abstract).
- Waltz, R.E., "Advances in the Simulation of Toroidal Gyro-Landau Fluid Model Turbulence," Phys. Plasmas 2 (6) 2408 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21871 (1994).
- Waltz, R.E., W. Dorland, G. Hammett, M. Kotschenreuther, "Fast Transport Code with Gyrokinetic Quasilinear Models," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1733 (1995) (Abstract).
- Wang, Z., J. Lohr, G.L Bell, C. Hsieh, J. Luo, R.E. Stockdale, J.B. Wilgen, J. Zhang, "Study of Electron Temperature Profile Evolution During L–H Transition with Measurement of Electron Cyclotron Emission on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating, January 22–26, 1995, Borrego Springs, California (World Scientific Publishing Co., Singapore, Japan 1995); General Atomics Report GA–A22038 (1995).
- Watkins, J.G., R.A. Moyer, G. Gunner, D.N. Hill, J. Hunter, R. Lehmer, P. Luong, M. Mascaro, J. Robinson, R.T. Snider, M. Ulrickson, "A New X–Point Probe Diagnostic for the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1835 (1995) (Abstract).
- West, W.P., C.C. Klepper, N.H. Brooks, S. Hirshman, D.G. Whyte, R. Campbell, A. Kallenbach, T. Field, K. Krieger, "Multifluid 1D Modeling of the Low Z Impurity Distributions in ASDEX-Upgrade and DIII–D Scrape-off-layer and Divertor Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1833 (1995) (Abstract).
- Whyte, D., R. Bastasz, P.B. Parks, N.H. Brooks, W.R. Wampler, W.P. West, and C.P.C. Wong, "First Measurements of the Ion Energy Distribution at the Divertor Strike Point During DIII–D Disruptions," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 206.
- Whyte, D.G., P. Monier-Garbet, M.R. Wade, B.W. Rice, D.K. Finkenthal, R.D. Wood, W.P. West, "Steady State Low-Z Impurity Density Profiles of L-, H- and VH-mode Plasmas on DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1647 (1995) (Abstract).
- Wong, C.P.C., C.B. Baxi, C.J. Hamilton, R.W. Schleicher, H. Streckert, "Helium Cooling in Fusion Power Plants," Proc. 15th International Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain [International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, Vol. 2, 757 (1995)]; General Atomics Report GA–A21804 (1994).
- Wong, C.P.C., B.W. McQuillan, R.W. Schleicher, E.T. Cheng, and the Demo Team, "Evaluation of U.S. Demo-1 Helium-Cooled Blanket Options," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30–October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 145.
- Wong, C.P.C., D.G. Shyte, W.P. West, R. Bastasz, W.R. Wampler, J.N. Brooks, P.B. Parks, "Material Erosion Measurements and Disruption Studies on DIII–D Using DiMES," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1792 (1995) (Abstract).
- Wood, R.D., S.L. Allen, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, M.R. Wade, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, "Neon Impurity Profiles During Radiative Divertor Experiments," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 40, 1832 (1995) (Abstract).
- Wright, A.L., J. Tooker, J.C. Allen, W.P. Cary, and T.E. Harris, "ECH Control System for New 1 MW 110 GHz Gyrotrons at DIII–D," Proc. 16th IEEE/NPS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, September 30– October 5, 1995, Champagne, Illinois (Abstract) (1995) p. 212.

## 7.5. FY94

- Alikaev, V.V., A.A. Bagdasarov, A.A. Borshegovskij, V.V. Chistyakov, M.M. Dremin, Yu.A. Gorelov, A.V. Gorshkov, Yu.V. Esipchuk, D.B. Evdokimov, A.Ya. Kislov, D.A. Kislov, V.A. Krupin, L.K. Kuznetsova, S.E. Lysenko, G.E. Notkin, Yu.D. Pavlov, V.I. Poznyak, K.A. Razumova, I.N. Roj, P.V. Savrukhin, V.V. Sannikov, A.V. Sushkov, V.M. Trukhin, N.L. Vasin, V.A. Vershkov, G.G. Denisov, V.I. Belousov, V.A. Flyagin, C.B. Forest, J.M. Lohr, T.C. Luce, R.W. Harvey, and B. Grek, "Second Harmonic Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments on T–10," Nucl. Fusion 35, 369 (1995).
- Alikaev, V.V., A.A. Bagdasarov, A.A. Borshegovskij, M.M. Dremin, Yu.V. Esipchuk, D.B. Evdokimov, Yu.A. Gorelov, A.Ya. Kislov, D.A. Kislov, N.A. Kirneva, S.E. Lysenko, A.A. Martynov, D.A. Martynov, G.Yu. Martynov, G.E. Notkin, Yu.D. Pavlov, K.A. Razumova, I.N. Roj, A.V. Sushkov, V.M. Trukhin, N.L. Vasin, V.V. Volkov, and T–10 Team, C.B. Forest, J.M. Lohr, and J. Squire, "Recent Results of ECRH and ECCD on T–10 Tokamak," Proc. 15th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 26–October 1, 1994, Seville, Spain (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, to be x
- Allen, S.L., M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, T.S. Taylor, W.P. West, and R.D. Wood, "DIII–D Radiative Divertor Experiments and Design of a New DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1580 (1994).
- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, R.A. James, T.C. Luce, and R.W. Harvey, "Comparison of High Temperature DIII-D ECE Spectra with Calculations of the Relativistic Dispersion Relation," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1561 (1994).
- Baker, D.R., K.H. Burrell, G.L. Jackson, R. Maingi, G.M. Staebler, and C.B. Forest, "Time Dependent Particle Transport Studies During the Density Increase in H-mode and VH-mode DIII-D Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1653 (1994).
- Baylor, L., T.C. Jernigan, S.K. Combs, C.R. Foust, W.A. Houlberg, S.L. Milora, M.R. Wade, J.C. Phillips, and D.P. Schissel, "Initial Results from Deuterium Pellet Injection Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1654 (1994).
- Bell, G.L., J.M. Lohr, J.B. Wilgen, C.B. Forest, and M.E. Austin, "Initial ECE Radiometer Electron Temperature Measurements on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1561 (1994).
- Brooks, N.H., R. Bastasz, J. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, O. Buzhinskij, J.W. Cuthbertson, T. Hua, R. Junge, C.J. Lasnier, I. Opimach, W. Wampler, and C.P.C. Wong, "Experiments With the Divertor Material Exposure System on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1581 (1994).
- Buchenauer, D.A., J.W. Cuthbertson, J.A. Whaley, J.G. Watkins, and D.N. Hill, "Divertor Langmuir Probe Measurements at High Power in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1652 (1994).
- Burrell, K.H., E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, R.A. Moyer, T.H. Osborne, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, and D.M. Thomas, "Role of the Radial Electric Field in the Transition from L (low) Mode to H (high) Mode to VH (very high) Mode in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1536 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21516 (1994).

- Burrell, K.H., T.N. Carlstrom, S. Coda, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, R.A. Moyer, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, D.M. Thomas, and J.G. Watkins., "H-mode Physics Results From DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1580 (1994).
- Burrell, K.H., "Summary of Experimental Progress and Suggestions for Future Work," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **36**, A291 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21587 (1994).
- Callis, R.W., F.W. Baity, W.P. Cary, J.S. deGrassie, S.W. Ferguson, D.J. Hoffman, R.C. O'Neill, C.C. Petty, R.D. Phelps, R.I. Pinsker, D.B. Remsen, and D.J. Taylor, "4 MW Fast Wave Current Drive Upgrade for DIII–D," Proc. 18th Symp. on Fusion Technology, August 22–26, 1994, Karlsruhe, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21789 (1994).
- Campbell, G.L., K.M. Schaubel, and J.J. Harris, "DIII–D Cryogenics Control System Status," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 550 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21414 (1993).
- Cary, W.P., J.C. Allen, R.I. Pinsker, and C.C. Petty, "ICRF System Data Acquisition and Real Time Control Using a Micro Computer System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 547 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21429 (1993).
- Casper, T.A., B.W. Stallard, J. Crotinger, S. Haney, H. St. John, and P.A. Politzer, "Time Dependent Modeling of High β<sub>p</sub> Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1648 (1994).
- Carlstrom, T.N., P. Gohil, J.G. Watkins, K.H. Burrell, S. Coda, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, R.A. Moyer, and C.L. Rettig, "Experimental Survey of the L-H Transition Conditions in the DIII-D Tokamak," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 36, A147 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21541 (1994).
- Carolipio, E.M., and W.W. Heidbrink, "The Effect of Helical Fields on Fusion-Product Confinement," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1648 (1994).
- Chan, V.S., "Experimental and Theoretical Basis for Advanced Tokamaks," General Atomics Report GA-A21813 (1994).
- Chiu, S.C., R.W. Harvey, T.K. Mau, J.S. deGrassie, R.I. Pinsker, C.C. Petty, and C.S. Chang, "Fast Wave Absorption and Current Drive by Energetic Ions in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1625 (1994).
- Chu, M.S., J.M. Greene, T.H. Jensen, R.L. Miller, A. Bondeson, R.W. Johnson, and M.E. Mauel, "Effect of Toroidal Plasma Flow and Flow Shear on Global MHD Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1721 (1994).
- Chu, M., J.M. Greene, W. Ling, A.D. Turnbull, H.L. Berk, and M.N. Rosenbluth, "A Numerical Study of the Alfvén Continuum Damping of Toroidal Alfvén Eigenmodes," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1214 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21291 (1993).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, and K.H. Burrell, "A Study of Edge Density Fluctuations by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1647 (1994).

- Coda, S., and M. Porkolab, "Edge Fluctuation Measurements by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **66**, 454 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21695 (1994).
- DeBoo, J.C., "DIII-D Experiment Plan for 1994," General Atomics Report GA-C21581 (1994).
- DeBoo, J.C., C.M. Greenfield, T.H. Osborne, F. Perkins, M.N. Rosenbluth, T.S. Taylor and J. Wesley, "Effect of Elongation on Plasma Performance – An Experiment for ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1582 (1994).
- deGrassie, J.S., R.I. Pinsker, W.P. Cary, R.W. Callis, R. O'Neill, C.C. Petty, D.B. Remsen, "4 MW Upgrade to the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1073 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21418 (1993).
- Dominguez, R.R., R.E. Waltz, A. Brizard, M. Kotschenreuther, and R.J. La Haye, "Improved Confinement in DIII–D Due to Rotational Flow: A Comparison Between Theory and Experiment," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1657 (1994).
- Doyle, E.J., T.L. Rhodes, J.L. Doane, K.W. Kim, and W.A. Peebles, "Development of New Reflectometer Systems for the Core and Divertor of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1560 (1994).
- Duong, H.H., R.K. Fisher, D.K. Mansfield, J.M. McChesney, S.S. Medley, P.B. Parks, M.P. Petrov, A.L. Roquemore, "Measurements of the Fast Confined Alphas in TFTR Using Pellet Charge Exchange," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1560 (1994).
- Evans, T.E., C.J. Lasnier, D.N. Hill, A.W. Leonard, and T.W. Petrie, "Comparison of Non-Axisymmetric Effects in DIII–D Double and Single Null Configurations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1651 (1994).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, S.L. Allen, D.N. Hill, C.J. Lasnier, R. Maingi, W.H. Meyer, R.D. Wood, and D.B. Hayden, "Applications of DEGAS Neutral Transport Calculations to DIII–D Data and Radiative Divertor Design," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1581 (1994).
- Fenstermacher, M.E., and M. Porkolab, "Lower Hybrid Current Drive for Edge Current Density Modification in DIII–D: Final Status Report," Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory Report UCRL-ID-117110 (1994).
- Ferron, J.R., L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, S.J. Thompson, and A.D. Turnbull, "The Dependence of the Beta Limit on the Current Density Profile in an Advanced Tokamak Discharge Shape," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1645 (1994).
- Fisher, R.K., C.W. Barnes, A. Gondhalekar, P.B. Parks, J.M. McChesney, A.L. Roquemore, and M.N. Rosenbluth, "Alpha Particle Diagnostics Using Knock-on Ion Tails," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1544 (1994).
- Fisher, R.K., "Results of Confined Alpha Particle Measurements in TFTR," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1544 (1994).
- Fisher, R.K., P.B. Parks, J.M. McChesney, and M.N. Rosenbluth, "Fast Alpha Particle Diagnostics Using Knock-on Ion Tails," Nucl. Fusion **34**, 1291 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21712 (1994).

- Fisher, R.K., P.B. Parks, J.M. McChesney, and M.N. Rosenbluth, "A New Alpha Particle Diagnostic Using Knock-On Ion Tails," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on High-Temperature Plasma Diagnostics, May 8–12, 1994, Rochester, New York; General Atomics Report GA–A21715 (1994).
- Forest, C.B., K. Kupfer, T.C. Luce, P.A. Politzer, L.L. Lao, and D. Wroblewski, "A Method for Measuring the Inductive Electric Field Profile and Non-Inductive Current Profiles on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1649 (1994).
- Forest, C.B., K. Kupfer, T.C. Luce, P.A. Politzer, L.L. Lao, M.R. Wade, D.G. Whyte, and D. Wroblewski, "Determination of the Non-Inductive Current Profile in Tokamak Plasmas," Phys. Rev. Lett. 73, 2444 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21680 (1994).
- Freeman, R.L., and T.V. George, "Fusion Applications of High Power Millimeter Wave Sources," Proc. SPIE Int. Conf. on Millimeter and Submillimeter Waves and Applications, January 10–11, 1994, San Diego, California; General Atomics Report GA–A21517 (1994).
- Ghendrih, P.H., "Bifurcation to Marfing Divertor Plasma Governed by Charge Exchange," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1929 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21488 (1993).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, A.B. Hassam, and T.H. Osborne, "Investigations into Driving Perpendicular Flow with Off-Axis NBI in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1646 (1994).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, and R.J. Groebner, "The Phenomenology of the L–H Transition in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **34**, 1057 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21265 (1993).
- Gootgeld, A.M., "Impact of Environmental Regulations on Control of Copper Ion Concentration in the DIII–D Cooling Water System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 958 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21440 (1993).
- Greenfield, C.M., J.C. DeBoo, T.H. Osborne, D. Boucher, F.W. Perkins, M.N. Rosenbluth, and J. Wesley, "The Effect of Elongation on Plasma Performance in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1644 (1994).
- Greenfield, C.M., B. Balet, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, J.G. Cordey, J.C. DeBoo, N. Deliyanakis, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, S. Konoshima, D.P. O'Brien, L. Porte, C.L. Rettig, T.H. Osborne, H. St John, A.C.C. Sipe, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, P.M. Stubberfield, T.S. Taylor, S.J. Thompson, K. Thomsen, A.D. Turnbull, and the JET and DIII–D Teams, "Investigations of VH–mode in DIII–D and JET," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 35, B263 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21368 (1993).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, H.E. St. John, and A. Zwicker, "Improved Model for Obtaining Ion Temperature From the C VI 5290 A Line," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1561 (1994).
- Groebner, R.J., S.L. Allen, D.R. Baker, N.H. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, M.S. Chu, S. Coda, J.W. Cuthbertson, and E.J. Doyle, "Overview of H-mode Studies in DIII-D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **36**, A13 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21520 (1994).

- Harris, J.J., and G.L. Campbell, "DIII–D Neutral Beam Control System Operator Interface," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 554 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21423 (1993).
- Harris, T.E., and G.L. Campbell, "Operational Upgrades to the DIII–D 60 GHz Electron Cyclotron Resonant Heating System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1096 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21439 (1993).
- Harvey, R.W., W.M. Nevins, G.R. Smith, and C.B. Forest, "Temperature Dependence of Electron Cyclotron Heating and Current Drive: Present Experiments to ITER," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1629 (1994).
- Heidbrink, W.W., and J.R. Danielson, "The Nonlinear Saturation of Beam-Driven Instabilities: Irregular Bursting in the DIII–D Tokamak," Brief Communications in Phys. Plasmas 1, 4120 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21168 (1994).
- Heidbrink, W.W., E.M. Carolipio, R.A. James, E.J. Strait, and K.-L. Wong, "BAE Modes in DIII–D and TFTR," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1648 (1994).
- Henline, P.A., "Use of Open Systems for Control, Analysis, and Data Acquisition of the DIII–D Tokamak," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 127 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21403 (1993).
- Hogan, J., M.R. Wade, D.L. Hillis, R. Maingi, and C.C. Klepper, "Modeling of Helium Transport in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1760 (1994).
- Holland, L., and A. Barsell, "Environmental Assessment for the Operation of DIII–D Facilities and Related Research," General Atomics Report GA-C21729 (1994).
- Hollerbach, M.A., R.L. Lee, J.P. Smith, and P.L. Taylor, "Upgrade of the DIII–D Vacuum Vessel Protection System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1185 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21417 (1993).
- Holtrop, K.L., "Operation of DIII–D with All-Graphite Walls," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A **12**, 1269 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21487 (1993).
- Hong, R., "Efficiency of Arc Discharge and Beam Extraction of the DIII–D Neutral Beam Ion Source," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 447 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21391 (1993).
- Hsieh, C.-L., J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, L.L. Lao, D.P. Schissel, H.E. St. John, R.E. Stockdale, and T.S. Taylor, "A Model for Heat Transport in the Interior of L- and H-mode Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1645 (1994)

- Humphreys, D.A., A.G. Kellman, R.R. Khayrutdinov, and V.E. Lukash, "Axisymmetric Simulation of Major Disruptions in ITER and DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1650 (1994).
- Hyatt, A.W., E.A. Lazarus, T.H. Osborne, and the DIII–D Team, "Steady-State Performance Versus Shape in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1644 (1994).
- Ikezi, H., R.I. Pinsker, S.C. Chiu, and J.S. deGrassie, "Measurement of the Toroidal Wavenumber of Fast Waves With Current Drive Phasing," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1581 (1994).
- Jackson, G.L., T.S. Taylor, C.M. Greenfield, D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, R. Maingi, T.H. Osborne, T.W. Petrie, and R. Wood, "H- and VH-mode Inside Wall Limited Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1581 (1994).
- Jackson, G.L., D.R. Baker, K.L. Holtrop, S. Konoshima, R. Maingi, G.M. Staebler, W.P. West, "Effects of Particle Fueling and Plasma Wall Interactions on DIII–D Discharges," Proc. 11th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 23–27, 1994, Ibaraki-Ken, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A21716 (1994).
- James, R.A., E.M. Carolipio, T.A. Casper, M.S. Chu, C.M. Greenfield, W.W. Heidbrink, P.A. Politzer, B.W. Rice, H.E. St. John, B.W. Stallard, E.J. Strait, and A.D. Turnbull, "Current Profile Effects on Fast Ion Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1647 (1994).
- Jensen, T.H., A.W. Hyatt, and R.J. La Haye, "Comparison of Experimental and Model Results for Magnetic Braking in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1646 (1994).
- Jensen, T.H., "Fusion A Potential Power Source," J. Chem. Ed. **71**, 820 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21655 (1994).
- Jong, R.A., and T.A. Casper, "Production of Broad Scrape-Off Layer Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1651 (1994).
- Kellman, D.H., J. Busath, and R. Hong, "Measurement of Electron Temperature and Density in the DIII–D Neutral Beam Ion Source Arc Chamber," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 443 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21398 (1993).
- Kessler, D.N., R. Hong, D.H. Kellman, and J.C. Phillips, "Investigation of Collisional Effects Within the Bending Magnet Region of a DIII–D Neutral Beamline," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 427 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21428 (1993).
- Kim, J., R.D. Stambaugh, K.H. Burrell, G.T. Sager, and R.J. Groebner, "Radial Electric Field Modification by Means of Lossy Counter NBI in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1646 (1994).
- Kim, J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, F.L. Hinton, Y.-B. Kim, W. Mandl, R. Seraydarian, and M.R. Wade, "Fuel Ion Rotation Measurement and Its Implications on H–mode Theories," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 36, A183 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21507 (1993).

- Kim, J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, Y.B. Kim, H.E. St. John, R.P. Seraydarian, and M.R. Wade, "Rotation Characteristics of Main Ions and Impurity Ions in H–mode Tokamak Plasma," Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 2199 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21332 (1993).
- Kim, K.W., E.J. Doyle, G.R. Hanson, W.R. Peebles, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., T.L. Rhodes, C.L Rettig, and J.B. Wilgen, "Reflectometric Density Profile Measurements on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1560 (1994).
- Kingsbury, O.T., and R.E. Waltz., "Numerical Simulation of Drift Waves and Trapped Ion Modes," Phys. Plasmas 1, 2319 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21564 (1994).
- Klepper, C.C., N.H. Brooks, S. Tugarinov, A.W. Leonard, and W.P. West, "Measurements of the C III Emission Distribution and Ion Temperature in Radiative Divertor Experiments," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1652 (1994).
- Kupfer, K., C.B. Forest, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, "The Ergodic Limit of Multipass Absorption for Fast Wave Current Drive in Tokamaks," Phys. Plasmas 1, 3915 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21642 (1994).
- La Haye, R.J., L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, and C.L. Rettig, "Core Flow Shear as the Cause of the Very High Confinement Regimes of the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1646 (1994).
- La Haye, R.J., C.L. Rettig, R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Role of Core Toroidal Rotation on the H-mode Radial Electric Field Shear, Turbulence, and Confinement as Studied by Magnetic Braking in the DIII-D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1536 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21229 (1993).
- Lao, L.L., R.L. Miller, T.H. Osborne, T.S. Taylor, and S.J. Thompson, "Effects of Bulk Rotation on Plasma Equilibria and Stability in High Performance DIII–D Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1580 (1994).
- Lasnier, C.J., D.N. Hill, S.L. Allen, R.A. Jong, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, and J.G. Watkins, "Heat Flux Profiles in DIII–D Double-Null Radiative Divertors," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1650 (1994).
- Lazarus, E.A., A.W. Hyatt, T.H. Osborne, A.D. Turnbull, M.S. Chu, and The DIII–D Team, "The Effect of Plasma Shape on Interchange Stability in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1582 (1994).
- Lee, J.H., E.J. Doyle, S.C. Chiu, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., T.K. Mau, W.A. Peebles, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, C.L. Rettig, and T.L. Rhodes, "Internal Measurements of RF Driven Waves Using Reflectometry on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1649 (1994).
- Lee, R.L., M.A. Hollerbach, K.L. Holtrop, A.G. Kellman, P.L. Taylor, and W.P. West, "Surface Impurity Removal from DIII–D Graphite Tiles by Boron Carbide Grit Blasting," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1181 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21426 (1993).
- Leonard, A.W., N.H. Brooks, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, J.S. Kim, C.C. Klepper, C.J. Lasnier, W.H. Myer, and T.W. Petrie, "Characterization of Radiation Distribution During Radiative Divertor Experiments," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1650 (1994).

- Luce, T.C., T.S. Taylor, Y.R. Lin-Liu, and H.E. St. John, "Advanced Tokamak Scenarios for the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1580 (1994).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, "Two-Fluid Analysis of Dimensionally Similar Discharges," Proc. Workshop on Correlation Between Experiment and Theory in Magnetic Confinement Systems, June 13–16, 1994, Goteborg, Sweden; General Atomics Report GA–A21733 (1994).
- Luce, T.C., C.B. Forest, M.A. Mahdavi, W.H. Meyer, C.C. Petty, J.C.M. deHaas, and C. Janicki, "Evidence From Modulated ECH for Convective-Like Transport," Proc. Workshop on Local Transport Studies in Fusion Plasmas, August 30–September 3, 1993, Varenna, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21413 (1994).
- Mahdavi, M.A., J.R. Ferron, A.W. Hyatt, R.J. La Haye, G.L. Laughon, M. Leh, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, P.K. Mioduszewski, K.M. Schaubel, M.J. Schaffer, D.P. Schissel, J.T. Scoville, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, and M.R. Wade, "Application of Divertor Cryopumping to H–Mode Density Control in DIII–D," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 597 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21501 (1993).
- Maingi, R., P.K. Mioduszewski, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, J.W. Cuthbertson, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, C.C. Klepper, M.A. Mahdavi, R.A. Moyer, L.W. Owen, M.J. Schaffer, M.R. Wade, and J.G. Watkins, "Density Dependence of Divertor Plasma Parameters on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1581 (1994).
- Makariou, C.C., R.E. Stockdale, T.N. Carlstrom, C.-L. Hsieh, and G. Bramson, "New Thomson Scattering Laser Control for DIII–D," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 105 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21427 (1993).
- McChesney, J.M., and W.H. Goldstein, "A Laser-Induced Fluorescence Diagnostic for Divertors," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1562 (1994).
- McChesney, J.M., S.I. Lippmann, W.H. Goldstein, and K.B. Fournier, "A Laser-Induced Fluorescence Diagnostic for Divertors," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 66, 600 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21670 (1994).
- McChesney, J.M., H.H. Duong, R.K. Fisher, A.V. Khudoleev, D.K. Mansfield, S.S. Medley, P.B. Parks, M.P. Etrov, and A.L. Roquemore, "Results Obtained Using the Pellet Alpha Diagnostic on TFTR," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 66, 348 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21709 (1994).
- McHarg, Jr., B.B., "Access to DIII–D Data Located in Multiple Files and Multiple Locations," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 123 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21404 (1993).

- Menon, M.M., C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, K.L. Holtrop, A.W. Hyatt, G.J. Laughon, R. Maingi, C.C. Makariou, M.A. Mahdavi, E.E. Reis, M.J. Schaffer, K.M. Schaubel, J.T. Scoville, J.P. Smith, R.D. Stambaugh, and M.R. Wade, "Performance Characteristics of the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Cryopump," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1047 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21412 (1993).
- Mett, R.R., E.J. Strait, and S.M. Mahajan "Damping of Toroidal Alfven Modes in DIII–D." Phys. Plasmas 1, 3277 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21343 (1993).
- Miller, R.L., L.L. Lao, and T.S. Taylor, "Ballooning Stability of High Confinement Discharges in DIII–D Including Measured Rotation Profile," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1547 (1994).
- Mioduszewski, P.K., R. Maingi, G.L. Jackson, M.A. Mahdavi, M.R. Wade, J.T. Hogan, L.W. Owen, and D.L. Hillis, "Cryopump Operation and Wall Conditions on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1651 (1994).
- Moeller, C.P., J.L. Doane, and M. DiMartino, "A Vacuum Window for a 1 MW CW 110 GHz Gyrotron," Proc. 19th Int. Conf. on Infrared and Millimeter Waves, October 17–21, 1994, Sendai, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A21741 (1994).
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, C.L. Rettig, G.M. Staebler, T.S. Taylor, and the DIII–D Team, "Momentum Transfer Events and the Transition to VH–mode," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1647 (1994).
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, Y.-B. Kim, S. Konoshima, R.J. La Haye, L.L. Lao, S.I. Lippmann, C.L. Rettig, R.D. Stambaugh, G.M. Staebler, H. St. John, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, S.J. Thompson, A.D. Turnbull, J. Winter, and D. Wroblewski, "Confinement and Stability of VH-mode Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **35**, 23 (1995); General Atomics Report GA-A21182 (1992).
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, J.R. Ferron, P. Gohil, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, and A.W. Hyatt, "Recent VH–mode Results on DIII–D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **36**, A237 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21554 (1994).
- Owen, L.W., R. Maingi, P.K. Mioduszewski, D.K. Lee, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, M.R. Wade, D.R. Baker, and G.L. Jackson, "Modeling of Global Particle Confinement in ELM-Free H-mode Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1653 (1994).
- Parks, P.B., and S.I. Lippmann, "Effect of Magnetic Field on the Distribution of Ions Striking a Planar Target," Phys. Plasmas 1, 3883 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21506 (1994).
- Parks, P.B., and R.L. Fagaly, "Uniform Hydrogen Fuel Layers for Inertial Fusion Targets by Microgravity," Proc. 2nd Microgravity and Fluids Dynamics Conf., June 21–22, 1994, Cleveland, Ohio, Vol. 1, p. 39 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21777 (1994).
- Parks, P.B., "Pellet Cloud Oscillations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1758 (1994).
- Parks, P.B., and R.L. Fagaly, "Layering of Inertial Confinement Fusion Targets in Microgravity Environments," J. Appl. Phys. 77, 1048; General Atomics Report GA–A21228 (1993).

- Petrach, P.M., A.R. Rouleau, R.D. McNulty, D. Patrick, and J. Walin, "Upgrade of DIII–D Toroidal Magnetic Field Power Supply Controls," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11– 15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 893 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21445 (1993).
- Petrie, T.W., S.A. Allen, D.N. Hill, N.H. Brooks, D.A. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, R.A. James, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi. M.J. Schaffer, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, D.G. Whyte, and R.D. Wood, "Improved Low Heat Flux Operation in DIII–D Via Deuterium-Impurity Hybrid Injection," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1651 (1994).
- Petty, C.C., "Nondimensional Transport Scaling in DIII–D: Bohm Versus Gyro-Bohm Resolved," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1577 (1994).
- Petty, C.C., and T.C. Luce, "Inward Transport of Energy During Off-Axis Heating on the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **34**, 121 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21234 (1993).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, and R.I. Pinsker, "Dimensionally Similar Discharges with Central RF Heating on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, Boston, Massachusetts, 1993 (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 165; General Atomics Report GA–A21257 (1993).
- Phelps, D.A., H. Ikezi, C.P. Moeller, and R.I. Pinsker, "Low Power Coupling of an Externally-Tuned Traveling Wave Antenna to Plasma in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1649 (1994).
- Phelps, R.D., "DIII–D In-Vessel Port Cover and Shutter Assembly for the Phase Contrast Interferometer," General Atomics Report GA–A21532 (1994).
- Phelps, R.D., and S. Coda, "Engineering and Design of a CO<sub>2</sub> Phase Contrast Interferometer System for DIII–D," General Atomics Report GA–A21839 (1994).
- Phillips, J.C., "Implementation of a Quasi-Realtime Display of DIII–D Neutral Beam Heating Waveforms," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 558 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21446 (1993).
- Pigarov, A.Yu., V.A. Pozharov, and T.W. Petrie, "Multi-Fluid Simulation of DIII–D Edge Plasma," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1652 (1994).
- Pinsker, R.I., "Review of Tokamak Experiments on Direct Electron Heating and Current Drive with Fast Waves," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power on Plasmas, 1993, Boston, Massachusetts (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 179; General Atomics Report GA–A21286 (1993).
- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, G.L. Bell, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, H. Ikezi, J. Lohr, T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, R. Prater, J.P. Squire, D.W. Swain, and the DIII–D Group, "Recent Physics Results with the Fast Wave Current Drive Systems on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1581 (1994).

- Pinsker, R.I., F.W. Baity, W.P. Cary, R.H. Goulding, and C.C. Petty, "Experimental Test of a Two-Port Decoupler in the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive System," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1077 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21498 (1993).
- Polevoi, A., and M.V. Osipenko, "Plasma Transport in the H-mode Regimes With Rising Density," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1652 (1994).
- Politzer, P.A., T. Casper, C.B. Forest, P. Gohil, W.W. Heidbrink, A.W. Hyatt, R.A. James, R. Jong, L.L. Lao, M. Makowski, and W. Meyer, "Evolution of High β<sub>p</sub> Plasmas with Improved Stability and Confinement," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1545 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21519 (1994).
- Politzer, P.A., T. Casper, P. Gohil, A.W. Hyatt, R.A. James, and B.W. Stallard, "Bootstrap and Neutral-Beam-Driven Currents in High  $\beta_p$  Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1648 (1994).
- Popova, A.M., E.J. Strait, and A.D. Turnbull, "MHD Stability Analysis of High Beta DIII–D Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1645 (1994).
- Porter, G.D., and the DIII–D Team, "Analysis of DIII–D SOL Experiments Using the Fluid Code UEDGE," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1653 (1994).
- Prater, R., "Noninductive Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D, and Future Plans," to be published in Fusion Engineering and Design; General Atomics Report GA–A21525 (1993).
- Prater, R., R.A. James, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, R.H. Goulding, R.W. Harvey, D.J. Hoffmann, H. Ikezi, H. Kawashima, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, and V. Trukhin, "Current Drive With Fast Waves, Electron Cyclotron Waves, and Neutral Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **35**, A53 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21003 (1992).
- Project Staff, "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy October 1, 1993 through September 30, 1994," General Atomics Report GA–A21935 (1994).
- Project Staff, "Fusion Technology Development Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy, October 1, 1992 through September 30, 1993," General Atomics Report GA–A21657 (1994).
- Reis, E.E., E. Chin, A.W. Hyatt, and K. Redler, "Structural Analysis of the TPX Plasma Facing Components," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1197 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21407 (1993).
- Remsen, D.B., D.A. Phelps, J.S. deGrassie, W.P. Cary, and R.I. Pinsker, "Feedback Controlled Hybrid Fast Ferrite Tuners," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1087 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21381 (1993).
- Rensink, M.E., M.E. Fenstermacher, G.D. Porter, T.D. Rognlien, and G.R. Smith, "Simulation of Some Radiative Divertor Options for DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1642 (1994).

- Rettig, C.L., W.A. Peebles, E.J. Doyle, T.L. Rhodes, K.H. Burrell, R.J. La Haye, R.J. Groebner, and T.S. Taylor, "Investigations of Microturbulence With Modified Radial Electric Fields in the DIII–D Toka-mak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1647 (1994).
- Rice, B.W., J.R. Ferron, and T.S. Taylor, "Real-Time Measurement of q Profiles in Strongly Shaped Discharges Using 16-Channel MSE Data," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1562 (1994).
- Riggs, S.P., and R. Hong, "Beam Species Mix as a Function of DIII–D Neutral Beam Ion Source Operation Parameters," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 436 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21437 (1993).
- Sager, G.T., T.E. Evans, and W.P. West, "Modeling of Impurity Transport in the DIII–D Radiative Divertor With the MCI Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1652 (1994).
- Sager, G.T., D.-K. Sze, C.P.C. Wong, C.G. Bathke, J.P. Blanchard, C. Brimer, E.T. Cheng, L.A. El-Guebaly, M.Z. Hasan, F. Najmabadi, S. Sharafat, I.N. Sviatoslavski, and L. Waganer, "Using the Shield for Thermal Energy Storage in PULSAR," accepted for publication in Fusion Engineering and Design; General Atomics Report GA–A21671 (1994).
- Schaffer, M.J., D.A. Buchenauer, A.W. Hyatt, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, and R.D. Wood, "Simultaneous Divertor Bias and Pump Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1651 (1994).
- Schaubel, K.M., G.J. Laughon, G.L. Campbell, A.R. Langhorn, N.C. Stevens, and M.L. Tupper, "The DIII–D Cryogenic System Upgrade," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11– 15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 337 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21444 (1993).
- Schaubel, K.M., J.P. Smith, G.J. Laughon, C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, M.J. Schaffer, and R.D. Stambaugh, "The DIII–D Divertor Cryopump System: Design and Operational Experience," Proc. 18th Symp. on Fusion Technology, August 22–26, 1994, Karlsruhe, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21787 (1994).
- Schissel, D.P., M.A. Mahdavi, J.C. DeBoo, and M. Lee, "Decoupling the Effect of Plasma Current and Plasma Density on H-mode Energy Confinement," Nucl. Fusion 34, 1401 (1994); General Atomics Report GA-A21621 (1994).
- Schissel, D.P., R. Maingi, and the DIII–D Team, "The Dependence of Thermal Diffusivity on Density and Temperature," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1645 (1994).
- Scoville, J.T., and R.J. La Haye, "First Results from the New Error Field Correction Coil on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1650 (1994).
- Scoville, J.T., and R.J. La Haye, "Plasma Response in DIII–D to an Externally-Applied Low m, n=1 Error Field," General Atomics Report GA–A20968 (1994).

- Scoville, B.G., M. Madruga, R.-M. Hong, and J.C. Phillips, "New Conditioning Procedure Derived from Operating Experience with the Common Long-Pulse Ion Source," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 440 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21422 (1993).
- Simonen. T.C., G.L. Jackson, E.A. Lazarus, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, P.A. Politzer, and T.S. Taylor, "Recent DIII-D High Power Heating and Current Drive Experiments," Proc. 5th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion, November 16–19, 1993, Tokai, Japan; General Atomics Report GA-A21603 (1994).
- Smith, J.P., K.M. Schaubel, C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, A.W. Hyatt, A.R. Langhorn, M.A. Mahdavi, E.E. Reis, M.J. Schaffer, D.L. Sevier, and R.D. Stambaugh, "Installation and Initial Operation of the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Cryocondensation Pump," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1043 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21396 (1993).
- Snider, R.T., "Active Silicon X-ray Filter for Measuring Electron Temperature," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **66**, 546 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21276 (1993).
- Staebler, G.M., F.L. Hinton, J.C. Wiley, R.R. Dominguez, C.M. Greenfield, P. Gohil, T.K. Kurki-Suonio, and T.H. Osborne, "High and Very High Modes From Energy, Particle and Momentum Transport Models," Phys. Plasmas 1, 909 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21278 (1994).
- Staebler, G.M., F.L. Hinton, J.C. Wiley, and P.H. Diamond, "The Fast Time Scale Behavior of the L/H Transition," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1616 (1994).
- Staebler, G.M., "Divertor Bias Experiment," Proc. 11th Int. Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions in Controlled Fusion Devices, May 23–27, 1994, Ibaraki, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A21679 (1994).
- Stallard, B.W., C.M. Greenfield, P.A. Politzer, and H.E. St. John, "Transport in High  $\beta_p$  Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1648 (1994).
- St. John, H.E., T.S. Taylor, Y.R. Lin-Liu, A.D. Turnbull, and S.J. Thompson, "The Dependence of Transport and Stability Properties of Reversed Magnetic Shear Discharges on Energy Confinement Models," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1649 (1994).
- Stambaugh, R.D., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, S. Konoshima, E.A. Lazarus, A.W. Leonard, and S.I. Lippmann, "Divertor Pumping and Other Reactor Application Issues for H–modes," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 36, A249 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21542 (1994).
- Stambaugh, R.D., K.H. Burrell, J. Kim, F.L. Hinton, G.M. Staebler, H.E. St. John, S.J. Thompson, and J. Freeman, "Transport Simulations of Confinement Improvement Through NBI Orbit Loss," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1646 (1994).

- Stockdale, R.E., T.N. Carlstrom, C.L. Hsieh, and C.C. Makariou, "Progress on the Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 66, 490 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21704 (1994).
- Strait, E.J., "Stability of High Beta Tokamak Plasmas," Phys. Plasmas 1, 1415 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21505 (1994).
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, and A.D. Turnbull, "Doppler Shift of the TAE Mode Frequency in DIII–D," Plasma Phyics. and Controlled Fusion **36**, 1211 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21200 (1994).
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, A.D. Turnbull, M.S. Chu, and H.H. Duong, "Stability of Neutral Beam Driven TAE Modes in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 33, 1849 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21037 (1993).
- Strait, E.J., T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, O. Sauter, S.J. Thomson, and D. Wroblewski, "Wall Stabilization Effects in DIII–D High Beta Discharges," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1994) 18B, p. 242; General Atomics Report GA–A21754 (1994).
- Strait, E.J., L.L. Lao, J.A. Leuer, R.T. Snider, and T.S. Taylor, "Improving the Accuracy and Reliability of Magnetic Diagnostics for TPX," Proc. TPX Diagnostics Configuration Review, October 10–12, 1994, Austin, Texas; General Atomics Report GA–A21900 (1994).
- Swain, D.A., F.W. Baity, D.B. Batchelor, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, C.C. Petty, C.L. Rettig, and J. Wilgen, "DIII–D FWCD Antenna Operation with No Faraday Shield," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1649 (1994).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, K. Holtrop, R.L. Lee, and D.A. Humphreys, "Experimental Disruption Studies in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1650 (1994).
- Taylor, T.S., E.J. Strait, L.L. Lao, M. Mauel, A.D. Turnbull, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, R.J. Groebner, R.J. La Haye, B.W. Rice, R.T. Snider, S.J. Thompson, D. Wroblewski, and D.J. Lightly, "Wall Stabilization of High Beta Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1607 (1994).
- Thomas, D.M., K.H. Burrell, and T.E. Evans, "Recent Results From the DIII–D Lithium Beam Diagnostic," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1647 (1994).
- Thomas, D.M., "Development of Lithium Beam Emission Spectroscopy as an Edge Fluctuation Diagnostic for DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **66**, 806 (1995); General Atomics Report GA–A21728 (1994).
- Thomas, D.M., "An Edge Density Fluctuation Diagnostic for DIII–D Using Lithium Beams Final Report to DOE," General Atomics Report GA–A21584 (1994).
- Turnbull, A.D., T.S. Taylor, E.J. Strait, S.J. Thompson, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, B.W. Rice, O. Sauter, R.T. Snider, and D. Wroblewski, "Stabilization of Ideal MHD Kink Modes in DIII–D by a Resistive Wall and Plasma Rotation," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1645 (1994).
- Turnbull, A.D., T.S. Taylor, Y.-R. Lin-Liu, H. St. John, "High b and Enhanced Confinement in a Second Stable Core VH-mode Advanced Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 718 (1995); General Atomics Report GA-A21553 (1994).

- Vanderlaan, J.F., "CAMAC Throughput of a New RISC-Based Data Acquisition Computer at the DIII–D Tokamak," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 119 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21416 (1993).
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, W.P. West, N.H. Brooks, K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, and C.C. Klepper, "Helium Exhaust Studies in ELMing H-mode Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak Using an Argon-Frosted Divertor Cryopump," Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 2702 (1995); General Atomics Report GA-A21652 (1994).
- Wade, M.R., "Helium Transport and Exhaust Studies in Enhanced Confinement Regimes During Divertor Operation in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1639 (1994).
- Waltz, R.E., "Advances in the Simulation of Toroidal Gyro-Landau Fluid Model Turbulence," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1637 (1994).
- Waltz, R.E., G.D. Kerbel, and F.J. Milovich, "Toroidal Gyro-Landau Fluid Model Turbulence in a Non-Linear Ballooning Mode Representation with Radial Modes," Phys. Plasmas 1, 2229 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21195 (1993).
- Watkins, J.G., R.A. Moyer, R.A. Jong, R.J. La Haye, T.E. Evans, D.N. Hill, and R.D. Stambaugh, "Character of the DIII–D Double-Null Scrape-Off Layer," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1653 (1994).
- West, W.P., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, R.D. Campbell, D.N. Hill, K. Krieger, A.W. Leonard, T.W. Petrie, G.T. Sager, M.J. Schaffer, G.M. Staebler, D. Whyte, and R.D. Wood, "Experimental Measurements and Modeling of Impurity Transport in the Divertor and Boundary Plasma of DIII–D," Proc. 21st European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Montpellier, France, 1994 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland) 18B, Part II, p. 834; General Atomics Report GA–A21762 (1994).
- Whyte, D.G., W.P. West, S.I. Lippmann, N.H. Brooks, R.D. Wood, and D.K. Finkenthal, "A Survey of DIII–D Core Impurity Concentrations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **39**, 1653 (1994).
- Wong, C.P.C., R.F. Bourue, C.B. Baxi, A.P. Colleraine, V. Del Bene, H. J. Grunloh, S.B. Inamati, D.D. Kapich, J.A. Kissinger, T. Lechtenberg, A.C. Lewis, J.A. Leuer, E.C. Miracle, J.L. Pickering, R. Rao, K. Redler, E.E. Reis, R.H. Ryder, R.W. Schleicher, R.F. Will, "A Robust Helium-Cooled Shield/Blanket Design for ITER," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 1, p. 13 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21485 (1993).
- Wood, R.D., S.L. Allen, T.W. Petrie, D.N. Hill, N.H. Brooks, S. Tugarinov, W.P. West, M.E. Fenstermacher, C.J. Lasnier, C.C. Klepper, M.A. Mahdavi, G.R. Smith, and G.D. Porter, "Impurity Studies During Radiative Divertor Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 39, 1653 (1994).

- Wright, A.L., J.C. Allen, W.P. Cary, and T.E. Harris, "Performance of the DIII–D 110 GHz ECH System During the First Year of Operations and Testing," 15th IEEE/NPSS Symp. on Fusion Engineering, October 11–15, 1993, Hyannis, Massachusetts, Vol. 2, p. 1092 (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., Piscataway, New Jersey, 1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21456 (1993).
- Zohm, H., T.H. Osborne, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, E.J. Doyle, P. Gohil, D.N. Hill, L.L. Lao, A.W. Leonard, T.S. Taylor, and A.D. Turnbull, "ELM Studies on DIII–D and a Comparison to ASDEX Results," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A21302 (1994).

## 7.6. FY93

- Alikaev, V.V., Yu. V. Esipchuk, A.Ya. Kislov, G.E. Notkin, K.A. Razumova, and The T-10 Team, C.B. Forest, J. Lohr, T.C. Luce, and R.W. Harvey, "Second Harmonic ECCD on T-10," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2069 (1993) (Abstract).
- Allais, F., and T.E. Evans, "A Method for Resolving Inconsistencies Between the Two Fluid MHD Equations and Maxwell's Equations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1925 (1993) (Abstract).
- Allen, S.L., D.N. Hill, A.W. Hyatt, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T. Rognlien, M.J. Schaffer, D.L. Sevier, J.P. Smith, and R.D. Stambaugh, "Design of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38 (1993) (Abstract).
- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, R.A. James, and T.C. Luce, "Measurement of 3rd Harmonic Electron Cyclotron Emission on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1936 (1993) (Abstract).
- Baker, D.R., R.J. Groebner, and K.H. Burrell, "Between Shot Analysis of DIII–D CER Data Using a Neural Network," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2070 (1993) (Abstract).
- Baker, D.R., R.J. Groebner, and K.H. Burrell, "A Neural Network for the Analysis of DIII–D Charge Exchange Recombination Data," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A21260 (1993).
- Baxi, C.B., and W. Obert, "Transient Thermal Analysis of Cryocondensation Pump for JET," Proc. Int. Cryogenic Engineering Conf., July 12–16, 1993, Albuquerque, New Mexico; General Atomics Report GA–A20941 (1993).
- Baxi, C.B., and The GA Divertor Team, "Evaluation of Helium Cooling for Fusion Divertors," to be published in Proc. Int. Society for Optical Engineering at High Heat Flux Session, July 11–16, 1993; General Atomics Report GA–A21035 (1993).
- Baxi, C.B., and H. Falter, "A Model for Analytical Performance Prediction of Hypervapotron," Proc. IAEA Tech. Com. Mtg on Fusion Studies, September 13–17, 1993, Los Angeles, California; General Atomics Report GA–A21448 (1993).
- Brooks, N.H., D.L. Hillis, A.M. Howald, S. Tugarinov, M.R. Wade, and W.P. West, "Impurity Spectroscopy of the Divertor Region in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2059 (1993) (Abstract).

- Burrell, K.H., T.H. Osborne, R.J. Groebner, and C.L. Rettig, "The Role of Electric Field Shear Stabilization of Turbulence in the H–Mode to VH–Mode Transition in DIII–D," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 27; General Atomics Report GA–A21308 (1993).
- Burrell, K.H., "Role of the Radial Electric Field in the Transition from L- to H- to VH-mode in the DIII-D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1958 (1993) (Abstract).
- Campbell, G.L., J.R. Ferron, E. McKee, A. Nerem, et al., "New DIII–D Tokamak Plasma Control System," Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy, Vol. 2, p. 1017; General Atomics Report GA–A21036 (1992).
- Carlstrom, T.N., P. Gohil, J.G. Watkins, and K.H. Burrell, "Reduced H–Mode Power Thresholds for D° into D<sup>+</sup> in Boronized DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).
- Carolipio, E.M., H.H. Duong, W.W. Heidbrink, R.J. La Haye, and H.E. Mynick, "Helical Fields for Burn Control and Alpha Ash Removal," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).
- Chiu, S.C., "Full Wave Simulations of DIII–D FWCD Results and Comparison with Ray Tracing," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2068 (1993) (Abstract).
- Chiu, S.C., C.F. Karney, Y.R. Lin-Liu, and T.K. Mau, "The Efficiency of Fast Wave Current Drive for a Weakly Relativistic Plasma," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, Boston, Massachusetts, 1993, Vol. 289, p. 305; General Atomics Report GA–A21254 (1993).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, K.H. Burrell, and T.N. Carlstrom, "Edge Fluctuation Measurements by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2064 (1993) (Abstract).
- Coda, S., "Measurements of Edge Fluctuations by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part III p. 1179; General Atomics Report GA–A21316 (1993).
- DeBoo, J.C., H. St. John, J.R. Ferron, and S.J. Thompson, "Comparison of Critical Temperature Gradient Transport Model Simulations With a Temporally Evolving Current Ramp Discharge in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2065 (1993) (Abstract).
- deGrassie, J.S., F.W. Baity, R.C. Callis, D.J. Hoffman, et al. "Fast Wave Current Drive System Design for DIII–D," Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy, Vol. 1, p. 457; General Atomics Report GA–A21043 (1992).
- deGrassie, J.S., "Simulation of Enhanced Tokamak Performance on DIII–D Using Fast Wave Current Drive," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part II, p. 647; General Atomics Report GA–A21312 (1993).
- deGrassie, J.S., R.I. Pinsker, C.B. Forest, C.C. Petty, J.R. Ferron, Y.R. Lin-Liu, and F.W. Baity, "Real Time Computer for the DIII-D Fast Wave RF System," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2069 (1993) (Abstract).

- DIII–D Team, "Recent DIII–D Results," Proc. 14th Int. Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; Vol. I, p. 41; General Atomics Report GA–A21089 (1992).
- Doyle, E.J., W.A. Peebles, R.A. Moyer, et al., "Comparison of Edge Turbulence Measurements at the L–H Transition on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1937 (1993) (Abstract).
- Duong, H.H., W.W. Heidbrink, E.J. Strait, T.W. Petrie, R. Lee, R.A. Moyer, and J. Watkins, "Loss of Energetic Beam Ions During TAE Instabilities," Nucl. Fusion 33 (1993) 749; General Atomics Report GA-A21038 (1993).
- Evans, T.E., C.J. Lasnier, D.N. Hill, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, T.W. Petrie, R. Maingi, A.M. Howald, R.D. Wood, R.A. Moyer, M.J. Schaffer, J.G. Watkins, D.M. Thomas, and J.W. Cuthbertson, "Measurements of Nonaxisymmetric Effects in the DIII–D Scrape-Off Layer and Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2060 (1993) (Abstract).
- Ferron, J.R., "User's Manual for the DAD-1 Data Acquisition Daughter Board for the SuperCard-2," General Atomics Report GA-A21236 (1993).
- Ferron, J.R., "User's Manual for the XDC-1 Digitizer Controller," General Atomics Report GA-A21247 (1993).
- Ferron, J.R., L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, Y.B. Kim, E.J. Strait, and D. Wroblewski, "Improved Confinement and Stability in the DIII–D Tokamak Obtained Through Modification of the Current Profile," Phys. Fluids B 5, 2532 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21151 (1993).
- Ferron, J.R., T.S. Taylor, L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, A.D. Turnbull, D. Wroblewski, and G. Garstka, "The Effect of Edge Current Density on Confinement and Kink Mode Stability in H–Mode and VH–Mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2061 (1993) (Abstract).
- Finkenthal, D.F., M.R. Wade, D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, W. Mandel, W.P. West, K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, and R.P. Seraydarian, "Determination of He Density Profiles Using Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2071 (1993) (Abstract).
- Forest, C.B., "Inductive Effects During Second Harmonic Current Drive Experiments on T–10," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, 1993, Boston, Massachusetts (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 238; General Atomics Report GA–A21293 (1993).
- Forest, C.B., K. Kupfer, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, R.W. Harvey, and Y.R. Lin-Liu, "The Effect of Sawteeth Activity on Noninductively Driven Current Profiles," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2068 (1993) (Abstract).
- Garstka, G.D., J.R. Ferron, T.S. Taylor, L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, E.J. Strait, A.D. Turnbull, and D. Wroblewski, "Transport Analysis of High- $\ell_i$  H-Mode Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2007 (1993) (Abstract).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, and R.P. Seraydarian, "The Parametric Dependence of the Spatial Structure of the Radial Electric Field in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).

- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, T.H. Osborne, and C.L. Rettig, "The Role of the Radial Electric Field in Confinement and Transport in H–Mode and VH–Mode Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. Workshop on Local Transport Studies in Fusion Plasma, August 30–September 3, 1993, Varenna, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21415 (1993).
- Greenfield, C.M., B. Balet, K.H. Burrell, J.G. Cordey, J.C. DeBoo, N. Dellyanakis, E.J. Doyle, G.L. Jackson, S. Konoshima, D.P. O'Brien, L. Porte, C.L. Rettig, T.H. Osborne, A.C.C. Sips, G.M. Staebler, P.M. Stubberfield, and T.S. Taylor, "Comparison of the VH–Mode in DIII–D and JET," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 1937 (1993) (Abstract).
- Groebner, R.J., D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, and H. St. John, "Implementation of a Neural Net in Least Squares Analysis of Charge Exchange Recombination Data," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2070 (1993) (Abstract).
- Groebner, R.J., "An Emerging Understanding of H–Mode Discharges in Tokamaks," Phys. Fluids B **5**, 2343 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21128 (1992).
- Harvey, R.W., C.B. Forest, O. Sauter, J. Lohr, and Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Modification of Electrical Conductivity in T–10 by Electron Cyclotron Heating," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, 1993, Boston, Massachusetts (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 169; General Atomics Report GA–A21292 (1993).
- Harvey, R.W., "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive for Tokamak Reactors," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2051 (1993) (Abstract).
- Hassam, A.B., "Poloidal Rotation of Tokamak Plasmas at Super Poloidal-Sonic Speeds," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1925 (1993) (Abstract).
- Heidbrink, W.W., R.J. Barron, M.S. Chu, E.J. Strait, and A.D. Turnbull, "Relative Stability of Alfvén Gap Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2067 (1993) (Abstract).
- Heidbrink, W.W., E.J. Strait, M.S. Chu, and A.D. Turnbull, "Observation of Beta-Induced Alfven Eigenmodes in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 855 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21191 (1993).
- Heidbrink, W.W., H.H. Duong, J. Manson, E. Wilfrid, C. Oberman, and E.J. Strait, "The Nonlinear Saturation of Beam-Driven Instabilities: Theory and Experiment," Phys. Fluids B 5, 2176 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21168 (1993).
- Hill, D.N., A.H. Futch, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, et al., "The Effect of ELMs on Edge Plasma Scaling in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. **196–198** (1992) 204; General Atomics Report GA–A20962 (1992).
- Hill, D.N., T.W. Petrie, S.L. Allen, J.W. Cuthbertson, C.J. Lasnier, and A.W. Leonard, "A Comparison Between Double-Null and Single-Null Radiative Divertor," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2060 (1993) (Abstract).

- Hill, D.N., T.W. Petrie, S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, J. Cuthbertson, T.E. Evans, R.A. Jong, C.J. Lasnier, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, R.A. Moyer, G.D. Porter, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, and R. Wood, "Variation of Divertor Plasma Parameters With Divertor Depth for H–Mode Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Lisboa, Portugal, 1993 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part II, p. 643; General Atomics Report GA–A21311 (1993).
- Hinton, F.L., "Effect of Orbit Squeezing on Poloidal Rotation in Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2064 (1993) (Abstract).
- Hinton, F.L., J. Kim, Y.B. Kim, A. Brizard, and K.H. Burrell, "Poloidal Rotation Near the Edge of a Tokamak Plasma in H–Mode," Phys. Rev. Lett. 72, 1216 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21469 (1993).
- Hong, R., A.P. Colleraine, D.H. Kellman, J. Kim, et al., "Enhancement of DIII–D Neutral Beam System for Higher Performance," Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21034 (1992).
- Hsieh, C., M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, R.R. Dominguez, L.L. Lao, R.E. Stockdale, and T.S. Taylor, "Nonlinear Heat Conduction in Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2065 (1993) (Abstract).
- Hyatt, A.W., R.J. La Haye, T.H. Jensen, J.T. Scoville, D.R. Baker, and R.J. Groebner, "Applied Magnetic Island Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2062 (1993) (Abstract).
- Ikezi, H., and R.I. Pinsker, "Studies of Fast Waves by *B*-Probe Array in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2068 (1993) (Abstract).
- Jackson, G.L., C.M. Greenfield, T. Hodapp, K.L. Holtrop, S. Konoshima, M.A. Mahdavi, J.C. Phillips, T.S. Taylor, W.P. West, and J. Winter, "Particle Control During VH–Mode Discharges with an All-Graphite Wall," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2062 (1993) (Abstract).
- James, R.A., "High β<sub>p</sub> Experiments on DIII–D Using Inductive Current Ramps," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2066 (1993) (Abstract).
- Kim, J., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, P. Gohil, F.L. Hinton, Y.B. Kim, W. Mandl, R.P. Seraydarian, and M.R. Wade, "Main Ion Rotation Measurement and Its Implications on H–Mode Theories," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 1937 (1993) (Abstract).
- Konoshima, S., T.H. Osborne, G.L. Jackson, W.P. West, C.M. Greenfield, R.D. Wood, D. Whyte, H. Ogawa, R.J. La Haye, E.J. Strait, T.N. Carlstrom, C.L. Rettig, E.J. Doyle, R.T. Snider, G.M. Staebler, and the DIII–D Team, "Effect of Impurities During VH–Mode Discharges and VH–Mode Termination in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2062 (1993) (Abstract).
- Kupfer, K., "Statistical Approach to Multipass Absorption for Fast Wave Current Drive in Tokamaks," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2105 (1993) (Abstract).
- Kupfer, K., "Statistical Approach to LHCD Modeling Using the Wave Kinetic Equation," 93 RF Meeting; General Atomics Report GA–A21258 (1993).

- La Haye, R.J., C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, T.H. Osborne, C.L. Rettig, and J.T. Scoville, "Role of Core Toroidal Rotation Shear on Turbulence and Transport in the Improved Confinement VH–Mode of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2062 (1993) (Abstract).
- La Haye, R.J., C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, C.L. Rettig, and J.T. Scoville, "Role of Core Toroidal Rotation Shear on Turbulence and Transport in the Improved Confinement Regimes of the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. Workshop on Local Transport Studies in Fusion Plasmas, August 30–September 3, 1993, Varenna, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21431 (1993).
- La Haye, R.J., "Role of Core Toroidal Rotation on the H–Mode Radial Electric Field Shear, Turbulence, and Confinement as Studied by Magnetic Braking in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Plasmas 1, 373 (1994); General Atomics Report GA–A21229 (1993).
- La Haye, R.J., "Limits on m = 2, n = 1 Error Field Induced Locked Mode Instability in TPX With Typical Sources of Poloidal Field Coil Error Field and a Prototype Correction Coil, 'C-coil'," General Atomics Report GA-A21167 (1992).
- La Haye, R.J., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Effect of Magnetic Braking of the Plasma Rotation on the H–Mode Radial Electric Field and Energy Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **33**, 349 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20782 (1992).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, R. James, E.A. Lazarus, T.H. Osborne, H. St. John, E.J. Strait, S.J. Thompson, A.D. Turnbull, D. Wroblewski, H. Zohm, and The DIII–D Team, "High Internal Inductance Improved Confinement H–Mode Discharges Obtained With an Elongation Ramp Technique in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Phys. Rev. Lett.; General Atomics Report GA–A21061 (1993).
- Lao, L.L., R.J. La Haye, D.R. Baker, K.H. Burrell, J.R. Ferron, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, E.A. Lazarus, T.H. Osborne, C.L. Rettig, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, and D. Wroblewski, "Role of Rotational Shear on Confinement Enhancement in High l<sub>i</sub> H–Mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1936 (1993) (Abstract).
- Lazarus, E.A., and The DIII–D Team, "Dependence of β•τ on Plasma Shape in DIII–D," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 95; General Atomics Report GA–A21306 (1993).
- Lazarus, E.A., A.W. Hyatt, T.H. Osborne, and The DIII–D Team, "A Comparison of Performance for Various Plasma Shapes in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1936 (1993) (Abstract).
- Leonard, A.W., C.J. Lasnier, M.E. Fenstermacher, D.N. Hill, R.A. Jong, and T.W. Petrie, "Power Flow in the SOL and Divertor Plasmas of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2059 (1993) (Abstract).
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., "Transport Simulation Study of High ℓ<sub>i</sub> H–Mode Sustained by Fast Wave Current Drive on DIII–D" Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2065 (1993) (Abstract).
- Lippmann, S.I., G.T. Sager, P.B. Parks, G.M. Staebler, and W.P. West, "Initial Studies Using a Monte Carlo Impurity Code on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2061 (1993) (Abstract).

- Lohr, J., and Tony Wong, "Cutoff of Electron Cyclotron Emission as a Probe of Density Fluctuations in the Core of a Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2069 (1993) (Abstract).
- Lohr, J., et al., "On the Second Harmonic Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating and Current Drive Experiments on T–10 and DIII–D," Proc. 8th Joint Workshop on EC Emission and EC Heating, 1993, Gut Ising, Max Planck IPP Garching, Vol. II, p. 497; General Atomics Report GA–A21107 (1993).
- Lohr, J., "Enhanced Confinement Regimes and Control Technology in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion Summer School, 1993, St. Petersburg; General Atomics Report GA–A21342 (1993).
- Luce, T.C., C.B. Forest, M.A. Makowski, C.C. Petty, W.H. Meyer, and C. Janicki, "Evidence for Coupled Transport During Off-Axis ECH," Proc. Workshop on Local Transport Studies in Fusion Plasmas, August 30 through September 3, 1993, Varenna, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21413 (1993).
- Luce, T.C., C.B. Forest, M.A. Makowski, C.C. Petty, W.H. Meyer, and C. Janicki, "Evidence for Coupled Transport During Off-Axis ECH," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2065 (1993) (Abstract).
- Mahdavi, M.A., S.L. Allen, T.E. Evans, D.N. Hill, et al., "Applications of Divertor Biasing to the Next Generation Tokamaks," General Atomics Report GA–A21064 (1992).
- Mahdavi, M.A., J.R. Ferron, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, M.J. Schaffer, D.P. Schissel, M.R. Wade, and The DIII–D Advanced Divertor Group, "Active Density Control in DIII–D H–Mode Plasmas," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part II, p. 747; General Atomics Report GA–A21304 (1993).
- Maingi, R., P.K. Mioduszewski, J.W. Cuthbertson, et al., "Effect of Particle Exhaust on SOL and Divertor Plasma Parameters in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2059 (1993) (Abstract).
- Makowski, M.A., T.A. Casper, E.J. Strait, and A.D. Turnbull, "MHD Analysis of High  $\beta_p$  DIII–D Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2066 (1993) (Abstract).
- Mandl, W., M.R. Wade, and K.H. Burrell, "Absolute Measurement of Ion Density Profiles as a Function of Time With Charge Exchange Spectroscopy," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2071 (1993) (Abstract).
- Moyer, R.A., J.G. Watkins, G. Tynan, et al., "Turbulent Particle Transport and the L–H Transition," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).
- Osborne, T.H., K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, E.J. Doyle, C.M. Greenfield, R.J. Groebner, G.L. Jackson, S. Konoshima, L.L. Lao, C.L. Rettig, G.M. Staebler, E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, D. Wroblewski, and the DIII–D Team, "The Effect of Plasma Shape on VH–Mode Energy Confinement in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2061 (1993) (Abstract).
- Petrie, T.W., and The DIII–D Physics Group, "Radiative Divertor Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2071 (1993) (Abstract).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, and R.I. Pinsker, "Gyro-Bohm-Like Transport Scaling With Central RF Heating on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1938 (1993) (Abstract).

- Petty, C.C., "Dimensionally Similar Discharges With Central RF Heating on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power on Plasmas, 1993, Boston, Massachusetts (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 165; General Atomics Report GA–A21257 (1993).
- Phelps, D.A., F. Durodie, and C.P. Moeller, "An Externally Tunable Feedback Controlled TWA," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2069 (1993) (Abstract).
- Phillips, J.C., C.B. Baxi, and R. Hong, "Investigation of the Heat Handling Capabilities of DIII–D Neutral Beamline Internal Components," to be published in Proc. 15th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (Hyannis, Massachusetts, October 11–15, 1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21409 (1993).
- Pinsker, R.I., C.C. Petty, M.J. Mayberry, M. Porkolab, and W.W. Heidbrink, "Observation of Parametric Decay Correlated With Edge Heating Using an Ion Bernstein Wave Antenna on DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion 33, 777 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20820 (1993).
- Pinsker, R.I., "Review of Tokamak Experiments on Direct Electron Heating and Current Drive with Fast Waves," Proc. 10th Top. Conf. on Radio Frequency Power on Plasmas, 1993, Boston, Massachusetts (American Institute of Physics, New York, 1994) Vol. 289, p. 179; General Atomics Report GA-A21286 (1993).
- Pinsker, R.I., C.C. Petty, J.S. deGrassie, C.B. Forest, H. Ikezi, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, F.W. Baity, R.H. Goulding, D.J. Hoffman, D.W. Swain, and The DIII–D Group, "Recent Results from the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive Experiment," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2068 (1993) (Abstract).
- Prater, R., R.A. James, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, J.S. deGrassie, R.H. Goulding, R.W. Harvey, D.J. Hoffmann, H. Ikezi, H. Kawashima, Y.R. Lin-Liu, T.C. Luce, and V. Trukhin, "Current Drive With Fast Waves, Electron Cyclotron Waves, and Neutral Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **35**, A53 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21003 (1992).
- Politzer, P.A., "Long-Time Evolution of High  $\beta_p$  Plasmas With Improved Stability and Confinement," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1883 (1993) (Abstract).
- Project Staff, "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy October 1, 1991 through September 30, 1992," General Atomics Report GA–A21186 (1993).
- Project Staff, "Plan for Operation of DIII–D Facilities and Related Research," General Atomics Report GA–A21363 (1993).
- Reis, E., I. Almajan, C.B. Baxi, M.M. Menon, et al., "Design and Analysis of the Cryopump for the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21016 (1992).
- Rensink, M.E., S.L. Allen, A.H. Futch, D.N. Hill, M.A. Mahdavi, and G.D. Porter, "Particle Transport Studies for Single-Null Divertor Discharges in DIII–D," Phys. Fluids B 5, 2165 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20510 (1992).
- Sager, G.T., S.I. Lippmann, P.B. Parks, and W.P. West, "Transport Modeling in the Monte Carlo Impurity Code," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2061 (1993) (Abstract).

- Sauter, O., "Neoclassical Resistivity in Tokamak Geometry With Arbitrary Collisionalities," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2076 (1993) (Abstract).
- Schaffer, M.J., N.H. Brooks, J.W. Cuthbertson, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, K. Schaubel, M.R. Wade, and R.D. Wood, "Scrape-Off Layer Flow Enhancement With Divertor Pumping on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2058 (1993) (Abstract).
- Schaffer, M.J., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, R.B. Campbell, J.W. Cuthbertson, R. Ellis, T.E. Evans, D.F. Finkenthal, A.H. Futch, R.J. Groebner, G.H. Henkel, D.N. Hill, D.L. Hillis, F.L. Hinton, J.T. Hogan, M.A. Hollerbach, W.L. Hsu, A.W. Hyatt, G.L. Jackson, T.R. Jarboe, R. Jong, C.C. Klepper, A.W. Leonard, S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, R. Maingi, M.M. Menon, P.K. Mioduszewski, R.A. Moyer, T.H. Osborne, L.W. Owen, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, M.E. Rensink, T.D. Rognlien, L. Schmitz, D.L. Sevier, J.P. Smith, G.M. Staebler, R.D. Stambaugh, T. Uckan, M.R. Wade, J.G. Watkins, W.P. West, and C.P.C. Wong, "Results From the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Program," Proc. 9th IAEA Workshop on Stellarators, May 10–14, 1993, Garching, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21281 (1993).
- Schaffer, M.J., S. Yamaguchi, and Y. Kondoh, "Preliminary Oscillating Fluxes Current Drive Experiment in DIII–D Tokamak," submitted to Nucl. Fusion (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20613 (1992).
- Schaffer, M.J., D. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, R. Ellis, et al., "Edge Effects During DIII–D Divertor Biasing," General Atomics Report GA–A21060 (1992).
- Schaubel, K.M., C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, G.J. Laughon, M.A. Mahdavi, M.M. Menon, C.C. Makariou, J.P. Smith, and M.J. Schaffer, "The Development of an In-Vessel Cryopump System for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 1993 Cryogenic Engineering Conf., July 12–16, 1993, Albuquerque, New Mexico; General Atomics Report GA–A21349 (1993).
- Schissel, D.P., and The H–Mode Database Working Group, "Analysis of the ITER H–Mode Confinement Database," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 103; General Atomics Report GA–A21310 (1993).
- Schissel, D.P., M.A. Mahdavi, J.C. DeBoo, R. Maingi, and M. Le, "Decoupling the Effect of Plasma Current and Plasma Density on H–Mode Energy Confinement in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 1938 (1993) (Abstract).
- Scoville, J.T., and R.J. La Haye, "Locked Mode Beta Limits in Cryopumped DIII–D H–Mode Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).
- Seraydarian, R.P., K.H. Burrell, and R.J. Groebner, "Determination of the Absolute Spatial Location of Viewing Chords for a Multichord Spectroscopy Diagnostic by Spectroscopic Means," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2070 (1993) (Abstract).
- Simonen, T.C., "The Long Range DIII–D Plan," to be published in Proc. Fusion Power Association Annual Meeting, January 28–29, 1993, San Diego, California; General Atomics Report GA–A21213 (1993).
- Snider, R.T., Y. Kamada, R.J. La Haye, and Y. Mirua, "The Effect of Plasma Rotation and Error Fields on Sawteeth," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2063 (1993) (Abstract).

- Squire, J.P., J. Lohr, S. Popov, V.M. Trukhin, and A. Vasileev, "High Count Rate X-Ray Spectrometers on DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2070 (1993) (Abstract).
- Staebler, G.M., F.L. Hinton, J.C. Wiley, R.R. Dominguez, C.M. Greenfield, T.H. Osborne, and T.K. Kurki-Suonio, "Theory of VH–Modes," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1937 (1993) (Abstract).
- St. John, H., J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, S.J. Thompson, and D. Wroblewski, "Coupled MHD and Transport Analysis of Improved Confinement DIII–D Discharges," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 99; General Atomics Report GA–A21309 (1993).
- St. John, H., D. Wroblewski, P.A. Politzer, and S.J. Thompson, "Long Time Evolution Simulation of High  $\beta_p$  Discharges in DIII–D Using MHD/Transport Coupled Calculations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2066 (1993) (Abstract).
- Strait, E.J., T.S. Taylor, A.D. Turnbull, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, and T.H. Osborne, "Beta-Limiting Instabilities in DIII–D Discharges with Large Bootstrap Current," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 211; General Atomics Report GA–A21301 (1993).
- Strait, E.J., "Stability of High Beta Tokamak Plasmas," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2098 (1993) (Abstract).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, K. Holtrop, R.L. Lee, and D.A. Humphreys, "DIII–D Disruption Experiments," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2067 (1993) (Abstract).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, and R.L. Lee, "Tritium in the DIII–D Carbon Tiles," Proc. Int. Atomic Energy Agency Technical Meeting on Development in Fusion Safety, June 7–11, 1993, Toronto, Canada; General Atomics Report GA–A21329 (1993).
- Taylor, T.S., A.D. Turnbull, Y.R. Lin-Liu, and H. St. John, "The Second Stable Core Advanced Tokamak Regime," to be submitted to Phys. Fluids B; General Atomics Report GA–A21385 (1993).
- Taylor, T.S., "Optimized Profiles for Improved Confinement and Stability in Tokamak Discharges," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 1936 (1993) (Abstract).
- Thomas, D.M., R.M. Patterson, K.L. Greene, and K.H. Burrell, "Local Studies of Edge Density Changes During the L to H Transition on DIII–D Using LIBEAM," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2064 (1993) (Abstract).
- Thompson, S.J., L.L. Lao, H.E. St. John, J.R. Ferron, T.S. Taylor, and D. Wroblewski, "Profile Analysis of High Performance Discharges in the DII–D Tokamak," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2066 (1993) (Abstract).
- Turnbull, A.D., "Stability Analysis of Advanced Tokamak Configurations," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2065 (1993) (Abstract).
- Turnbull, A.D., "Global Alfvén Modes: Theory and Experiment," Phys. Plasmas; General Atomics Report GA-A21138 (1993).

- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, D.F. Finkenthal, W.P. West, K.H. Burrell, and R.P. Seraydarian, "Dependence of Helium Transport on Plasma Current and ELM Frequency in H–Mode Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 20th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, 1993, Lisbon, Portugal (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1993) Vol. 17C, Part I, p. 63; General Atomics Report GA–A21305 (1993).
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, D.F. Finkenthal, W.P. West, and K.H. Burrell, "Characterization of Helium Transport in ELMing H–Mode Discharge," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 1936 (1993) (Abstract).
- Watkins, J.G., R.A. Moyer, K.H. Burrell, D.A. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, T.N. Carlstrom, P. Gohil, D.N. Hill, and D.M. Thomas, "Scrape-Off Layer Scaling in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2059 (1993) (Abstract).
- Waltz, R.E., and A.H. Boozer, "Local Shear in General Magnetic Stellarator Geometry," Phys. Fluids B 5, 2201 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21071 (1993).
- West, W.P., T.W. Petrie, N.H. Brooks, A.M. Howald, D. Whyte, R.D. Wood, S.L. Allen, K. Krieger, S.I. Lippmann, D.N. Hill, "Impurity Containment in the Divertor of DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 38, 2059 (1993) (Abstract).
- Whyte, D.G., W.P. West, S.I. Lippmann, W.R. Wade, R.D. Wood, "Core Transport Studies on DIII–D Using Impurity Injection," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2064 (1993) (Abstract).
- Wood, R.D., S.I. Lippmann, W.P. West, and D.G. Whyte, "Impurity Measurements in the All Carbon DIII–D Tokamak Using the SPRED Spectrometer," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2064 (1993) (Abstract).
- Wroblewski, D., and R.T. Snider, "Evidence of the Complete Magnetic Reconnection During an Internal Disruption in a Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. **71**, 859 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21197 (1993).
- Wroblewski, D., H. St. John, R.A. James, P. Gohil, and B.W. Stallard, "Modeling of the Current Density Profiles in DIII–D," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. **38**, 2066 (1993) (Abstract).

## 7.7. FY92

- Allais, F., and T.E. Evans, "Magnetic Island Dynamics Including Self-Consistent Plasma Responses and Small Resonant External Perturbations," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1569.
- Allen, J.C., R.W. Callis, W.P. Cary, T.E. Harris, and A. Nerem, "Eight Channel–16 Bit, Bidirectional Analog to Digital Monitoring and Control System," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 844; General Atomics Report GA–A20604 (1991).
- Allen, S.L., R. Cohen, D.N. Hill, W. Nevins, et al., "Concept Development of a Radiative Divertor for DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1566.

- Austin, M.E., R.F. Ellis, R.W. Harvey, and R.A. James, "Analysis of Nonthermal ECE Spectra from DIII–D Plasmas Using a Michelson Interferometer," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1567.
- Baker, D.R., and R.J. Groebner, "Analysis of DIII–D CER Data Using a Neural Network," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1568.
- Baxi, C.B., J.L. Doane, and D.L. Sevier, "Thermal Analysis and Design of Polarizer Mirrors for Waveguides in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Proc. International Society for Optical Engineering; July 19–24, 1992, San Diego, California; General Atomics Report GA–A20972 (1992).
- Baxi, C.B., and H. Falter, "Analytical Prediction of Thermal Performance of Hypervapotron and Its Application to ITER," to be published in Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21035 (1992).
- Baxi, C.B., and H. Falter, "A Model for Analytical Performance Prediction of Hypervapotron," to be published in Proc. 5th International Topical Meeting on Nuclear Reactor Thermal Hydraulics, September 21–24, 1992, Salt Lake City, Utah; General Atomics Report GA–A20959 (1992) and JET–P(92)56.
- Baxi, C.B., G.J. Laughon, A.R. Langhorn, K.M. Schaubel, et al., "Verification Test for Helium Panel of Cryopump for DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1226; General Atomics Report GA–A20589 (1991).
- Baxi, C.B., W. Obert, "Optimization of Thermal Design for Nitrogen Shield of JET Cryopump," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1218; General Atomics Report GA–A20587 (1991).
- Bramson, G., "Timing System for Neutral Beam Injection on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 814; General Atomics Report GA–A20640 (1991).
- Becoulet, A., and D. Moreau, "Variational Full Wave Calculation of Fast Wave Current Drive in DIII–D Using the ALCYON Code," General Atomics Report GA–A20846 (1992).
- Brooks, N.H., A.M. Howald, C.C. Klepper, and W.P. West, "Multichord Spectroscopy of the DIII–D Divertor Region," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63** (1992) 4941; General Atomics Report GA–A20872 (1992).
- Brooks, N.H., A.M. Howald, W.P. West, and C.C. Klepper, "Multichord Visible Spectroscopy of the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1567.
- Burrell, K.H., T.N. Carlstrom, E.J. Doyle, D.F. Finkenthal, et al., "Physics of the L–Mode to H–Mode Transition in Tokamaks," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion 34 (1992) 1859; General Atomics Report GA–A20993 (1992).
- Burrell, K.H., P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, and R.P. Seraydarian, "Radial Electric Field Structure in VH–Mode Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1410.

- Callis, R., W. Cary, C. Moeller, R. Freeman, et al., "110 GHz ECH Heating System for DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency, AIP (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) Vol. 244 (1992) 24; General Atomics Report GA–A20627 (1991).
- Campbell, G.L., J.R. Ferron, E. McKee, A. Nerem, et al., "New DIII–D Tokamak Plasma Control System," to be published in Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21036 (1992).
- Carlstrom, T.N., G.L. Campbell, J.C. DeBoo, R. Evanko, et al., "Design and Operation of the Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63** (1992) 4901; General Atomics Report GA–A20849 (1992).
- Carlstrom, T.N., J.C. DeBoo, R.E. Waltz, and J.P. Christiansen, "p\* Scaling of Confinement in Dimensionally Similar Discharges in JET and DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1410.
- Carlstrom, T.N., G.L. Campbell, J.C. DeBoo, R.G. Evanko, et al., "The Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1195; General Atomics Report GA–A20614 (1991).
- Cary, W.P., J.C. Allen, R.W. Callis, J.L. Doane, et al., "110 GHz ECH on DIII–D: System Overview and Initial Operation," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30– October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 912; General Atomics Report GA–A20632 (1991).
- Chan, V.S., L.L. Lao, and T.S. Taylor, "Confinement and Performance Limits for Advanced Tokamaks," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1508.
- Chiu, S.C., R.W. Harvey, Y.R. Lin-Liu, C.C. Petty, et al., "Simulation of FWCD with RF Codes," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1512.
- Chiu, S.C., M.J. Mayberry, R. Pinsker, C.C. Petty, M. Porkolab, "Theory of Ion Bernstein Wave Coupling at Low Edge Densities," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) p. 169; General Atomics Report GA–A20608 (1991).
- Clow, D.D., D.H. Kellman, "Computer Control of the High Voltage Power Supply for the DIII–D Electron Cyclotron Heating System," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 831; General Atomics Report GA–A20606 (1991).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, K.H. Burrell, and T.N. Carlstrom, "Edge Fluctuation Measurements by Phase Contrast Imaging on DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1512.
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, and T.N. Carlstrom, "A Phase Contrast Interferometer on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63** (1992) 4974; General Atomics Report GA–A20876 (1992).
- Cuthbertson, J.W., D. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, and A.H. Futch, "Measurement of Sheath Power Transmission to Divertor Surfaces and Electrically-Biased Probes," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1567.

- DeBoo, J.C., C.M. Greenfield, K.H. Burrell, J.R. Ferron, et al., "Performance and Transport in VH–Mode," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1409.
- DeBoo, J.C., R.E. Waltz, T.H. Osborne, "Comparison of Dimensionally Similar Discharges with Similar Heat Deposition Profiles," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Berlin, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part I, p. 173; General Atomics Report GA–A20466 (1991).
- deGrassie, J.S., R.I. Pinsker, C.C. Petty, Y.R. Lin-Liu, et al., "Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive System Upgrade for DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1513.
- deGrassie, J.S., F.W. Baity, R.C. Callis, D.J. Hoffman, et al., "Fast Wave Current Drive System Design for DIII–D," to be published in Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21043 (1992).
- DIII–D Team, "Recent DIII–D Results," Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21089 (1992).
- Doane, J.L., "Grating Polarizers in Waveguide Miter Bands,"ternational Journal of Infrared and Millimeter Waves **13** (1992) 1727; General Atomics Report GA–A20892 (1992).
- Doyle, E.J., K.W. Kim, W.A. Peebles, C.L. Rettig, and T.L. Rhodes, "Investigation of In/Out Turbulence Asymmetries on DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1510.
- Duong, H.H., W.W. Heidbrink, C.T. Hsu, R.L. Lee, et al., "Loss of Beam Ions During TAE Instabilities," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992).
- Duong, H.H., and W.W. Heidbrink, "Confinement of Fusion-Produced MeV Ions in the DIII–D Tokamak," submitted to Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A20923 (1992).
- Evans, T.E., "Statistical Properties of Intrinsic Topological Noise in Tokamaks," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Berlin, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part II, p. 65; General Atomics Report GA–A20448 (1991).
- Evans, T.E., D.N. Hill, T.W. Petrie, A.W. Leonard, et al., "Radial Heat Flux Profile Bifurcation During High Power DIII–D Single- and Double-Null Divertor Operations," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1565.
- Ferron, J.R., "A High Speed Data Acquisition and Processing System for Real Time Data Analysis and Control," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63** (1992) 5464; General Atomics Report GA–A20810 (1992).
- Ferron, J.R., A. Kellman, E. McKee, T.H. Osborne, et al., "An Advanced Plasma Control System for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 761; General Atomics Report GA–A20641 (1991).

- Ferron, J.R., and E.J. Strait, "Real Time Analysis of Tokamak Discharge Parameters," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 63 (1992) 4799; General Atomics Report GA–A20860 (1992).
- Ferron, J.R., L.L. Lao, and T.S. Taylor, "The Effect of Current Profile Changes on Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 55; General Atomics Report GA–A20914 (1992).
- Ferron, J.R., L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, Y.B. Kim, et al., "Improved Confinement and Stability in the DIII–D Tokamak Obtained Through Modification of the Current Profile," to be published in a special issue of Phys. Fluids B (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21151 (1992).
- Finkenthal, D.F., D.L. Hillis, M.R. Wade, J.T. Hogan, et al., "Instrumentation and Calibration of the DIII–D Charge Exchange Recombination Spectroscopy System to Measure Absolute Helium Density Profiles," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1568.
- Finkenthal, D.F., D.L. Hillis, M.R. Wade, W.P. West, et al., "Helium Transport Studies on DIII–D," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 275; General Atomics Report GA–A20933 (1992).
- Futch, A.H., J.W. Cuthbertson, D. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, et al., "Heat Transmission at the Divertor Sheath of DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1567.
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Study of Edge Electric Field and Edge Microturbulence at the L-H Transition in DIII-D," Proc. 18th EPS Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (June 3–7, 1991, Berlin, Germany) Vol. 15C, Part I (1991) 289; General Atomics Report GA-A20481 (1991).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, J. Kim, et al., "The Charge Exchange Recombination Diagnostic System on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1199; General Atomics Report GA–A20652 (1991).
- Greene, K.L., "Displaying DIII–D Plasma Data Using DEC's X Window System," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 773; General Atomics Report GA–A20610 (1991).
- Greenfield, C.M., G.L. Jackson, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "VH–Mode Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 11; General Atomics Report GA–A20917 (1992).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, J. Kim, and R.P. Seraydarian, "Edge Ion Dynamics in H–Mode Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 183; General Atomics Report GA–A20912 (1992).

- Groebner, R.J., "An Emerging Understanding of H–Mode Discharges in Tokamaks," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1352.
- Groebner, R.J., "An Emerging Understanding of H–Mode Discharges in Tokamaks," to be published in special issue of Phys. Fluids B (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21128 (1992).
- Harris, T.E., "Active Heater Control and Regulation for the Varian VGT-8011 Gyrotron," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 130; General Atomics Report GA-A20645 (1991).
- Harvey, R.W., S.C. Chiu, M.G. McCoy, G.D. Kerbel, et al., "3D Fokker-Planck Calculation of Combined Fast Wave/Lower Hybrid and Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in Tokamaks," Proc. IAEA Technical Committee Meeting on Fast Wave Current Drive Reactor Scale Tokamaks, September 23–25, 1991, Arles, France; General Atomics Report GA–A20752 (1992).
- Heidbrink, W.W., H.H. Duong, R.J. La Haye, E.J. Strait, and A.D. Turnbull, "Characteristics of Beam-Driven Instabilities," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1511.
- Hill, D.N., A.H. Futch, A.W. Leonard, M.A. Mahdavi, et al., "The Effect of ELMs on Edge Plasma Scaling in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. 196–198 (1992) 204; General Atomics Report GA–A20962 (1992).
- Hill, D.N., R.B. Campbell, J.W. Cuthbertson, R.J. Kanzieiter, et al., "Variation of Divertor Plasma Parameters With X–Point to Target-Plate Distance," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1565.
- Hillis, D.L., J.T. Hogan, K.H. Finken, W.P. West, et al., "Helium Transport in Enhanced Confinement Regimes on the TEXTOR and DIII–D Tokamaks," to be published in Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A20901 (1992).
- Hodapp, T.R., G.L. Jackson, J. Phillips, K.L. Holtrop, et al., "A System to Deposit Boron Films (Boronization) in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 392; General Atomics Report GA–A20624 (1991).
- Holtrop, K.L., G.L. Jackson, K.M. Schaubel, A.G. Kellman, "Glow Discharge Initiation with Electron Gun Assist," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30– October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 749; General Atomics Report GA–A20617 (1991).
- Holtrop, K., A.G. Kellman, and A. Astapkovich, "Modeling of Current Decay Rates During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1570.
- Hong, R., A.P. Colleraine, D.H. Kellman, J. Kim, et al., "Enhancement of DIII–D Neutral Beam System for Higher Performance," to be published in Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21034 (1992).
- Howl, W., A.D. Turnbull, T.S. Taylor, L.L. Lao, et al., "Sensitivity of the Kink Instability of the Pressure Profile," Phys. Fluids B **4**, 1724 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A19953 (1991).

- Hsieh, C.L., R.E. Stockdale, M.S. Chu, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Experimental Constraints on Electron Thermal Conductivity in Tokamaks," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1509.
- Humphreys, D.A., and A.G. Kellman, "Modeling and Analysis of Plasma Motion During Disruption in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1570.
- Hyatt, A.W., R.J. La Haye, T.H. Jensen, R.J. Groebner, and J.T. Scoville, "Applied Magnetic Island Braking Forces in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1569.
- Ikezi, H., R.I. Pinsker, and Y.R. Lin-Liu, "Fast Wave Propagation in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1513.
- Jackson, G.L., J. Winters, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, et al., "VH–Mode in DIII–D After Boronization," Phys. Fluids B **4** (1992) 2181; General Atomics Report GA-20787 (1992).
- Jackson, G.L., K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, et al., "Boronization and VH–Mode Discharges," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1509.
- Jackson, G.L., J. Winter, K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Boronization in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. **196–198** (1992) 236; General Atomics Report GA–A20904 (1992).
- James, R.A., R.W. Harvey, Y.R. Lin-Liu, M.G. McCoys, "Experimental and Theoretical Analysis of DIII–D Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments in a Non-Linear Regime," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1513.
- Jensen, T.H., A.W. Leonard, A.W. Hyatt, "A Comprehensive Model for Driven Islands in Tokamaks," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1568.
- Jensen, T.H., J.M. Greene, P.A. Politzer, "Large Anomaly of the Perpendicular Resistivity of a Tokamak," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract), 36 (1991) 2412; Phys. Fluids B 4 (1992) 760; General Atomics Report GA–A20557 (1991).
- Jong, R.A., D.N. Hill, and G.D. Porter, "Comparison of Divertor Models with Divertor Heat Flux Measurements in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1566.
- Kamada, Y., R.T. Snider, T.S. Taylor, E.J. Strait, and J.R. Ferron, "Sawtooth Frequency Studies in DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Nucl. Fusion (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20611 (1992).
- Kawashima, H., V.M. Trukhin, J. Lohr, R.W. Harvey, et al., "X-Ray Energy Analysis for Radio Frequency Current Drive Experiments in the DIII–D Tokamak," General Atomics Report GA–A20957 (1992).
- Kessler, D., "Power Distribution Within the Accelerator Column of a DIII–D Neutral Beam Source," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1496.

- Khayrutdinov, R.R., V.E. Lukash, A.G. Kellman, and D.A. Humphreys, "DINA Disruption Simulation of DIII–D Discharges," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1570.
- Kim, J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Comparison of Measured Ion Poloidal Flow Velocities With Predictions of Neoclassical Theory," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1510.
- Klepper, C.C., J.T. Hogan, L.W. Owen, P.K. Mioduszewski, et al., "Comparison of Transient and Stationary Neutral Pressure Response in the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," J. Nucl. Mater. 196–198 (1992) 1090; General Atomics Report GA–A20900 (1992).
- Klepper, C.C., J.T. Hogan, D.N. Hill, R. Maingi, et al., "Divertor Neutral Pressure Enhancement With a Baffle in DIII–D," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A20774 (1992).
- Konoshima, S., T.H. Osborne, K.H. Burrell, M.S. Chu, et al., "The Effect of Plasma Shaping 'Triangularity' on VH–Mode Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1509.
- Kurki-Suonio, T., and K.H. Burrell, "Investigation of Electron-Ion Temperature Differences at the Edge of H–Mode Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1510.
- Kurki-Suonio, T., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, R. Philipona, and C.L. Rettig, "Transport and Fluctuations in the Interior of the DIII–D Plasmas," to be published in Nucl. Fusion (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21017 (1992).
- Kurki-Suonio, T., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, "Changes in Local Confinement After an L–H Transition in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **32** (1992) 133; General Atomics Report GA–A20450 (1991).
- La Haye, R.J., "Error Field Considerations for BPX," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1023; General Atomics Report GA–A20579 (1991).
- La Haye, R.J., R.U. Fitzpatrick, T.C. Hender, et al., "Critical Error Fields for Locked Mode Instability in Tokamaks," Phys. Fluids B **4**, 2098 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20709 (1991).
- La Haye, R.J., R. Fitzpatrick, T.C. Hender, A.W. Morris, et al., "Critical Error Fields for Locked Mode Instability in Tokamaks," Phys. Fluids B **4** (1992) 2098; General Atomics Report GA–A20709 (1992).
- La Haye, R.J., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, C.L. Rettig, and J.T. Scoville, "Effect of Magnetic Braking of Plasma Rotation on the H–Mode Radial Electric Field, Confinement and Microturbulence in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1568.
- La Haye, R.J., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Effect of Magnetic Braking of the Plasma Rotation on the H–Mode Radial Electric Field and Energy Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Nucl. Fusion (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20782 (1992).

- La Haye, R.J., A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Non-Linear Instability to Low m, n=1 Error Fields in DIII–D as a Function of Plasma Fluid Rotation and Beta," Nucl. Fusion **32** (1992) 2119; General Atomics Report GA–A20824 (1992).
- La Haye, R.J., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, and J.T. Scoville, "Investigation of the Effect of Large Core Changes in Toroidal Plasma Rotation and Radial Electric Field on Confinement in H–Mode Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 187; General Atomics Report GA–A20909 (1992).
- La Haye, R.J., R.J. Groebner, A.W. Hyatt, C.L. Rettig, and J.T. Scoville, "Effect of Magnetic Braking of Plasma Rotation on the H–Mode Radial Electric Field, Confinement and Microturbulence in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1568.
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, T.S. Taylor, V.S. Chan, et al., "Regimes of Improved Confinement and Stability in DIII–D Obtained Through Current Profile Modifications," to be published in Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21053 (1992).
- Lao, LL., V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, et al., "High Li Improved Confinement H–Mode Discharges Obtained by Dynamic Shaping Technique in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1509.
- Lao, L.L., T.S. Taylor, M.S. Chu, A.D. Turnbull, et al., "Effects of Current Profiles on MHD Stability," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part IV, p. 73; General Atomics Report GA–A20479 (1991).
- Lazarus, E.A., L.L. Lao, T.H. Osborne, T.S. Taylor, et al., "An Optimization of Beta in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids B **4**, 3644 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20571 (1991).
- Lazarus, E.A., L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, and T.H. Osborne, "β·τ Versus Plasma Shape in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1410.
- Lee, R.L., A.G. Kellman, D.N. Hill, T.W. Petrie, and R. Ellis, "Heat Flux Deposition During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992).
- Leonard, A.W., D.N. Hill, T.W. Petrie, G.D. Porter, and R.A. Jong, "Power Balance and Divertor Performance in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1565.
- Lin-Liu, Y.R., R.W. Harvey, R.A. James, and M.G. McCoy, "Modeling of DIII–D Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Using CQL3D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 13.

- Lippmann, S.I., T.E. Evans, G.L. Jackson, and W.P. West, "Impurity Penetration and Transport During VH–Mode on DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. **196–198** (1992) 498; General Atomics Report GA–A20903 (1992).
- Lippmann, S.I., T.E. Evans, F. Allais, C. DeMichelis, et al., "Measurement of Poloidal Asymmetries in Tore Supra During Ergodic Divertor Operations," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1449.
- Lohr, John, R.W. Harvey, R.A. James, T.C. Luce, et al., "Analysis of NonInductive Current Drive from ECCD and Bootstrap on T–10," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) Vol. 144, p. 255; General Atomics Report GA–A20647 (1991).
- Luce, T.C., and C.C. Petty, "Modeling of Off-Axis Heating Discharges," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1410.
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, R. Prater, R.W. Harvey, et al., "Recent Results From the 60 GHz Inside Launch ECH System on the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Proc. 8th Joint Workshop on Electron Cyclotron Emission and Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating, October 18–21, 1992, Garching, Federal Republic of Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21134 (1992).
- Mahdavi, M.A., S.L. Allen, T.E. Evans, D.N. Hill, et al., "Applications of Divertor Biasing to the Next Generation Tokamaks," General Atomics Report GA–A21064 (1992).
- Mahdavi, M.A., "Divertor Biasing Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1526.
- Makowski, M.A., T.C. Luce, C. Forest, C.C. Petty, et al., "Analysis of ECH Modulated Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1511.
- Matsumoto, H., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, et al., "Suppression of the Edge Turbulence at the L to H Transition in DIII–D," Plasma Phys. and Contr. Fusion **34**, 615 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20383 (1991).
- Matthews, G., D.N. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, M.A. Mahdavi, et al., "Impurity Transport at the DIII–D Divertor Strike Points," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part III, p. 229; General Atomics Report GA–A20472 (1991).
- Mayberry, M.J., R.I. Pinsker, S.C. Chiu, G.L. Jackson, et al., "Fast Wave Current Drive Antenna Performance on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency Power in Plasmas, AIP (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) (1992) p. 276; General Atomics Report GA–A20694 (1991).
- Mayberry, M.J., R.I. Pinsker, C.C. Petty, M. Porkolab, et al., "Ion Bernstein Wave Antenna Loading Measurements on the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Nucl. Fusion (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20660 (1991).
- McHarg, Jr., B.B., "The Use of a VAX Cluster for the DIII–D Data Acquisition System," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 852; General Atomics Report GA–A20584 (1991).
- Menon, M.M., M.J. Schaffer, and A.G. Kellman, "Voltage Transients Induced by Plasma Disruptions in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992)1570.
- Moeller, C., R. Callis, W. DeHope, J. Doane, et al., "110 GHz ECH System for DIII–D," Proc. 18th European Conf. on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics (June 3–7, 1991, Berlin, Germany) Vol. 15C, Part III (1991) 369; General Atomics Report GA–A20471 (1991).
- Moeller, C.P., J.L. Doane, "A Coaxial Converter for Transforming a Whispering Gallery Mode to the He<sub>11</sub> Mode," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) Vol. 244 (1992) 326; General Atomics Report GA–A20628 (1991).
- Moyer, R.A., J.G. Watkins, K.H. Burrell, R.W. Conn, et al., "Turbulence and Particle Transport Measurements in the DIII–D Boundary With the Fast Reciprocating Langmuir Probe," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1411.
- Parks, P.B., "Electric Field and Current Distribution Near the Ablation Cloud of a Pellet Injected into a Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **32** (1992) 2137; General Atomics Report GA–A20761 (1992).
- Peebles, W.A., E.J. Doyle, C.L. Rettig, T.L. Rhodes, et al., "Edge and Interior Turbulence Measurements on DIII–D via Reflectometry and Collective Scattering," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1512.
- Petersen, P.I., S.M. Miller, "The DIII–D Tokamak Trouble Report Database," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 776; General Atomics Report GA–A20612 (1991).
- Petrie, T.W., D. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, C.C. Klepper, et al., "Divertor Heat Flux Reduction by D<sub>2</sub> Injection in DIII–D," J. Nucl. Mater. **196–198** (1992) 848; General Atomics Report GA–A20899 (1992).
- Petrie, T.W., D. Buchenauer, R. Campbell, J.W. Cuthbertson, et al., "Divertor Heat Flux Reduction by D<sub>2</sub> Injection in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992)1565.
- Petrie, T.W., D.N. Hill, D. Buchenauer, A. Futch, et al., "Recent Gaseous Divertor Experiments in DIII–D," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part III, p. 237; General Atomics Report GA–A20478 (1991).
- Petty, C.C., T.C. Luce, J.C.M. deHaas, R.A. James, et al., "Non-Diffusive Heat Transport During Electron Cyclotron Heating on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part I, p. 241; General Atomics Report GA–A20465 (1991).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.J. Mayberry, S.C. Chiu, et al., "Direct Electron Heating by 60 MHz Fast Waves on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) (1992) p. 96; General Atomics Report GA–A20688 (1991).

- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.J. Mayberry, M. Porkolab, et al., "Fundamental and Second Harmonic Hydrogen Fast-Wave Heating on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) (1992) p. 133; General Atomics Report GA–A20693 (1991).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, F.W. Baity, et al., "Direct Electron Absorption of Fast Waves on the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. **69** (1992) 289; General Atomics Report GA–A20934 (1992).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, F.W. Baity, et al., "Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 29–July 3, 1992, Innsbruck, Austria, Vol. 16C, Part II (1992) 893; General Atomics Report GA–A20930 (1992).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.J. Mayberry, M. Porkolab, et al., "Absorption of Fast Waves by Electrons on the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 289 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20777 (1992).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, F.W. Baity, et al., "Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1411.
- Phelps, D.A., C.P. Moeller, R.W. Gould, and S.C. Chiu, "Modeling of Plasma Loading and Unidirectional Coupling to Fast Waves with a New Broadband Traveling Wave Antenna: The Combline Structure," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1513.
- Phillips, J., T. Hodapp, K. Holtrop, G.L. Jackson, and J. Winters, "Initial Boronization of the DIII–D Tokamak," J. Vac. Science and Technol. A 10, 1252 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20750 (1991).
- Philipona, R., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, et al., "Two-Stage Turbulence Suppression and E × B Plasma Flow Measured at the L–H Transition," Phys. Fluids B **5**, 87 (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20516 (1991).
- Pinsker, R.I., M.J. Mayberry, C.C. Petty, W.P. Cary, et al., "30–60 MHz FWCD System on DIII–D: Power Division, Phase Control, and Tuning for a Four-Element Antenna Array," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 115; General Atomics Report GA–A20619 (1991).
- Pinsker, R.I., M.J. Mayberry, C.C. Petty, M. Porkolab, et al., "ICRF Heating Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency (August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina) (1992) p. 105; General Atomics Report GA–A20697 (1991).
- Pinsker, R.I., C.C. Petty, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, et al., "Results From Faraday-Shieldless Operation of the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive Antenna," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1512.
- Politzer, P.A., and V.S. Chan, "RF-Enhanced Bootstrap Current," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1514.

- Prater, R., T.C. Luce, and C.C. Petty, "Transport Analysis of Off-Axis Heating Discharges," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1511.
- Prater, R., R.A. James, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, et al., "Current Drive With Fast Waves, Electron Cyclotron Waves, and Neutral Injection in the DIII–D Tokamak," to be published in Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A21003 (1992).
- Project Staff, T.C. Simonen, T.E. Evans (editors), "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy," General Atomics Report GA–A20790 (1992).
- Reis, E., I. Almajan, C.B. Baxi, M.M. Menon, et al., "Design and Analysis of the Cryopump for the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 17th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 14–18, 1992, Rome, Italy; General Atomics Report GA–A21016 (1992).
- Reis, E., R.D. Blevins, T.H. Jensen, J.L. Luxon, et al., "Modeling and Measurement of the Motion of the DIII–D Vacuum Vessel During Vertical Instabilities," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 3–October 3,1991) Vol. I (1992) 37; General Atomics Report GA–A20636 (1991).
- Rensink, M.E., S.L. Allen, A.H. Futch, D.N. Hill, et al., "Particle Transport Studies for Single-Null Divertor Discharges in DIII–D," to be published in Phys. Fluids B (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20510 (1992).
- Rettig, C.L., E.J. Doyle, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., W.A. Peebles, et al., "Microturbulence Drive/Suppression Mechanisms in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1526.
- Riggs, S., "Recent Measurements of Divergence and Species Mix for DIII–D Neutral Beams With a New Doppler Shifted Spectroscopy Analysis Routine," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1496.
- Schaffer, M.J., S.I. Lippmann, M.A. Mahdavi, T.W. Petrie, et al., "Particle Control in the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30– October 3,1991) Vol. I (1992) 197; General Atomics Report GA–A20631 (1991).
- Schaffer, M.J., M.A. Mahdavi, C.C. Klepper, D.N. Hill, M.E. Rensink, "Effect of Divertor Bias on Plasma Flow in the Tokamak Scrape-off Layer," Nucl. Fusion 32, 855 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20474 (1991).
- Schaffer, M.J., S. Yamaguchi, and Y. Kondoh, "Preliminary Oscillating Fluxes Current Drive Experiment in DIII–D Tokamak," submitted to Nucl. Fusion (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A20613 (1992).
- Schaffer, MJ., S.L. Allen, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Advanced Divertor Program Results from DIII–D," to be published in Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21044 (1992).
- Schaffer, M.J., D. Buchenauer, J.W. Cuthbertson, R. Ellis, et al., "Edge Effects During DIII–D Divertor Biasing," General Atomics Report GA–A21060 (1992).

- Schaffer, M.J., T.R. Jarboe, A.W. Hyatt, M.A. Mahdavi, et al., "Non-Inductive Startup Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1566.
- Schaubel, K.M., C.B. Baxi, G.L. Campbell, A.M. Gootgeld, et al., "Design of the Advanced Divertor Pump Cryogenic System for DIII–D," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1222; General Atomics Report GA–A20607 (1991).
- Schissel, D.P., T.H. Osbome, T.N. Carlstrom, and H. Zohm, "A Quantitative Analysis of the Effect of ELMs on H–Mode Thermal Energy Confinement in DIII–D," Proc. 19th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Innsbruck, Austria, 1992 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 16C, Part I, p. 235; General Atomics Report GA–A20942 (1992).
- Schissel, D.P., T.H. Osborne, J.C. DeBoo, J.R. Ferron, et al., "An Examination of Heat Transport During Off Axis Neutral Beam Injection in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **32**, 689 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20696 (1991).
- Schissel, D.P., T.H. Osborne, J.C. DeBoo, J.R. Ferron, and R.E. Waltz, "Heat Transport During Off-Axis NBI in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1410.
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. LaHaye, "Design of a Coil to Correct Magnetic Field Errors on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1144; General Atomics Report GA–A20577 (1991).
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. La Haye, A.W. Hyatt, and E.J. Strait, "The Effect of Error Fields on Plasma Stability Near the Beta Limit in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1569.
- Seraydarian, R.P., K.H. Burrell, and R.J. Groebner, "A Global Fitting Code for Multichordal Neutral Beam Spectroscopic Data," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63**, 4764 (1992).
- Seraydarian, R.P., K.H. Burrell, and R.J. Groebner, "A Global Fitting Code for Multichordal Neutral Beam Spectroscopic Data" Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1568.
- Simonen, T.C., and the DIII–D Team, "Future Directions of the DIII–D Tokamak Program," to be published in Fusion Energy; General Atomics Report GA–A20914 (1992).
- Smith, J.P., C.B. Baxi, E. Reis, M.J. Schaffer, et al., "The Design and Fabrication of a Toroidally Continuous Cryocondensation Pump for the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 1230; General Atomics Report GA–A20672 (1991).
- Smith, J.P., C.B. Baxi, E. Reis, and D.L. Sevier, "A Cryocondensation Pump for the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Program," Proc. 10th Top. Meeting on the Technology of Fusion Energy, June 7–12, 1992, Boston, Massachusetts; General Atomics Report GA–A20851 (1992).

- Smith, J.P., M.J. Schaffer, A.W. Hyatt, "The Electrical Insulation of the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Electrode," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30– October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 338; General Atomics Report GA–A20623 (1991).
- Snider, R.T., and T.N. Carlstrom, "Short Wavelength Interferometer for ITER," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 63, 4977 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20855 (1992).
- Snider, R.T., R.J. La Haye, and D. Wroblewski, 'Modification of the Sawtooth Crash Behavior During Large Error Field Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1569.
- Staebler, G.M., A.W. Hyatt, M.J. Schaffer, and M.A. Mahdavi, "Bias Sustained Shield Plasma for Tokamak Particle Control," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1566.
- Staebler, G.M., R.E. Waltz, M. Beer, R.R. Dominguez, et al., "Profile Characteristics of H–Mode Bifurcation Models and Turbulence Simulations With Gyro-Landau Fluid Models in Slab and Toroidal Geometry," to be published in Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21055 (1992).
- Stambaugh, R.D., and the DIII–D Team, "DIII–D Research Program Progress," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 1 (1991) p. 69; General Atomics Report GA–A20273 (1990).
- Stambaugh, R.D., L.L. Lao, "On the Relation of Vertical Stability and Aspect Ratio in Tokamaks," Nucl. Fusion 32, 1642 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20603 (1991).
- Stambaugh, R.D., Q. Nguyen, R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, and P. Gohil, "Edge Ion Orbit Loss and H–Mode," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1509.
- St. John, H., L.L. Lao, R.A. James, Y.R. Lin-Liu, and S.J. Thompson, "Self-Consistent MHD/Transport Modeling of Some DIII–D Discharges," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1510.
- Strait, E.J., V.S. Chan, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, et al., "The Influence of Current and Pressure Profiles on Operational Limits in DIII–D," General Atomics Report GA-C21066 (1992).
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, M.S. Chu, H.H. Duong, et al., "Stability of TAE Modes in DIII-D," to be published in Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30-October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA-A21045 (1992).
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, M.S. Chu, H.H. Duong, et al., "Stability of TAE Modes in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1410.
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, M.S. Chu, H.H. Duong, et al., "Stability of TAE Modes in DIII–D," special issue Phys. Fluids B (1993); General Atomics Report GA–A21045 (1992).

- Taylor, P.L., "DIII–D Radiation Shielding Procedures and Experiences," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 617; General Atomics Report GA–A20570 (1991).
- Taylor, T.S., T.H. Osborne, K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, et al., "Confinement and Stability of VH–Mode Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 14th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, September 30–October 7, 1992, Wurzburg, Germany; General Atomics Report GA–A21092 (1992).
- Taylor, P.L., A.G. Kellman, K. Holtrop, and R.L. Lee, "DIII–D Disruption Database and Recent Results," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1570.
- Thomas, D.M., R.M. Patterson, W.B. McHarg, E. McKee, "Initial Results from the DIII–D Lithium Beam Diagnostic," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1568.
- Thomas, M.P., T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, J. Evans, et al., "Measurement Calibration Studies on the DIII–D Eight Laser Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992)1567.
- Thompson, SJ., L.L. Lao, J.R. Ferron, and H.E. St. John, "A Portable Version of EFIT With Toroidal Rotation for VMS and UNIX Environments," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) **37** (1992) 1511.
- Wade, M.R., D.L. Hillis, J.T. Hogan, D.F. Finkenthal, et al., "Helium Transport Studies in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1411.
- Waltz, R.E., and A.H. Boozer, "Local Shear in General Magnetic Stellarator Geometry," submitted to Phys. Fluids B; General Atomics Report GA–A21071 (1992).
- Waltz, R.E., J.C. DeBoo, and T.H. Osborne, "Modeling Almost Dimensionally Similar Discharges," Nucl. Fusion 32 (1992) 1051; General Atomics Report GA–A20705 (1992).
- Watkins, J.G., R.A. Moyer, J.W. Cuthbertson, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Characterization of the DIII–D Boundary Plasma," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1411.
- West, W.P., S.I. Lippmann, N.H. Brooks, A.M. Howald, et al., "Impurity Influx on DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1566.
- Wight, J., R.M. Hong, J. Phillips, "Recent DIII–D Neutral Beam Calibration Results," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. I (1992) 66; General Atomics Report GA–A20650 (1991).
- Wroblewski, D., and R.T. Snider, "A Study of Current Profiles in Sawtoothing Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 34th Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 16–20, 1992, Seattle, Washington (Abstract) 37 (1992) 1569.

- Wroblewski, D., and L.L. Lao, "Polarimetry of Motional Stark Effect and Determination of Current Profiles in DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **63**, 5160 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20881 (1992).
- Zohm, H., I.M. Greene, L.L. Lao, and E.J. Strait, "Mirnov Coil Analysis in DIII–D Tokamak Using the Singular Value Decomposition Method," to be published in Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A20886 (1992).

# 7.8. FY91

- Baxi, C.B., "Thermal Analysis of JET Cryopump Nitrogen Shield," General Atomics Report GA-A20371 (1991).
- Baxi, C.B., P. Anderson, A. Langhorn, et al., "Thermal Design, Analysis, and Experimental Verification for a DIII–D Cryogenic Pump," Proc. 2nd Int. Symp. on Fusion Nuclear Technology ISFNT–2, June 2–7, 1991, Karlsruhe, FRG; General Atomics Report GA–A20464 (1991).
- Baxi, C.B., A. Langhorn, K. Schaubel, J. Smith, "Thermal Analysis of a Coaxial Helium Panel of a Cryogenic Vacuum Pump for Advanced Divertor of DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 1991 Cryogenic Engineering Conf., June 11–14, 1991, Huntsville, Alabama; General Atomics Report GA–A20589 (1991).
- Burrell, K.H., and the L to H Transition Physics Task Group, "Comparison of Theories of the L to H Transition with DIII–D Results," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract), 36 (1991) 2474.
- Carlstrom, T.N., K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Scaling of H-mode Threshold Conditions in DIII-D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2476.
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, T.N. Carlstrom, M.J. Mayberry, et al., "Phase Contrast Interferometry on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2473.
- Colleraine, A.P., J.L. Luxon, and the DIII–D Group, "DIII–D: A Status Report," Fusion Technology **19**, 1247 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20299 (1990).
- Cummings, J.W., P.A. Thurgood, "Software Upgrade for the DIII–D Neutral Beam Control Systems," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 30–October 3, 1991) Vol. II (1992) 828; General Atomics Report GA–A20590 (1991).
- deHaas, J.C.M., T.C. Luce, C.C. Petty, W.H. Meyer, "Modulated ECH Experiments at DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2476.
- DeBoo, J.C., G.L. Jackson, T. Luce, D.P. Schissel, et al., "An Overview of Energy Confinement and Transport Studies in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2323.

- The DIII–D Team, "Recent Results from DIII–D and Future Plans," Proc. 14th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE (San Diego, California, September 3–October 3, 1991) Invited Paper; General Atomics Report GA–A20711 (1992).
- The DIII–D Team, "VH–mode: A Very High Confinement Regime in the Boronized DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids B (1992) 218; General Atomics Report GA–A20552 (1991).
- Doyle, E.J., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, et al., 'Modifications in Turbulence and Edge Electric Fields at the L-H Transition in DIII-D," Phys. Fluids B **3** (1991) 2300; General Atomics Report GA-A20366 (1991).
- Duong, H.H., W.W. Heidbrink, R.I. Pinsker, E.J. Strait, P.L. Taylor, "Confinement of Fast Ions During TAE Instabilities," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2477.
- Evans, T.E., and The ASDEX Team, "Measurements of Poloidal and Toroidal Energy Deposition Asymmetries in the ASDEX Divertors," Max-Planck-Institut fur Plasmaphysik Report IPP III/154 (1991).
- Evans, T.E., J. Neuhaser, F. Leuterer, E.R. Muller, and The ASDEX Team, "Characteristics of Toroidal Energy Deposition Asymmetries in ASDEX," J. Nucl. Mater. 176–177, 202 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20076 (1990).
- Evans, T.E., M. Goniche, C. DeMichelis, D. Guilhem, et al., "First Results from Combined Ergodic Boundary Layer and LHCD Experiments in Tore Supra," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2367.
- Ferron, J.R., M.S. Chu, J. DeBoo, L. Lao, et al., "The Effect of Current Profile Changes on Confinement in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2324.
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, E.J. Doyle, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Study of the Edge Electric Field at the L–H Transition and ELMs in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2323.
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, R.P. Seraydarian, "High Spatial and Temporal Resolution Visible Spectroscopy of the Plasma Edge in DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 2949 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20105 (1990).
- Greenfield, C.M., K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Transport Analysis of VH-mode Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2475.
- Greenfield, C.M., G.L. Campbell, T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "A Real-Time Digital Control, Data Acquisition and Analysis System for the DIII–D Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 3286 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20097 (1990).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.P. Seraydarian, "Spectroscopic Study of Edge Poloidal Rotation and Radial Electronic Fields in the DIII–D Tokamaks," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 2920 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20100 (1990).

- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.P. Seraydarian, et al., "Edge Ion Dynamics Before and After L-H Transition in DIII-D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2474.
- Harvey, R.W., S.C. Chiu, M.G. McCoy, G.D. Smith, K.T. Mau, "3D Fokker-Planck Calculation of Combined Fast Wave and Electron Cyclotron Current Drive in a Tokamak Reactor," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2340.
- Heidbrink, W.W., in collaboration with M.S. Chu, L.L. Lao, E.J. Strait, et al., "TAE Modes in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2402.
- Heidbrink, W.W., E.J. Strait, E.J. Doyle, G. Sager, R. Snider, "An Investigation of Beam Driven Alfven Instabilities in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 1635 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20254 (1991).
- Hill, D.N., D. Buchenauer, R. Doerner, A. Futch, et al., "Plasma Diagnostics for the DIII–D Divertor Upgrade," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 3308 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20099 (1990).
- Hill, D.N., D. Buchenaur, C.C. Klepper, A.W. Leonard, et al., "Divertor-Plasma Characterization in DIII–D Plasmas," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2325.
- Hogan, J., C.C. Klepper, L. Owen, P.K. Mioduszewski, et al., "Plasma Modeling of Baffle Pressure Scaling Studies in the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Experiment," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2503.
- Holtrop, K., A.G. Kellman, R.L. Lee, P.L. Taylor, "Behavior of Plasma Current During DIII–D Disruptions," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2478.
- Hong, R., J. Phillips, J. Wight, "Effects of Filament Temperature on the Arc Discharge and Beam Operation of the DIII–D Neutral Beam Ion Sources," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8,1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2424.
- Hsieh, C., T. Carlstrom, M. Chu, J. DeBoo, et al., "Electron Temperature and Density Profiles in Tokamaks," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2477.
- Jackson, G.L., T.S. Taylor, P.L. Taylor, "Particle Control in DIII–D with Helium Glow Discharge Conditioning," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 2305 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19891 (1990).
- Jackson, G.L., J. Winter, T.S. Taylor, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Regime of Very High Confinement in the Boronized DIII-D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 67, 3098 (1991); General Atomics Report GA-A20567 (1991).
- James, R.A., R.F. Ellis, R. Harvey, J. Lohr, et al., "Second Harmonic Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments in DIII–D Using 60 GHz Inside Launched ECH," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2471.

- James, R.A., G. Giruzzi, A. Fyakhretdinov, B. de Gentile, et al., "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. A **45**, 8783 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20429 (1991).
- Jensen, T.H., A.W. Leonard, R.J. LaHaye, M.S. Chu, "Effects of Plasma Flow on Error Field Islands," Phys. Fluids B **3**, 1650 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20091 (1990).
- Jensen, T.H., D.G. Skinner, "Support of the Model for 'Vertical Displacement Episodes' from Numerical Simulation of Episodes Observed in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids B **2**, 2358 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19882 (1990).
- Khayrutdinov, R.R., E.A. Azizov, A.G. Kellman, "Numerical Study of Plasma Behavior During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2478.
- Kim, J., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, P. Gohil, R.P. Seraydarian, "Comparison of Experimental Values of Impurity Poloidal and Toroidal Flow Velocities with Predictions of Neoclassical Theory," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2474.
- Klepper, C.C., J.T. Hogan, N.H. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Spectral Profiles of Neutral Particles in the DIII–D Divertor," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2504.
- Klepper, C.C., J.T. Hogan, M.A. Mahdavi, M.J. Schaffer, et al., "Divertor Neutral Pressure Enhancement with a Baffle in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2325.
- Kurki-Suonio, T., R.J. Groebner, R. Philipona, C. Rettig, et al., "Comparison of Reduction in Fluctuations and Transport on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2475.
- LaHaye, R.J., "Calculation of the Effects of Field Errors on Diverted Magnetic Field Lines in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 1550 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20327 (1991).
- LaHaye, R.J., J.T. Scoville, "A Method to Measure Poloidal Field Coil Irregularities in Toroidal Plasma Devices," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **62**, 2146 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20356 (1991).
- LaHaye, R.J., J.T. Scoville, "Non-Linear Instability of DIII–D to Error Fields," Proc. IAEA Technical Committee Mtg., September 10–12, 1991, Culham Laboratory, Abingdon, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20653 (1991).
- Lao, L.L., "Effects of Current Profile on the Ideal Ballooning Mode," Phys. Fluids B 4 (1992) 232; General Atomics Report GA–A20593 (1991).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, T.S. Taylor, E.J. Strait, et al., "Dependence of Plasma Stability and Confinement on the Current Density Profile," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2477.

- Lao, L.L., T.H. Jensen, "Magnetohydrodynamic Equilibria in Elongated Tokamaks After Loss of Vertical Stability," Nucl. Fusion 31, 1909 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20101 (1991).
- Lazarus, E.A., M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, F.J. Helton, et al., "Higher Beta at Higher Elongation in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids **3**, 2220 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20352 (1991).
- Lazarus, E.A., L.L. Lao, M.S. Osborne, A.D. Chu, et al., "Second Stable Core Plasma in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2324.
- Lee, R.L., K. Holtrop, A. Kellman, M. Menon, et al., "Development of a Database for Operations and Disruptions Physics," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2478.
- Leonard, A.W., A.M. Howald, A.W. Hyatt, T. Shoji, et al., "The Effects of Applied Error Fields on the H-mode Power Threshold of JFT-2M," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 1511 (1991); General Atomics Report GA-A20315 (1991).
- Leonard, A.W., A.W. Hyatt, T. Shoji, S. Tsuji, et al., "The New JFT–2M Ergodic Magnetic Limiter," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2368.
- Lippmann, S.I., "Radially Resolved Measurement of Intrinsic Impurities on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2473.
- Lister, J.B., E.A. Lazarus, A.G. Kelhman, J.-M. Moret, et al., "Experimental Study of the Vertical Stability of High Decay Index Plasmas in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 2349 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19843 (1990).
- Lloyd, B., G.L. Jackson, T.S. Taylor, E.A. Lazarus, et al., "Voltage Ohmic and ECH-Assisted Startup in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 2031 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20453 (1991).
- Luce, T.C., S.C. Chiu, R.W. Harvey, M.J. Mayberry, et al., "Modeling of Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 9th Topical Conf. on Radio Frequency, August 19–21, 1991, Charleston, South Carolina; General Atomics Report GA–A20691 (1991).
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, D. Schissel, T. Osborne, J. DeBoo, "Inward Energy Transport During Off-Axis Heating," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2349.
- Luce, T.C., C.C. Petty, J.C.M. de Haas, "Inward Transport of Energy in Tokamak Plasmas," Phys. Rev. Lett. **68**, 52 (1992); General Atomics Report GA–A20541 (1991).
- Mahdavi, M.A., R.J. Groebner, D.N. Hill, A. Hyatt, et al., "Effects of Edge Currents and Electric Fields on the H–mode Transition," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2324.

- Mahdavi, M. Ali, M. Schaffer, P. Anderson, C. Baxi, et al., "Divertor Baffling and Biasing Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 13th International Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 3 (IAEA, Vienna, 1991) 335; General Atomics Report GA–A20317 (1991).
- Matsumoto, H., R.E. Stockdale, J. deHaas, D. Hill, K.H. Burrell, "Perturbative Particle Transport Study of DIII–D H–mode Plasmas," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2476.
- Matthews, G.F., D.N. Hill, M.A. Mahdavi, "The Angular Dependence of Power in the DIII–D Divertor," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 1383 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20308 (1990).
- Moyer, R.A., J.G. Watkins, K. Burrell, R.W. Conn, et al., "Initial Characterization of Fluctuations in the DIII–D Edge Plasma with the SNL/UCLA Fast Reciprocating Langmuir Probe," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2472.
- Osborne, T., D. Bhadra, R. Waltz, "H-mode Confinement at High Aspect Ratio," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2477.
- Osborne, T., N. Brooks, K.H. Burrell, T. Carlstrom, et al., "Observation of H-mode in Ohmically Heated Divertor Discharges on DIII-D," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 2023 (1990); General Atomics Report GA-A19362 (1990).
- Ozeki, T., M.S. Chu, L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, et al., "Plasma Shaping, Edge Ballooning Stability, and the Occurrence of Giant ELMs in DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 1425 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19495 (1989).
- Parks, P.A., "Electric Field and Current Distributions Near the Ablation Cloud of a Pellet Injected into a Tokamak Magnetic Field," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2497.
- Petrie, T.W., D.N. Hill, J. Baptista, M. Brown, "Infrared Thermography System on DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 3557 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20112 (1990).
- Petrie, T.W., D.N. Hill, D. Buchenauer, A. Futch, et al., "Radiative Experiments in ELMing H-mode Plasmas in DIII-D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2471.
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.J. Mayberry, S.C. Chiu, et al., "Direct Electron Absorption of 60 MHz Fast Waves on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2470.
- Pinsker, R.I., C.C. Petty, M.J. Mayberry, S.C. Chiu, et al., "Initial Results from the DIII–D Fast Wave Current Drive Experiment," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2470.
- Politzer, P.A., G.D. Porter, "Power Threshold for Neutral Beam Current Drive," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 1606 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19869 (1990).

- Prater, R, F.W. Baity, S.C. Chiu, D. Ehst, et al., "Initial Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2324.
- Prater, R., M.J. Mayberry, C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, et al., "Initial Fast Wave Heating and Current Drive Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. IAEA Tech. Committee Mtg. on Fast Wave Current Drive, Arles, France, September 23–25, 1991 (1992) 308; General Atomics Report GA–A20784 (1992).
- Project Staff, "DIII–D Research Operations Annual Report to the U.S. Department of Energy," T. Simonen (ed.), General Atomics Report GA–A20361 (1991).
- Rensink, M.E., J.L. Milovich, T.D. Rognlien, A.H. Futch, et al., "Modeling of DIII–D Divertor Plasmas at ITERlike Power Levels," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2472.
- Schaffer, M.J., D. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, C.C. Klepper, et al., "Advanced Divertor Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part III, p. 241; General Atomics Report GA–A20480 (1991).
- Schaffer, M.J., D.N. Hill, N. Brooks, A. Hyatt, et al., "Biased Divertor Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2325.
- Schaffer, M.J., B.J. Leikind, "Observation of Electric Currents in Diverted Tokamak Scrape-Off Layers," Nucl. Fuson Lett. **31**, 1750 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20128 (1991).
- Schissel, D.P., J.C. DeBoo, K.H. Burrell, J.R. Ferron, et al., "H-mode Energy Confinement Scaling from the DIII–D and JET Tokamaks," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 73 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A19925 (1990); JET Report JET–P(90)16.
- Schissel, D.P., J.C. DeBoo, R. Ryter, O. Gruber, et al., "H-mode Energy Confinement Scaling from the ASDEX, DIII–D, and JET Tokamaks," General Atomics Report GA–A20548 (1991).
- Schissel, D.P., A.G. Kellman, R.T. Snider, R.D. Stambaugh, et al., "An Examination of DIII–D Energy Confinement at Small Values of the Plasma Safety Factor," Nucl. Fusion 32, 107 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20438 (1991).
- Schissel, D.P., T.H. Osborne, J.C. DeBoo, R.E. Waltz, et al., "Non-Diffusive Heat Transport During Off-Axis NBI in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2323.
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. LaHaye, "Measurement and Correction of Error Fields on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2478.
- Scoville, J.T., R.J. LaHaye, A.G. Kellman, T.H. Osborne, "Locked Modes in DIII–D and a Method for Prevention of the Low Density Mode," Nucl. Fusion 31, 875 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A19983 (1990).

- Scoville, J.T., P.I. Petersen, "A Low-Cost Multiple Hall Probe Current Transducer," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **62**, 755 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A19866 (1990).
- Seraydarian, R.P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, "A Global Fitting Code for Multichordal Neutral Beam Spectroscopic Data," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2474.
- Simonen, T.C., "Overview of the 1990's DIII–D Research Program," presented at the Fusion Power Associates Annual Meeting and Symp., June 25–26, 1991, Princeton, New Jersey; General Atomics Report GA–A20569 (1991).
- Simonen, T.C., D. Brower, P. Efthimion, J.C.M. DeHaas, et al., "Plasma Transport Studies Using Transient Techniques," Comments on Plasma Phys. in Contr. Fusion 14, 57 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20053 (1991).
- Snider, R.T., "Scaling of the Sawtooth Inversion Radius and Mixing Radius on DIII–D," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 2400 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19610 (1990).
- Snider, R., and the DIII–D Team, "The DIII–D Tokamak and Energy Confinement at Low q," Proc. 18th Annual Conf. on Plasma Physics, July 3–5, 1991, Colchester, England, p. 96; General Atomics Report GA–A20556 (1991).
- St. John, H., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, "Automated Analysis of Ion Temperature from the CER Diagnostic," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2473.
- Staebler, G.M., "Transport Modeling of Divertor Bias Experiments," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 729 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20185 (1990).
- Stambaugh, R.D., "On the Use of Positrons to Probe Magnetic Versus Electrostatic Turbulence," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 3043 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20096 (1990).
- Strait, E.J., M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, "Dependence of the DIII–D Beta Limit on the Current Profile," in Proc. 18th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, Berlin, Germany, 1991 (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1991) Vol. 15C, Part II, p. 105; General Atomics Report GA–A20477 (1991).
- Strait, E.J., L.L. Lao, J.L. Luxon, E.E. Reis, "Observation of Poloidal Current Flow to the Vacuum Vessel Wall During a Tokamak Vertical Instability," Nucl. Fusion **31**, 527 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20036 (1990).
- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, M.S. Chu, L.L. Lao, et al., "Stability of TAE Modes in DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2324.
- Taylor, P.L., "Initial Operational Experience After Installation of the DIII–D Radiation Shield," General Atomics Report GA–A20558 (1991).

- Taylor, T.S., E.A. Lazarus, M.S. Chu, J.R. Ferron, et al., "Profile Optimization and High Beta Discharges and Stability of High Elongation Plasmas in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 13th International Conf. on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C. Vol. 1 (1991) 177; General Atomics Report GA–A20283 (1991).
- Thomas, M.P., T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, J. Evans, et al., "The DIII–D Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2473.
- Trost, P.K., T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, C.M. Greenfield, et al., "A Multi-Laser System for a Fast Sampling Thomson Scattering Diagnostic," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 2864 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20095 (1990).
- Waltz, R.E., J.C. DeBoo, M.N. Rosenbluth, "Magnetic Field Scaling of Dimensionally Similar Tokamak Discharges," Phys. Fluids B **2**, 2118 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20172 (1990).
- West, W.P., N.H. Brooks, S. Lippmann, C.C. Klepper, et al., "Impurities in DIII–D After Boronization and During VH–mode," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) 36 (1991) 2476.
- Wight, J., "A Network-Based Macintosh Serial Host Interface Program," Proc. 37th ISA Int. Instrum. Symp., May 5–9,1991, San Diego, California; General Atomics Report GA–A20440 (1991).
- Wroblewski, D., "Multichannel Current Profile Diagnostic for DIII–D," Bull. 33rd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 4–8, 1991, Tampa, Florida (Abstract) **36** (1991) 2473.
- Wroblewski, D., L.L. Lao, "Determination of the Safety Factor in Sawtoothing Discharges in DIII–D," Phys. Fluids B **3**, 2877 (1991); General Atomics Report GA–A20402 (1991).

### 7.9. FY90

- Anderson, P., R. Phelps, and M. Venkatesh, "Neutron Shielding System for the DIII–D Research Facility," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, October 2–6, 1989, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, Vol. 2, 1340 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19743 (1989).
- Anderson, P.M., C.B. Baxi, E.E. Reis, et al., "Engineering, Installation, Testing, and Initial Operation of the DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 16th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 3–7, 1990, London, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20230 (1990).
- Baxi, C.B., E. Reis, and J. Smith, "Thermal Design and Analysis of DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2, 951 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19750 (1989).
- Bhadra, D.K., J. Kim, "Assessment of Possible High-Energy Neutral Beam Injection in DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2, 842 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19546 (1989).

- Bramson, G., D.P. Schissel, and J.C. DeBoo, "DIII–D Physics Analysis Database," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **57**, 1932 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20104 (1990).
- Burley, B.L. and T.L. Smith, "DIII–D F–Coil Chopper Selection, Control and Fault Recognition System," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2, 1371 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19751 (1989).
- Burrell, K.H., R.J. Groebner, P. Gohil, et al., "Comparison of Thermal and Angular Momentum Transport in Neutral Beam-Heated Hot-Ion H– and L–mode Discharges in DIII–D," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (European Physical Society, Petit-Lancy, Switzerland, 1990) Vol. 14B, Part I, 271; General Atomics Report GA–A20058 (1990).
- Burrell, K.H., R.J. Groebner, T.S. Kirki-Suonio, et al., "Transport in Auxiliary-Heated, Hot-Ion H-mode and L-mode Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 1 (1991) 123; General Atomics Report GA–A20277 (1990).
- Callis, R., A.P. Colleraine, P. Anderson, et al., "DIII–D Results and Plans," Proc. 16th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 3–7, 1990, London, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20219 (1990).
- Campbell, G.L. and J.J. Gilgallon, "DIII–D Cryogenic Control System Upgrade," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1, 167 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19747 (1989).
- Carlstrom, T.N., J.C. DeBoo, R. Evanko, et al., "A Compact, Low Cost, 7 Channel Polychromator for Thomson Scattering Measurements," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 2858 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20098 (1990).
- Carlstrom, T.N., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Scaling of Edge Parameters at the L-H Transition in D° into D<sup>+</sup> Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1975 (1990).
- Cheng, E.T., Aries Design Team, "Neutronics Design Aspects of Reference ARIES–I Fusion Blanket," Proc. 9th Topical Meeting on Technological Fusion, ANS, October 7–11, 1990, Oak Brook, Illinois; General Atomics Report GA–A20278 (1990).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, T.N. Carlstrom, et al., "Phase Contrast Interferometry on DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1978 (1990).
- Colleraine, A.P., R.W. Callis, R-M. Hong, et al., "Increased Power Delivery from the DIII–D Neutral Beam Injection System," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 221; General Atomics Report GA–A19754 (1989).
- Cummings, J., "Overview of Real-Time Computer Systems Technical Analysis of the MODCOMP Implementation of a Proprietary System 'MAX IV' and Real-Time UNIX System 'REAL/IX'," General Atomics Report GA–A20252 (1990).

- Cummings, J., "MODCOMP System Processors Reference Guide," General Atomics Report GA–A20251 (1990).
- DeBoo, J.C., R. Waltz, T. Carlstrom, et al., "DIII–D Confinement Study with Fixed Dimensionless Parameters," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2023 (1990).
- DIII–D Design Team, "DIII–D Research Program Progress," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 1 (1990) 69; General Atomics Report GA–A20273 (1990).
- DIII–D Research Team, "Recent Results with Deuterium Plasma Operation of the DIII–D Tokamak," General Atomics Report GA–A20071 (1990).
- Duong, H., W.W. Heidbrink, R. Fisher, et al., "Confinement of Fusion Products," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1973 (1990).
- Duong, H., and W.W. Heidbrink, "A 15 MeV Proton Diagnostic for DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61** (1990) 3137; General Atomics Report GA–A20111 (1990).
- Ferron, J.R., M.S. Chu, F.J. Helton, et al., "The Beta Limit in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part I (1990) 371; General Atomics Report GA–A20063 (1990).
- Ferron, J.R., The DIII–D Research Team, M.S. Chu, et al., "Discharges Near an Ideal Beta Limit in the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1972 (1990).
- Fisher, M.V., T.H. Jensen, F.A. Puhn, "Recent Leak Telescope Development," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 533; General Atomics Report GA–A19738 (1989).
- Fisher, R.K., J.M. McChesney, P.B. Parks, et al., "Fast Alpha Diagnostic Pellet Injection Experiments on TFTR," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2091 (1990).
- Futch, A.H., D.N. Hill, M.E. Rensink, et al., "Divertor Recycling and Core Fueling Studies for DIII-D Plasmas Using the DEGAS Code," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1976 (1990).
- Gilgallon, J.J. and J. Phillips, "Control System Upgrade for the DIII–D Neutral Beamline," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 175; General Atomics Report GA–A19760 (1989).
- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, et al., "High Spatial and Temporal Resolution Visible Spectroscopy of the Plasma Edge in DIII–D," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 2949; General Atomics Report GA–A20105 (1990).

- Gohil, P., K.H. Burrell, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Study of Edge Plasma Rotation Related to the L–H Transition and ELMs in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2023 (1990).
- Greenfield, C.M., G.L. Campbell, T.N. Carlstrom, et al., "A Real-Time Digital Control, Data Acquisition and Analysis System for the DIII–D Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 3786 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20097 (1990).
- Greenfield, C.M., T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Initial Operation of the DIII–D Multiphase Thomson Profile Diagnostic," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1978 (1990).
- Groebner, R.J., "Spectroscopic Study of Edge Poloidal Rotation and Radial Electronic Fields in the DIII–D Tokamaks," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 2920 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20100 (1990).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, R.P. Seraydarian, et al., "Changes in Edge Poloidal Rotation and Radial Electric Field at L–H Transition," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1974 (1990).
- Groebner, R.J., W.A. Peebles, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Role of the Edge Electric Field and Microturbulence in the L–H Transition," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 1 (1990) 453; General Atomics Report GA–A20272 (1990).
- Haskovec, J., G. Bramson, N.H. Brooks, et al., "FOMA A Fast Optical Multichannel Analyzer," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 153; General Atomics Report GA–A19753 (1989).
- Heidbrink, W.W., "Measurements of Classical Deceleration of Beam Ions in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids B **2** (1990) 1; General Atomics Report GA–A19709 (1989).
- Henline, Pamela, "Upgrade Plans to Handle 30 to 40 Mbytes of Data for DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 153; General Atomics Report GA–A19741 (1989).
- Hill, D.N., D. Buchenauer, R. Doerner, et al., "Plasma Diagnostics for the DIII–D Divertor Upgrade," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61** (1990) 3308; General Atomics Report GA–A20099 (1990).
- Hill, D.N., T.W. Petrie, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Divertor Heat-Flux Reduction by Divertor Gas Injection," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1975 (1990).
- Hill, D.N., T.W. Petrie, J.N. Brooks, "Divertor-Plasma Studies on DIII–D," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 3 (1990) 487; General Atomics Report GA–A20280 (1990).
- Holtrop, K.L., G.L. Jackson, P.I. Petersen, et al., "Impurity Control in DIII–D with Glow Discharges, Carbonization, and Boronization," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1976 (1990).

- Hong, R., D. Kellman, G. Santamaria, et al., "Beam Current Regulation of DIII–D Neutral Beam Long Pulse Ion Sources," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2 (1990) 987; General Atomics Report GA–A19756 (1989).
- Hsieh, C.-L., J. Haskovec, T.N. Carlstrom et al., "A Silicon Avalanche Photodiode Detector Circuit for Nd:YAG Laser Scattering," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 61, 2855 (1990); General Atomics Report GA-A20094 (1990).
- Jackson, G.L., B.L. Doyle, D.N. Hill, et al., "Wall Conditioning and Plasma Surface Interactions in DIII-D," Proc. 9th International Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions, May 21–25, 1990, Bournemouth, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA-A20250 (1990).
- Jahns, G.L., R.J. Groebner, and H. St. John, "Comparison of Transport in H– and L–phase Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **29**, 1271 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19376 (1989).
- James, R.A., K.H. Burrell, S.L. Allen, et al., "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part III (1990) 359; General Atomics Report GA–A20066 (1990).
- Janz, S., D.A. Boyd, R.F. Ellis, et al., "Observation of Non-Thermal Electron Cyclotron Emission on DIII–D Using the University of Maryland Michelson Interferometer," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1977 (1990).
- Kamada, Y., R.T. Snider, E.J. Strait, et al., "Sawtooth Frequency Studies in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1978 (1990).
- Kellman, A.G., J.R. Ferron, T.H. Jensen, et al., "Vertical Stability, High Elongation, and the Consequences of Loss of Vertical Control on DIII–D," Proc. 16th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 3–7, 1990, London, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20238 (1990).
- Kellman, A.G., L.L. Lao, J.L. Luxon, et al., "Plasma Behavior During Disruptions in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1973 (1990).
- Kim, Jinchoon, J.K. Boshoven, R.W. Callis, et al., "Radiation Shielding Analysis for DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2 (1990) 869; General Atomics Report GA–A19755 (1989).
- Kim, Jinchoon, K. Schaubel, and A.P. Colleraine, "Helium Pumping by Argon Frosting on a 4.5 K Surface," Proc. 36th National Symp. and Topical Conference for the American Vacuum Society, October 23–27, 1989, Boston, Massachusetts; General Atomics Report GA–A19792 (1989).
- Kurki-Suonio, T., and R.J. Groebner, "Changes in Local Confinement Properties During L-H Transition," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1975 (1990).

- La Haye, R.J., J.T. Scoville, R.D. Stambaugh, et al., "The Effects of Resonant Error Fields on Confinement in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1974 (1990).
- Lao, L.L., J.R. Ferron, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Equilibrium Analysis of Current Profiles in Tokamaks," Nucl. Fusion 30, 1035 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19668 (1990).
- Lao, L.L., E.A. Lazarus, M.S. Chu, et al., "Equilibrium and Stability of Highly Elongated DIII–D Divertor Discharges," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2024 (1990).
- Lazarus, E.A., J.B. Lister, and G.H. Neilson, "Control of the Vertical Instability in Tokamaks," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 111 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19581 (1990).
- Lazarus, E.A., A.D. Turnbull, A.G. Kellman, et al., "Experiments at High Elongations in DIII–D," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part I, 427; General Atomics Report GA–A20057 (1990).
- Lazarus, E.A., L.L. Lao, A.G. Kellman, et al., "Higher Beta at Higher Elongation in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2052 (1990).
- Lee, R., A.P. Colleraine, R. Hong, et al., "Measurement of Neutral Beam Profiles on DIII–D Inner Wall Armor Tiles Using Scanning Infrared Optics," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 157; General Atomics Report GA–A19759 (1989).
- Leuer, J.A. and J.C. Wesley, "Passive Vertical Stability of ITER," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2 (1990) 1274; General Atomics Report GA–A19764 (1989).
- Lippmann, S.I., T.W. Petrie, G.F. Matthews, et al., "Low-Z Impurity Behavior During Gas Injection into the DIII-D Divertor," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1975 (1990).
- Lohr, J., R.A. James, R.W. Harvey, et al., "Comparative Analysis of Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments on DIII–D and T–10," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1976 (1990).
- Lohr, J., R.A. James, G. Giruzzi, et al., "Comparison Between the Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments on DIII-D and Predictions for T-10," Proc. International Workshop on Strong Microwaves in Plasma, September 18-23, 1990, Suzdal, USSR; General Atomics Report GA-A20276 (1990).
- Luce, T.C., J. deHaas, R.A. James, et al., "Local Transport Analysis of ECH Plasmas," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1976 (1990).

- Luce, T.C., R.A. James, A. Fyaretdinov, "Electron Cyclotron Heating and Current Drive Results from the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 14B, Part III, 1259; General Atomics Report GA–A20281 (1990).
- Luxon, J.L., G. Bramson, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Recent Results from DIII–D and Their Implications for Next Generation Tokamaks," Plasma Physics and Contr. Fusion 32 (1990) 869; General Atomics Report GA–A20181 (1990).
- Mahdavi, M.A., N. Brooks, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Plasma Boundary Experiments on DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 9th International Conf. on Plasma Surface Interactions, May 21–25, 1990, Bournemouth, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20130 (1990).
- Mahdavi, M.A., K.H. Burrell, D. Buchenauer, et al., "Effects of Charge Exchange Collisions on Edge Plasma Rotation and H-mode Confinement," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1974 (1990).
- Matsumoto, H., K.H. Burrell, T.N. Carlstrom, et al., "Physics of the L to H Transition in DIII–D," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part I, p. 279; General Atomics Report GA–A20081 (1990).
- Matsumoto, H., E.J. Strait, J.R. Ferron, et al., "Fluctuation Studies of High Beta Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1972 (1990).
- Matthews, G.F., D. Buchenauer, D.N. Hill, et al., "Ionization and Transport of Methane Injected at the DIII–D Divertor Stripe Points," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1976 (1990).
- Mayberry, M.J., S.C. Chiu, R.I. Pinsker, et al., "Coupling Fast Waves in the ICRF to H-mode Plasmas in DIII-D," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 579 (1990); General Atomics Report GA-A19565 (1989).
- Mayberry, M.J., C.C. Petty, R.I. Pinsker, et al., "High Power Ion Bernstein Wave Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting. November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2022 (1990).
- McHarg, B.B. Jr., "Data File Management in the DIII–D Data Acquisition and Analysis Computer Systems," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 185; General Atomics Report GA–A19748 (1989).
- Moeller, C., R. Prater, R. Callis, et al., "2 MW 110 GHz ECH Heating System for DIII–D," Proc. 16th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 3–7, 1990, London, United Kingdom; General Atomics Report GA–A20231 (1990).
- Moeller, C., and J.L. Doane, "Coaxial Converter for Transforming a Whispering Gallery Mode to the HE<sub>11</sub> Mode," Proc. 15th Annual SPIE International Conference on Infrared and Millimeter Waves, December 10–14, 1990, Lake Buena Vista, Florida; General Atomics Report GA–A20245 (1990).

- Moeller, C.P., J.L. Doane, R. Prater, et al., "The 2 MW, 110 GHz ECH Transmission System for DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1977 (1990).
- Osborne, T., K. Burrell, T. Carlstrom, et al., "ELMs at Low and High Neutral Beam Power on DIII–D," Bull, 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1975 (1990).
- Petrie, T.W., D.N. Hill, S.I. Lippman, et al., "Radiative Divertor Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2024 (1990).
- Petrie, T.W., A. Kellman, and M.A. Mahdavi, "Plasma Density Limits During Ohmic– and L–mode Operation in DIII–D," submitted to Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A19987 (1990).
- Petty, C.C., R.I. Pinsker, M.J. Mayberry, et al., "Edge Ion Heating and Parametric Decay During IBW Injection on DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1977 (1990).
- Philipona, R., E.J. Doyle, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., et al., "Microturbulence Studies on DIII–D Via Far-Infrared Collective Scattering," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2023 (1990).
- Phillips, J., A.P. Colleraine, R. Hong, et al., "Design and Implementation of a User-Friendly Interface for DIII–D Neutral Beam Automated Operation," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 193; General Atomics Report GA–A19758 (1989).
- Pinsker, R.I., M.J. Mayberry, C.C. Petty, et al., "High Power Ion Bernstein Wave Coupling Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1977 (1990).
- Politzer, P.A., and G.D. Porner, "Power Threshold for Neutral Beam Current Drive," submitted to Nucl. Fusion; General Atomics Report GA–A19869 (1990).
- Politzer, P.A., L.L. Lao, G.D. Challis, et al., "High β<sub>p</sub> Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 2024 (1990).
- Porkolab, M., S. Code, M. Mayberry, et al., "Theoretical Aspects of Nonlinear Phenomena During IBW Heating Experiments on DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1977 (1990).
- Prater, R., J. deHaas, B. deGentile, et al., "Results from Electron Cyclotron Heating and Current Drive Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 2022 (1990).
- Project Staff, "Annual Report, DIII–D Research Operations, October 1, 1988 through September 30, 1989," General Atomics Report GA–A19922 (1990).

- Remsen, D.B., C.M. Loring, S.G. McNees, et al., "Results of Tests of the X2274 High Power Tetrode in JT-60 110 to 130 MHz ICH Amplifier," Proc. 16th Symp. on Fusion Technology, September 3–7, 1990, London, United Kingdom (Abstract) (1990).
- Rensink, M., D.N. Hill, J. Milovich, et al., "Fluid Model Simulation of the Scrape-Off Layer in DIII–D Single-Null Divertor Plasmas," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2024 (1990).
- Rhodes, T.L., E.J. Doyle, N.C. Luhmann, Jr., et al., "Correlation Reflectometry Measurements During Land H-mode Operation on DIII-D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1975 (1990).
- Schaffer, M.J., B.J. Leikind, M.A. Mahdavi, et al., "Scrape-Off Layer Current and Divertor Bias Experiments," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1976 (1990).
- Schaubel, K.M., and G.L. Jackson, "Electron Assisted Glow Discharges for Conditioning Fusion Tokamak Devices," Proc. 36th National Symp. and Topical Conference for the American Vacuum Society, October 23–27, 1989, Boston, Massachusetts; General Atomics Report GA–A19809 (1989).
- Schissel, D.P., J.C. DeBoo, J.R. Ferron, et al., "The Effects of Carbonization on the Confinement Properties of the DIII–D H–mode," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating, June 25–29, 1990, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part I, p. 275; General Atomics Report GA–A20085 (1990).
- Scoville, J.T., and R.J. La Haye, "Prevention of *n*=1 Locked Modes in Low *q*, Low Density DIII–D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **31** (1990) 875; General Atomics Report GA–A19983 (1990).
- Smith, J.P., B.B. Baxi, E. Reis, et al., "Design of DIII–D Advanced Divertor," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2 (1990) 1315; General Atomics Report GA–A19742 (1989).
- Snider, R., T. Carlstrom, R. Groebner, et al., "Soft X–Ray Emissivity 'Hole' in High Performance Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1978 (1990).
- Söldner, F.X., R. Bartiromo, S. Bernabei, et al., "Profile Control With Lower Hybrid Waves on ASDEX," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part III, p. 1323; Max-Planck Institut fur Plasmaphysik Report (1990).
- Söldner, F.X., F. Leuterer, O. Gehre, et al., "Lower Hybrid Experiments on ASDEX in 1989," Proc. 17th European. Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part III, p. 1291; Max-Planck Institut fur Plasmaphysik Report IPP II/162 (1990.
- St. John, H., J.C. DeBoo, and K.H. Burrell, "Analysis of Recent DIII–D Experimental Results Using Coupled MHD and Transport Models," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1973 (1990).
- Staebler, G.M., "Model for Improved Divertor Confinement," Nucl. Fusion **30**, 2295 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A19796 (1990).

- Strait, E.J., W.W. Heidbrink, E.J. Doyle, et al., "Are Toroidicity-Induced Alfven Eigenmodes Observed in DIII–D?" Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 2024 (1990).
- Tabor, M.A., Petrie, T., "Mechanical Design of an Infrared Viewing System for DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 683.
- Taylor, T.S., "MHD Limits to Tokamak Confinement," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) **35**, 1973 (1990).
- Thomas, D.M., A.W. Hyatt, M.P. Thomas, "An Edge Density Fluctuation Diagnostic for DIII–D Using Lithium Beams," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **61**, 3040 (1990); General Atomics Report GA–A20113 (1990).
- Thurgood, P., "PC–LINK, Historical Data Base System Modcomp/IBM at Link for Neutral Particle Beam Operation," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 2 (1990) 1467; General Atomics Report GA–A19749 (1989).
- Torre, W.V., P. Peterson, A. Kellman, "Modeling Energy Output of Inertial Storage Devices for the DIII-D Tokamak," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 578; General Atomics Report GA-A19745 (1989).
- Waltz, R.E., M.N. Rosenbluth, and J.C. DeBoo, "Scaling Dimensionally Similar Tokamak Discharges to Ignition," Proc. 17th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Heating Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Vol. 14B, Part I, p. 126; General Atomics Report GA–A20077 (1990).
- Waltz, R.E., J.C. DeBoo, and M.N. Rosenbluth, "Tokamak Ignition Projections from Dimensionally Similar Discharges," Proc. 13th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 1–6, 1990, Washington, D.C., Vol. 2, p. 273; General Atomics Report GA–A20267 (1990).
- Wight, J., A.P. Colleraine, R.M. Hong, et al., "Design and Implementation of a Macintosh-Camac Based System for Neutral Beam Diagnostics," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989, Vol. 1 (1990) 687; General Atomics Report GA–A19757 (1989).
- Wong, C.P.C., E.T. Cheng, B. McQuillan, et al., "ARIES–I SiC Composite Low Activation Blanket Design," Proc. 9th Topical Meeting on Technological Fusion Energy, October 7–11, 1990, Oak Brook, Illinois; General Atomics Report GA–A20256 (1990).
- Wroblewski, D., G.D. Porter, W. Meyer, et al., "Investigation of Current Profile in Sawtoothing Discharges in DIII–D by Polarimetry of Motional Stark Effect," Bull. 32nd Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 12–16, 1990, Cincinnati, Ohio (Abstract) 35, 1978 (1990).

### 7.10. FY89

Anderson, P.M., C.B. Baxi, E.E. Reis, et al., "Development, Installation, and Initial Operation of DIII–D Graphite Armor Tiles," Fusion Engineering and Design 9, 9 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19202 (1988).

- Bhadra, D.K., H. St. John, J. Kim, "Time-Dependent Evolution of Plasma Loop Voltage in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2120 (1989).
- Burrell, K.H., "Confinement Physics of H-mode Discharges in DIII-D," Plasma Physics and Controlled Fusion **31** (1989) 1649; General Atomics Report GA-A19609 (1989).
- Burrell, K.H., "Error Analysis for Parameters Determined in Nonlinear Least Squares Fit," 1989 Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics Annual Meeting, SIAM, July 17–21, 1989, San Diego, California (Abstract) 21 (1989).
- Burrell, K.H., S.L. Allen, G. Bramson, et al., "Energy Confinement in Auxiliary-Heated Divertor and Limiter Discharges in DIII–D Tokamak," Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research 1988, Nice France, Vol. I (1989) 193; General Atomics Report GA–A19443 (1988).
- Burrell, K.H., R.J. Groebner, H. St.John, et al., "Comparison of Electron and Ion Thermal and Angular Momentum Transport in Neutral-Beam-Heated L- and H-mode Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1939 (1989).
- Callis, R.W., J. Luxon, T. Simonen, et al., "DIII–D Latest Results and Implications," Fusion Technol. 8th Topical Meeting on Technology of Fusion Energy, October 9–13, 1988, Salt Lake City, Utah; General Atomics Report GA–A19398 (1988).
- Callis, R.W., et al., "An Overview of the DIII–D Long Pulse Neutral Beam System," 15th Symp. on Fusion Technol., Ultrecht, Vol. I (1989) 662; General Atomics Report GA–A19399 (1988).
- Carlstrom, T.N., M. Shimada, K.H. Burrell, et al., "H-mode Transition Studies in DIII-D," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 241; General Atomics Report GA–A19564 (1989).
- Carlstrom, T.N., D.N. Hill, M.E. Rensink, et al., "Edge Electron Density and Temperature Behavior Following the H–Transition in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2115 (1989).
- Coda, S., M. Porkolab, T. Carlstrom, et al., "A C02 Phase Contrast Scattering Experiment on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2120 (1989).
- DeBoo, J.C., D.P. Schissel, K. Burrell, H. St. John, "Initial Deuterium Confinement Studies in DIII–D Tokamak," General Atomics Report GA–A19803 (1989).
- Dominguez, R.R., "Nonlinear Wave Coupling and Clumps in Drift Wave Turbulence Theory," Proc. Workshop on Coherent Structure in Plasma, March 1989, Nagoya, Japan; General Atomics Report GA-A19794 (1989).
- Doyle, E.J., T. Lehecka, S. Burns, et al., "X-mode Broadband Reflectometry Results from the DIII-D Tokamak," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2116 (1989).

- Duong, Hau and W.W. Heidbrink, "Fusion Reaction Product Diagnostics for DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2117 (1989).
- Evans, T.E., C.C. Klepper and the TORE SUPRA Group, "A Survey of Ergodic Divertor Experimental Results in Tokamak TORE SUPRA," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2168 (1989).
- Ferron, J.R., E.J. Strait, A. Kellman, et al., "High Beta Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1911 (1989).
- Gohil, P., M. Ali Mahdavi, N. Brooks, et al., "Long Duration E-mode Plasmas in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1939 (1989).
- Groebner, R.J., P. Gohil, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Plasma Rotation and Electric Fleld Effects in H-mode in DIII-D," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 115; General Atomics Report GA–A19562 (1989).
- Groebner, R.J., K.H. Burrell, R.P. Seraydarian and P. Gohil, "Correlation of Changes in Edge Poloidal Rotation with the L-H Transition in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13-17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1939 (1989).
- Heidbrink, W.W., and G. Sager, "The Fishbone Instability in the DIII–D Tokamak," submitted to Phys. Rev. Lett. (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19686.
- Henline, P.A., "The DIII-D VAX Computer System," General Atomics Report GA-A19594 (1989).
- Hill, D.N., D. Buchenauer and T. Petrie, et al., "Power and Particle Losses for QuasiStationary H-mode Plasmas," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2116 (1989).
- Hoffman, E.H., C.P. Moeller, R. Prater, "Mechanical Design of the Inside Launch System for Electron Cyclotron Heating in DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symp. on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989; General Atomics Report GA–A19739 (1989).
- Howald, A.M., A.W. Leonard, D.R. Baker, et al., "Ergodic Magnetic Limiter Experiments and their Effect on H–mode in the JFT–2M Tokamak," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2165 (1989).
- Howl, W., J. Helton, L. Lao, et al., "Sensitivity of Kink Instability to Pressure Profile," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2118 (1989).
- Jackson, G.L., T.S. Taylor, P.I. Petersen, and P.L. Taylor, "Helium Glow Wall Conditioning on the DIII–D Tokamak with Large Area Graphite Coverage Limiter H–mode in DIII–D," General Atomics Report GA–A19693 (1989).

- Jackson, G.L., J.S. deGrassie, M.S. Schaffer, et al., "A Method to Measure Magnetic Field Perturbations in Plasma Devices," Rev. Sci. Instrum. **60**, 2883 (1988); General Atomics Report GA–A19519 (1988).
- Jackson, G.L., D. Stork, J.R. Ferron, et al., "Limiter H-mode in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2115 (1989).
- James. R.A., S. Janz, K. Matsuda, et al., "Electron Cyclotron Current Drive Experiments in DIII–D Using 60 GHz Inside Launched ECH," Bull. 31st Annual American Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2119 (1989).
- Janz, S., D.A. Boyd, R.F. Ellis, et al., "Vertical Viewing ECE Diagnostic on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2119 (1989).
- Jensen, T.H., L.L. Lao and E.J. Strait, "The Vertical Displacement Episode of Elongated Tokamaks," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1969 (1989).
- Kellman, A.G., D. Schissel, R. Snider, et al., "Confinement Studies in Low q, High I/B Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1940 (1989).
- Kim, J., A.P. Colleraine, R. Hong, et al., "Upgraded Operation of DIII–D Neutral Beam Injector Systems," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2067 (1989).
- Kim, J., "Foil Activation Measurements of Energy and Flux of Neutrons from D–T Mixed Beams Driven into a Target," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. in Phys. Res. A274, 425 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19289 (1989).
- Kinoshita, S., H. Fukumoto, N. Hosogane, et al., "Independent Control of Gaps in Single-Null Divertor Discharges on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. Japan Phys. Soc. Mtg., October 3–6, 1988, Ehime, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A19584 (1989).
- La Haye, R.J., J.T. Scoville and R.D. Stambaugh, "Computations of the Effects of Coil Irregularities on Magnetic Surfaces in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2118 (1989).
- Lao, L.L., E.J. Strait, M.S. Chu, et al., "Resistive MHD Modes in DIII-D Divertor Discharges," Bull. 31st Annual American Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2118 (1989).
- Lao, L.L., E.J. Strait, T.S. Taylor, et al., "MHD Stability in High  $\overline{\beta}_T$  DIII–D Divertor Discharges," Plasma Phys. and Contr. Fusion **31** (1989) 509; General Atomics Report GA–A19218 (1988).
- Lazarus, E.A., A.G. Kellman, J.A. Leuer, et al., "Axisymmetric Stability in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1940 (1989).

- Lee, R., D. Bhadra, A.P. Colleraine, et al., "Neutral Beam Shinethrough Measurement on the DIII–D Tokamak Using Armor Plate Embedded Thermocouples," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2133 (1989).
- Leffler, J.S., S.R. Lindgren, A. Holmes-Siedle, et al., "Initial Results and Applications of RADFET Dosimeters in the Fusion Radiation Environment," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anabeim, California (Abstract) 34, 2030 (1989).
- Lehecka, T., E.J. Doyle, R. Philipona, et al., "Results from the DIII–D Millimeter-Wave Reflectometer," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 123; General Atomics Report GA–A19566 (1989).
- Lehecka, T., R. Philipona, E.J. Doyle, et al., "Characterization of Density Fluctuations in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2116 (1989).
- Leonard, A.W., A.M. Howald, and D.R. Baker, et al., "The Intra-Island Pump Limiter on JIPP T–IIU," submitted to Nucl. Fusion (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19775 (1989).
- Leonard, A.W., D.R. Baker, T.E. Evans, et al., "Helical Island Divertor (HIDEX) Experiments on JIPP T–IIU," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2165 (1989).
- Lloyd, B., G.L. Jackson, E. Lazarus, et al., "Low Voltage Start-Up with ECH in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1967 (1989).
- Lohr, J., T. Edlington, R.J. Groebner, et al., "Recent Electron Cyclotron Heating Experiments with Low Field Launch of the Ordinary Mode on the DIII–D Tokamak," General Atomics Report GA–A19634 (1989).
- Lohr, John, R.A. James, S. Janz, et al., "Results from Electron Cyclotron Heating Experiments on the DIII–D Tokamak," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1940 (1989).
- Luce, T.C., R. James, S. Janz, et al., "Heating and Confinement Studies with ECH on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2118 (1989).
- Luxon, J.L., "ITER and CIT Related Results from DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1969 (1989).
- Mahdavi, M. Ali, A. Kellman, P. Gohil, "Attainment of Quasi Steady-State H-mode Plasmas in the DIII-D Tokamak," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13-17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 249; General Atomics Report GA-A19558 (1989).
- Mahdavi, M. Ali, P. Mioduszewski, W. Bauer, et al., "The DIII–D Collaborative Advanced Divertor Program," General Atomics Report GA–A19547 (1989).

- Matsuda, Kyoko, "Effects of Tail Distributions in ECRH and ECCD," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2119 (1989).
- Matsuda, Kyoko, J.Y. Hsu, "Relativistic Damping of Electron Cyclotron Resonance Heating," Phys. Fluids B **3**, 414 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19627 (1989).
- Matsumoto, H., T. Lehecka, R. Philipona, et al., "Fluctuation Studies of the L-H Transition in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Phys. Society Meeting, November 13-17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1939 (1989).
- Mayberry, M.J., R.I. Pinsker, M. Porkolab, et al., "Ion Bernstein Wave Experiments on DIII–D I. Heating," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2119 (1989).
- Mayberry, M.J., S.C. Chiu, M. Porkolab, et al., "60 MHz Fast Wave Current Drive Experiments for DIII–D," Proc. 8th Topical Conference on RF Power in Plasmas, May 1–13, 1989, Irvine, California, 298 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19663 (1989).
- Neyatani, Y., T.N. Carlstrom, D.N. Hill, et al., "Edge Magnetic Fluctuations in DIII–D," Bull. Japan Phys. Soc. Mtg., October 3–6, 1988, Ehime, Japan; General Atomics Report GA–A19698 (1991).
- Osborne, T., T. Carlstrom, P. Gohil, et al., "Magnetic Fluctuations at the L to H Transition and ELMs on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2115 (1989).
- Peranich, L.S., K. Matsuoka, S. Okamura, H. Yamada, "Island-Induced Transport in CHS," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 1~17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1931 (1989).
- Petersen, P.I., R.L. Savercool, P.L. Taylor, "DIII–D Safety Procedures and Operational Experience," Proc. IAEA Technical Committee Meeting on Fusion Reactor Safety, April 3–7, 1989, Jackson, Wyoming (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19687 (1989).
- Petrie, T., D. Hill, A. Kellman, and M.A. Mahdavi, "Plasma Density Limits During Ohmic- and L-mode Operation in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1969 (1989).
- Philipona, R., C. Rettig, E.J. Doyle, et al., "Density Fluctuation Measurements on DIII–D via Far-Infrared Collective Scattering," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2115 (1989).
- Pinsker, R.I., M.J. Mayberry, M. Porkolab, R. Prater, "High Power Ion Bernstein Wave Experiments on DIII–D," Proc. 8th Topical Conference on RF Power in Plasmas, May 1–13, 1989, Irvine, California, p. 314; General Atomics Report GA–A19662 (1989).
- Pinsker, R.I., M.J. Mayberry, S.C. Chiu, et al., "Ion Bernstein Wave Experiments on DIII-D II. RF/Edge Plasma Interactions," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13-17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2120 (1989).

- Politzer, P.A., and G.D. Porter, "Power Threshold and Current Drive Efficiency in Fully Non-inductive Neutral Beam Driven Plasmas in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2120 (1989).
- Porter, G.D., D.K. Bhadra, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Neutral Beam Current Drive Scaling in DIII–D," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part IV, p. 1251; General Atomics Report GA–A19561 (1989).
- Porter, G.D., H. St. John, P. Politzer, "Profile Effects on Neutral Beam Current Drive Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meebng, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2120 (1989).
- Prater, R., "A Review of Recent Results with Electron Cyclotron Heating in Tokamaks," Proc. 8th Topical Conference on RF Power in Plasmas, May 1–13, 1989, Irvine, California, p. 22; General Atomics Report GA–A19676 (1989).
- Prater, R., R. James, S. Janz, et al., "Profile Control Experiments with ECH on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2119 (1989).
- Prater, R., N.H. Brooks, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Electron Cyclotron Heating Experiments in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 12th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research 1988, Vol. 1 (1989) 527.
- Project Staff, "Final Report, DIII–D Research Operations, November 1, 1983 through October 31, 1988," General Atomics Report GA–A19536 (1989).
- Project Staff, "System Design Description of DIII-D," General Atomics Report GA-A19264 (1989).
- Rensink, M.E., B.J. Braams, D.N. Hill, et al., "Scrape-off Layer Modification by Divertor Pumping," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2121 (1989).
- Sager, G.T., G.H. Miley, and K.H. Burrell, "Neoclassical Transport of Suprathermal Ions in Tokamaks," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2117 (1989).
- Saigusa, M., K. Matsuda, R.A. James, et al., "Design Study for ECCD in DIII-D Using Outside Launched Ordinary Mode," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2119 (1989).
- Schaffer, M.J., R.D. Stambaugh, M. Ali Mahdavi, et al., "Plans for Divertor Bias and Current Injection Experiments in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2121 (1989).
- Schissel, D.P., S.L. Allen, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Results of Counter-Neutral Beam Injection on the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Fluids B **1**, 1843 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19503 (1988).

- Schissel, D.P., K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Confinement Scaling Studies in DIII–D," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 15; General Atomics Report GA–A19556 (1989).
- Schissel, D.P., J.C. DeBoo, K.H. Burrell, et al., "An Investigation of the Relationship Between Plasma Size and H-mode Energy Confinement," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1940 (1989).
- Schissel, D.P., K.H. Burrell, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "Energy Confinement Properties of H-mode Discharges in the DIII-D Tokamak," Nucl. Fusion **29**, 185 (1989); General Atomics Report GA-A19925 (1990).
- Scoville, T., R. LaHaye, A. Kellman, et al., "Prevention of the n = 1 Locked Mode in DIII–D Plasmas," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2118 (1989).
- Senior, R., "An Interior Vessel Viewing System for DIII–D," Proc. 13th Symposium on Fusion Engineering, IEEE, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, October 2–6, 1989; General Atomics Report GA–A19740 (1989).
- Shimada, M., and S. Konoshima, "Status of DIII–D Experiments," General Atomics Report GA–A19731 (1989).
- Simonen, T.C., M. Matsuoka, D.K. Bhadra, et al., "Neutral-Beam Current-Driven, High Poloidal Beta Operation of the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. **61**, 1720 (1988); General Atomics Report GA–A19182 (1988).
- Simonen, T.C., M. Matsuoka, D.K. Bhadra, et al., "DIII–D Neutral Beam Current Drive Experiments at High Beta Poloidal," Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, October 12–19, 1988, Nice, France, Vol. 1 (1989) 669; General Atomics Report GA–A19447 (1988).
- Snider, R. and A. Kellman, "Scaling of the Sawtooth Inversion Radius and Mixing Radius on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2116 (1989).
- St.John, H., U. Stroth, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Analysis of Toroidal Rotation Data for the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part 1, p. 119; General Atomics Report GA–A19563 (1989).
- St.John, H., J.C. DeBoo, and K.H. Burrell, "Analysis of Recent DIII–D Experimental Results Using Coupled MHD and Transport Models," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2117 (1989).
- Stallard, B., D. Content, R. Ellis, et al., "Heating and Confinement in H-mode and L-Mode Plasmas in DIII-D Using Outside Launch ECH," submitted to Nucl. Fusion (1989); General Atomics Report GA-A19349 (1989).
- Stockdale, R.E., K.H. Burrell, and W.M. Tang, "Off-Diagonal Transport Coefficients in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2117 (1989).

- Stott, P.E., J.C. Deboo, T.W. Petrie, et al., "Effects of ELMs and Impurities on Confinement in DIII–D and JET," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 1940 (1989).
- Strait, E.J., J.R. Ferron, L.L. Lao, et al., "High Beta Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual American Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 1939 (1989).
- Strait, E.J., L. Lao, A.G. Kellman, et al., "MHD Instabilities Near the Beta Limit in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. 62, 1282 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19214 (1988).
- Strait, E.J., L.L. Lao, T.S. Taylor, et al., "Stability of High Beta Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Proc. 12th International Conference on Plasma Physics and Controlled Nuclear Fusion Research, Nice, France, 1988, Vol. 1 (1989) 83; General Atomics Report GA–A19444 (1988).
- Taylor, T.S., E.J. Strait, L. Lao, et al., "Ideal and Resistive Stability Near the Beta Limit in DIII–D," Proc. 16th European Conference on Controlled Fusion and Plasma Physics, March 13–17, 1989, Venice, Italy, Vol. 13B, Part I, p. 111; General Atomics Report GA–A19567 (1989).
- Taylor, T.S., E.J. Strait, L. Lao, et al., "Achievement of Reactor-Relevant Beta in Low-q Divertor Discharges in the DIII–D Tokamak," Phys. Rev. Lett. **62**, 1278 (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19134 (1988).
- Thomas, D.M., M.K. Thomas and K. McCormick, "The ASDEX Diagnostic Lithium Beam Upgrade," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2171 (1989).
- Thomas, D.M., J. McChesney, M.K. Thomas, W.P. West, "An Edge Density Fluctuation Diagnostic Using Lithium Beams," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2031 (1989).
- Trost, P.K., T.N. Carlstrom, J.C. DeBoo, et al., "A Multipulse Thomson Scattering Diagnostic for DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2117 (1989).
- VanderLaan, J.F., T.L. Smith, "DIII–D Power Supply Fault System," Proc. 6th Conference on Real Time Computer Applications in Nuclear, Particle and Plasma Physics, May 16–19, 1989, Williamsburg, Virginia (1989); General Atomics Report GA–A19684 (1989).
- West, W.P., P. Politzer, and D. Wroblewski, "Design of a Diagnostic System for Current Profile Determination on DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2031 (1989).
- Wolfe, S.M. for the DIII–D Research Group, "Transport Analysis of L– and H–mode Discharges in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Invited Abstract) 34, 1913 (1989).
- Wolfe, S.M., R.J. Groebner, K.H. Burrell, et al., "Variation of Thermal Transport with Injected Power in H-mode Discharges in DIII-D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) 34, 2115 (1989).

Wroblewski, D., K.H. Burrell and R. Seraydarian, "Zeeman Effect Polarimetry for a Poloidal Magnetic Field Diagnostic in DIII–D," Bull. 31st Annual Am. Physical Society Meeting, November 13–17, 1989, Anaheim, California (Abstract) **34**, 2116 (1989).

## APPENDIX A THEORY

### HIGHLIGHTS OF DIII-D THEORY 1992-1998

GA has a long history of contributions to fusion plasma theory. We believe there are numerous examples where our theories applied to DIII–D have lead to key experiments and improved tokamak performance. Below we summarize some of our accomplishments from 1992 to 1998

- Demonstrated how sheared toroidal rotation may significantly increase the beta limit for high-n ideal ballooning modes.
- Showed that the low-n external kink mode in a rotating plasma appears to be wall-stabilized even with a resistive wall.
- Correlated the MHD dispersion relation for toroidal Alfvén eigenmodes (TAE) and beta-induced Alfvén eigenmodes (BAE) with catastrophic loss of fast ions in DIII–D neutral beam experiments.
- Developed new insight into how the fundamental processes determining the size and field strength scaling of confinement can be obtained from dimensionally similar tokamak discharges.
- Developed a novel, nonlinear ballooning mode method for numerically simulating three-dimensional homogeneous turbulence in toroidal geometry and applied it to determine the dependence of transport on shear, safety factor, toroidicity, and sheared rotation.
- Demonstrated how a theory based on E x B rotational shear driven by changes in the diamagnetic flows at the plasma edge can explain both the transport bifurcation from L- to H-mode and the further edge confinement improvement in the DIII-D VH-mode.
- Setup a transport profile database for DIII–D data and developed a fast shooting transport code for rapidly testing transport models and assigning a statistical fit.. This later became the forerunner of similar ITER databases and testing codes.
- Motivated many aspects of the DIII–D Advanced Divertor Program by pointing out the role of grad-B directed divertor flows in determining the H–mode power threshold and how poloidal electric fields induced by biasing the divertor plates can be used to control divertor recycling flows and pumping.
- Developed (in collaboration with experimentalists) several steady-state relevant advanced tokamak scenarios with both favorable MHD stability and improved confinement: Second stable core VH–mode, global second stable high poloidal beta, and high-l<sub>i</sub> discharges.

- Developed RF current drive and heating codes to show how these advanced tokamak discharges may be accessed in steady state and how bootstrap current and more efficient noninductive current drive concepts may be possible.
- In collaboration with experimentalists, planned, performed, and validated for the first time fastwave current drive in a tokamak
- Developed generalization of the s-a model for local MHD equilibrium to include finite aspect ratio, elongation, and triangularity.
- Developed new theory for a resistive MHD energy principle in shaped geometry.
- Developed models for active external coil and loop active feedback stabilization of MHD modes.

## APPENDIX B JCT SECONDEES

The ITER Joint Central Team (JCT) was created in 1993. Per agreement with DOE, specially qualified personnel were selected by ITER management to be seconded to the JCT co-center at which their particular expertise was required. While on secondment, the GA employees were fully dedicated to the ITER project and under the direction of the JCT management. The specific employees seconded included:

Individual	Title/Responsibility	Secondment Initiated	Secondment Terminated	Co-Center Location
Charles Ahlfeld	Head of Engineering Division	6/96	11/98	San Diego
Robert Bourque	Cryogenic Systems	9/93	7/98	Naka
Edward Bowles	Power Supply for Plasma and Field Control	10/95	4/98	Naka
Remy Gallix	Assistant Head of Superconducting Coils & Structures Division	4/95	11/98	Naka
Randy Hager	Remote Handling	6/94	11/96	Naka
Doug Holland	Fusion Safety Analysis	2/95	1/97	Naka
Roy Little	System Integration	8/95	6/98	San Diego
Fred Puhn	Head of Design Integration Division	10/92	3/98	San Diego
Doug Remsen	Manager of Radio Frequency Heating Systems	11/93	1/95	Garching
Marshall Rosenbluth	Chief Scientist	1/95	11/98	San Diego
Kurt Schaubel	Pumping and Fueling Mechanical Analysis	1/96	7/98	Garching
Robert Schleicher	Group Leader of Plant Systems Group	11/95	11/98	San Diego
Peter Smith	Assistant Head, Design Integration Division	12/92	4/98	San Diego
Julie Van Fleet	External Relations	12/92	12/94	San Diego
John Wesley	Physics Analysis	1/93	1/99	San Diego

The majority of the GA secondees terminated their secondments before or during FY98.
## APPENDIX C USER SERVICE CENTER

The User Service Center (USC) was funded under the DIII–D contract during FY92 through FY95 in a specified budget category. This is a report on the main activities accomplished during this period.

The USC has always been linked very closely with the DIII–D Computer Systems. Much of its work was done in concert with and in support of the DIII–D program. This work has been reported in the DIII–D Computer Systems section. Work beyond the direct DIII–D support includes general user support for non-DIII–D DOE projects (i.e., APT, ITER), network access, remote collaboration support, local NERSC users support, and unclassified computer security compliance in addition to the day-to-day hardware and software maintenance and upgrades.

The USC is a major node on the ESnet backbone, and as such, provides Wide Area Network access for GA/DOE programs. The USC coordinated the installation and transition to upgraded ESnet routers and faster networks. The USC personnel worked getting reliable network connectivity to Russia (Moscow) which was required for the DIII–D collaboration with the Kurchatov Institute. The USC also worked with the DOE/SAN (now DOE/OAK) unclassified security office to improve computer access for DOE-approved collaborators from sensitive countries. The USC improved the Local Area Network, moving everyone to ethernet and installing a FDDI backbone between the main servers.

During this report period, the USC transitioned the users from the VAX/VMS operating system environment to the UNIX environment. A large, 3-CPU HP computer was installed as were many HP, Digital and SGI workstations. USC staff provided all system administration and general user support for these computers. Special funds were received from the Office of Scientific Computing for procurement of a Desktop Video Conferencing computer. This system enabled GA/Fusion to participate and successfully complete the Remote Experimental Environment project, a collaboration with LLNL, ORNL and PPPL. The USC also integrated the Auspex File Server into the local computer environment making all user home areas and data computational areas available on all UNIX systems.

USC staff provided considerable software support and user help. Many tools were written to help users move into the UNIX environment. Extensive documentation was written. When appropriate, tutorials and basic reference manuals were also provided. The production version of the ONETWO MHD Transport is maintained by USC staff.

# APPENDIX D ITER DIAGNOSTICS

The development of a Fastwave Reflectometer diagnostic was funded through the DIII–D contract in FY97 by the ITER and Technology Group within DOE.

The goal of the task was to test the ability of a reflectometer to identify species mix (D/T ratio) within a plasma for application to ITER. Reflectometer hardware was installed on DIII–D, the hardware was tested, and plasma data was taken. Results indicated that the coupling between the transmitting antennae and the plasma worked fine, however, the coupling between the receiving antennae and the plasma was too small to get good results. Although it was felt such a diagnostic would ultimately accomplish the desired measurements, it would require a complete rebuild of the receiving antennae.

### APPENDIX E HYBRID TUNER

### **E.1. INTRODUCTION**

In order to maximize the power coupled to the plasma from the Fast Wave ICRF transmitter systems, the antenna-to-plasma impedance must be kept well matched. Any variation from the match setting results in reflected power that either poses a threat to the integrity of the transmitter or as a minimum becomes wasted power sent to the dummy load. In general, the antenna-to-plasma match is reasonably stable as long as the plasma edge conditions can be kept stable. Unfortunately, this condition is not meet for ELMing H–mode plasmas — an area of plasma research which is of great interest to the DIII–D program. With this in mind, the DIII–D RF Group embarked upon several efforts to devise a transmitter antenna matching system that would be more tolerant of changes in edge conditions, one of these schemes was to use a Hybrid Tuning System (HTS). In 1995, a contract was placed with Advanced Ferrite Technologies (AFT) to provide an HTS that could operate at 60 MHz, at the 2 MW level.

### E.2. HYBRID TUNER SYSTEM (HTS)

The HTS is an electronically controlled matching device to match an ICRF transmitter to a dynamic load impedance, such as presented by an antenna facing a tokamak plasma. The dynamic nature of the plasma requires a device which can follow a time varying load impedance. In the HTS this is accomplished by using stubs with planar geometry transmission lines which have ferrite material glued to the center conductor of the line. By rapidly varying the magnetic field penetrating the ferrite, using currents in coils driven by a switched mode transistor supply, the characteristics of the line are appropriately modified to create the desired match. The HTS achieved an unprecedented matching speed of approximately 2 ms in high rf voltage conditions, which is the capability needed for most tokamak operations. A schematic of the HTS is shown in Fig. E–1.

In the purchase order given to AFT for this prototype HTS it was specified that acceptance tests could be done at an appropriate laboratory other than at DIII–D since the rf power capability to do these tests does not exist at AFT itself. There are several reasons for the allowance of an external laboratory for acceptance testing. First, the tests at DIII–D would create an extra burden on the technical staff normally fully subscribed to rf operations on DIII–D, and could take away from the ability to support experiments.

Second, if any difficulties were to arise in acceptance testing, then returning the HTS to the factory in Germany from DIII–D for repair would stretch the schedule. Third, the ICRF staff at IPP has been extremely interested in this technology also and they were willing to support these tests with their own labor. This is how the acceptance tests came to be at IPP, under an arrangement developed between IPP and AFT.



Fig. E-1. Hybrid tuner: basic.

#### E.3. ACCEPTANCE TEST

The HTS demonstrated power handling capability of 1.7 MW for a 9 s pulse at the design frequency of 60 MHz. This is the maximum limit for the IPP transmitter at this frequency. Using a spark gap in the transmission line to cause a sudden change in the impedance of the load seen by the HTS, on a submillisecond timescale, the HTS demonstrated a complete matching time to the arc of approximately 2–3 ms. This was done with a short 20 ms transmitter pulse; otherwise, the energy in the arcing spark gap would completely melt portions of the transmission line around it. Figure E–2 shows the forward and reflected power for such a case, where the arc strikes with the application of rf power. The reflected power (lower trace) drops to a low value as the HTS feedback seeks the match. There are low level undulations on the reflected power after the first match is achieved, due to the HTS following the slight variations in the arc impedance as the arc moves around the sharpened tip of a bolt inserted into the end of a section of transmission line. The cycle time of the feedback computer is about 100  $\mu$ s, so this is the amount of time required to send out the next command to the power supply. The case in Fig. E–2 was with 300 kW of transmitter power with an unmatched reflection coefficient of 0.9 in magnitude.

The experience with the transmission line arc for the acceptance tests provided a graphic illustration of the need for reliable arc detection in conjunction with such a fast tuning system. The HTS itself has very sensitive photon detectors viewing the ferrite lines which shut down the transmitter upon sensing any light from arcing in these stubs. However, an extended transmission line system, such as is used on ASDEX-U or DIII–D, is difficult to monitor completely with photon sensors. The ASDEX-U system is using the detection of broadband rf noise below the operating frequency as an arc detector, together with some

reliance upon standard reflection signals from directional couplers.

The HTS is a nicely constructed package, occupying about 20 cubic meters of physical volume. Figure E-3 shows a photograph of the HTS. The two black cylinders near the floor house the ferrite loaded strip lines. The HTS is completely controlled by a computer program running in real-time on an IBM-type PC. The switch mode power supply occupies one standard laboratory rack, not shown in Fig. E–3.



Fig. E–2. HTS matches the transmitter to an arc on the spark gap. Upper trace: forward transmitter power. Lower trace: power reflector to the transmitter.



Fig. E–3. Photograph of the HTS.